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DISTRICT

1

3A

3B

4A
4B

6A
6B
TA
7B
7BC
8A
8B

9A
10

11

12

TRIAL JUDGES OF THE GENERAL
COURT OF JUSTICE

SUPERIOR COURT DIVISION

First Division

JUDGES

J. RICHARD PARKER
JERRY R. TILLETT
WiLLiaM C. GRIFFIN, JR.
W. RUSSELL DUKE, Jr.
CLIFTON W. EVERETT, JR.!
JaMmEs E. Ragan III
GEORGE L. WAINWRIGHT, JR.2
RuUsSELL J. LANIER, Jr.3
JAMES R. STRICKLAND
ERNEST B. FULLWOOD

W. ALLEN COBB, JR.

Jay D. HOCKENBURY4
RICHARD B. ALLSBROOK
Cy A. GRANT, Sk.
QUENTIN T. SUMNER

G. K. BUTTERFIELD, JR.
Frank R. BROWN

JAMES D. LLEWELLYN
PauL M. WRIGHT

Second Division

Rosert H. HoBGOOD
HENRY W. HIGHT, JR.
W. OsmMOND SMrrH HI
ROBERT L. FARMER
HEeNRY V. BARNETTE, JR.
DONALD W. STEPHENS
GEORGE R. GREENE
NARLEY L. CASHWELL
STAFFORD G. BULLOCK
WiLey F. BOWEN
Knox V. JENKINS, JR.
Coy E. BREWER, JR.

ADDRESS

Manteo
Manteo
Williamston
Greenville
Greenville
Oriental
Morehead City
Kenansville
Jacksonville
Wilmington
Wilmington
Wilmington
Halifax
Windsor
Rocky Mount
Wilson
Tarboro
Kinston
Goldsboro

Louisburg
Henderson
Yanceyville
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Dunn

Four Oaks
Fayetteville



DISTRICT

13

14

15A

15B

16A
16B

17A

17B

18

19A
19B
19C
20A
20B

21

22

23

JUDGES

E. LyNN JOHNSON
GREGORY A. WEEKS
Jack A. THOMPSON
WiLLiaM C. GORE, JR.
D. Jack Hooks, Jr.
ANTHONY M. BRANNON
ORLANDO F. HUDSON, JR.
A. LEON STANBACK, JR.
Davip Q. LABARRES

J. B. ALLEN, JR.

JAMES CLIFFORD SPENCER, JR.

F. GORDON BATTLE
B. Cralig ELLis

JOE FREEMAN BRITT
DEXTER BROOKS

Third Division

MELZER A. MORGAN, JR.
PeETER M. MCHUGH
CLARENCE W. CARTER
JERRY CASH MARTIN

W. DOUGLAS ALBRIGHT
THoMas W. Ross

W. STEVEN ALLEN, SR.

Howarp R. GREESON, JR.

CATHERINE C. EAGLES
JaMEs C. Davis
RUSSELL G. WALKER, JR.
THOMAS W. SEAY, JR.
JaMEs M. WEBB
DONALD R. HUFFMANS
WiLLiam H. HELMS

SANFORD L. STEELMAN, JR.7

JubpsoN D. DERAMUS, JR.
WiLLiaM H. FREEMAN
WILLIAM Z. WoOD, JR.

L. TopD BURKES

C. PRESTON CORNELIUS
H. W. ZIMMERMAN, JR.9
JuLius A. RoussgAU, JR.

ADDRESS

Fayetteville
Fayetteville
Fayetteville
Whiteville
Whiteville
Durham
Durham
Durham
Durham
Burlington
Burlington
Hillsborough
Laurinburg
Lumberton
Pembroke

Wentworth
Reidsville

King

King
Greensboro
Greensboro
Greensboro
High Point
Greensboro
Concord
Asheboro
Spencer
Southern Pines
Wadesboro
Monroe
Monroe
Winston-Salem
Winston-Salem
Winston-Salem
Winston-Salem
Mooresville
Lexington
North Wilkesboro



DISTRICT

24

25A

25B

26

27A

27B

28

29

30A
30B

JUDGES

Fourth Division

ADDRESS

JAMES L. BAKER, Jr.10 Marshall
CLAUDE S. SITTON Morganton
Beverwy T. BEAL Lenoir
FORREST A. FERRELL Hickory
RoNaLD E. BOGLE Hickory
CHASE B. SAUNDERS Charlotte
SHIRLEY L. FuLTON Charlotte
ROBERT P. JOHNSTON Charlotte
JuLia V. JONES Charlotte
Marcus L. JOHNSON Charlotte
RAYMOND A. WARREN!! Charlotte
RoBERT E. GAINES Gastonia
JESSE B. CALDWELL III Gastonia
JOHN MULL GARDNER Shelby
ForreST DONALD BRIDGES!2 Shelby
RoBerT D. LEWiS Asheville
DENNIS JAY WINNER!3 Asheville
Zoro J. GUICE, JR. Rutherfordton
LoTO GREENLEE CAVINESS Marion
James U. Downs Franklin
JANET MARLENE HYATT Waynesville
SPECIAL JUDGES
MarviIN K. GRAY Charlotte
Louis B. MEYER14 Wilson
RONALD L. STEPHENS Durham
EMERGENCY JUDGES
C. WALTER ALLEN Fairview
ROBERT M. BURROUGHS Charlotte
HEeNRrY A. MCKINNON, JR. Lumberton
EDWARD K. WASHINGTON High Point
L. BRADFORD TILLERY Wilmington
HoLuis M. OWENS, JR. Rutherfordton
D. B. HERRING, JR. Fayetteville
J. HERBERT SMALL Elizabeth City
GILES R. CLARK Elizabethtown
NAPOLEON B. BAREFOOT, SR. Wilmington



DISTRICT JUDGES ADDRESS

ROBERT W. KIRBY Cherryville

James M. LonG Pilot Mountain

HERBERT O. PHILLIPS III Morehead City

CHARLES C. Lamy, Jr. Boone

LESTER P. MARTIN, JR. Mocksville

F. FETZER MILLS Wadesboro

J. MiLTON READ, JR. Durham

HENRY L. STEVENS IIT Warsaw
RETIRED/RECALLED JUDGES

GEORGE M. FOUNTAIN Tarboro

HARVEY A. LUPTON Winston-Salem

JoHN D. MCcCONNELL Pinehurst

D. MARSH MCLELLAND Burlington

SPECIAL EMERGENCY JUDGES

E. MAURICE BRASWELL Fayetteville
DonaLb L. SMitH Raleigh

1. Elected and sworn in 16 December 1994.
2. Elected and sworn in 3 January 1995.
3. Elected and sworn in 3 January 1995.
4. Elected and sworn in 1 January 1995.
5. Elected and sworn in 3 January 1995.
6. Elected and sworn in 20 January 1995.
7. Elected and sworn in 19 December 1994.
8. Elected and sworn in 27 January 1995.
9. Elected and Sworn in 1 January 1995.
10. Elected and sworn in 1 January 1995.
11. Elected and sworn in 3 January 1995.
12. Elected and sworn in 3 January 1995.
13. Elected and sworn in 16 December 1994.
14. Appointed by Governor James B. Hunt and sworn in 1 February 1995.
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DISTRICT

1

3A

3B

6A

6B

DISTRICT COURT DIVISION

JUDGES

GRAFTON G. BEAMAN (Chief)
C. CHRISTOPHER BEAN

J. CARLTON COLE

James W. HarpisoN (Chief)
SAMUEL G. GRIMES

MICHAEL A. PAUL

E. BURT Avcock, Jr. (Chief)
JaMEs E. MARTIN

DAVID A. LEECH

W. Lee Lumpkin III (Chief)
JERRY F. WADDELL

CHERYL LYNN SPENCER
KeNNETH F. Crow!

STEPHEN M. WiLLIAMSON (Chief)
WAYNE G. KIMBLE, JR.
LEONARD W. THAGARD

PaUL A. HARDISON

WiLLiaM M. CAMERON III
JACQUELINE MORRIS-GOODSON (Chief)
Erron G. Tucker

JoHN W, SMITH

J. H. CorrENING [T

SHELLY S. HoLT

REBEccA W. BLACKMORE
HaroLp PauL McCoy, Jr. (Chief)
DwIGHT L. CRANFORD

ALFRED W. Kwasikpul (Chief)
THOMAS R. J. NEWBERN
WiLLiaM ROBERT LEWIS I1
GEORGE M. BrrrT (Chief)
ALBERT S. THOMaS, JR.

SARAH F. PATTERSON

JosepH JOHN HARPER, Jr.

M. ALEXANDER BIGGS, JR.
JOHN L. WHITLEY

J. Patrick ExuM (Chief)
AgrNoLD O. JONES

KENNETH R. ELLIS

RODNEY R. GOODMAN

JosePH E. SETZER, JR.
CHARLES W. WILKINSON, JRr. (Chief)

X

ADDRESS

Elizabeth City
Edenton
Hertford
Williamston
Washington
Washington
Greenville
Greenville
Greenville
New Bern
New Bern
New Bemn
New Bern
Kenansville
Jacksonville
Clinton
Jacksonville
Jacksonville
Wilmington
Wilmington
Wilmington
Wilmington
Wilmington
Wilmington
Halifax
Halifax
Jackson
Aulander
Jackson
Tarboro
Wilson
Rocky Mount
Tarboro
Rocky Mount
Wilson
Kinston
Goldsboro
Goldsboro
Kinston
Goldsboro
Oxford



DISTRICT

9A

10

11

12

13

14

15A

15B

JUDGES

J. LARRY SENTER

H. WELDON LLOYD, JR.
DANIEL FREDERICK FINCH2
PaTTIE S. HARRISON {Chief)
MaRK E. GALLOWAY3
RussELL SHERRILL IIT (Chief)
L. W. PAYNE, JR.

WILLIAM A. CREECH

Joyce A. HAMILTON

FRED M. MORELOCK
Donald W. Overby

JaMES R. FuLLwooD

ANNE B. SALISBURY
WiLLiaM C. LAWTON
MicHAEL R. MORGAN
ROBERT BLACKWELL RADER
SusaN O. RENFER

WiLLiaM A. CHRISTIAN (Chief)

Epwarp H. MCCORMICK
SAMUEL S. STEPHENSON
T. YATES DOBSON, JR.
ALBERT A. CORBETT, JR.
Frank F. LANIER

A. ELizABETH KEEVER (Chief)
Partricia A. TIMMONS-GOODSON

JOHN S. HAIR, JR.

JaMEs F. AMMONS, JR.
ANDREW R. DEMPSTER
RoBerT J. STEHL HI

JERRY A. JoLry (Chief)
NAPOLEON B. BAREFOOT, JR.
Ora LEwis Bray

THOMAS V. ALDRIDGE, JR.
KenNETH C. Trrus (Chief)
RICHARD G. CHANEY
CAROLYN D. JOHNSON
WILLIAM Y. MANSON
ELAINE M. O'NEAL-LEE

J. KENT WASHBURN (Chief)
SPENCER B. ENNIS

ERNEST J. HARVIEL

Lowry M. BETTs (Chief)
STANLEY PEELE

ADDRESS
Franklinton
Henderson
Oxford
Roxboro
Roxboro
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Raleigh
Sanford
Lillington
Angier
Smithfield
Smithfield
Buies Creek
Fayetteville
Fayetteville
Fayetteville
Fayetteville
Fayetteville
Fayetteville
Tabor City
Supply
Southport
Whiteville
Durham
Durham
Durham
Durham
Durham
Graham
Graham
Graham
Pittsboro
Chapel Hill



DISTRICT

16A

16B

17A

17B

18

19A

19B

19C

20

21

JUDGES
JosEPH M. BUCKNER
WAaRREN L. PatE (Chief)
WiLLiaM G. McluwaiN

HERBERT L. RICHARDSON (Chief)

GaARyY L. LocKLEAR

RoBErT F. FLOYD, JR.

J. STANLEY CARMICAL

JOHN B. CARTER

JANEICE B. TINDAL (Chief)
RicHARD W. STONE

Otis M. Ouver (Chief)
AARON MOSES MASSEY
CHARLES MITCHELL NEAVES II
J. BRUCE MORTON (Chief)
WiLLIaM L. Daisy

SHERRY FOWLER ALLOWAY
LAWRENCE McSwaN
WILLIAM A. VADEN

TrOMAS G. FOSTER, JR.
JosepH E. TURNER

DoNaLD L. BOONE

CHARLES L. WHITE

WENDY M. ENOCHS

ApaM C. GRANT, JR. (Chief)
CLARENCE E. HORTON, JR.
WiLiam G. HamBy, Jr.
WiLLiam M. NEgLy (Chief)
VANCE B. Long

MICHAEL A. SABISTON

ANNA MiLLs WAGONER (Chief)
THEODORE A. BLANTON
DaviD B. WILSON

MicHAEL EARLE BEALE (Chief)*

TaNYA T. WALLACE

SusaN C. TAYLOR

JOSEPH J. WILLIAMS
CHRISTOPHER W. BRAGG
RonaLp W. BURRIS®

JAMES A. HARrILL, JR. (Chief)
ROBERT KaSON KEIGER
RoLanD H. Haves

WiLLiam B. REINGOLD
MARGARET L. SHARPE

xii

ADDRESS

Cary

Raeford
Wagram
Lumberton
Lumberton
Lumberton
Lumberton
Lumberton
Reidsville
Wentworth
Dobson
Dobson

Elkin
Greensboro
Greensboro
Greensboro
Greensboro
Greensboro
Pleasant Garden
Greensboro
High Point
Greensboro
Greensboro
Concord
Kannapolis
Concord
Asheboro
Asheboro

Troy

Salisbury
Salisbury
Salisbury
Pinehurst
Rockingham
Albemarle
Monroe
Monroe
Albemarle
Winston-Salem
Winston-Salem
Winston-Salem
Winston-Salem
Winston-Salem



DISTRICT

22

23

24

25

26

27A

27B

JUDGES

CHESTER C. Davis
RoNALD E. SPIVEY
RoBERT W. JOHNSON (Chief)
SAMUEL CATHEY

GEORGE FULLER

KiMBERLY S. TAYLOR
JAMES M. HONEYCUTT
JiMMy LAIRD MYERS

Jack E. Kuass

Epcar B. GREGORY (Chief)
MicHAEL E. HELMS

Davib V. BYrD

RoBerT H. LACEY (Chief)
ALEXANDER LYERLY
WILLIAM A. LEAVELL III

L. OLIVER NOBLE, Jr. (Chief)
TmOTHY S. KINCAID
JoNaTHAN L. JONES
NaNcy L. EINSTEIN
RoBERT E. HODGES
ROBERT M. BrRADY
GREGORY R. HAYES

JaMEs E. LANNING (Chief)
WiLLiaMm G. JONES
DAPHENE L. CANTRELL
REsa L. HARRIS

MARILYN R. BISSELL
RIcHARD D. BONER

H. WiLLIAM CONSTANGY
JANE V. HARPER

Fritz Y. MERCER, JR.
PHILLIP F. HOWERTON, JR.
YvONNE M. EvaNS

Davip S. CAYER

C. JEROME LEONARD, JR.
CECIL WAYNE HEASLEY
TMOTHY L. ParTI (Chief)
HARLEY B. GASTON, JR.
CATHERINE C. STEVENS
JOYCE A. BROWN

MELIssA A. MAGEE
GeorGE W. Hamrick (Chief)
JaMEs THoMAs BoweN 11T

ADDRESS
Winston-Salem
Winston-Salem
Statesville
Statesville
Lexington
Hiddenite
Lexington
Mocksville
Lexington
Wilkesboro
Wilkesboro
Wilkesboro
Newland
Banner Elk
Spruce Pine
Hickory
Newton
Valdese
Lenoir
Nebo
Lenoir
Lenoir
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Charlotte
Gastonia
Belmont
Gastonia
Belmont
Stanley
Shelby
Lincolnton



DISTRICT

28

29

30

JUDGES
J. KEATON FONVIELLE
JAMES W. MORGAN
EARL JUSTICE FOWLER, Jr. (Chief)
PETER L. RoDA
GARY S. CAsH
SHIRLEY H. BROWN
REBECCA B. KNIGHT
RoBERT S. CILLEY (Chief)
STEPHEN F. FRANKS
DEBORAH M. BURGIN
Mark E. POWELL
JouN J. Snow (Chief)
Danny E. Davis
STEVEN J. BRYANT
RicHuyN D. Horr

ADDRESS
Shelby

Shelby
Asheville
Asheville
Asheville
Asheville
Asheville
Brevard
Hendersonville
Rutherfordton
Hendersonville
Murphy
Waynesville
Bryson City
Waynesville

1. Appointed and sworn in 27 January 1995 to replace George L. Wainwright, Jr. who was

elected to the Superior Court.
2. Appointed and sworn in 26 January 1995.
3. Elected and sworn in 5 December 1994.

4. Appointed Chief Judge 7 February 1995 to replace Donald R. Huffman who was

elected to the Superior Court.
5. Appointed and sworn in 31 January 1995.
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ATTORNEY GENERAL OF NORTH CAROLINA

Attorney General
MICHAEL F. EASLEY

Deputy Attorney General
Jor Administration
SusaN RABON

Deputy Attorney General for
Training and Standards
PuiLLP J. LYyoNs

Special Counsel to the
Attorney General

J. B. KELLY

Chief Legal Counsel
JoHN R. MCARTHUR

Deputy Attorney General for Policy and Planning

JANE P. GRaY

Chief Deputy Attorney General
ANDREW A. VANORE, JR.

Senior Deputy Attorneys General
EUGENE A. SMITH
EDwiN M. SPEAS, JR.
REGINALD L. WATKINS

WiLLIAM N. FARRELL, JR.
ANN REED DUNN

WAaNDA G. BRYANT
DANIEL C. OAKLEY

Special Deputy Attorneys General

HaroLD F. ASKINS WiLLIAM P. HART
Isaac T. Avery III RALF F. HASKELL
DaviD R. BLACKWELL CHARLES M. HENSEY
ROBERT J. BLuM ALAN S. HIRSCH

J. ALLEN JERNIGAN
DouGLAS A. JOHNSTON
LorINZO L. JOYNER
GRAYSON G. KELLEY
DaNIEL F. MCLAWHORN
BARRY S. McCNEILL
GAYL M. MANTHEI
RONALD M. MARQUETTE
MICHELLE B. MCPHERSON
TaoMAS R. MILLER
THOMAS F. MOFFITT

G. PATRICK MURPHY
CHARLES J. MURRAY

GEORGE W. BoyLaN
CHRISTOPHER P. BREWER
MagBEL Y. BuLLOoCK
ELisHA H. BUNTING, JR.
HiLDA BURNETT-BAKER
JoaN H. BYERs
KATHRYN J. COOPER
JoHN R. CORNE

T. BUIE COSTEN
Francis W. CRAWLEY
JaMEs P. ERwIN, JR.
JaMEs C. GULICK
NORMA S. HARRELL

Assistant Attorneys General

MARIORIE S. CANADAY
WiLLiaM B. CRUMPLER
ROBERT M. CURRAN

NEIL C. DALTON
CLARENCE J. DELFORGE I
FRANCIS DIPASQUANTONIO
JOSEPH P. DUGDALE

JUNE S. FERRELL

BEeRrTHA L. FIELDS
WiLLiaM W, FINLATOR, JR.
MARGARET A. FORCE
Linpa M. Fox

JANE T. FRIEDENSEN

JouN J. ALDRIDGE III
CHRISTOPHER E. ALLEN
ARCHIE W. ANDERS
KATHLEEN U. BALDWIN
JoHN P. BARKLEY

AMy A. BARNES

JoHN G. BARNWELL, JR.
VALERIE L. BATEMAN
Bryan E. BEaTTY
WiLLIAM H. BORDEN
WiLLiaM F. BRILEY
ANNE J. BROWN
JupiTd R. BuLLock

XV

Lars F. NANCE

PERRY Y. NEWSON
ROBIN P. PENDERGRAFT
ALEXANDER M. PETERS
JACOB L. SAFRON

JO ANNE SANFORD
TIARE B. SMILEY
JAMES PEELER SMITH
W. DALE TALBERT
PuiLip A. TELFER
JOHN H. WATTERS
ROBERT G. WEBB
JAMES A. WELLONS
THOMAS J. ZIXO
THOMAS D. ZWEIGART

VIRGINIA L. FULLER
JANE R. GARVEY
EpwiN L. Gavin I
ROBERT R. GELBLUM
Roy A. GILES, JR.
MicHAEL D. GORDON
L. DARLENE GRAHAM
DEBRA C. GRAVES
JEFFREY P. GRAY
JOHN A. GREENLEE
RICHARD L. GRIFFIN
Patricia BLy HAaLL
ROBERT T. HARGETT



Assistant Attorneys General—continued

BurkEe E. HAywooDp
EMMETT B. HAYWOOD
Davip G. HEETER
JiL B. HICKEY
CHARLES H. HOBGOOD
DAvip F. HOKE

Junia R. Hoke

JaMEs C. HoLLOwAY
ELAINE A. HUMPHREYS
Davib N. KIRKMAN
DonaLp W. LaToN

M. JiLL LEDFORD
PHILIP A. LEHMAN
FLoyD M. LEwis

SUE Y. LaTTLE

KAaREN E. LoNG

JOHN F. MADDREY
JAMES E. MAGNER, JR.
J. BRUCE MCKINNEY
SARAH Y. MEACHAM
THOMAS G. MEACHAM, JR.
D. SiGSBEE MILLER

DIANE G. MILLER .
DaviD R. MINGES

LINDA A. MORRIS
ELIZABETH E. MOSLEY
MARILYN R. MUDGE
DENNIS P. MYERS
TmoTHY D. NIFONG
PauLa D. OGguaH

JANE L. OLIVER

Jay L. OSBORNE

J. MARK PAYNE
HowarD A. PELL
ELIZABETH C. PETERSON
DiaNE M. POMPER
NEWTON G. PRITCHETT, JR.
ANITA QUIGLESS

RANEE S. SANDY

Nancy E. Scorr

ELLEN B. SCOUTEN
BARBARA A. SHAW
BELINDA A. SMITH
RoBIN W, SMITH

SHERRA R. SMITH

T. BYRON SMITH
RICHARD G. SOWERBY, JR.
VALERIE B. SPALDING

D. DAVID STEINBOCK, JR.
ELiZABETH N. STRICKLAND
Kip D. STURGIS
SUEANNA P. SUMPTER
Sywvia H. THIBAUT

JANE R. THOMPSON
Stact L. TOLLIVER
VICTORIA L. VOIGHT

J. CHARLES WALDRUP
CHARLES C. WALKER, JR.
KATHLEEN M. WAYLETT
TERESA L. WHITE
CLauDp R. WHITENER HI
THEODORE R. WILLIAMS
THOMAS B. WooD
HARRIET F. WORLEY
DoNALD M. WRIGHT

DISTRICT ATTORNEYS

DISTRICT DISTRICT ATTORNEY ADDRESS

1 FRANK R. PARRISH Elizabeth City

MITCHELL D. NORTON Washington

3A THOMAS D. HAIGWOOD Greenville

3B W. Davip MCFADYEN, JR. New Bermn

4 WILLIAM H. ANDREWS Jacksonville

5 JERRY LEE SPIVEY Wilmington

6A 'W. RoBERT CAUDLE I1 Halifax

6B Davip H. BEARD, JR. Murfreesboro

7 HowarD S. BONEY, Jr. Tarboro

8 DONALD M. JACOBS Goldsboro

9 DaAvID R. WATERS Oxford

9A JoeL H. BREWER Roxboro

10 C. CoLoN WILLOUGHBY, JR. Raleigh

11 Taomas H. Lock Smithfield

12 EDwaRD W. GRANNIS, JR. Fayetteville

13 REX GORE Bolivia

14 JaMES E. HARDIN, Jr. Durham

15A STEVE A. BALOG Graham

15B CaARL R. Fox Chapel Hill

16A JEAN E. PowELL Raeford



DISTRICT

16B
17A
17B
18
19A
19B
19C
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27A
27B
28
29
30

DISTRICT

3A
3B
12
14
15B
16A.
16B
18
26
27A
28

DISTRICT ATTORNEY

L. Jounson Brirt 1T
BELINDA J. FOSTER
JaMES L. DELLINGER, JR.
Horace M. KiMEL, JR.
MagK L. SPEAS
GARLAND N. YATES
WiLLiaM D. KENERLY
KENNETH W. HONEYCUTT
TroMas J. KEITH

M. GENE MORRIS
RaNDY LyoN

JaMEs T. RUSHER

Davip T. FLAHERTY, JR.
PETER S. GILCHRIST IIT
MicHAEL K. LANDS
WiLLIAM CARLOS YOUNG
RoNALD L. MOORE

JEFF HUNT

CHARLES W. Hipps

ADDRESS

Lumberton
Wentworth
Dobson
Greensboro
Concord
Asheboro
Concord
Monroe
Winston-Salem
Lexington
Wilkesboro
Boone

Lenoir
Charlotte
Gastonia
Shelby
Asheville
Rutherfordton
Waynesville

PUBLIC DEFENDERS

PUBLIC DEFENDER

ROBERT L. SHOFFNER, JR.
Henry C. BOSHAMER
PauL F. HERZOG
ROBERT BROWN, JR.
JaMES E. WiLLiams, JR.
J. GraHAM KING

ANGUS B. THOMPSON
WALLACE C. HARRELSON
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MARTHA PAMELA DAVIS, PLaINTIFF v. JOHN HENRY SELLERS AnD SUE P. SELLERS,
DEFENDANTS.

No. 93265C496
(Filed 7 June 1994)

1. Unfair Competition or Trade Practices § 11 (NCI4th)—
unfair and deceptive practices— homeowner exemption

Private homeowners selling their private residences are not
subject to unfair and deceptive practice liability; therefore, the
trial court properly granted defendants’ motion for directed ver-
dict on plaintiff’s unfair and deceptive practices claim where
plaintiff introduced evidence from defendant wife’s deposition
that she held a real estate broker’s license, but both parties
agreed at that time that defendant wife had never engaged in the
business of selling real estate.

Am Jur 2d, Consumer and Borrower Protection § 290.

2. Unfair Competition or Trade Practices § 11 (NCI4th)—
homeowner with real estate broker’s license—referral fee
paid to homeowner—homeowner engaged in commerce

Defendant wife indirectly engaged in the business of selling
real estate when she used her real estate broker’s license to
obtain a referral fee for the sale of her home, and defendant
wife’s receipt of the referral fee brought her transaction within
the scope of N.C.G.S. § 75-1.1.

Am Jur 2d, Consumer and Borrower Protection § 290.
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3. Costs § 31 (NCI4th)— attorney’s fees—statute inapplicable

Since plaintiff's recovery of damages was in excess of $10,000,
N.C.G.S. § 6-21.1 did not apply, and the trial court did not err in
denying plaintiff’s motion for attorney’s fees.

Am Jur 2d, Costs §§ 72-86.

Award of attorneys’ fees in actions under state decep-
tive trade practice and consumer protection acts. 35
ALR4th 12.

4. Fraud, Deceit, and Misrepresentation § 20 (NCI4th)—
buyer’s reliance on home seller’s statement—reasonable-
ness of reliance jury question

The reasonableness of plaintiff buyer’s reliance on the female
defendant homeowner’s statement that defendants’ house had had
no water problems since defendants had owned it was an issue for
the jury to decide, and the trial court therefore did not err in deny-
ing defendants’ motion for directed verdict as to plaintiff’s fraud
claim.

Am Jur 2d, Fraud and Deceit §§ 247 et seq.

5. Fraud, Deceit, and Misrepresentation § 4 (NCI4th)— sale of
home—wife as agent for husband—sufficiency of
evidence

There was sufficient evidence from which the jury could infer
that defendant wife acted as the agent of defendant husband in
selling their home and in making a fraudulent statement, and the
trial court therefore did not err in refusing to charge the jury with
regard to each defendant separately.

Am Jur 2d, Fraud and Deceit §§ 311 et seq.

Appeal by plaintiff from judgment signed 26 October 1992 by
Judge Hollis M. Owens, Jr. in Mecklenburg County Superior Court.
Heard in the Court of Appeals 10 February 1994.

On 31 May 1991, plaintiff, a first time homebuyer, purchased a
house located at 5429 Gwynne Avenue in Charlotte, North Carolina.
Defendants owned the house and listed it for sale with Wanda Smith
Realty. Plaintiff’s purchase contract provided that “there shall be no
unusual drainage conditions or evidence of excessive moisture
adversely affecting the structure(s).” Under the contract, plaintiff
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was entitled to have the property inspected by a reputable inspector or
contractor.

On 8 May 1991, inspections were conducted on the property while
plaintiff, her real estate agent Geoff Campbell, and defendant Sue
Sellers (hereinafter defendant wife) were present. One inspector told
both plaintiff and Campbell that he had observed water marks in the
crawl space under the house that “might have indicated flooding at
some time in the past.” Plaintiff testified that:

Right after the inspectors had told us about the water mark, that
prompted my realtor, Geoff Campbell, to ask [defendant wife] as
she was standing right there in front of the inspectors if there had
been any water problems that had happened in the past since they
had owned the home and she responded no. I took her at her word.

A few days after plaintiff purchased the house, plaintiff received a
letter in her mailbox from the Charlotte City Engineering Department.
The letter was addressed to defendant and stated that “On February
25th, 1991, you [defendant wife] wrote a letter addressed to Henry
Underhill, City Attorney, concerning your storm drainage problem at
5429 Gwynne Avenue.” The letter indicated that plaintiff’s property had
severe storm water drainage problems and that it would cost approxi-
mately half a million dollars to repair the drainage system. The letter
also stated that plaintiff and the other homeowners in the neighbor-
hood affected by the drainage problem would be responsible for pay-
ing 20% or approximately $70,000 of the cost to repair the drainage
system.

Plaintiff telephoned the Charlotte City Engineering Department
and spoke with Mr. Al Rich. Mr. Rich told plaintiff that he was familiar
with the problems at her property and that he had been working with
defendants for about five years on the problem.

On 2 October 1991, plaintiff filed suit against defendants alleging
fraud and unfair and deceptive practices, a violation of G.S. 75-1.1. At
the close of plaintiff’s evidence at trial, defendants moved for directed
verdict as to both of plaintiff’s claims. The trial court granted defend-
ants’ motion as to plaintiff’s unfair and deceptive practices claim but
denied the motion as to plaintiff’s fraud claim. The case went to the
jury on the issue of fraud.

On 9 September 1992, the jury returned a verdict in favor of plain-
tiff and awarded plaintiff compensatory damages of $9,200. On 11
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September 1992, plaintiff filed a motion for attorney’s fees pursuant to
G.S. 6-21.1. On 29 October 1992, the trial court entered judgment for
plaintiff on the jury verdict but denied plaintiff’s motion for attorney’s
fees. Plaintiff filed notice of appeal on 18 November 1992 and defend-
ants cross appealed on 24 November 1992.

On 9 March 1993, while this case was pending on appeal, plaintiff
filed a motion with the trial court pursuant to Rule 60(b) of the North
Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure to overturn its order granting de-
fendants’ motion for directed verdict on plaintiff’s unfair and deceptive
practices claim. The relevant portions of the motion are as follows:

2. At the close of Plaintiff's evidence, this Court granted De-
fendants’ motion for directed verdict with respect to Plaintiff’s
claim for unfair and deceptive trade practices. The sole basis for
the motion was the so-called “private homeowners exception” to
N.C.G.S. § 75-1.1. The Court felt constrained by applicable prece-
dent in the North Carolina Court of Appeals to the effect that a
homeowner not in the realty business was excepted from unfair
and deceptive trade practices liability.

3. Defendant Sue Sellers admitted at the time of trial that she
was a licensed realtor. Both at the trial and at her deposition,
however, Mrs. Sellers denied that she had ever engaged in the
realty business, including in connection with the sale of her own
home. . . .

4. Several months following the trial of this case, Plaintiff’s
counsel learned from Geoff Campbell, a witness at the trial, that he
believed Mrs. Sellers may have received a “referral fee” in connec-
tion with the sale of her residence. Applicable real estate regula-
tions make it clear that only a person engaged in the business of
being a realtor can receive such a fee. . . .

5. Promptly after receiving this information, Plaintiff’s counsel
followed up with Wanda Smith & Associates to determine if such
consideration was paid to Mrs. Sellers. Wanda Smith’s office con-
firmed that a 20% referral fee, in the amount of $395.00, was paid
to Mrs. Sellers, who received such fee upon furnishing Wanda
Smith her realty license number. See Affidavit of Linda Morrow.

6. No documentation of this fee was revealed to Plaintiff at the
closing or at any other time. Defendant Sue Sellers did not produce
any check copies, deposit receipts or other documentary evidence
regarding the same. She denied under oath that she had ever pur-
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sued “at all” the realty business. Had she testified fully and forth-
rightly and provided all documents in her possession with respect
to this matter, evidence of such referral fee would have been sub-
mitted by Plaintiff at the trial.

7. This evidence establishes as a matter of law that Mrs. Sellers
was engaged in the business of being a realtor when she sold her
home to the Plaintiff. Under these circumstances, the “private
home owners exception” to N.C.G.S. § 75-1.1 is not available. Com-
pare Rucker v. Huffman, 99 N.C. App. 137 (1990). . ..

8. The jury in this case properly found fraud. Under North Car-
olina law, a finding of fraud automatically results in unfair and
deceptive trade practices liability. Bhatti v. Buckland, 328 N.C. 240
(1991).

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays that this Court make an appropriate
entry in the record indicating its disposition to grant Plaintiff’s Rule
60(b) motion and therewith to enter judgment for Plaintiff in the
amount of $27,600, plus costs and reasonable attorney’s fees,
together with such other and further relief as this Court deems just
and proper.

The trial court entered the following order regarding plaintiff’s Rule
60(b) motion:

ORDER

This matter came on before hearing before the undersigned
Superior Court Judge on March 17, 1993, pursuant to the motion
filed by Plaintiff under Rule 60(b) of the North Carolina Rules of
Civil Procedure. Plaintiff had requested that this Court indicate its
disposition on the record regarding how the Court would rule on
this motion were an appeal not pending. Plaintiff contended that
the newly discovered evidence that Defendant Sue P. Sellers had
been paid a broker’s referral fee of $369.00 in connection with the
sale of 5429 Gwynne Avenue indicated that this Court’s entry of
directed verdict with respect to Plaintiff’s claim under N.C.G.S.
§ 75-1.1 should be overturned.

Having considered the matters of record and the arguments of
counsel, the Court, pursuant to Bell v. Martin, 43 N.C. App. 134
(1979), indicates as a matter of record that it would be inclined to
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DENY Plaintiff's motion. The Court would find as a fact that the
newly discovered evidence proffered by Plaintiff could not have
been discovered through the exercise of due diligence. The Court
would also conclude, however, that the evidence that Defendant
used her real estate brokerage license to earn a referral fee of
$369.00 is insufficient as a matter of law to bring this transaction
into “commerce” as required by N.C.G.S. § 75-1.1.

Plaintiff appeals. Defendants cross appeal.

Robinson, Bradshaw & Hinson, PA., by David C. Wright, I1I, for
plaintiff-appellant.

Robert E. McCarter for defendant-appellee.

EAGLES, Judge.

Plaintiff contends in her appeal that the trial court erred in 1)
granting defendants’ motion for directed verdict on plaintiff’s unfair
and deceptive practices claim, 2) denying plaintiff’s Rule 60(b) motion
for relief from the trial court’s order granting defendants’ motion for
directed verdict and 3) denying plaintiff’s motion for attorney’s fees
pursuant to G.S. 6-21.1. Defendants contend in their cross appeal that
the trial court erred in 1) denying defendants’ motion for directed ver-
dict on plaintiff’s fraud claim and 2) refusing to charge each defendant
separately. After careful review of the record and briefs, we conclude
that while the trial court correctly granted defendants’ motion for
directed verdict on plaintiff’s unfair and deceptive practices claim at
the close of plaintiff’s evidence, the trial court erred and abused its dis-
cretion in denying plaintiff’s Rule 60(b) motion for relief. We conclude
that plaintiff’s newly discovered evidence subjects defendants to lia-
bility for unfair and deceptive practices under G.S. 75-1.1. Since we
conclude that defendants are subject to liability for Chapter 75 unfair
and deceptive practices and the jury has already found defendants
liable for fraud, we further conclude that plaintiff is entitled to have
the damages awarded on the jury verdict trebled. Accordingly, we
remand to the trial court for entry of judgment trebling plaintiff’s dam-
ages on the jury verdict.

I. PLAINTIFF'S APPEAL
A.
[1] Plaintiff first contends that the trial court erred in granting defend-

ants’ motion for directed verdict at the close of plaintiff’s evidence on
plaintiff’s unfair and deceptive practices claim. We disagree.
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G.S. 75-1.1 declares unlawful “unfair and deceptive acts or prac-
tices in or affecting commerce.” Except for certain limited exemptions
set forth in the statute, commerce includes “all business activities, how-
ever denominated.” G.S. 75-1.1(b). This court has stated that, “The pur-
pose of G.S. 75-1.1 is to provide a civil means to maintain ethical stand-
ards of dealings between persons engaged in business and the
consuming public within this State and applies to dealings between
buyers and sellers at all levels of commerce.” United Virginia Bank v.
Air-Lift Associates, 79 N.C. App. 315, 320, 339 S.E.2d 90, 93 (1986). This
court has also held, however, that private homeowners selling their pri-
vate residences are not subject to unfair and deceptive practice liabili-
ty. Robertson v. Boyd, 88 N.C. App. 437, 363 S.E.2d 672 (1988);
Rosenthal v. Perkins, 42 N.C. App. 449, 257 S.E.2d 63 (1979). Plaintiff
argues that the private homeowner’s exemption created by this court in
Robertson and Rosenthal, supra, was questioned by our Supreme Court
in Bhatti v. Buckland, 328 N.C. 240, 400 S.E.2d 440 (1991). Plaintiff con-
tends that the Court’s ruling in Bhatti, supra, severely eroded the foun-
dation of the private homeowners exemption and that this court should
no longer apply the exemption. We note, however, that the Court in
Bhatti assumed arguendo that the private homeowner’s exemption
existed. Id. at 245, 400 S.E.2d at 443. Accordingly, we conclude that the
private homeowner’s exemption continues to exist.

At the close of plaintiff’s evidence, plaintiff had introduced no evi-
dence that defendants were anything other than private homeowners
selling their home. Although plaintiff introduced evidence from defend-
ant wife’s deposition that she held a real estate broker’s license, both
parties agreed at that time that defendant wife had never engaged in the
business of selling real estate. Accordingly, the trial court properly
granted defendants’ motion for directed verdict on plaintiff’s unfair and
deceptive practices claim based upon our holdings in Boyd and
Perkins, supra.

B.

[2] Plaintiff next contends that the trial court erred in denying its Rule
60(b) motion for relief from the trial court’s order granting defendants’
motion for directed verdict on plaintiff’s unfair and deceptive practices
claim. We agree.

Several months after trial, plaintiff’s counsel discovered that
defendant wife received a 20% referral fee of $369 from Wanda Smith &
Associates, the listing agent of defendants’ house. In order to receive
the referral fee, defendant wife gave Wanda Smith & Associates her
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social security number and her North Carolina real estate broker
number. Plaintiff argued in her Rule 60(b) motion that defendant
wife’s receipt of the referral fee “establishe[d] as a matter of law that
[defendant wife] was engaged in the business of being a realtor when
she sold her home to the Plaintiff.” In its order denying plaintiff’s Rule
60(b) motion, the trial court stated that “the evidence that [defendant
wife] used her real estate brokerage license to earn a referral fee of
$369.00 is insufficient as a matter of law to bring this transaction into
‘commerce’ as required by N.C.G.S. § 75-1.1.” We disagree.

G.S. 93A-1 provides that it is unlawful for any person to act as a
real estate broker or real estate salesperson or to directly or indirect-
ly engage in the business of being a real estate broker or real estate
salesperson without a license issued by the North Carolina Real
Estate Commission. Under G.S. 93A-6(a)(9) a real estate broker may
not pay a commission or valuable consideration to any person for acts
or services performed in violation of Chapter 93A. In Gower v. Strout
Realty, Inc., 56 N.C. App. 603, 289 S.E.2d 880 (1982), this court held
that a contract to pay an unlicensed party a “finder’s fee” for finding,
introducing and bringing together parties to a real estate transaction
but leaving the ultimate consummation of the transaction to the bro-
ker, violated G.S. 93A-1. The Gower court stated:

[T]hough the finder or originator does not assist in the ultimate
negotiations of sale, the real estate licensing statutes would
become meaningless if unlicensed parties were able to carry on
traditional brokerage activities under a finder’s fee contract.

Id. at 605, 289 S.E.2d at 882. One who conducts activities pursuant
to a finder’s fee contract is engaged indirectly in the business of being
a real estate broker or salesperson. A person engaged either directly
or indirectly in the sale of real estate is engaged in commerce within
the meaning of G.S. 75-1.1. See, Rosenthal v. Perkins, 42 N.C. App.
449, 454, 257 S.E.2d 63, 67 (1979).

Here, defendant wife used her real estate broker’s license to
receive a $369 referral fee from Wanda Smith & Associates for the sale
of her own home. We conclude that defendant wife indirectly engaged
in the business of selling real estate when she used her real estate bro-
ker’s license to obtain a referral fee for the sale of her home. Although
persons selling their own private residence are exempt from Chapter
75 liability, Rosenthal, supra, defendant wife’s receipt of the referral
fee brings defendants’ transaction within the scope of G.S. 75-1.1.
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A plaintiff who proves fraud thereby establishes that unfair or
deceptive acts have occurred in violation of G.S. 75-1.1. Bhatti v.
Buckland, 328 N.C. 240, 243, 400 S.E.2d 440, 442 (1991); Hardy v.
Toler, 288 N.C. 303, 309, 218 S.E.2d 342, 346 (1975) (proof of fraud
necessarily constitutes an unfair and deceptive act). Once a violation
of Chapter 75 is found, treble damages must be awarded. Bhattt at
243, 440 S.E.2d at 442. Since the jury found in favor of plaintiff on her
fraud claim, plaintiff is entitled to treble damages. Accordingly, we
remand to the trial court to enter judgment trebling plaintiff’s dam-
ages on the jury verdict.

C.

[3] Plaintiff contends that the trial court abused its discretion in fail-
ing to award reasonable attorney’s fees. We disagree.

At the end of trial, plaintiff moved for attorney’s fees pursuant to
G.S. 6-21.1. G.S. 6-21.1 provides in relevant part:

In any . . . property damage suit . . ., where the judgment for recov-
ery of damages is ten thousand dollars ($10,000) or less, the pre-
siding judge may, in his discretion, allow a reasonable attorney
fee to the duly licensed attorney representing the litigant . . . .

Since we are remanding this case to the trial court to enter judgment
trebling plaintiff’s damages, plaintiff’s recovery for damages will be
in excess of $10,000. Accordingly, G.S. 6-21.1 will not apply. We note,
however, that upon remand, the trial court may in its discretion
award plaintiff a reasonable attorney’s fee pursuant to G.S. 75-16.1.
Accordingly, this assignment of error is overruled.

I1. DEFENDANTS’ CROSS APPEAL
A

{4] Defendants first contend in their cross appeal that the trial court
erred in denying defendants’ motion for directed verdict as to plain-
tiff’s fraud claim. We disagree.

In reviewing the denial of defendants’ motion for directed ver-
dict, we consider the evidence in the light most favorable to plaintiff
and resolve all conflicts in the evidence in plaintiff’s favor.
Blanchfield v. Soden, 95 N.C. App. 191, 194, 381 S.E.2d 863, 864
(1989). A motion for directed verdict should be denied “if there is
more than a scintilla of evidence supporting each element of the non-
movant's case.” Freese v. Smith, 110 N.C. App. 28, 33-34, 428 S.E.2d
841, 845-46 (1993).
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To establish a claim for fraud, plaintiff must present evidence on
each of these six elements:

(1) [T]hat defendants made a representation of a material past or
existing fact, (2) that the representation was false, (3) that de-
fendants knew the representation was false or made it reckless-
ly without regard to its truth or falsity, (4) that the representation
was made with the intention that it would be relied upon, (5) that
plaintiff[] did rely on it and that their reliance was reasonable,
and (6) that plaintiff[] suffered damages because of their
reliance.

Blanchfield v. Soden, 95 N.C. App. 191, 194, 381 S.E.2d 863, 864
(1989). Defendants contend that plaintiff’s reliance on defendant
wife’s statement that the house had no water problems was unrea-
sonable as a matter of law.

Plaintiff’s inspectors inspected the house and informed plaintiff
that there were water marks in the crawl space under the house that
“might have indicated flooding at some time in the past.” When plain-
tiff’s inspector told plaintiff about the water marks under the house,
plaintiff’s real estate agent asked defendant wife, “Do you have any
water problems?” Defendant wife answered, “No.” Defendants con-
tend that plaintiff’s failure to make further inquiries after the inspec-
tor told plaintiff about the water marks made plaintiff’s reliance upon
defendant wife’s statement unreasonable as a matter of law. We dis-
agree.

In considering the issue of reasonable reliance, our Supreme
Court has stated:

Just where reliance ceases to be reasonable and becomes such
negligence and inattention that it will, as a matter of law, bar
recovery for fraud is frequently very difficult to determine. .. . In
close cases, however, we think that a seller who has intentional-
ly made a false representation about something material, in order
to induce a sale of his property, should not be permitted to say in
effect, “You ought not to have trusted me. If you had not been so
gullible, ignorant, or negligent, I could not have deceived you.”
Courts should be very loath to deny an actually defrauded plain-
tiff relief on this ground.

Johnson v. Owens, 263 N.C. 754, 758, 140 S.E.2d 311, 314 (1965). In
Blanchfield v. Soden, 95 N.C. App. 191, 381 S.E.2d 863 (1989), this
court held that plaintiffs did not unreasonably rely as a matter of law
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on the Soden’s affirmative statement that the house plaintiffs were
purchasing had a new roof even though plaintiffs had knowledge that
the roof leaked. There, plaintiffs’ inspectors had informed plaintiffs
that the roof was cracked and that it leaked. Plaintiffs contended that
they relied on defendants’ representations that the roof was new and
that the problem was minor. In holding that the question of plaintiffs’
reasonable reliance was a question for the jury, this court stated:

While plaintiffs knew that the roof leaked, their failure to inspect
it further was not unreasonable as a matter of law. Mr. Soden
assured plaintiffs that the roof would be repaired. He failed to
inform plaintiffs, however, that the roof repairman had recom-
mended that the roof be replaced. Since he had previously told
plaintiffs that the roof was new and that the leak would be
repaired, plaintiffs had no reason to doubt Mr. Soden’s word.
Whether plaintiff’s testimony was credible—that he thought the
leaks were due to a bad seal or “a glitch” in the “new” roof—was
an issue for the jury.

Id. at 195, 381 S.E.2d at 865.

Here, plaintiff’s inspector informed her that there were water
marks under the house that “might have indicated flooding at some
time in the past.” Plaintiff testified that she took defendant wife at
her word when defendant wife stated that the house had no water
problems since defendants had owned the house. Although plaintiff
had notice of the water marks under the house, plaintiff was fraudu-
lently induced to forego further inquiry which she otherwise would
have made. See Bolick v. Townsend Co., 94 N.C. App. 650, 381 S.E.2d
175 (1989); Olivetti Corp. v. Ames Business Systems, Inc., 319 N.C.
534, 356 S.E.2d 578 (1987). Accordingly, we conclude that on these
facts, the reasonableness of plaintiff’s reliance was an issue for the
jury to decide.

B.

[5] Finally, defendants contend that the trial court erred in refusing
to charge each defendant separately. Defendants argue that defend-
ant John Henry Sellers (hereinafter defendant husband) was not
present during the negotiations for the sale of the house and that he
did not engage in any discussions with plaintiff. Accordingly, defen-
dants contend that there was no evidence that defendant husband
participated in any fraud upon plaintiff. We disagree.
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In Douglas v. Doub, 95 N.C. App. 505, 383 S.E.2d 423 (1989),
defendants husband and wife were found liable for fraud in selling a
condominium. There, defendant husband fraudulently represented to
plaintiff that the condominium had undergone recent repairs because
of a “bursted (sic} water pipe” when in fact the condominium had
been repaired because portions of the foundation had sunk into the
ground on two previous occasions. Defendant wife claimed that she
was entitled to a directed verdict on the fraud claim because no evi-
dence showed that she made any representations to plaintiff. This
court held that although the defendant wife personally did not make
any fraudulent representations to plaintiff regarding the sale of the
condominium, defendant wife could still be held liable for defendant
husband’s fraud if defendant husband was acting as defendant wife’s
agent when he made the fraudulent representations. In concluding
that the evidence was sufficient to establish an agency relationship,
this court stated:

[Algency of the husband for his wife may be “shown by evidence
of facts and circumstances which authorize a reasonable infer-
ence that he was authorized to act for her.” “The wife’s retention
of benefits from a contract negotiated by the husband is a factu-
al circumstance giving rise to such an inference.” The fact that
the “principal did not know or authorize the commission of the
fraudulent acts” is immaterial.

The plaintiff argues, and we agree that defendant wife
received a benefit when plaintiff assumed the note and deed of
trust which defendants had executed to the Pfefferkorn Compa-
ny. The assumption of the loan by the plaintiff relieved the
defendant wife from a $39,950 obligation. While there is no evi-
dence defendant wife ever received any money from the sale of
the condominium to the plaintiff, the evidence relating to the
loan assumption is a factual circumstance from which a jury
could infer that defendant husband was authorized to act for
defendant wife.

Douglas v. Doub, 95 N.C. App. 505, 513-14, 383 S.E.2d 423, 427-28
(1989) (citations omitted).

Here, there is ample evidence to create a reasonable inference
that defendant wife was acting on behalf of defendant husband in
selling defendants’ house. Defendant husband participated with his
wife in listing the property for sale with Wanda Smith & Associates.
Although defendant husband was out of town during the time his
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wife represented to plaintiff that the house had no water problems,
he testified that he knew what took place during those negotiations
because he was in contact with his wife every day. Finally, defendant
husband received a benefit from the sale of his home because as a co-
owner of the property, he was entitled to receive half of the proceeds
from the sale of the house. Accordingly, we conclude that there was
sufficient evidence from which the jury could infer that defendant
wife acted as the agent of defendant husband in selling the property.
This cross assignment of error is overruled.

111

In sum, we conclude that the trial court erred and abused its dis-
cretion in denying plaintiff’s Rule 60(b) motion for relief. Defendants
do not come within the private homeowner’s exemption in Robertson
v. Boyd, 88 N.C. App. 437, 363 S.E.2d 672 (1988) and Rosenthal v.
Perkins, 42 N.C. App. 449, 257 S.E.2d 63 (1979), and are subject to lia-
bility for Chapter 75 unfair and deceptive practices because defend-
ant wife engaged in the business of being a real estate broker when
she used her real estate broker’s license to obtain a $369 referral fee.
Since the jury found defendants liable for fraud and a finding of fraud
necessarily constitutes an unfair and deceptive practice in violation
of G.S. 75-1.1, we remand to the trial court to enter judgment trebling
plaintiff’s damages on the jury verdict. We find no abuse of discretion
in the trial court’s disallowance of attorney’s fees but note that upon
remand to the trial court, plaintiff may move for attorney’s fees pur-
suant to G.S. 75-16.1. Defendants cross assignments of error are over-
ruled. Accordingly, we remand to the trial court for further proceed-
ings not inconsistent with this opinion.

Affirmed in part, reversed in part and remanded.

Judges JOHNSON and LEWIS concur.
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APPLIANCE SALES & SERVICE, INC., PLaINTIFF v. COMMAND ELECTRONICS COR-
PORATION anp ISSAC SHEPHARD FUNDERBURK, III (AND ALL OTHER OFFI-
CERS, DIRECTORS AND STOCKHOLDERS OF COMMAND ELECTRONICS
CORPORATION, DEFENDANTS

No. 9395C5561
(Filed 7 June 1994)

1. Appeal and Error § 471 (NCI4th)— enforceability of forum
selection clauses—abuse of discretion as appropriate
standard of review

The abuse of discretion standard is the appropriate standard
of appellate review for orders assessing the enforceability of
forum selection clauses.

Am Jur 2d, Appeal and Error §§ 772 et seq.

2. Venue § 7 (NCI4th)— refusal to enforce forum selection
clause-—no abuse of discretion

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to
enforce the terms of the forum selection clause in the parties’
contract, since defendants had made at least two prior represen-
tations to the effect that if plaintiff sought a remedy, plaintiff
could sue defendants in the courts of North Carolina, and defend-
ants are estopped from asserting the forum selection clause as a
defense to the filing of the action in North Carolina.

Am Jur 2d, Venue §§ 7, 8.

Validity of contractual provision limiting place or court
which action may be brought. 31 ALR4th 404.

Appeal by defendants from order entered 8 February 1993 by
Judge Anthony M. Brannon in Vance County Superior Court. Heard in
the Court of Appeals 3 March 1994.

This case involves a “forum selection clause” in a commercial
contract. Plaintiff is a North Carolina corporation with its principal
place of business in Henderson, North Carolina. Defendant Com-
mand Electronics Corporation is a South Carolina corporation and
its registered office is located in Mount Pleasant, South Carolina.
Defendant Command Electronics Corporation does business in
North Carolina but has never received a Certificate of Authority from
the North Carolina Secretary of State to transact business in North
Carolina.
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On 11 July 1991, plaintiff, a North Carolina corporation, filed a
complaint in Vance County District Court against defendants. Plain-
tiff sought to recover damages for breach of contract, fraud, and
unfair and deceptive trade practices in connection with a contract
under which plaintiff was to become a vendee of alarm systems
known as “Med Command Systems” for defendant Command Elec-
tronics Corporation.

The underlying facts of this case are described in an affidavit
filed by Andrew Thomas, plaintiff’'s Chairman of the Board, which
provides in pertinent part as follows:

That pursuant to an advertisement of solicitation received by
us at our Henderson, North Carolina business, a sales represent-
ative of Command Electronics Corporation contacted my son,
David Thomas, and me about our becoming a dealer/vendee for
the sale of Med Command Systems for Command Electronics
Corporation.

On March 14, 1991, a sales representative of Command Elec-
tronics Corporation met in Henderson, North Carolina with offi-
cers of Appliance Sales & Service, Inc. proposing that we become
the “Vendee” for Command Electronics Corporation of Med Com-
mand Systems, with Granville, Person, Durham, Wake, Franklin,
Vance, and Warren Counties in North Carolina and Mecklenburg,
Halifax, Brunswick, and Pittsylvania Counties in Virginia as our
“area.” A contract was written up and signed at that time
between Command Electronics Corporation with Appliance
Sales & Service, Inc. for those counties, the contract stating that
Command Electronics Corporation “will not appoint another
vendee in the above listed county/counties during the term of
this agreement or its renewal in writing by the vendee.” The con-
tract had a term through December 31, 1991 “and may thereafter
be renewed at the option of the vendee, in writing, each year at
no cost or purchase required.”

Appliance Sales & Service, Inc. paid to Command Electronics
Corporation the sum of $7,493.00 (one-half of the total contract
price) on March 14, 1991 with the contract providing that the
remaining $7,493.00 balance would be payable at a later date (all
of which $14,986.00 was paid by us to Command Electronics
Corporation).

Thereafter a representative of Command Electronics Corpo-
ration again contacted us at Appliance Sales & Service, Inc. and
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advised us that Command Electronics Corporation had made a
mistake in its prior contract with Appliance Sales & Service, Inc.
in that:

1. Command Electronics Corporation was not
licensed in the State of Virginia and therefore could not
give any areas in Virginia to Appliance Sales & Service,
Inc. or to anyone else, and,

2. Command Electronics Corporation had made a
demographic study which indicated that there was insuf-
ficient response (or demand) for Command Electronics
Corporation to attempt to sell Med Command Systems or
for it to have a vendee in Granville, Person or Durham
Counties (in which it was not going to put vendees) for
said systems.

For the above reasons, Command Electronics Corporation
requested Appliance Sales & Service, Inc., to switch areas so as
to exclude these counties.

On March 25, 1991, I received a letter from Issac Shephard
Funderburk, III forwarding me a proposed new contract and
requesting me to send the old contract back to Command Elec-
tronics Corporation (with the proposed new contract excluding
Granville, Person, Durham and other counties which were in my
original contract).

I thereafter personally called Issac Shephard Funderburk, I1I
and told him that Appliance Sales & Service was particularly
interested in Durham and Granville Counties (and was not inter-
ested in the additional counties suggested by Command Elec-
tronics Corporation), but Issac Shephard Funderburk, III person-
ally emphasized to me that Command Electronics Corporation’s
demographic studies had indicated that it was not profitable to
place any vendee in Granville and Durham (and other) Counties
and that Command Electronics Corporation was not going to
place any vendees in Granville or Durham Counties, and Issac
Shephard Funderburk, III personally promised me further that
Appliance Sales & Service, Inc. would be given a right of first
refusal relative to Granville, Durham, and Person Counties in
North Carolina and Pittsylvania and Halifax Counties in Virginia
if Command Electronics Corporation decided to open up these
territories or have vendees in any of them.
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Specifically relying upon these specific representations and
assurances . . . Appliance Sales & Service, Inc. through me agreed
to switch areas (excluding the aforesaid counties) by rewording
the areas in the original contract through another contract docu-
ment (which “Shep” Funderburk had prepared and back-dated to
March 14, 1991, the date of the original contract), switching the
counties of Granville, Person, and Durham and the Virginia Coun-
ties in the original contract for other counties of a lesser nature
in North Carolina.

On May 8, 1991, the sales representative of Command Elec-
tronics Corporation picked up the new contract document signed
by Appliance Sales & Service, Inc. (back-dated March 14, 1991)
and further gave to Appliance Sales & Service, Inc. two adden-
dums to the same.

At the time . . . I and the other officers of Appliance Sales &
Service, Inc. did not know that Command Electronics Corpora-
tion had already entered into a vendee contract with Adcock’s
Business Machines, Inc. relative to Person, Granville, and
Durham Counties in North Carolina and Pittsylvania and Halifax
Counties in Virginia.

Appliance Sales & Service, Inc. relied upon said statements,
affirmations, representations, and assurances in agreeing to give
up its rights as a vendee in Person, Durham and Granville Coun-
ties in North Carolina and Pittsylvania and Halifax Counties in
Virginia and in signing a new contract document substituting
lesser counties for them.

The first knowledge by personnel of Appliance Sales & Serv-
ice, Inc. of said misrepresentations occurred on Monday, June 3,
1991, (when they were contacted by Ken Adcock); that within 72
hours thereafter, we had our attorney write to Command Elec-
tronics Corporation (attention: “Shep” Funderburk) and gave for-
mal notice and demands that the alleged contract between Com-
mand Electronics Corporation and Appliance Sales & Service,
Inc. be voided immediately and that Appliance Sales & Service,
Inc. be refunded the $14,986.00 previously paid (said refund to be
on or before June 20, 1991) and advised Command Electronics
Corporation that the one Med Command System sales kit in the
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possession of Appliance Sales & Service, Inc. could be picked up
by Command Electronics Corporation at any reasonable time.
Command Electronics Corporation has never refunded (or ten-
dered a refund) of any part of said $14,986.00 to us.

The affidavit of Ken Adcock, President of Adcock’s Business
Machines, Inc., provided as follows:

That on March 15, 1991 I signed a “Vendee” or “Purchase
Order Contract” with Command Electronics Corporation indicat-
ing that Adcock’s Business Machines, Inc. would become the
“vendee” for Command Electronics Corporation of Med Com-
mand Systems with Person, Granville, Durham and other Coun-
ties in North Carolina, and Pittsylvania and Halifax and other
Counties in Virginia as its “area”; that said Contract specified that
Command Electronics Corporation “will not appoint another
vendee in the above listed County/Counties during the term of
this agreement or its renewal in writing by the vendee.” . . .
Adcock’s Business Machines, Inc. is located in Oxford (Granville
County) North Carolina and paid Command Electronics Corpo-
ration $14,986.00 for said Contract.

At the time said Contract was signed, the representative of
Command Electronics Corporation showed me a check in his
pocket (dated March 14, 1991) from Appliance Sales & Service,
Inc. to Command Electronics Corporation in the sum of
$7,493.00. I was then advised by Command Electronics Corpora-
tion’s personnel that they had given Appliance Sales & Service,
Inc. a Contract the day before but preferred to give the Contract
to me and that if I signed for Adcock’s Business Machines, Inc.
the Contract with Command Electronics Corporation (set forth
in the above paragraph), they would advise Appliance Sales &
Service, Inc. that it could not be a “vendee” and would send
Appliance Sales & Service, Inc. back its check.

I had wanted to become a vendee for other Counties in North
Carolina including especially Vance County, North Carolina. I
was advised by Command Electronics Corporation that I was the
only vendee in the State of North Carolina except for a small area
around Wilmington, North Carolina which was in the area of a
South Carolina vendee, and that Command Electronics Corpora-
tion would not place another vendee in North Carolina without
giving me the right of first refusal to become a vendee in that
area.
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Shortly after I signed my Contract of March 15, 1991, 1
received a demographic study (which Command Electronics Cor-
poration had promised me). It contained a list of places 4 pages
long for Durham County where 1 could find potential business
outlets and an additional 1-1/4 pages for Granville County.

I had a telephone conversation at that time with Issac
Shephard Funderburk, III concerning the demographic studies
and he personally discussed with me my being the vendee in
Granville County, Durham County and some of the other counties
indicated in my contract. He further personally emphasized to
me that there were no other vendees in North Carolina (except
for the Wilmington area) and that I would have a right of first
refusal if they put a vendee in any other area.

On June 3, 1991 I first discovered that Appliance Sales &
Service, Inc. had been made a vendee in North Carolina, and that
it had been persuaded by Command Electronics Corporation to
modify rather than terminate its Contract with Command Elec-
tronics Corporation and that its check to Command Electronics
Corporation had never been returned.

On 4 November 1991, defendants filed an answer, alleging inter
alia that a forum selection clause barred the action from being heard
in North Carolina. Through the consent of the parties, the case was
transferred to Superior Court by order filed 17 November 1992. On 7
January 1993, defendants’ filed a motion to dismiss pursuant to G.S.
1A-1, Rule 12(b). On 5 February 1993, plaintiff filed the two affidavits
discussed supra. On 8 February 1993, the trial court denied defend-
ants’ motion to dismiss, stating that “(a]fter hearing arguments of
counsel and reviewing the court files, the Court finds, from the total-
ity of the circumstances reflected in the court files and from argu-
ments of counsel, that this Court has jurisdiction over the subject
matter and the parties, and that the enforcement of the forum selec-
tion clause in the alleged contract would be unfair and unreason-
able.” Defendants appeal.

Zollicoffer & Long, by John H. Zollicoffer, Jr., for plaintiff-
appellee.

Bobby W. Rogers for defendant-appellants.
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EAGLES, Judge.

Defendants argue that the trial court erred in denying their
motion to dismiss “pursuant to the forum selection clause of the con-
tract.” We disagree.

L

In Perkins v. CCH Computax, Inc., 333 N.C. 140, 141, 423 S.E.2d
780, 781 (1992), our Supreme Court upheld the validity of a forum
selection clause contained in a commercial contract to purchase soft-
ware entered into between a North Carolina certified public account-
ant and a California-based software company. In Perkins, our
Supreme Court stated:

Recognizing the validity and enforceability of forum selection
clauses in North Carolina is consistent with the North Carolina
rule that recognizes the validity and enforceability of choice of
law and consent to jurisdiction provisions. Johnston County v.
R.N. Rouse & Co., 331 N.C. 88, 414 S.E.2d 30. For the foregoing
reasons, we embrace the modern view and hold that forum selec-
tion clauses are valid in North Carolina. A plaintiff who executes
a contract that designates a particular forum for the resolution of
disputes and then files suit in another forum seeking to avoid
enforcement of a forum selection clause carries a heavy burden
and must demonstrate that the clause was the product of fraud or
unequal bargaining power or that enforcement of the clause
would be unfair or unreasonable. The dissent argues that this
Court’s decision in this case “place[s] tens of thousands of our
citizens at the mercy of those who will take advantage of them by
the use of forum selection clauses.” We disagree. Under our deci-
sion, the trial court retains the authority to hear the case when it
determines that the forum selection clause was the product of
fraud or unequal bargaining power or that the clause would be
unfair or unreasonable.

333 N.C. at 146, 423 S.E.2d at 784. After Perkins, in Bell Atlantic Tri-
con Leasing Corp. v. Johnnie’s Garbage Serv., 113 N.C. App. 476, 439
S.E.2d 221 (1994), this Court analyzed a consent to jurisdiction
clause in a standardized lease agreement purporting to bind a North
Carolina corporation to litigate in a New Jersey trial court. Id. at 479,
439 S.E.2d at 224. There, in determining whether the agreement was
unfair or unreasonable, this Court examined the “circumstances sur-
rounding the defendant’s signing of the lease agreement” and stated:
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When he [the North Carolina corporation’s president] signed the
lease agreement, defendant was a 79-year-old man who ran a
small family business. There was no bargaining over the terms of
the contract between the parties, who were far from equal in bar-
gaining power. The lease agreement itself was a one page pre-
printed form with type on the front and back. The forum
selection and consent to jurisdiction provisions were on the back
side of the paper, where there was no place for defendant to sign
or initial. The provisions were in fine print under a paragraph
labeled “Miscellaneous,” and were never called to defendant’s
attention or explained to him. Plaintiff made no showing what-
soever that defendant was actually aware or made aware of the
significance of the consent to jurisdiction clause.

Considering all of these factors, we find that defendant did
not knowingly and intelligently consent to the jurisdiction of the
New Jersey courts. Therefore, enforcement of this provision
would be both unfair and unreasonable.

Id. at 480-81, 439 S.E.2d at 224-25.

[1] Here, the trial court, after reviewing “the totality of the circum-
stances reflected in the court files,” found that the enforcement of
the forum selection clause “would be unfair and unreasonable.” Nei-
ther Perkins, nor any subsequent reported decision of the North Car-
olina appellate courts that we have discovered, has explicitly stated
the standard of appellate review for orders assessing the enforce-
ability of forum selection clauses. We note that the federal circuits
are divided between the abuse of discretion standard, see Pelleport
Investors, Inc. v. Budco Quality Theaters, Inc., 741 F.2d 273, 280 n.4
(9th Cir. 1984); Sun World Lines, Ltd. v. March Shipping Corp., 801
F.2d 1066, 1068 n.3 (8th Cir. 1986); and the de novo standard of
review, see Hugel v. Corporalion of Lloyd’s, 999 F.2d 206, 207 (7th
Cir. 1993); Lambert v. Kysar, 983 F.2d 1110, 1112 (Ist Cir. 1993);
Riley v. Kingsley Underwriting Agencies, Ltd., 969 F.2d 953, 956
(10th Cir.), cert. denied, — U.S. — 121 L.Ed.2d 584 (1992); Instru-
mentation Assocs., Inc. v. Madsen Electronics (Canada) Ltd., 859
F2d 4, 5 (3d Cir. 1988). Given that the disposition of each case is
highly fact-specific, we conclude that the abuse of discretion stand-
ard is the more appropriate standard. See State v. Locklear, 331 N.C.
239, 248, 415 S.E.2d 726, 732 (1992) (“The abuse of discretion stand-
ard of review is applied to situations, such as this, which require the
exercise of judgment on the part of the trial court. The test for abuse
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of discretion requires the reviewing court to determine whether a
decision ‘is manifestly unsupported by reason,’ or ‘so arbitrary that it
could not have been the result of a reasoned decision.’ Little v. Penn
Ventilator, Inc., 317 N.C. 206, 218, 345 S.E.2d 204, 212 (1986));
Greenwood v. Tillamook Country Smoker, Inc., 857 S.W.2d 654, 656
(Tex.App. 1993); Personalized Marketing Service, Inc. v. Stotler &
Co., 447 N.W.2d 447, 450 (Minn.App. 1989), review denied (12 Janu-
ary 1990). Cf. M/S Bremen v. Zapata Off-Shore Co., 407 U.S. 1, 7, 32
L.Ed.2d 513, 519 (1972) (abuse of discretion standard applicable to
forum non conveniens determination). However, we note that the
trial court’s order here would also be affirmed under the de novo
standard of review.

II.

We now address whether the trial court abused its discretion by
declining to enforce the contract’s forum selection clause which
provided:

9. Place of Execution: The parties hereto agree that this
Agreement shall be deemed to have been executed in the State of
South Carolina, and that the laws of said State shall govern any
interpretation or construction of this Agreement. In the event of
a disagreement between the parties, the Courts in Charleston
County, South Carolina shall have exclusive jurisdiction and
venue and the Company shall be entitled to reasonable attorney
fees and collection costs.

In Johnston County v. R.N. Rouse & Co., 331 N.C. 88, 9293, 414
S.E.2d 30, 33 (1992), our Supreme Court stated:

Historically, parties have endeavored to avoid potential liti-
gation concerning judicial jurisdiction and the governing law by
including in their contracts provisions concerning these matters.
Although the language used may differ from one contract to
another, one or more of three types of provisions (choice of law,
consent to jurisdiction, and forum selection), which have very
distinct purposes, may often be found in the boilerplate language
of a contract. The first type, the choice of law provision, names a
particular state and provides that the substantive laws of that
Jurisdiction will be used to determine the validity and construc-
tion of the contract, regardless of any conflicts between the laws
of the named state and the state in which the case is litigated.
The second type, the consent to jurisdiction provision, concerns
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the submission of a party or parties to a named court or state for
the exercise of personal jurisdiction over the party or parties
consenting thereto. By consenting to the jurisdiction of a partic-
ular court or state, the contracting party authorizes that court or
state to act against him. A third type, a true forum selection pro-
vision, goes one step further than a consent to jurisdiction provi-
sion. A forum selection provision designates a particular state or
court as the jurisdiction in which the parties will litigate disputes
arising out of the contract and their contractual relationship. . . .

Due to the varying language used by parties drafting these
clauses and the tendency to combine such clauses in one con-
tractual provision, the courts have often confused the different
types of clauses. One commentator recognizing this confusion
has offered the following guidance:

A typical forum-selection clause might read: “[B]oth par-
ties agree that only the New York Courts shall have jurisdic-
tion over this contract and any controversies arising out of
this contract.” . . .

A ... “consent to jurisdiction” clause[] merely specifies a
court empowered to hear the litigation, in effect waiving any
objection to personal jurisdiction or venue. Such a clause
might provide: “[T)he parties submit to the jurisdiction of the
courts of New York.” Such a clause is “permissive” since it
allows the parties to air any dispute in that court, without
requiring them to do so.

. . . A typical choice-of-law provision provides: “This
agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accord-
ance with, the law of the State of New York.”

(Citations omitted.)

Reviewing the contractual provisions at issue here, the language,
“[tlhe parties hereto agree that this Agreement shall be deemed to
have been executed in the State of South Carolina, and that the laws
of said State shall govern any interpretation or construction of this
Agreement,” is a choice of law provision. Id. The second sentence,
“[iln the event of a disagreement between the parties, the Courts in
Charleston County, South Carolina shall have exclusive jurisdiction
and venue . . .” is a forum selection clause. Id.
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III.

[2] Here, we cannot say that the trial court’s refusal to enforce the
forum selection clause is without a rational basis in the facts. The
evidence shows that defendants made at least two prior representa-
tions to the effect that if plaintiff sought a remedy, plaintiff could sue
defendants in the courts of North Carolina. In response to plaintiff’s
second set of interrogatories, defendants admitted that a “complaint
or accusation” had been made against them to the North Carolina
Attorney General. One representation was made to the Office of the
Attorney General, as noted in John H. Zollicoffer, Jr.’s (plaintiff’s
counsel’s) uncontradicted affidavit which provides in pertinent part
as follows:

That the matters raised in the complaint were brought to the
attention of the Consumer Protection Division of the Office of
the Attorney General of the State of North Carolina. That in its
attempt to keep the Attorney General of the State of North Car-
olina from taking any action on the same, [defendant] Shep
Funderburk (Issac Shephard Funderburk, III) wrote a letter on
behalf of Command Electronics Corporation dated July 9, 1991 to
John H. Zollicoffer, Jr., Attorney for Plaintiff, and further wrote
another letter dated July 9, 1991 to the Office of the Attorney
General, Consumer Protection Division.

That in the letter to John H. Zollicoffer, Jr., Shep Funderburk
stated that:

“

. . indeed you have available a civil court system in the

great [S]tate of North Carolina to your client if indeed your

client feels that they were injured in their dealings with Com-
mand Electronics Corporation.”

In the letter to the North Carolina Attorney General on the
same day, Shep Funderburk stated on behalf of Command Elec-
tronics Corporation:

“If Appliance Sales & Service and Command Electronics
Corporation can’t work out their differences, then their attor-
ney has the civil court of North Carolina available to him to
file suit.”

(Emphasis in original.)} Given defendants’ prior inconsistent conduct
in their communications with plaintiff and the Attorney General, we
conclude that the trial court could have found inter alia that de-
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fendants are estopped from asserting the forum selection clause as a
defense to the filing of the action in North Carolina. We conclude that
plaintiff has met its “heavy burden.” Perkins, 333 N.C. at 146, 423
S.E.2d at 784. From the record, it is clear that the trial court did not
abuse its discretion in refusing to enforce the terms of the forum
selection clause.

Iv.

For the reasons stated, the trial court’s 8 February 1993 order is
affirmed.

Affirmed.

Judges MARTIN and McCRODDEN concur.

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. JOHN CARL LANE, JR.

No. 9385C459
(Filed 7 June 1994)

1. Homicide § 216 (NCI4th)— assault as cause of death—
sufficiency of evidence

There was sufficient evidence in a prosecution for involun-
tary manslaughter from which a reasonable jury could find that
defendant’s punch was the actual cause of a blunt force injury to
decedent’s head, leading directly to his death.

Am Jur 2d, Homicide §§ 432 et seq., 455.

2. Homicide § 216 (NCI4th)— assault as proximate cause of
death—sufficiency of evidence

A jury could reasonably infer that defendant’s assault started
a series of events culminating in decedent’s death, and the
assault therefore constituted a proximate cause of the death; fur-
thermore, defendant could not be excused from responsibility
because of decedent’s pre-existing condition, alcoholism, which
rendered him less able to withstand the assault.

Am Jur 2d, Homicide §§ 432 et seq., 455.
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3. Homicide § 396 (NCI4th)— requested instruction—no
supporting evidence—denial proper

The trial court did not err in refusing to give defendant’s
requested instruction that defendant’s assault caused decedent
to fall and strike his head on the pavement, since such instruc-
tion was not supported by the evidence.

Am Jur 2d, Homicide §§ 496, 497.

4. Homicide § 424 (NCI4th)— intentional infliction of
wound—foreseeability omitted from proximate cause
instruction—no error

Because defendant admitted intentionally inflicting a wound
upon decedent, who was highly intoxicated, by hitting him in the
head, the trial judge properly omitted the element of foreseeabil-
ity in his proximate cause instruction.

Am Jur 2d, Homicide § 506.

Appeal by defendant from judgment entered 26 June 1992 by
Judge Paul M. Wright in Wayne County Superior Court. Heard in the
Court of Appeals 1 March 1994.

On the evening of 17 September 1990, nineteen-year-old defend-
ant and his two cousins, Steve Coor and Rodney Coor, left defend-
ant’s home in Goldsboro, North Carolina and walked around the
corner to a Jet Service Station to purchase some beer. On their way
home, defendant and Steve Coor turned around to observe Rodney
walking with and talking to a highly intoxicated white male, who was
staggering along Grantham Street, a fourlane highway otherwise
known as Business Route 70.

Steve Coor testified that he told the man with Rodney to be care-
ful in the street. The man responded by swearing and making ges-
tures. Steve and Rodney saw defendant swing at the man, and saw
the man fall on the cement on the edge of Grantham Street. Defend-
ant, Rodney and Steve continued to walk home.

At 9:48 p.m., Sergeant M.A. Cruthirds of the Goldsboro Police
Department responded to a call regarding a white male lying in the
road at one corner of Grantham Street. Sergeant Cruthirds discov-
ered Gregory Linton lying in the road, three feet from the curb. Two
women were kneeling on either side of Linton. One of the women
told Cruthirds that Linton’s signs were good. Rescue personnel
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arrived at the scene. Cruthirds applied pressure behind Linton’s ear
to which Linton responded by trying to remove Cruthirds’ hand. After
determining that there was no sign of injury, and that Linton was only
intoxicated, the rescue team left, and Sergeant Cruthirds took Linton
into custody and placed him in the Wayne County jail for public
drunkenness.

Linton was taken to the hospital the following day, 18 September
1990, around 4:30 p.m. He was unconscious. He had a blood alcohol
concentration level of .34 percent on the breathalyzer scale at the
approximate time of his arrival at the hospital. Linton died at 6:30
p.m. on 20 September 1990. An autopsy revealed no external injuries,
but did reveal a subdural hematoma on the right side of the brain, a
swollen brain, brain contusions or bruises, pneumonia on the lungs,
and fatty change of the liver, which is most commonly caused by
alcohol abuse. In the medical examiner’s opinion, Linton died as a
result of blunt force injury to the head.

Defendant was indicted and tried for involuntary manslaughter.
The jury returned a verdict of guilty. After finding the aggravating fac-
tors outweighed the mitigating factors, defendant received the maxi-
mum sentence of ten years imprisonment. Defendant appeals.

Attorney General Michael F. Easley, by Special Deputy Attorney
General Daniel F. McLawhorn, for the State.

Appellate Defender Malcolm Ray Hunter, Jr., by Assistant
Appellate Defender Janine M. Crawley, for defendant appellant.

ARNOLD, Chief Judge.
I

Defendant’s first assignment of error raises the question of
whether the State’s evidence was sufficient to show that defendant’s
act of hitting Gregory Linton was both the actual and legal cause of
his death.

In considering a motion to dismiss, the trial court must deter-
mine whether substantial evidence of each element of the offense
exists. State v. Nichols, 321 N.C. 616, 365 S.E.2d 561 (1988). “Sub-
stantial evidence is such relevant evidence as a reasonable person
might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.” State v. Ginyard,
334 N.C. 155, 158, 431 S.E.2d 11, 13 (1993). The trial court must con-
sider the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, thereby
giving the State the benefit of every reasonable inference that might
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be drawn therefrom. State v. Brown, 310 N.C. 563, 313 S.E.2d 585
(1984).

Involuntary manslaughter is “the unintentional killing of a human
being without malice, proximately caused by (1) an unlawful act not
amounting to a felony nor naturally dangerous to human life, or (2) a
culpably negligent act or omission.” State v. McGill, 314 N.C. 633,
637, 336 S.E.2d 90, 92 (1985) (quoting State v. Redfern, 291 N.C. 319,
321, 230 S.E.2d 152, 1563 (1976), overruled on other grounds, State v.
Collins, 334 N.C. 54, 431 S.E.2d 188 (1993) ). The State must prove
that defendant’s action was both the cause-in-fact (actual cause) and
the proximate cause (legal cause) of the victim’s death to satisfy the
causation element. See, e.g., State v. Atkinson, 298 N.C. 673, 259
S.E.2d 858 (1979), overruled on other grounds, State v. Jackson, 302
N.C. 101, 273 S.E.2d 666 (1981). Defendant contends that the State
failed to prove the causation element.

CAUSE-IN-FACT

[1] First, defendant contends that the State failed to present sub-
stantial evidence that his punch was the cause-in-fact of Linton’s
death because (1) the State’s theory was that as a result of defend-
ant’s punch Linton banged his head on the pavement, yet the evi-
dence showed that Linton did not fall on his head, or bang it against
the pavement as a result of being hit by defendant, and (2) it is impos-
sible to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the trauma which trig-
gered the decedent’s brain hemorrhage was defendant’s punch, and
not some other factor which could have occurred either before or
after the incident.

There is evidence in the record, contrary to defendant’s con-
tentions, from which a reasonable jury could find that defendant’s
punch was the actual cause of the blunt force injury to the head, lead-
ing directly to Linton’s death. First, it should be noted that the State’s
theory at the time of defendant’s motion to dismiss was not limited to
whether the decedent’s head struck the pavement. Therefore, while it
appears from the record that Linton’s head did not strike the pave-
ment, it can be reasonably inferred that defendant’s punch was the
cause-in-fact of decedent’s death. Steve Coor testified that he saw
defendant swing at Linton “around the head.” The medical examiner
testified that the decedent’s swollen brain could have been a
response to either a blow to the head or a response to the head strik-
ing some object. This is reasonable evidence to support the conclu-
sion that defendant’s punch to the head was a cause-in-fact of
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decedent’s death. Furthermore, defendant’s second contention that
decedent could have suffered trauma to the head in a manner other
than defendant’s assault is speculative. There is no evidence in the
record to substantiate defendant’s suggestion that decedent may
have lost his balance sometime before he encountered defendant,
that he may have fallen again sometime after he was hit, or that he
may have fallen in his jail cell.

ProxiMATE CAUSE

[2] Defendant next contends that his action was not a proximate or
legal cause of decedent’s death because (1) primary responsibility for
Linton’s death lies in the superseding act of the police taking Linton
into custody without seeking timely medical attention, and (2) the
events following defendant’s assault upon decedent were unforesee-
able. Both of defendant’s contentions are contrary to the law of this
state and are therefore unpersuasive.

Even if the decedent’s death resulted from any negligent treat-
ment or failure to seek medical attention by the police, defendant
cannot rely on such negligence as a defense. “Neither negligent treat-
ment nor neglect of an injury will excuse a wrongdoer unless the
treatment or neglect was the sole cause of death.” State v. Jones, 290
N.C. 292, 299, 225 S.E.2d 549, 552 (1976) (drug used to treat victim of
gunshot wound caused him to die from an allergic reaction that
induced heart failure). No evidence exists here to show that any
action taken by the police was the sole cause of decedent’s death.
There can be more than one proximate cause, but criminal responsi-
bility arises as long as the act complained of caused or directly con-
tributed to the death. State v. Cummings, 301 N.C. 374, 271 S.E.2d
277 (1980). A jury could reasonably infer from the evidence in the
case at bar that defendant’s assault started a series of events culmi-
nating in Linton’s death, and therefore, constituted a proximate
cause of his death.

Defendant’s other contention, that he was not the proximate
cause of decedent’s death due to the unforeseeable consequences of
defendant’s assault, is likewise erroneous under the Iaw of this state.
Responsibility cannot be avoided due to a pre-existing condition of a
decedent which renders him less able to withstand an assault.

The rule is well settled that the consequences of an assault which
is the efficient cause of the death of another are not excused, nor
is the criminal responsibility for causing death lessened, by the
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pre-existing physical condition which made the person killed
unable to withstand the shock of the assault and without which
predisposed condition the blow would not have been fatal.

State v. Luther, 285 N.C. 570, 575, 206 S.E.2d 238, 241-42 (1974), see
also State v. Thompson, 43 N.C. App. 380, 258 S.E.2d 800 (1979)
(holding no error where defendant struck victim in face knocking
him to the ground and victim died two days later from brain hemor-
rhage). Linton’s pre-existing condition, chronic alcoholism, was evi-
denced by the testimony of the medical examiner. The examiner
explained that alcoholics are more susceptible to brain swelling and
subdural hematomas than nondrinkers. Defendant’s argument that
the rule regarding pre-existing conditions is far less compelling
where the decedent’s condition is self-induced is not convincing. Tes-
timony of the medical examiner, coupled with additional testimony
regarding decedent’s blood alcohol concentration and history of
drinking, was sufficient for the State’s case to withstand defendant’s
motion to dismiss.

Additionally, in his first assignment of error, defendant asks this
Court to abandon the common law doctrine of misdemeanor
manslaughter. Whatever the merits of defendant’s argument, this
Court is foreclosed from making such a determination. It is the
province of our legislature to change the accepted common law in
this state. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 4-1 (1986); see also State v. Bass, 255 N.C.
42,120 S.E.2d 580 (1961).

II

[3] Defendant’s second assignment of error is that the trial court
erroneously failed to give defendant’s requested instruction on an
element of assault, and instead instructed the jury on a theory that
was not supported by the evidence. At the beginning of the charge
conference, the attorneys were asked for suggestions as to how to
charge the jury on the “unlawful act” element of involuntary
manslaughter. Defendant requested the following instruction:

That the defendant acted unlawfully and without legal
excuse by assaulting Gregory Linton causing him to fall and
strike his head on the pavement.

The trial court denied defendant’s requested instruction and instead
gave the following instruction to the jury:



IN THE COURT OF APPEALS 31

STATE v. LANE
(115 N.C. App. 25 (1994)]

[That the] defendant . . . assaulted, without lawful excuse, the
decedent Gregory Linton by hitting him and thereby prox:i-
mately causing the death of the victim Gregory Linton . . . .

We find that the evidence does not support defendant’s requested
instruction, however, the evidence does support the instruction
given; therefore, there is no prejudicial error.

Where a party requests an instruction that is supported by the
evidence, it is error for the trial court not to instruct in substantial
conformity with the requested instruction. State v. Rose, 323 N.C.
455, 373 S.E.2d 426 (1988); State v. Earnhardt, 307 N.C. 62, 296
S.E.2d 649 (1982). The crucial issue, therefore, is whether the evi-
dence supports defendant’s requested instruction that defendant
caused Linton to fall and hit his head on the pavement.

While the medical examiner testified that Linton died as a result
of a blunt force injury to the head, which could have been caused by
striking his head on the pavement, the record is devoid of any evi-
dence that indicates decedent indeed struck his head on the pave-
ment. In fact, defendant contradicts himself by conceding in his first
assignment of error that the evidence does not support a finding that
Linton fell on his head, or banged it against the pavement as a result
of being hit by defendant. Defendant relies on the State’s acknowl-
edgment at the charge conference that its theory was that Linton died
as a result of hitting his head on the pavement, and not as a direct
result of defendant’s punch. The State’s acknowledgment, however,
is immaterial because the trial judge, not counsel for either party, is
responsible for presenting the issues arising from the evidence to the
jury. State v. Harris, 306 N.C. 724, 295 S.E.2d 391 (1982). Refusal to
give defendant’s requested instruction was therefore not error.

111

[4] Defendant’s next assignment of error is that the trial court erred
by failing to instruct on foreseeability as a necessary component of
proximate cause. He contends that the trial court’s proximate cause
instruction did not explain that defendant’s unlawful conduct could
not be considered a proximate cause of the decedent’s death, unless
death was a reasonably foreseeable consequence of that conduct. As
a result of the court’s failure to instruct on the foreseeability compo-
nent, defendant argues that he has been prejudiced, and therefore,
must be awarded a new trial. Defendant’s assignment of error is with-
out merit.



32 IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

STATE v. LANE
(115 N.C. App. 25 (1994)]

We note initially that defendant failed to preserve his assignment
of error for review by this Court by either submitting a request for an
instruction on foreseeability or objecting to the instruction at trial as
required under Rule 10(b)(2). Admitting his failure to object, defend-
ant nevertheless urges the Court to review this case under the plain
error rule. See State v. Odom, 307 N.C. 655, 300 S.E.2d 375 (1983).
Upon review of the record as a whole, we find no “plain error” that
would require a new trial where the facts as well as the law of this
state did not justify an instruction on foreseeability.

At trial, the court gave the following instruction on proximate
cause:

The second element the State must prove is what is called
proximate cause. It is a legal term. The State must prove that the
defendant’s act proximately caused the victim’s death.

What is a proximate cause? It is a real cause, a cause without
which the victim’s death would not have occurred.

Now the defendant’s act need not have been the only cause
nor the last cause or the nearest cause. It is sufficient if it
occurred with some other cause acting at the same time, which
in combination with it caused the death of the victim Gregory
Linton.

Defendant relies on two cases from this Court which have held
that where the trial court failed to give an instruction on the foresee-
ability component of proximate cause, the defendant was entitled to
a new trial. State v. Hall, 60 N.C. App. 450, 299 S.E.2d 680 (1983);
State v. Mizelle, 13 N.C. App. 206, 185 S.E.2d 317 (1971). In Hall, the
defendant was convicted of involuntary manslaughter for shooting a
man while the two men were hunting deer. After determining that
there was sufficient evidence to support the defendant’s culpable
negligence, and hence a conviction for involuntary manslaughter, the
Court turned to the issue of whether the trial court’s failure to gen-
erally define “proximate cause” and to specifically instruct that fore-
seeability is a requisite of proximate cause constituted prejudicial
error. Relying on Mizelle, in which the defendant was convicted of
involuntary manslaughter for hitting a man with his car while driving
intoxicated, this Court concluded that failure to define proximate
cause and state that foreseeability was a requisite of proximate cause
entitled defendant to a new trial. Hall, 60 N.C. App. 450, 299 S.E.2d
680. As stated in Mizelle,
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Foreseeability is a requisite of proximate cause. We have pre-
viously pointed this out and ordered a new trial where a proper
definition of proximate cause was not given in a civil action.
[Citation omitted.] It is all the more imperative that all of the nec-
essary elements including a correct definition of proximate
cause . . . be given in a criminal case.

Mizelle, 13 N.C. at 208, 185 S.E.2d at 318-19. Defendant in the case at
bar likewise maintains that although the trial court defined proxi-
mate cause, it erred by failing to include an instruction on foresee-
ability.

The State contends, however, that Hall and Mizelle are distin-
guishable. The State insists that the law is different where the wound
is intentionally inflicted. The State relies on State v. Woods, 278 N.C.
210, 179 S.E.2d 358 (1971), overruled on other grounds, State v.
McAvoy, 331 N.C. 583, 417 S.E.2d 489 (1992) in which the defendant
shot and killed her husband and was convicted of voluntary
manslaughter. The defendant maintained that she only intended to
scare her husband by shooting past him. The trial court instructed
the jury twice to return a verdict of involuntary manslaughter if it
was satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt that the husband’s death
“‘was the natural and probable result’ of a wound intentionally
inflicted by defendant.” Id. at 219, 179 S.E.2d at 363. The Court con-
cluded the trial court erred in this instruction because the crucial
question was “whether a wound inflicted by an unlawful assault
proximately caused the death—not whether death was a natural and
probable result of such a wound and should have been foreseen.” Id.
at 219, 179 S.E.2d at 363-64. The Court further stated that “{f]oresee-
ability is not an element of proximate cause in a homicide case where
an intentionally inflicted wound caused the victim’s death.” Id. at
219, 179 S.E.2d at 364. The issue under Woods, therefore, becomes
whether the defendant in this case intentionally inflicted the dece-
dent’s wound, thereby causing his death. The State argues that
because defendant admitted intentionally striking the decedent, the
trial judge properly omitted the element of foreseeability in his prox-
imate cause instruction. We agree.

The trial court must instruct fully on proximate cause only as it
relates to the facts of each case. See State v. Pope, 24 N.C. App. 217,
210 S.E.2d 267 (1974), cert. denied, 286 N.C. 419, 211 S.E.2d 799
(1975) (citing State v. Dewitt, 252 N.C. 457, 114 8.E.2d 100 (1960) ).
In Pope, where the defendant was charged with first degree murder
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and convicted of second degree murder for shooting his wife, this
Court distinguished Mizelle and held “[u]nder the facts of the case,
foreseeability was not seriously in issue.” Pope, 24 N.C. App. at 221,
210 S.E.2d at 271; see also State v. Rogers, 43 N.C. 177, 2568 S.E.2d 418
(1979), aff’d, 299 N.C. 597, 264 S.E.2d 89 (1980). In Pope, the defend-
ant admitted that he held a loaded gun and pointed it at his brother-
in-law, who was standing close to the decedent.

When comparing the facts of the case at bar to the facts in the
cases cited above, foreseeability was not seriously in issue. In this
case, defendant clearly intentionally inflicted a wound upon Gregory
Linton, who was highly intoxicated, by hitting him in the head. The
trial court, therefore, did not err in failing to instruct the jury on fore-
seeability as an element of proximate cause.

We have carefully reviewed defendant’s remaining assignments
of error and find no prejudicial error.

No error.

Judges COZORT and LEWIS concur.

TRANSYLVANIA COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL SERVICES O/B/O DONLYN JNE.
DOWLING, MOTHER AND MINOR CHILD, PraiNTiFFs v. JOHN M. CONNOLLY, III,
DEFENDANT

No. 9329DC660

(Filed 7 June 1994)

1. Divorce and Separation § 417 (NCI4th)— arrearages
under Georgia child support order—forgiving arrearages
error

The trial court erred in modifying a Georgia support order by
forgiving defendant for accrued arrearages under that order
where there was no evidence that defendant petitioned for a
modification of the child support order pursuant to Ga. Code
Ann. § 19-6-19(a), and an order modifying the child support order
can operate only prospectively.

Am Jur 2d, Divorce and Separation §§ 1056 et seq.
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2. Divorce and Separation §§ 389, 393— child support—credit
for payments made by mother—no credit for payments to
child or medical providers

The trial court did not err in giving defendant credit for sup-
port payments made on behalf of defendant by defendant’s moth-
er where those payments consisted of checks made payable to
plaintiff and payments made directly to various utility companies
on behalf of plaintiff, since the evidence indicated that there was
some agreed or understood modification of the court order by
plaintiff and defendant, and plaintiff should not reap the benefit
of the grandmother’s benevolence regarding the support pay-
ments made directly to her, with her consent, and on behalf of
defendant, when there was no resulting unfairness to plaintiff or
the child; however, defendant was not entitled to credit for sup-
port payments which consisted of payments made directly to the
child by defendant’s mother, since the child had exclusive control
over that money and did not use it for clothes or food, nor should
defendant receive credit for payments to a bank for a car driven
by plaintiff and titled in the names of defendant and his mother
or for payments to medical providers, since those payments were
defendant’s responsibility under the terms of the divorce decree.

Am Jur 2d, Divorce and Separation §§ 1018 et seq.

Right to credit on accrued support payments for time
child is in father’s custody or for other voluntary expendi-
tures. 47 ALR3d 1031.

Spouse’s right to set off debt owed by other spouse
against accrued spousal or child support payments. 11
ALR5th 259,

Judge GREENE concurring.

Appeal by plaintiff from order entered 26 January 1993 by Judge
Stephen F. Franks in Transylvania County District Court. Heard in the
Court of Appeals 22 March 1994,

Attorney General Michael F. Easley, by Associate Attorney Gen-
eral Sybil Mann, for the State-appellant.

Ramsey, Hill, Smart, Ramsey & Pratt, P. A., by Michael K.
Pratt, for defendant-appellee.
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JOHNSON, Judge.

Donlyn Dowling (plaintiff) appeals from an order filed 26 Janu-
ary 1993 in Transylvania County District Court, denying her claim for
past due child support and concluding that John M. Connolly, III
(defendant) did not owe any sums for arrearage for child support.

Plaintiff and defendant married on 27 March 1981; a child was
born of the marriage on 15 August 1984, and the parties separated on
16 April 1990. An interim order was entered requiring defendant to
pay $100.00 per week until entry of the divorce decree. On 3 October
1990, a divorce decree was signed in Douglas County, Georgia, and
ordered:

The defendant shall pay child support in the amount of
$260.00 per week, beginning October 5, 1990. Child support shall
continue until the child marries, dies, or becomes otherwise
emancipated. This award of child support is based upon an annu-
al income of $80,000.00 and is within the present child support
guidelines.

On 11 June 1991, plaintiff, a resident of Florida, through the Transyl-
vania County Department of Social Services, instituted this action for
past due child support, pursuant to the Uniform Reciprocal Enforce-
ment of Support Act (URESA). North Carolina General Statutes
§ B2A-1 to -32 (1992).

The record contains a copy of twenty-three checks from Margie
Connolly (Mrs. Connolly), defendant’s mother, made payable to the
parties’ child. Mrs. Connolly produced other checks showing six pay-
ments to various utilities, four payments to Trust Company Bank, five
payments to medical providers for the child, and five payments to
plaintiff.

After the hearing, the trial court made the following pertinent
findings of fact:

4. ... that an order was entered in Georgia upon the testimo-
ny of the Plaintiff directing the Defendant to pay the sum of $240
per week in child support; . . .

5. Thereafter the parents of the Defendant, on his behalf,
made consistent payments for the support and maintenance of
the child; that attached hereto and marked Exhibit A are copies
of the checks from September, 1990, until the date of the trial of
this action representing payments made to the Plaintiff for the
support and maintenance of the minor child.
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10. That while the Plaintiff testified that she received no
monies from the Defendant for child support from the date of
separation until the date of this trial, the Court finds as a fact that
there was [sic] systematic and adequate payments made which
were for the use and benefit of the minor child during the entire
period.

The court concluded “[t]hat adequate child support payments were
made from the date of separation until the date of the trial” and that
“[d]efendant does not owe any sums for arrearage for child support.”
Therefore, the court ordered that plaintiff “recover nothing from the
Defendant in this cause.”

There are two issues raised which are dispositive of this appeal:
(1) Whether the trial court may modify a child support order so as to
relieve defendant of any obligation to pay accrued arrearages due
under the order, and (2) whether the trial court may allow defendant
father credit for child support payments made to plaintiff by defend-
ant’s mother on behalf of defendant.

Plaintiff brought an action pursuant to URESA to collect child
support arrearages that have accrued under a Georgia order. This
order is entitled to full faith and credit to the extent it represents past
due child support payments which are vested. North Carolina Gener-
al Statutes § 50-13.10(b) (1987). Thus, this Court is required to
enforce that order to the extent the accrued arrearages are not sub-
ject to modification by the courts of Georgia. Fleming v. Fleming, 49
N.C. App. 345, 271 S.E.2d 584 (1980); 42 U.S.C.A. § 666(a)(9)(c) (Cum.
Supp. 1994) (requiring all states to give full faith and credit to child
support orders of other states to the extent payments are vested).

Under Ga. Code Ann. § 19-6-19(a), an order for child support can
only be modified by a petition filed “by either former spouse showing
a change in the income and financial status of either former spouse
or in the needs of the child[.]” Ga. Code Ann. § 19-6-19(a) (Cum.
Supp. 1993). Because retroactive modification of a child support
order would “vitiate the finality of the judgment obtained as to each
past due installment,” a trial court may not retroactively modify a
child support obligation. Hendrix v. Stone, 261 Ga. 874, 875, 412
S.E.2d 536, 538 (1992). See also Donaldson v. Donaldson, 262 Ga.
231, 416 S.E.2d 514 (1992); Butterworth v. Butterworth, 228 Ga. 277,
185 S.E.2d 59 (1971); accord North Carolina General Statutes
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§ 50-13.10(a),(b)(1987) (past due child support is vested when it
accrues and is subject to divestment only as provided by law and
only if written motion is filed and due notice is given to all parties
before payment is due).

[1] In this case, the child support arrearages due to plaintiff accrued
prior to the filing of this action. Because (1) there is no evidence that
defendant petitioned for a modification of the child support order
pursuant to Ga. Code Ann. § 19-6-19(a), and (2) an order modifying
the child support order can operate only prospectively, the trial court
erred in modifying the Georgia support order by forgiving defendant
for the accrued arrearages.

[2] We must now consider whether the trial court erred in giving
defendant credit for support payments made on behalf of defendant
by defendant’s mother.

If the rendering court has not reduced the arrearage to judgment
or determined the amount of the arrearage, the responding court has
the authority to determine the amount of the arrearage due under the
out-of-state child support order. The responding court should take
into account any payments that the obligor can prove were made
under the order. The law of the rendering state, however, governs the
issue of whether the obligor is entitled to credit for any child support
payments allegedly made to the obligee directly and contrary to the
provisions of the order requiring payment through the clerk or a child
support agency. See John L. Saxon, Enforcement and Modification
of Out-of-State Child Support Orders, Special Series No. 13, Institute
of Government (1994) (citing Margaret C. Haynes, Interstate Child
Support Remedies 104 (Margaret C. Haynes and G. Diane Dodson
eds., 1989) ).

A defense based on the payment of arrearage is different from
the issue of the court’s authority to retroactively modify or reduce a
vested child support arrearage. Retroactive modification involves the
atterapt to reduce an undisputed, unpaid arrearage that has accrued
under the order; the defense of payment is a challenge to the amount
of money that actually remains unpaid under the order considering
any credits to be applied. Id.

While the general rule in the state of Georgia is that the prohibi-
tion on retroactive application seems to preclude the allowance of
“credit” for payments previously made, the Georgia courts have rec-
ognized equitable exceptions to this rule. In Daniel v. Daniel, 239 Ga.
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466, 238 S.E.2d 108 (1978), the Court recognized an equitable excep-
tion “where the father had in fact provided child support and failure
to allow him credit for such support would require double payment.”
Skinner v. Skinner, 252 Ga. 512, 513, 314 S.E.2d 897, 899 (1984). In
Daniel, pursuant to a child custody agreement, the father was to pay
$117 per month to the mother during the months of September to
May when the mother had custody of the children, but not during the
months of June through August when the father had custody of the
children. The year after the husband and wife divorced, the children
remained with their father from September to February because the
mother went back to school. The father made no child support pay-
ments during those months and the mother later sued for those child
support payments. Rejecting the mother’s contentions, the Court
opined:

[W]hile we recognized [in Daniel] that a father is not entitled to
modify the terms of the decree without the sanction of the court,
we also recognized that this rule is inequitable in some situations
where the father in fact has provided child support. Thus, credit
for the father’s voluntary expenditures consented to by the moth-
er as alternatives to child support, or excusal for nonpayment of
support obligations where the mother has requested that the
father have custody of the children and he supported them dur-
ing such period, may be appropriate so that the father is not
required to pay child support twice when there is no resulting
unfairness to the mother or children. In Daniel, however, it was
stressed that such an equitable ruling required an “unusual com-
bination of facts[.]”

Skinner, 252 Ga. at 514, 314 S.E.2d at 900. Footnote one in Skinner
makes reference to other cases analogous to Daniel; these cases
“also involved situations where the father had paid child support or
its equivalent and the mother was seeking to require the father to pay
child support again.” Id. Reach v. Owens, 260 Ga. 227, 228, 391 S.E.2d
922, 924 (1990) clarified this “unusual combination of facts” further:

The rule set forth in Daniel applies only in those unusual cases
when the parties have agreed to some modification of the divorce
decree and equity requires that the noncustodial parent receive a
“credit” for the support the parent should have provided under
the decree. Daniel does not support the use of such a “credit” as
a set-off against future child support, alimony, or property divi-
sion payments.
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See also Brown v. Dept. of Human Resources, 263 Ga. 53, 428 S.E.2d
81 (1993).

In the case sub judice, we first examine the checks made payable
to plaintiff. The evidence is undisputed that during the period of time
the arrearages accrued, plaintiff willingly consented to and accepted
these five child support payment checks totalling $1,150.00 made
payable to her by defendant’s mother on defendant’s behalf. We fur-
ther note defendant’s mother was the sole provider of the child dur-
ing the summer months plaintiff allowed the child to spend with her.
Defendant was also aware of these various support payments his
mother was providing on his behalf. We believe this undisputed evi-
dence clearly indicates some agreed or understood modification of
the court order by plaintiff mother and defendant. Therefore, as in
Daniel, we believe an “unusual combination of facts” exists here and
that equity requires that defendant should receive a “credit” on the
arrearages for the $1,150.00 child support payments defendant’s
mother paid directly to plaintiff on defendant’s behalf. Certainly,
plaintiff should not reap the benefit of the grandmother’s benevo-
lence regarding the $1,150.00 support payments made directly to her,
with her consent, and on behalf of defendant, when there is no result-
ing unfairness to plaintiff or the child.

Likewise, we believe defendant should also receive credit for the
monies his mother paid as support in the form of utility bills. These
payments totalling $69.01 were made by defendant’s mother directly
to various utility companies on behalf of plaintiff, as indicated in the
record.

The evidence does not support the trial court’s findings, however,
that defendant “through his parents furnished adequate support for
the minor child, which included . . . various cash payments” conclud-
ing “that adequate child support payments were made from the date
of separation until the date of the trial of this cause for the use, ben-
efit, and support of the minor child[.]” Defendant should not receive
credit for payments defendant’s mother made directly to the child.
The evidence is undisputed that these checks were payable directly
to the child because, in Mrs. Connolly’s words, “[h]e takes a lot of
pride in the checks being made out to him.” Mrs. Connolly also testi-
fied that she “had money there for him in the bank that he can write
checks for whatever he wants—needs—clothing and things.” Fur-
ther, when plaintiff was asked if she was able to use these checks for
the child’s benefit, she testified:
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No I'm not . . . [b]ecause those are sent to my son, put in his
checking account, and he signed them, he keeps up with them,
every penny that he has, every penny. He knows exactly how
much interest he gains and the only time that he spends any of
that money is when he wants to buy Nintendo games or things of
that nature. . . . The money goes for whatever he desires. He will
not—he won’t buy clothes. Most little boys don't want to spend
their money on clothes. And it certainly doesn’t go to his upkeep.
None of it has gone to his upkeep at all; none; zero. It goes for
whatever he wants. And that does not include clothes or food.

The evidence further shows that plaintiff borrowed money from her
son’s account which was established by his grandmother, and that
she was paying her son back with interest. Because of this evidence
concerning the minor child’s control over this money, we find that
defendant should not have received credit for these payments made
to the minor child.

We further find defendant should not have received credit for the
payments to Trust Company Bank or to medical providers. The evi-
dence is undisputed that the payments to Trust Company Bank were
payments for a car which, although driven by plaintiff, was titled in
the names of Mrs. Connolly and defendant. As to credit for payments
made to medical providers for the child, these are not permitted
because these payments were defendant’s responsibility under the
terms of the divorce decree.

The trial judge was required to follow Georgia law in determining
whether the court order could be modified with respect to the
accrued arrearages, and as to whether to allow defendant credits
against his past due child support. Thus, we conclude that the trial
court erred in (1) modifying the court order by forgiving defendant
for the accrued arrearages, and (2) not giving defendant a “credit” of
$1,219.01 on the accrued arrearages.

The judgment of the trial court is accordingly reversed. The case
is remanded to the trial court for a determination of the arrearages
due and payable pursuant to the Georgia order and for the court to
give defendant credit of $1,219.01 on said arrearages.

Judgment is reversed and remanded.

Judge JOHN concurs.
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Judge GREENE concurs in separate opinion.

Judge GREENE concurring.

I write separately only to emphasize the difference between a
retroactive modification of a child support order and a credit on a
child support obligation. These differences apply not only in Georgia,
but also in North Carolina. Retroactive modification of past due child
support is prohibited. See N.C.G.S. § 50-13.10(a), (b) (1987). Credits
on a court-ordered child support obligation are permitted if the oblig-
or has substantially complied with the child support order. See
Homer H. Clark, Jr., The Law of Domestic Relations in the United
States § 17.3, at 748 (2d ed. 1988) [hereinafter Clark] (distinguishing
between credits and modifications); Goodson v. Goodson, 32 N.C.
App. 76, 81, 231 S.E.2d 178, 182 (1977) (credit on child support oblig-
ation permitted where “equitable considerations” exist). For exam-
ple, payments made by a third party to the custodian may be credited
against the support obligation. Clark at 748-49. For another example,
when the obligor fails to make payments as ordered but makes pay-
ments directly to the child, no credit is allowed unless the custodial
parent consents. Clark at 749; see Pieper v. Pieper, 108 N.C. App. 722,
730, 425 S.E.2d 435, 439 (1993). Furthermore, as for payments to third
parties for expenses incurred on behalf of the child, credit is more
likely if the expense is incurred “with the consent or at the request of
the parent with custody.” Goodson, 32 N.C. App. at 81, 231 S.E.2d at
182.

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. DAVID HARRIS, aka DAVID TEASLEY

No. 9395C595
(Filed 7 June 1994)

1. Criminal Law § 975 (NCI4th)— expiration of time for
appeal—trial court’s ruling reviewable by certiorari

Defendant had no right to appeal from a motion for appro-
priate relief brought pursuant to N.C.G.S. § 15A-1415(b)(3) when
the time for appeal from the conviction had expired and no
appeal was pending; rather, the trial court’s ruling on defendant’s
motion for appropriate relief was reviewable only by writ of
certiorari.
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Am Jur 2d, Coram Nobis and Allied Statutory Reme-
dies § 60.

Criminal Law § 1680 (NCI4th)— defendant resentenced—
correction in way cases consolidated—no error

The trial court did not err in resentencing defendant in ac-
cordance with his original plea agreement after his original sen-
tence was set aside, since nothing in N.C.G.S. § 15A-1335
prohibits a trial court from correcting the way in which it con-
solidated offenses during a sentencing hearing prior to remand.

Am Jur 2d, Criminal Law § 580.

Criminal Law § 1680 (NCI4th)— defendant sentenced to
less than presumptive term—no violation of N.C.G.S.
§ 15A-1335

State v. Hemby, 333 N.C. 331, does not apply to situations in
which a defendant is sentenced to less than the presumptive
term.

Am Jur 2d, Criminal Law § 580.

Criminal Law § 933 (NCI4th)— judgment amended by
court on its own motion—judgments facially invalid

The trial court had jurisdiction to amend the judgment on its
own motion in consolidated cases, even though defendant’s
motion for appropriate relief attacked one particular judgment
concerning the facially invalid habitual felon charge, since both
judgments were the result of defendant’s negotiated plea agree-
ment and were part of a single sentencing transaction; at any
time a defendant would be entitled to relief by a motion for
appropriate relief, the court may grant such relief upon its own
motion; if a judgment or sentence is invalid as a matter of law,
defendant is entitled to relief by a motion for appropriate relief;
and both judgments were finally invalid because they both listed
habitual felon as a substantive offense. N.C.G.S. § 15A-1420(d).

Am Jur 2d, Coram Nobis and Allied Statutory Reme-
dies §§ 44 et seq.

On defendant’s writ of certiorari from judgment signed 22
April 1993 by Judge B. Craig Ellis in Franklin County Superior
Court. Heard in the Court of Appeals 1 March 1994.
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On 29 April 1991 and 24 June 1991, defendant was indicted on
nine counts of felonious breaking and entering in violation of
G.S. 14-54, nine counts of felonious larceny in violation of G.S. 14-72,
four counts of felonicus possession of stolen goods in violation of
G.S. 14-71.1, one count of felonious possession of cocaine in viola-
tion of G.S. 90-95 and one count of being an habitual felon in viola-
tion of G.S. 14-7.1.

These cases came on for trial at the 29 July 1991 Criminal Session
of the Franklin County Superior Court. As a result of plea negotia-
tions, defendant signed two handwritten informations prepared by
the Assistant District Attorney. In case number 91 CRS 999, the infor-
mation added the charge of habitual felon to one of the charges of
felonious possession of stolen goods (91 CRS 999) originally alleged
in the indictment. In case number 3555, the information also charged
the defendant with being an habitual felon but it listed the same three
convictions as listed in the original habitual felon indictment.
Defendant’s plea agreement with the State provided:

The defendant shall plead to two counts of habitual felon. He
shall receive 14 years for the first habitual felon. The second
habitual felon will run at the expiration of the 14 years. He shall
receive 14 years for the second habitual felon. All other charges
will be consolidated for judgment. All current charges pending in
Granville County will be allowed to run concurrently if the
defendant pleads to these charges.

The trial court accepted defendant’s plea and imposed a 14 year
sentence in case number 91 CRS 35565 for the offense of habitual
felon, G.S. 14-7.1. The trial court consolidated all of the indictments
returned by the Grand Jury with case number 91 CRS 999 and
imposed an additional 14 year sentence to run consecutively to the
sentence imposed in case number 91 CRS 3555. Defendant did not
appeal.

On 1 December 1992, defendant moved for appropriate relief pur-
suant to G.S. 15A-1415(b)(3) from the sentence imposed in 91 CRS
3555. Defendant requested that the sentence imposed in 91 CRS 3555
be set aside because habitual felon is not a substantive crime that
will support a criminal sentence by itself. At the hearing on defend-
ant’s motion on 19 April 1993, the evidence tended to show the fol-
lowing: The habitual felon charge in 91 CRS 3555 was intended to be
ancillary to a felonious possession of stolen goods charged in the
indictment in 91 CRS 999. The charge of habitual felon alleged in the
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indictment in 91 CRS 3028 was intended to be ancillary to another
felonious possession of stolen goods charged in the indictment in 91
CRS 1558.

The trial court concluded the following in open court:

The Court concludes as a matter of law, that the judgment
contained in 91 CRS 3555 was in error in that it purports to set
forth habitual felon as a substantive offense and not as an
enhancing mechanism.

The Court aiso finds as a fact that the judgment contained in
91 CRS 999 . . . also contains habitual felon as a substantive
offense.

The Court notes that all of the judgments in those cases were
consolidated; that the maximum sentence was [sic] for each is
ten years, and the judgment itself carries a fourteen year
sentence.

This Court is of the opinion it could not do what is on that
judgment without one of the offenses having been enhanced as a
habitual felon.

The Court finds that each of the judgments purports to set
forth habitual felon as a substantive offense, and that the judg-
ment should be set aside.

The trial court then ordered that the judgments in both 91 CRS 999
and 91 CRS 3555 be set aside. Following a resentencing hearing, the
trial court removed the charges alleged in 91 CRS 999 from its con-
solidation with the other offenses and consolidated it with the
offenses alleged in the habitual felon information (91 CRS 3555). The
trial court then resentenced defendant to two consecutive fourteen
year terms in accordance with the original plea agreement. Defend-
ant appeals.

Attorney General Michael F. Easley, by Assistant Attorney Gen-
eral Jeffrey P. Gray, for the State.

North Carolina Prisoner Legal Services, by J. Phillip Griffin,
Jor defendant-appellant.

EAGLES, Judge.

Defendant contends that the trial court erred in resentencing
defendant to a more severe sentence than the sentence originally
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imposed and set aside. Defendant also contends that the trial court
had no jurisdiction to set aside the judgment in 91 CRS 999 and con-
solidate it with the habitual felon information (91 CRS 3555). We
affirm.

[1] We first address the State’s contention that defendant’s appeal
should be dismissed. Defendant appealed the trial court’s ruling on
defendant’s motion for appropriate relief. The State contends that
defendant has no right to appeal from a motion for appropriate relief
brought pursuant to G.S. 15A-1415(b)(3) when the time for appeal
has expired and no appeal is pending. We agree. G.S. 15A-1422(c)(3)
provides that “The court’s ruling on a motion for appropriate relief
pursuant to G.S. 15A-1415 is subject to review: . . . (3) If the time for
appeal has expired and no appeal is pending, by writ of certiorari.”
Here, defendant filed his motion for appropriate relief over a year
and four months after his conviction. Defendant did not appeal his
original sentence and his time to appeal that sentence has expired.
Accordingly, the trial court’s ruling on defendant’s motion for ap-
propriate relief is reviewable only by writ of certiorari.
G.S. 156A-1422(c)(3). However, pursuant to Rule 2 of the North Car-
olina Rules of Appellate Procedure, we treat defendant’s appeal now
as a petition for a writ of certiorari and address the merits.

L

[2] Defendant contends that the trial court erred in resentencing
defendant by imposing a sentence greater than the sentence it set
aside. G.S. 15A-1335 provides:

When a conviction or sentence imposed in superior court has
been set aside on direct review or collateral attack, the court may
not impose a new sentence for the same offense, or for a differ-
ent offense based on the same conduct, which is more severe
than the prior sentence less the portion of the prior sentence pre-
viously served.

Defendant argues that he received a 14 year sentence for all of
the consolidated offenses in one of the judgments. Defendant con-
tends that when the trial court removed 91 CRS 999 from the consol-
idated offenses and imposed the same fourteen year sentence with
one less offense, defendant received a greater sentence on those con-
solidated offenses than originally imposed in the first sentencing
hearing in violation of G.S. 15A-1335. We disagree. Nothing in G.S.
15A-1335 prohibits a trial court from correcting the way in which it
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consolidated offenses during a sentencing hearing prior to remand.
State v. Ransom, 80 N.C. App. 711, 713, 343 S.E.2d 232, 234 (1986).
Defendant relies on State v. Hemby, 333 N.C. 331, 426 S.E.2d 77
(1993). We are not persuaded.

In Hemby, the defendant was convicted on eight indictments
each charging one count of dissemination of obscene material, G.S.
14-190.1(a), and one count of possession of obscene material with
intent to disseminate, G.S. 14-190.1(e). At the original sentencing
hearing, the trial court consolidated the eight indictments into three
groups. For indictments A, B and C, the defendant received a term of
three years imprisonment. For indictments D, E and F, the defendant
received another three year term to run consecutively to the first
term. Finally, for indictments G and H, the trial court sentenced
defendant to a term of two years to run consecutively to the first two
sentences. In sum, defendant received a total of eight years impris-
onment for the eight indictments.

Upon remand from this court in State v. Hemby, 97 N.C. App.
333, 388 S.E.2d 638 (1990), for resentencing, the trial court arrested
judgment on indictments C, E, and F pursuant to this court’s ruling in
Hemby. The trial court then noted that indictments G and H were not
subject to resentencing since they had been upheld on appeal. Of the
eight indictments, only A, B and D remained for resentencing.

The trial court found aggravating factors and sentenced the
defendant to three years imprisonment on indictment D. The trial
court consolidated indictments A and B and sentenced the defendant
to another three years imprisonment to run consecutively to the first
sentence. Accordingly, the defendant in Hemby was resentenced to
six years imprisonment for the three remaining indictments (A, B and
D) when he had only been sentenced to a total of three years for
those three indictments originally.

Our Supreme Court held that defendant’s resentencing in Hemby
violated G.S. 15A-1335 because defendant’s new sentence of impris-
onment was for a longer period on indictments A, B and D than he
received at the original sentencing hearing. The Court stated:

At resentencing, after the trial court arrested judgment on three
of defendant’s indictments, only three indictments, A, B and D,
remained for resentencing, A and B having initially been consol-
idated in group one, and D in group two. When the trial court
again consolidated indictments A and B for sentencing in group
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one, no more than two years’ imprisonment could be imposed
without exceeding the sentence originally imposed on these
indictments. When the trial court imposed a new sentence of
three years, the sentence was more severe than the original sen-
tence on these indictments.

State v. Hemby, 333 N.C. 331, 336, 426 S.E.2d 77, 80 (1993). With
respect to indictment D, the Court further stated:

The trial court’s error at resentencing is even more apparent
for indictment D. At the original sentencing this indictment was
consolidated with indictments E and F, and the trial court
imposed a three-year sentence. At resentencing only one of the
three originally consolidated indictments remained; yet defend-
ant was given a new sentence of three years on this indictment.
This new sentence on this indictment was more severe than the
one-year sentence originally attributed to the same indictment.

Id. at 337, 426 S.E.2d at 80. We conclude that Hemby does not
control here. In Hemby, the trial court on resentencing found aggra-
vating factors and imposed sentences on indictments A, B and D
greater than the presumptive terms for those offenses. Dissemination
of obscene material, G.S. 14-190.1(a), and possession of obscene
material with intent to disseminate, G.S. 14-190.1(e), are both Class J
felonies with presumptive terms of one year each. When the trial
court in Hemby resentenced defendant to a three year term for
indictments A and B and a consecutive three year term for indict-
ment D, the trial court imposed sentences of greater than the pre-
sumptive sentence of one year on each indictment.

[3] Here, defendant was sentenced to two counts of possession of
stolen goods while being an habitual felon. Habitual felon status is a
Class C felony with a presumptive term of fifteen years. Defendant
was sentenced to a fourteen year term for each habitual felon charge,
one year less than the presumptive term. G.S. 15A-1444(al) provides
that:

A defendant who has . . . entered a plea of guilty or no contest to
a felony is entitled to appeal as a matter of right the issue of
whether his sentence is supported by evidence introduced at the
trial and sentencing hearing only if the prison term of the sen-
tence exceeds the presumptive term set by G.S. 15A-1340.4, and
if the judge was required to make findings as to aggravating or
mitigating factors pursuant to this Article.
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G.S. 15A-1444(al) (emphasis added). We conclude that Hemby does
not apply to situations in which a defendant is sentenced to less than
the presumptive term.

Although the trial court in Hemby consolidated the eight indict-
ments for sentencing, the Hemby trial court essentially sentenced the
defendant to one year imprisonment on each indictment. The Hemby
Court stated:

It seems clear that the trial court intended to impose a sentence
of one year on each indictment and, pursuant to N.C.G.S.
§ 15A-1340.4(a)(i), to total these sentences when it consolidated
the indictments for sentencing purposes. We conclude, further,
that when indictments or convictions with equal presumptive
terms are consolidated for sentencing without the finding of
aggravating or mitigating circumstances, and the terms are
totaled to arrive at the sentence, nothing else appearing in the
record, the sentence, for purposes of appellate review, because
of the provisions of N.C.G.S. § 15A-1340.4(a), will be deemed to
be equally attributable to each indictment or conviction.

Hemby, 333 N.C. 331, 336, 426 S.E.2d 77, 80 (1993).

Here, it appears that the trial court at the original sentencing
hearing did not total the presumptive terms of each of the consoli-
dated offenses to arrive at defendant’s sentence. At defendant’s
original sentencing hearing, the following offenses were consoli-
dated for judgment: 1) 9 counts of felonious breaking, entering, and
larceny, G.S. 14-64 and G.S. 14-72, 2) 3 counts of possession of stolen
goods, G.S. 14-54 and G.S. 14-72, 3) 1 count of possession of cocaine,
G.S. 90-95, and 4) 1 count of habitual felon, G.S. 14-7.1. The pre-
sumptive term for each of these offenses is three years except for
habitual felon which carries a presumptive term of 15 years. If the
trial court here had totaled the presumptive terms of the consolidat-
ed offenses, defendant would have been sentenced to 39 years
imprisonment. However, defendant was sentenced to fourteen years
imprisonment as an habitual felon. Accordingly, we conclude that the
remaining consolidated offenses were not responsible for defend-
ant’s sentence. Since the other consolidated offenses were not
responsible for defendant’s sentence, defendant was not given a
greater sentence on those offenses when he was again given a four-
teen year sentence on resentencing although one of the substantive
offenses which carried a presumptive sentence of three years (91
CRS 999) had been removed.
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Finally, we note that defendant’s original sentence was the result
of a negotiated plea agreement. Defendant agreed to plead to two
counts of being an habitual felon for which he would receive two
consecutive fourteen year sentences. Considering that defendant’s
exposure was 39 years for the presumptive sentence, defendant’s
counsel negotiated a genuine bargain. When the trial court deter-
mined that an administrative error had been made on the judgments,
the trial court merely corrected the error and resentenced defendant
in compliance with his original plea agreement. Accordingly, we con-
clude that the trial court did not err in resentencing defendant.

IL

[4] Defendant also contends that the trial court erred in amending
the judgment in cases consolidated under 91 CRS 999. We disagree.

Defendant contends that the trial court did not have jurisdiction
to amend the judgment in the cases consolidated in 91 CRS 999
because defendant’s motion for appropriate relief only attacked the
judgment concerning the facially invalid habitual felon charge (91
CRS 3555). However, both judgments were the result of defendant’s
negotiated plea agreement and were part of a single sentencing trans-
action. G.S. 15A-1420(d) provides that “At any time that a defendant
would be entitled to relief by a motion for appropriate relief, the
court may grant such relief upon its own motion.” See also, State v.
Oakley, 75 N.C. App. 99, 103, 330 S.E.2d 59, 63 (1985). If a judgment
or sentence is invalid as a matter of law, the defendant is entitled to
relief by a motion for appropriate relief. G.S. 15A-1415(8). At the
hearing on defendant’s motion for appropriate relief, the trial court
made the following findings of fact and conclusions of law:

The Court concludes as a matter of law, that the judgment
contained in 91 CRS 3555 was in error in that it purports to set
forth habitual felon as a substantive offense and not as an
enhancing mechanism.

The Court also finds as a fact that the judgment contained in
91 CRS 999 . . . also contains habitual felon as a substantive
offense.

The Court finds that each of the judgments purports to set
forth habitual felon as a substantive offense, and that the judg-
ment[s] should be set aside.
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Accordingly, the trial court found that both judgments were facially
invalid because they both listed habitual felon as a substantive
offense. Habitual felon status standing alone will not support a crim-
inal sentence. State v. Penland, 89 N.C. App. 350, 351, 365 S.E.2d 721,
722 (1988). The trial court had jurisdiction under G.S. 15A-1420(d) to
amend both judgments on its own motion. Accordingly, we conclude
that the trial court did not err in amending the judgment in the cases
consolidated under 91 CRS 999.

111

For the reasons stated, we affirm the judgment of the trial court.
Affirmed.

Judges MARTIN and McCRODDEN concur.

VERNON SIMPSON, PeTITIONER v. CITY OF CHARLOTTE, NORTH CAROLINA, a
MUNICIPAL CORPORATION; AND VULCAN MATERIALS COMPANY, RESPONDENTS

No. 93265C268
(Filed 7 June 1994)

1. Zoning § 121 (NCI4th)— zoning ordinance—validity not
before court

The trial court, in reviewing a board of adjustment’s issuance
of a quarry permit, erred by holding that a section of a city’s ordi-
nance allowing quarries to be established in any zoning district
violated N.C.G.S. § 160A-381, which requires that zoning ordi-
nances promote the health, safety, morals, and general welfare,
since the validity of the ordinance was not before the superior
court through its derivative appellate jurisdiction.

Am Jur 2d, Zoning and Planning §§ 1054-1061.

2. Zoning § 54 (NCI4th)— quarry permit—vested right under
statute—statute inapplicable

The trial court erred in holding that respondent had received
a vested right to a quarry permit under N.C.G.S. § 160A-385(b),
since that statute speaks to those cases where a building permit
has been issued prior to changes in zoning ordinances, but this
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case did not involve a building permit, and the statute was there-
fore inapplicable.

Am Jur 2d, Zoning and Planning § 611.

3. Zoning § 54 (NCI4th)— quarry permit—vested interest by
virtue of substantial beginning toward intended use—
insufficient evidence

Whether respondent had a vested right to a permit to con-
struct a quarry depended upon whether respondent had, acting in
good faith, made a substantial beginning toward its intended use
of the land, and this issue was not addressed, since the Zoning
Board of Adjustment erroneously concluded that respondent had
a vested right to the permit under N.C.G.S. § 160A-385(b).

Am Jur 2d, Zoning and Planning § 611.

4. Zoning § 67 (NCI4th)— application for quarry permit—
noise and vibration ordinances inapplicable

The trial court did not err in concluding that two general zon-
ing ordinances regarding noise and vibrations did not apply to
respondent’s application for a quarry permit, since those ordi-
nances applied to the operation of a use, not whether a use per-
mit should be issued, and, if respondent violated the noise and
vibration ordinances, the code provided for an enforcement
mechanism to compel compliance.

Am Jur 2d, Zoning and Planning §§ 986-1007.

Appeal by respondent Vulcan Materials Company from order
entered 30 December 1992 by Judge Marcus Johnson in Mecklenburg
County Superior Court. Heard in the Court of Appeals 11 January
1994.

Horack, Talley, Pharr & Lowndes, PA., by Russell J. Schwartz,
Robert B. McNeill and Neil C. Williams and Womble, Carlyle,
Sandridge & Rice, by Roddey M. Ligon, Jr. and Grady Barnhill,
Jr., for respondent-appellant Vulcan Materials Company.

Weinstein & Sturges, PA., by T. LaFontine Odom, Sr., and
George Daly, PA., by George Daly and Sharon Samek, for peti-
tioner-appellee Vernon Simpson.

WYNN, Judge.

On 23 September 1991 the City of Charlotte adopted a new zon-
ing ordinance effective 1 January 1992. The new ordinance contained
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section 12.505 which allowed a quarry to be established in any zon-
ing district, including residential districts, subject to certain require-
ments. Respondent Vulcan Materials Co. filed an application with the
city’s Building Standards Department for a permit for the construc-
tion and operation of a quarry on 112 acres of land zoned light indus-
trial, general industrial, and multi-family. The land adjoins an existing
quarry which has been in operation since 1972.

On 3 February 1992 the Charlotte-Mecklenburg Planning Com-
mission filed a zoning ordinance text amendment application seeking
to eliminate quarries and sanitary landfills as uses permitted in all
districts and instead limiting those uses to the general industrial dis-
tricts. Subsequently, on 13 March 1992 the Zoning Administrator
issued a quarry permit to respondent. The ordinance amendment was
presented to the Charlotte City Council on 16 March 1992 and the
City Council approved the amendment on 20 April 1992.

On 28 April 1992, petitioner Vernon Simpson, an owner of multi-
family and industrial-zoned property located across the street from a
portion of respondent’s proposed quarry, appealed the Zoning Admin-
istrator’s decision to issue respondent a quarry permit to the Zoning
Board of Adjustment (Board). The Board concluded that the Zoning
Administrator had properly issued the permit in accordance with the
unamended ordinance section 12.505 which permitted quarries in any
district. Petitioner then filed a petition for writ of certiorari to review
the Board’s decision with the superior court pursuant to N.C. Gen.
Stat. § 160A-388(e).

The superior court determined that respondent had complied
with the zoning ordinance requirements and that the permit was
properly issued. The court ruled, however, that the unamended sec-
tion 12.505 violates the requirement of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 160A-381 that
zoning regulations promote the “health, safety, morals, or the gener-
al welfare of the community.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 160A-381 (1987). The
court concluded that the ordinance fails to require consideration of
the noise, fumes, and vibrations which are the effects of quarry oper-
ations and that this failure violates N.C. Gen. Stat. § 160A-381. The
court ruled that because the zoning ordinance violates the state
statute, the permit issued to respondent is null and void.

From that order, respondent appeals. Petitioner Simpson cross-
appeals the superior court’s holding that respondent had a vested
right to the permit and that Charlotte’s noise and vibration ordi-
nances did not apply to respondent’s quarry application.




b4 IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

SIMPSON v. CITY OF CHARLOTTE
[115 N.C. App. 51 (1994)]

Respondent Vulcan Materials Company’s Appeal.

[1] Respondent argues that the trial court erred by holding that the
permit issued to petitioner was void because ordinance section
12.505 violated N.C. Gen. Stat. § 160A-381. Respondent contends the
question of the validity of section 12.505 was not before the superior
court on writ of certiorari. We agree.

Chapter 160A provides that every decision of a board of adjust-
ment “shall be subject to review by the superior court by proceedings
in the nature of certiorari.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 160A-388(e) (Cum. Supp.
1993). When the superior court reviews the decision of a board of
adjustment on certiorari the superior court sits as an appellate court.
Abernethy v. Town of Boone Bd. of Adjustment, 109 N.C. App. 459,
427 S.E.2d 875 (1993); Flowerree v. City of Concord, 93 N.C. App.
483, 378 S.E.2d 188 (1989). The scope of review of the superior court
in such instance includes:

(1) Reviewing the record for errors in law,

(2) Insuring that procedures specified by law in both statute and
ordinance are followed,

(3) Insuring that appropriate due process rights of a petitioner
are protected including the right to offer evidence, cross-
examine witnesses, and inspect documents,

(4) Insuring that decisions of town boards are supported by com-
petent, material and substantial evidence in the whole record,
and

(5) Insuring that decisions are not arbitrary and capricious.

Coastal Ready-Mix Concrete Co., Inc. v. Board of Comm’rs, 299 N.C.
620, 626, 265 S.E.2d 379, 383, reh’g denied, 300 N.C. 562, 270 S.E.2d
106 (1980); Guilford County Dept. of Emer. Serv. v. Seaboard Chem-
ical Corp., 114 N.C. App. 1, 441 S.E.2d 177 (1994); Abernethy, 109
N.C. App. at 462, 427 S.E.2d at 877. “The matter is before the Court to
determine whether an error of law has been committed and to give
relief from an order of the Board which is found to be arbitrary,
oppressive or attended with manifest abuse of authority.” In re
Campsites Unlimited, Inc., 287 N.C. 493, 498, 215 S.E.2d 73, 76
(1975). The superior court is not the trier of fact since that is the
function of the town board. Coastal, 299 N.C. at 626, 265 S.E.2d at
383. The question before the superior court is whether the board’s
findings of fact are supported by competent evidence in the record;
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if so, they are conclusive upon review. Batch v. Town of Chapel Hill,
326 N.C. 1, 387 S.E.2d 655, cert. denied, 496 U.S. 931, 110 L. Ed. 2d
651 (1990).

In the instant case, the superior court held that “Section 12.505 of
the Zoning Ordinance is in violation of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 160A-381
which requires that zoning ordinances promote the health, safety,
morals and general welfare.” The validity of section 12.505, however,
was not before the superior court through its derivative appellate
jurisdiction. The Board of Adjustment only has the authority to grant
or deny the permit under the zoning ordinance. Sherrill v. Touwn of
Wrightsville Beach, 76 N.C. App. 646, 334 S.E.2d 103 (1985). Thus, the
superior court, pursuant to a writ of certiorari under N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 160A-388(e), only has the power to review the issue of whether the
permit was properly granted or denied. Sherrill, 76 N.C. App. at 649,
334 S.E.2d at 105. See Batch, 326 N.C. at 10, 387 S.E.2d at 661-2 (peti-
tion for writ of certiorari to review decision of town denying subdi-
vision application improperly joined with cause of action alleging
constitutional violations pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983 and 1988, and
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 40A-8); Seaboard Chemical, 114 N.C. App. at 10-11,
441 S.E.2d at 182 (scope of review under N.C. Gen. Stat. § 153A-340
to review the decision of a county board of commissioners to issue
or deny a special use permit does not include the adjudication of
whether the denial of the permit constitutes a taking without just
compensation, inverse condemnation, or a violation of 42 1.S.C.
§ 1983). Therefore, the superior court erred by concluding that sec-
tion 12.505 violated N.C. Gen. Stat. § 160A-381 and that the permit
issued to respondent was null and void.

Petitioner Vernon Simpson’s Cross-Appeal
L

[2] Petitioner first assigns error to the superior court’s conclusion
that respondent had a vested right to its permit to construct a quar-
ry. Petitioner argues that the amendment to section 12.505 deleted
quarries and sanitary landfills as uses permitted in all districts and
instead limited those uses to general industrial districts. Petitioner
contends that after this amendment was adopted by the City Council,
respondent’s permit allowing the operation of a quarry in a residen-
tial district was no longer valid. The Board found that N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 160A-385(b) provides that respondent has a vested right to its per-
mit and is not subject to the subsequent amendment to the ordi-
nance. The superior court affirmed this finding. We conclude, how-
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ever, that N.C. Gen. Stat. § 160A-385(b) is not applicable and that
there was an insufficient factual record before the Board to deter-
mine that respondent had a vested right to its permit.

“ ‘A lawfully established non-conforming use is a vested right and
is entitled to constitutional protection.”” Godfrey v. Zoning Bd. of
Adjustment, 317 N.C. 51, 62, 344 S.E.2d 272, 279 (1986} (quoting 4 E.
Yokley, Zoning Law and Practice, § 22-3 (4th ed. 1979) ). There
appears to be two ways in which a party can acquire a vested right to
continue to develop land in a nonconforming use after a change in
the zoning ordinance; either by complying with the requirements of
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 160A-385(b) or by “acting in good faith, mak[ing] a
‘substantial beginning’ toward the intended use of [the] land.”
Randolph County v. Coen, 99 N.C. App. 746, 748, 394 S.E.2d 256, 257
(1990) (quoting Campsites, 287 N.C. at 501, 215 S.E.2d at 78 (1975) ).

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 160A-385(b) provides in pertinent part:

Amendments, modifications, supplements, repeal or other
changes in zoning regulations and restrictions and zone bound-
aries shall not be applicable or enforceable without consent of
the owner with regard to buildings and uses for which either (i)
building permits have been issued pursuant to G.S. 160A-417
prior to the enactment of the ordinance making the change or
changes so long as the permits remain valid and unexpired pur-
suant to G.S. 160A-418 and unrevoked pursuant to G.S. 160A-422
or (ii) a vested right has been established pursuant to
G.S. 160A-385.1 and such vested right remains valid and unex-
pired pursuant to G.S. 160A-385.1.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 160A-385(b) (Cum. Supp. 1993).

It is undisputed that part (ii) is inapplicable since respondent’s
quarry application is not a development plan covered by N.C. Gen.
Stat. § 160A-385.1. Petitioner contends that the permit issued to
respondent was not a building permit under part (i) of N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 160A-385(b) and therefore respondent did not have a vested right to
the quarry permit.

The Board concluded that the permit issued to respondent was a
building permit under § 160A-385(b).

7. The zoning administrator properly interpreted and applied the
zoning provisions in the issuance of the permit on March 13,
1992, and the applicant is not subject to the change in the Zoning
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Ordinance that occurred on April 20, 1992, because of N.C.G.S.
§ 160A-385(b) which refers to “building” permits but the quarry
permit issued pursuant to Coce (sic) § 12.505 is within the
purview of the statute.

The superior court affirmed this conclusion.

We conclude, however, that the permit issued to respondent was
not a building permit under N.C. Gen. Stat. § 160A-385(b). The statute
clearly requires that in order to obtain a vested right to a noncon-
forming use, a building permit “pursuant to N.C.G.S. 160A-417 must
have been issued prior to the enactment of the ordinance making the
change or changes.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 160A-385(b) (Cum. Supp. 1993).
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 160A-417(a) provides that a building permit “shall be
in writing and shall contain a provision that work done shall comply
with the State Building Code and all other applicable State and local
laws.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 160A-417(a) (Cum. Supp. 1993). The Zoning
Administrator stated that the permit that was issued to respondent
was the equivalent of a building permit. Respondent’s permit, how-
ever, does not contain the compliance provision required by
§ 160A-417 and in the notice sent to adjoining property owners, the
Zoning Administrator refers to respondent’s permit as a “zoning per-
mit.” Therefore, we conclude that the trial court erred by holding
respondent had received a vested right to the quarry permit under
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 160A-385(b).

[3] Such a conclusion, however, does not end our inquiry. Respond-
ent still could obtain a vested right to its permit if it, acting in good
faith, made a substantial beginning towards its intended use of the
land. Sunderhaus v. Board of Adjustment of the Town of Bilimore
Forest, 94 N.C. App.'324, 326, 380 S.E.2d 132, 133 (1989); see Cardwell
v. Smith, 106 N.C. App. 187, 415 S.E.2d 770, disc. rev. denied, 332
N.C. 146, 419 S.E.2d 569 (1992); Coen, 99 N.C. App. at 748, 394 S.E.2d
at 257 (1990). Our Supreme Court has held:

[O]ne who, in good faith and in reliance upon a permit lawfully
issued to him, makes expenditures or incurs contractual obliga-
tions, substantial in amount, incidental to or as part of the acqui-
sition of the building site or the construction or equipment of the
proposed building for the proposed use authorized by the permit,
may not be deprived of his right to continue such construction
and use by the revocation of such permit, whether the revocation
be by the enactment of an otherwise valid zoning ordinance or by
other means, and this is true irrespective of the fact that such
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expenditures and actions by the holder of the permit do not
result in any visible change in the condition of the land.

Town of Hillsborough v. Smith, 276 N.C. 48, 55, 170 S.E.2d 904, 909
(1969); Campsites, 287 N.C. at 500-1, 215 S.E.2d at 77; Cardwell, 106
N.C. App. at 191, 415 S.E.2d at 773.

A determination of whether respondent had a vested right to the
quarry permit under this analysis requires the resolution of several
questions of fact including the reasonableness of respondent’s
reliance on the permit, whether it exercised good or bad faith, and
whether it incurred substantial expenditures prior to the amendment
to the ordinance. Godfrey, 317 N.C. at 63, 344 S.E.2d at 279. Since the
Board erroneously concluded respondent had a vested right to the
permit under N.C. Gen. Stat. § 160A-385(b), these issues were not
addressed by the Board. There is evidence in the record that respond-
ent made expenditures in the amount of $20,000.00 after it received
the quarry permit. Whether these expenditures were substantial and
made in good faith are questions of fact for the Board. Godfrey, 317
N.C. at 63, 344 S.E.2d at 279. It is not the function of the reviewing
court to find the facts. Campsites, 287 N.C. at 498, 215 S.E.2d at 76.
Therefore, the question of whether respondent had a vested right to
the permit must be remanded to the superior court for further
remand to the Board for additional findings of fact. See Godfrey, 317
N.C. at 63, 344 S.E.2d at 279.

1L

[4] Petitioner next assigns error to the superior court’s conclusion
that two general zoning ordinances regarding noise and vibrations
did not apply to respondent’s application for a quarry permit. We dis-
agree. The ordinances read as follows in pertinent part:

Section 12.701. Noise.

No use shall be operated as to generate recurring noises that
are unreasonably loud, cause injury or create a nuisance to any
person of ordinary sensitivities. . . .

Section 12.703. Vibration.

No use shall be operated so as to generate inherent or recur-
ring ground vibrations detectable at the property line which cre-
ate a nuisance to any person of ordinary sensitivities on another
property.
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In interpreting a zoning ordinance, the basic rule is to discern
and effectuate the intent of the legislative body. Coastal, 299 N.C. at
629, 265 S.E.2d at 385. The legislative intent is determined by exam-
ining the language, spirit, and goal of the ordinance. Capricorn Equi-
ty Corp. v. Town of Chapel Hill Bd. of Adjustment, 334 N.C. 132, 431
S.E.2d 183 (1993). “Since zoning ordinances are in derogation of com-
mon-law property rights, limitations and restrictions not clearly with-
in the scope of the language employed in such ordinances should be
excluded from the operation thereof.” Id. at 138-9, 431 S.E.2d at 188.

In the instant case, the Board determined and the superior court
affirmed, that the noise and vibration ordinances apply to the opera-
tion of a use, not whether a use permit should be issued. The Board
concluded that if respondent violated the noise and vibration ordi-
nances the code provided for an enforcement mechanism to compel
compliance. We agree with this interpretation and petitioner’s assign-
ment of error is overruled.

We have examined petitioner's two remaining assignments of
error and find them to be without merit. We hold that the order of the
superior court that ordinance section 12.505 violated N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 160A-381 is reversed and the issue of whether respondent obtained
a vested right to the permit must be remanded to the superior court
for further remand to the Board of Adjustment for additional findings
of fact. In all other respects the order of the superior court is
affirmed.

Affirmed in part, reversed in part, and remanded.

Chief Judge ARNOLD and Judge MARTIN concur.

JOIST B. BRANDIS, NorTH CAROLINA, PLAINTIFF v. LIGHTMOTIVE FATMAN, INC.,
MAURICE L'ESPINOSO, AS AGENT FOR CORPORATION AND IN HIS INDIVIDUAL CAPACITY,
DEFENDANTS

No. 93580523
(Filed 7 June 1994)

1. Contracts § 126 (NCI4th)— breach of employment con-
tract—action improperly dismissed

The trial court erred in dismissing plaintiff’s breach of con-
tract claim against defendant corporation where plaintiff alleged
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that defendant, through its agent, orally offered a specific job to
plaintiff for a stated duration and for stated compensation, and
plaintiff reported to work but was not permitted to complete the
contract’s stated duration of employment.

Am Jur 2d, Pleading §§ 69, 89.

2. Fraud, Deceit, and Misrepresentation § 25 (NCI4th)—
offer of employment fraudulently made—action improper-
ly dismissed

Plaintiff’s action for fraud was sufficient to withstand
defendant corporation’s motion to dismiss where plaintiff alleged
that defendant, through its agent, represented that plaintiff had a
job in Wilmington, North Carolina for fourteen weeks paying
$2,000 per week; plaintiff relied on the false representation, mov-
ing to Wilmington and turning down two other offers of employ-
ment; and the offer was made with reckless disregard as to
whether defendant would actually hire plaintiff.

Am Jur 2d, Fraud and Deceit §§ 423 et seq.

3. Unfair Competition or Trade Practices § 8 (NCI4th)—
Unfair and Deceptive Trade Practices Act—no applicabili-
ty to employer-employee relations

The trial court properly dismissed plaintiff’s unfair trade
practices claim, since the Unfair and Deceptive Trade Practices
Act does not apply to employer-employee relations.

Am Jur 2d, Monopolies, Restraints of Trade, and Unfair
Business Practices § 735.

Appeal by plaintiff from order filed 22 March 1993 by Judge
James D. Llewellyn in New Hanover County Superior Court. Heard in
the Court of Appeals 1 March 1994.

On 2 July 1992 plaintiff filed this action against defendants alleg-
ing breach of contract, fraud, and unfair and deceptive trade prac-
tices, G.S. Chapter 75. In his complaint, plaintiff alleged that in
February 1992 he “was working in Florida when he was contacted by
the defendant [Lightmotive Fatman, Inc.,] through its duly authorized
agent, Maurice L'Espinoso, hereinafter LEspinoso, who represented
that he was the production manager on the film, ‘Super Mario Broth-
ers.” 7 Plaintiff alleged “[t]hat on or about February 20, 1992 defend-
ant [Lightmotive Fatman, Inc.,] through L'Espinoso offered employ-
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ment to plaintiff for fourteen weeks at $2000 a week compensation to
work as the gaffer on a film known as ‘Super Mario Brothers.” ” Plain-
tiff alleged that in his reliance on this offer, he “waived two other
offers of employment, communicated his acceptance to the defend-
ant and moved from Orlando, Florida back to New Hanover County
to begin employment pursuant to the terms of defendant’s offer.”
Additionally, plaintiff alleged that on 27 April 1992 he “was again
assured of employment and actually began to work on the project,”
but that two days later defendant Lightmotive Fatman, Inc.,
“breached the contract with plaintiff by refusing to employ plaintiff
as the gaffer and informing him that someone else had been given the
job, and that there was no employment for plaintiff.”

Alternatively, plaintiff alleged that defendant Maurice L'Espinoso
exceeded the scope of his authority as Lightmotive Fatman, Inc.’s
agent in that he “had no authority from the defendant corporation to
make offers of employment to the plaintiff” and was “therefore per-
sonally liable for this breach of contract.” As damages, plaintiff
sought: (1) $28,000.00 arising from the breach of contract; (2) puni-
tive damages; and (3) treble damages arising from the Unfair and
Deceptive Practices Act claim.

On 24 February 1993, plaintiff filed a verified amendment to the
complaint, alleging inter alia that at the time the offer of employ-
ment was made, plaintiff’s wife was living in Wilmington and that she
“was deathly ill with bone cancer which would require a bone mar-
row transplant, if she was to have any chance of surviving. . . . [T]his
offer was made with full knowledge of the defendants of the condi-
tion of the plaintiff’s wife.” Plaintiff further alleged that he “commu-
nicated to the defendants that it would be extremely important for
him to work in Wilmington as it would allow him to be near his fam-
ily and would further offer plaintiff and his family the additional
financial support necessary due to the circumstances of his wife's
illness.”

On 4 September 1992, defendant Lightmotive Fatman, Inc., filed
a motion to dismiss plaintiff’s claims pursuant to G.S. 1A-1, Rule
12(b)(6). On 22 March 1993, the trial court filed an order: (1) grant-
ing the G.S. 1A-1, Rule 12(b)(6) motion as to all of plaintiff’s claims
against defendant Lightmotive Fatman, Inc.; (2) denying the
G.S. 1A-1, Rule 12(b)(6) motion as to defendant Maurice LEspinoso;
and, (3) ordering defendant Maurice L'Espinoso to file an answer.
Plaintiff appeals.
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Stevens, McGhee, Morgan, Lennon & O’'Quinn, by Alan E. Toll,
Jor plaintiff-appellant.

Burney, Burney & Jones, by John J. Burney, Jr., for defendant-
appellee Lightmotive Fatman, Inc.

EAGLES, Judge.

Plaintiff argues that the trial court erred in granting the
G.S. 1A-1, Rule 12(b)(6) motion as to all of plaintiff’s claims against
defendant Lightmotive Fatman, Inc. We affirm in part and reverse in
part.

L

[1] Plaintiff argues that the trial court erred in granting defendant’s
G.S. 1A-1, Rule 12(b)(6) motion as to the breach of contract claim.
We agree and accordingly reinstate plaintiff’s breach of contract
claim.

Regarding a motion to dismiss pursuant to G.S. 1A-1, Rule
12(b)(6), in Peoples Security Life Ins. Co. v. Hooks, 322 N.C. 216,
218, 367 S.E.2d 647, 648-49, reh’g denied, 322 N.C. 486, 370 S.E.2d 227
(1988), our Supreme Court stated,

A motion to dismiss under N.C.G.S. § 1A-1, Rule 12(b)(6)
tests the legal sufficiency of the complaint. Sutton v. Duke, 277
N.C. 94, 176 S.E.2d 161 (1970). In ruling on the motion, the alle-
gations of the complaint are viewed as admitted, and on that
basis the court must determine as a matter of law whether the
allegations state a claim for which relief may be granted. Newton
v. Standard Fire Ins. Co., 291 N.C. 105, 229 S.E.2d 297 (1976). In
reviewing a dismissal of a complaint for failure to state a claim,
the appellate court must determine whether the complaint
alleges the substantive elements of a legally recognized claim
and whether it gives sufficient notice of the events which pro-
duced the claim to enable the adverse party to prepare for trial.
See Sutton v. Duke, 277 N.C. at 104, 176 S.E.2d at 167; see also
Stanback v. Stanback, 297 N.C. 181, 254 S.E.2d 611 (1979). A
claim should be dismissed under Rule 12(b)(6) where it appears
that the plaintiff is entitled to no relief under any statement of
facts which could be proven. See Newton v. Standard Fire Ins.
Co., 291 N.C. at 111, 229 S.E.2d at 300; Sutton v. Duke, 277 N.C.
at 102, 176 S.E.2d at 166.
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Here, plaintiff alleged that defendant Lightmotive Fatman, Inc.,
through Maurice LEspinoso, orally “offered employment to plaintiff
for fourteen weeks at $2000 a week compensation to work as the
gaffer on a film known as ‘Super Mario Brothers.” ” Accordingly, the
complaint alleges the existence of an employment contract contain-
ing a specific duration of employment, and it is well established that
this type of employment contract is not terminable at will. Rosby v.
General Baptist State Convention, 91 N.C. App. 77, 370 S.E.2d 605,
disc. review denied, 323 N.C. 626, 374 S.E.2d 590 (1988); Harris v.
Duke Power Co., 319 N.C. 627, 356 S.E.2d 357 (1987). Plaintiff report-
ed to work on 27 April 1992 but was not permitted to complete the
contract’s stated duration of employment. Taking plaintiff's allega-
tions as true, we conclude that the breach of contract claim as
alleged in the complaint was sufficient to withstand defendant’s G.S.
1A-1, Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss.

1L

[2] Next, plaintiff argues that the trial court erred in granting defend-
ant’s G.S. 1A-1, Rule 12(b)(6) motion as to the fraud claim. We agree
and accordingly reinstate plaintiff’s fraud claim.

Regarding the essential elements for a claim of actual fraud, in
Myers & Chapman, Inc. v. Thomas G. Evans, Inc., 323 N.C. 559, 568-
69, 374 S.E.2d 385, 391-92 (1988), reh’g denied, 324 N.C. 117, 377
S.E.2d 235 (1989), our Supreme Court stated:

In Myrtle Apartments, [v. Casualty Co., 258 N.C. 49, 127
S.E.2d 759 (1962)], the Court stated that in order to constitute
fraud

there must be false representation, known to be false, or
made with reckless indifference as to its truth, and it must
be made with intent to deceive.

Myrtle Apartments, 258 N.C. 49, 52, 127 S.E.2d 759, 761 (empha-
sis added). Plaintiff itself relies on Ragsdale [v. Kennedy, 286
N.C. 130, 209 S.E.2d 494 (1974)], which correctly defines the ele-
ments of fraud as follows:

While fraud has no all-embracing definition and is better left
undefined lest crafty men find a way of committing fraud
which avoids the definition, the following essential elements
of actionable fraud are well established: (1) False represen-
tation or concealment of a material fact, (2) reasonably cal-
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culated to deceive, (3) made with intent to deceive, (4)
which does in fact deceive, (5) resulting in damage to the
injured party.

Ragsdale, 286 N.C. 130, 138, 209 S.E.2d 494, 500 (emphasis
added).

See Malone v. Topsail Area Jaycees, Inc., 113 N.C. App. 498, 502, 439
S.E.2d 192, 194 (1994). In Chesapeake Microfilm, Inc. v. Eastern
Microfilm Sales & Service, Inc., 91 N.C. App. 539, 542-43, 372 S.E.2d
901, 903 (1988), this Court stated:

Allegations of fraud are subject to more exacting pleading
requirements than are generally demanded by “our liberal rules
of notice pleading.” Stanford v. Owens, 76 N.C. App. 284, 289, 332
S.E.2d 730, 733, disc. rev. denied, 314 N.C. 670, 336 S.E.2d 402
(1985) (citations omitted). Rule 9(b) of the North Carolina Rules
of Civil Procedure provides in relevant part that:

(b) . . . In all averments of fraud . . . the circumstances
constituting fraud . . . shall be stated with particularity. Mal-
ice, intent, knowledge, and other condition of mind of a per-
son may be averred generally.

N.C. Gen. Stat. Sec. 1A-1, R. Civ. P. 9(b) (1983). In Terry, our
Supreme Court instructed that “in pleading actual fraud the par-
ticularity requirement is met by alleging time, place, and content
of the fraudulent representation, identity of the person making
the representation and what was obtained as a result of the
fraudulent act or representation.” 302 N.C. at 85, 273 S.E.2d at
678. Terry’s formula ensures that the requisite elements of fraud
will be pleaded with the specificity required by Rule 9(b).

In his appellate brief, plaintiff argues that the following allegations in
the complaint were sufficient to withstand defendant’s G.S. 1A-1,
Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss:

1. The representation was that [plaintiff] Brandis had a job at
$2,000.00 per week for 14 weeks in Wilmington, North Carolina.

2. This representation was material in that it deceived
Brandis and induced him to move to New Hanover County and
forego other work. [Paragraph XVII of the complaint states “That
plaintiff did in fact rely on the false representation that defend-
ant would employ him by waiving two other offers of employ-
ment and moving back to New Hanover County to begin work.”]
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3. Paragraph XV of the Third Cause of Action states:

That the offer of employment was made by Defendant
with reckless disregard as to whether it would actually hire
the plaintiff.

4. The complaint properly alleges that the offer was made
with the intent that Brandis would rely upon the offer.

5. The complaint properly alleges that Brandis reasonably
relied upon the offer and Brandis reaffirmed the false represen-
tations that work would begin on April 27, 1992.

6. The injury to Brandis is properly alleged at $28,000.

Defendant argues that plaintiff’s failure to allege that the statement
constituting the alleged misrepresentation was “false when [it was]
made” amounts to “a fatal defect.” We disagree.

Defendant argues that “[ijn Forbes Homes, Inc. v. Trimpt, 318
N.C. 473, 479, 349 S.E.2d 852, 856 (1986), the Supreme Court stated
where ‘there is no allegation that, at the time [defendant] represent-
ed to the plaintiff . . . the representation was false,” the complaint
fails to state a cause of action based on fraud and the Court ordered
the action be dismissed for that reason.” (Emphasis supplied by
defendant.) A careful reading of Forbes Homes, Inc. v. Trimpi, 318
N.C. 473, 349 S.E.2d 852, reh’g denied, 318 N.C. 703, 351 S.E.2d 745
(1986), reveals that it was an appeal from a bench trial on the merits,
1d. at 476-77, 349 S.E.2d at 854, and that it did not address the denial
of a G.S. 1A-1, Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss. In Forbes Homes, the
parties had waived a jury trial after remand from a prior appeal from
the trial court’s order dismissing plaintiff’s complaint for breach of
contract pursuant to G.S. 1A-1, Rule 12(b)(6). Plaintiff did not allege
fraud as a cause of action. In the first appeal, this Court found the
pleadings in plaintiff’s complaint sufficient to withstand defendants’
G.S. 1A-1, Rule 12(b)(6) motion and reversed the trial court’s order of
dismissal of the breach of contract action. Forbes Homes, 70 N.C.
App. 614, 320 S.E.2d 328 (1984). The defendants appealed and the
reversal was affirmed per curiam by an equally divided Court. Forbes
Homes, 313 N.C. 168, 326 S.E.2d 30 (1985). In the second appeal, our
Supreme Court stated, “Because the Court of Appeals’ decision was
affirmed per curiam without opinion by this Court, the opinion of the
majority of the Court of Appeals became the law of the case.” Forbes
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Homes, 318 N.C. at 475, 349 S.E.2d at 854. Later in the same opinion,
the quoted text cited by defendant Lightmotive Fatman, Inc., supra,
appears in the following paragraph:

We are not unmindful that an agent may be personally liable
for damages caused to third persons by his fraud or false repre-
sentations “even though he is acting in behalf of his employer,
and even though he receives no benefit from the transaction.” 37
Am. Jur. 2d, Fraud and Deceit § 320 (1968). See also Norburn v.
Mackie, 262 N.C. 16, 136 S.E.2d 279 (1964); Mills v. Mills, 230
N.C. 286, 52 S.E.2d 915 (1949). However, in the case sub judice
there is no allegation that, at the time Mr. Trimpi represented to
the plaintiff that Mr. Simpson had authorized payment from the
settlement, the representation was false. An agent does not
become liable because of his principal’s breach of a contract
negotiated by the agent for the principal. Walston v. Whitley &
Co., 226 N.C. 537, 39 S.E.2d 375 (1946).

Forbes Homes, 318 N.C. at 479-80, 349 S.E.2d at 856 (footnote
omitted).

Notwithstanding defendant’s reliance on dicta from Forbes
Homes, 318 N.C. at 479, 349 S.E.2d at 856, we find that our decision
here is controlled by Williams v. Williams, 220 N.C. 806, 18 S.E.2d
364 (1942), a seminal case addressing actions for fraud based upon
unfulfilled promises. In Williams, our Supreme Court stated:

It is generally held, and is the law in this State, that mere
unfulfilled promises cannot be made the basis for an action of
fraud. If, however, a promise is made fraudulently—that is, with
no intention to carry it out, thus being a misrepresentation of a
material fact, the state of the promisor’s mind, and with intention
that it shall be acted upon, and it is acted upon to the promisee’s
injury—then, it will sustain an action based on fraud and misrep-
resentation, and the plaintiff will be entitled to legal or equitable
relief.

Williams, 220 N.C. at 810-11, 18 S.E.2d at 366-67 (citations omitted).
In Overstreet v. Brookland, Inc., 52 N.C. App. 444, 452, 279 S.E.2d 1,
6 (1981), this Court re-emphasized the distinction between the bases
upon which an action for fraud may be maintained in light of the
alleged unfulfilled promises of a defendant:

Our Supreme Court has held that while the general rule is that
mere unfulfilled promises cannot be made the basis of an action
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for fraud, if a promise is made fraudulently—that is, with no
intention to carry it out—such is a misrepresentation of the state
of the promisor’s mind at the time of the promise, i.e., a pre-exist-
ing material fact. Williams v. Williams, 220 N.C. 806, 810-811, 18
S.E.2d 364, 366-67 (1942); see also, Johnson v. Insurance Co.,
300 N.C. 247, 255, 266 S.E.2d 610, 616 (1980) and cases cited
therein; Hoyle v. Bagby, 253 N.C. 778, 781, 117 S.E.2d 760, 762
(1961); Davis v. Davis, 236 N.C. 208, 211, 72 S.E.2d 414, 415
(1952). Cf., Harding v. Insurance Co., 218 N.C. 129, 10 S.E.2d
599 (1940); Whitley v. O’Neal, 5 N.C. App. 136, 168 S.E.2d 6
(1969).

Here, we conclude that plaintiff’s complaint alleged an action for
fraud with sufficient particularity and taking plaintiff’s allegations as
true, we hold that the action for fraud as alleged in the complaint was
sufficient to withstand defendant’s G.S. 1A-1, Rule 12(b)(6) motion to
dismiss. Compare Braun v. Glade Valley School, 77 N.C. App. 83, 87,
334 S.E.2d 404, 407 (1985) (affirming trial court’s order dismissing
complaint where there was no allegation that the promissory repre-
sentation was made recklessly without regard for its truth). We note
that for purposes of further proceedings in this action that “[m]ere
proof of nonperformance is not sufficient to establish the necessary
fraudulent intent,” Williams, 220 N.C. at 811, 18 S.E.2d at 367, and
that mere “evidence of reckless indifference to a representation’s
truth or falsity is not sufficient to satisfy the element of scienter.”
Malone, 113 N.C. App. at 502, 439 S.E.2d at 194. See also Strum v.
Exxon Co. US.A., A Div. of Exxon Corp., 15 F.3d 327, 331 (4th Cir.
1994)

IiI.

[38] Plaintiff argues that the trial court erred in granting defendant’s
G.S. 1A-1, Rule 12(b)(6) motion as to the Unfair and Deceptive Prac-
tices Act, G.S. Chapter 75, claim. We disagree. Our Supreme Court
has expressly stated that the Unfair and Deceptive Practices Act
“does not cover employer-employee relations.” Hajmm Co. v. House
of Raeford Farms, 328 N.C. 578, 593, 403 S.E.2d 483, 492 (1991) (cit-
ing Buie v. Daniel International, 56 N.C. App. 445, 289 S.E.2d 118,
disc. review denied, 305 N.C. 759, 292 S.E.2d 574 (1982) ). Accord-
ingly, this argument fails.
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Iv.

For the reasons stated, we reverse the portion of the trial court’s
22 March 1993 order dealing with plaintiff’s breach of contract claim
and plaintiff’s fraud claim. Accordingly, these claims are reinstated
and the cause is remanded for further proceedings not inconsistent
with this opinion. The portion of the trial court’s 22 March 1993 order
dismissing the G.S. Chapter 75 claim is affirmed.

Affirmed in part; reversed in part and remanded.

Judges MARTIN and McCRODDEN concur.

STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY, PLAINTIFF v. ANDREW
JESSE YOUNG, MARY, CORTEZ WIMBERLY, NICHOLAS YOUNG, A MINOR, AND
MAY GEE YOUNG, A MINOR, DEFENDANTS.

No. 93215C269
(Filed 7 June 1994)

Insurance § 528 (NCI4th)— definition of underinsured vehi-
cle—vehicle owned by insured included

An underinsured highway vehicle as defined in N.C.G.S.
§ 20-279.21(b)(4) can include a motor vehicle owned by the
named insured, and the provisions in the policies issued by plain-
tiff attempting to exclude such coverage are invalid and unen-
forceable.

Am Jur 2d, Automobile Insurance § 322.

Automobile insurance: what constitutes an “unin-
sured” or “unknown” vehicle or motorist, within unin-
sured motorist coverage. 26 ALR3d 883.

Uninsured motorist coverage: validity of exclusion of
injuries sustained by insured while occupying “owned”
vehicle not insured by policy. 30 ALR4th 172.

Appeal by defendants from judgment entered 28 December 1992
by Judge James A. Beaty, Jr., in Forsyth County Superior Court.
Heard in the Court of Appeals 11 January 1994.
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Frazier, Frazier & Mahler, by James D. McKinney and Torin L.
Fury, for plaintiff-appellee.

Robinson Maready Lawing & Comerford, by W. Thompson
Comerford, Jr., and Jerry M. Smith, for defendant-appellants.

MARTIN, Judge.

Plaintiff brought this declaratory judgment action seeking a
determination of its obligations under the underinsured motorist cov-
erage provisions of automobile insurance policies issued to its
insureds, defendants Andrew Jesse Young (hereinafter “Young”) and
Mary Cortez Wimberly (hereinafter “Wimberly”). The parties stipu-
lated to the following facts. On 26 January 1990, Nicholas Young
(“Nicholas™), the minor son of defendants Young and Wimberly, sus-
tained serious injuries when the automobile in which he was a pas-
senger was involved in an accident. The automobile was owned and
operated by Young, and the accident was caused solely by Young’s
negligence. Young’s vehicle was insured under a policy issued to him
by plaintiff covering two vehicles and providing $100,000 per
person/$300,000 per accident limits for both liability and underin-
sured motorist (hereinafter “UIM”) benefits. That policy was issued
before G.S. § 20-279.21 was amended to preclude intrapolicy stacking
of underinsured motorist coverage and accordingly afforded possible
stacked UIM benefits of $200,000 per person/$600,000 per accident.
See Harris v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co., 332 N.C. 184, 420 S.E.2d 124
(1992). Additionally, plaintiff had issued to Wimberly a policy insur-
ing a single vehicle and containing $100,000 per person/$300,000 per
accident limits for both liability and UIM benefits. Both policies con-
tain the following pertinent language:

“Insured” as used in this Part means:

1. You or any family member.

“Uninsured motor vehicle” means a land motor vehicle or trailer
of any type: . ..

5. To which, with respect to damages for bodily injury only,
the sum of the limits of liability under all bodily injury liabil-
ity bonds and insurance policies applicable at the time of the
accident is:
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a. equal to or greater than the minimum limit specified by
the financial responsibility law of North Carolina: and

b. less than the limit of liability for this coverage.

However, “uninsured motor vehicle” does not include any
vehicle or equipment:

1. Owned by you.

Although Young and Wimberly were divorced at the time of the
accident, for purposes of this appeal, the parties have stipulated that
Nicholas is a resident of both households, and accordingly, a Class I
insured under each parent’s insurance policy issued by plaintiff. See
Busby v. Stmmons, 103 N.C. App. 592, 406 S.E.2d 628 (1991). Plain-
tiff paid Nicholas $100,000 representing the entire amount of liability
coverage available under the policy issued to Young. Because his
damages exceeded that amount, Nicholas sought additional recovery
pursuant to Young and Wimberly’s UIM coverage in the amounts of
$200,000 and $100,000 respectively, with a credit to plaintiff for the
$100,000 paid under the liability provision of the Young policy. How-
ever, plaintiff denied UIM benefits, relying on a concurrent reading of
the above cited provisions of the Young policy which excluded vehi-
cles owned by Young from the definition of an uninsured motor vehi-
cle and which included an underinsured vehicle within the definition
of an uninsured motor vehicle. On 28 December 1992 the trial court
awarded summary judgment in favor of plaintiff concluding that
under the language of the policies issued to Wimberly and Young and
under the provisions of G.S. § 20-279.21(b) et seq., there was no UIM
coverage available to defendants under either of the policies.

Defendants appeal, contending that the policy provisions which
exclude “owned vehicles” from UIM coverage are invalid because
they conflict with the statutory provisions for UIM coverage con-
tained within the Motor Vehicle Safety and Financial Responsibility
Act (the “Act”). We agree and reverse the decision of the trial court.
Summary judgment should be granted when the materials before the
court establish that there is no genuine issue of material fact and that
any party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 1A-1, Rule 56(c); Trust Co. v. Creasy, 301 N.C. 44, 269 S.E.2d 117
(1980). When appropriate, summary judgment may be rendered
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against the moving party. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1A-1, Rule 56(c). In this
case, the relevant material facts have been stipulated, leaving only
questions of law for the court.

Under the Act an “uninsured motor vehicle” is defined as:

[A] motor vehicle as to which there is no bodily injury liability
insurance and property damage liability insurance in at least the
amounts specified in subsection (c) of G.S. 20-279.5, or there is
such insurance but the insurance company writing the insurance
denies coverage thereunder, or has become bankrupt, or there is
no bond or deposit of money or securities as provided in
G.S. 20-279.24 or 20-279.25 in lieu of such bodily injury and prop-
erty damage liability insurance, or the owner of the motor vehi-
cle has not qualified as a self-insurer under the provisions of
G.S. 20-279.33, or a vehicle that is not subject to the provisions of
the . .. Act.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 20-279.21(b)(3). However, under the statute, the
term “uninsured motor vehicle” specifically excludes five categories
of vehicles including “a motor vehicle owned by the named insured.”
Id. While G.S. § 20-279.21(b)(4) states that “[a]n ‘uninsured motor
vehicle,” as described in subdivision (3) of this subsection includes
an ‘underinsured highway vehicle’. . . .,” that section goes on to sep-
arately define “underinsured highway vehicle” as:

[A] highway vehicle with respect to the ownership, maintenance,
or use of which, the sum of the limits of liability under all bodily
injury liability bonds and insurance policies applicable at the
time of the accident is less than the applicable limits of underin-
sured motorist coverage for the vehicle involved in the accident
and insured under the owner’s policy.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 20-279.21(b)(4). Unlike G.S. § 20-279.21(b)(3), sec-
tion (b)(4) does not specifically exclude a motor vehicle “owned by
the named insured” from the term “underinsured motor vehicle”
although it does specifically exclude three other types of vehicles.
Plaintiff argues that because “uninsured motor vehicle” includes one
that is “underinsured” pursuant to both the policies at issue and the
Financial Responsibility Act, then the definition of an “underinsured
vehicle” also excludes coverage for a vehicle owned by the named
insured; and thus, there is no underinsured coverage available to
defendants under either of the policies issued to Young or Wimberly.
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The question of whether an insured is entitled to stack liability
coverage from the tortfeasor’s policy with the underinsured coverage
under the same policy presents a novel issue in this State. Plaintiff
directs this Court to several decisions wherein courts in other juris-
dictions have disallowed such recovery citing the danger of effective-
ly converting underinsured motorist coverage into liability coverage,
resulting in insurance carriers charging more for underinsured
motorist coverage to match the cost of the presently more expensive
liability coverage. See e.g., Millers Cas. Ins. Co. v. Briggs, 100
Wash.2d 1, 665 P.2d 891 (1983); Myers v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins.
Co., 336 N.W.2d 288 (Minn. 1983). (The result in this case has since
been overruled by an amendment to Minn. Stat. s 65B.49, subd. 3a(5)
which requires that an occupant be allowed to collect UIM benefits
from the policy covering the vehicle involved in the accident.);
Sullivan v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 513 S0.2d 992 (Ala. 1987).
We have reviewed these decisions, and while we do not necessarily
disagree with their rationale, the language of our statute and the prin-
ciples of statutory interpretation require us to reach a different con-
clusion. Rather, we must conclude that any interpretation of the poli-
cies at issue which would exclude “an owned vehicle” from UIM
coverage is void as being contrary to the requirements of the Act.

The provisions of the Act are written into every automobile lia-
bility policy as a matter of law, and when a provision of the policy
conflicts with a provision of the statute favorable to the insured, the
provision of the statute controls. Insurance Co. v. Chantos, 293 N.C.
431, 238 S.E.2d 597 (1977), appeal after remand, 298 N.C. 246, 258
S.E.2d. 334 (1979). Accordingly, an exclusionary provision of a policy
which contravenes the Act is void. Insurance Co. v. Roberts, 261 N.C.
285, 134 S.E.2d 654 (1964).

The exclusion of a particular circumstance from a statute’s gen-
eral operation is evidence of legislative intent not to exempt other
particular circumstances not expressly excluded. Batten v. N.C.
Department of Correction, 326 N.C. 338, 389 S.E.2d 35 (1990). Simi-
larly, the statutory construction doctrine of expressio unius est
exclusio alterius provides that the mention of specific exceptions
implies the exclusion of others. Morrison v. Sears, Roebuck & Co.,
319 N.C. 298, 354 S.E.2d 495 (1987). Furthermore, North Carolina
courts disfavor exclusionary language in insurance policies and will
construe such language strictly against the insurer. Durham City Bd.
of Education v. National Union Fire Ins. Co., 109 N.C. App 152, 426
S.E.2d 451, disc. review denied, 333 N.C. 790, 431 S.E.2d 22 (1993).
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The rules of statutory construction require presumptions that the leg-
islature inserted every part of a provision for a purpose and that no
part is redundant. Hall v. Simmons, 329 N.C. 779, 407 S.E.2d 816
(1991). The Financial Responsibility Act is remedial and will be lib-
erally construed to carry out its beneficent purpose of providing
compensation for those injured by automobiles. Jones v. Insurance
Co., 270 N.C. 454, 155 S.E.2d 118 (1967).

We are guided in our decision by the recent holding of this Court
in Cochran v. N.C. Farm Bureau Mutual Ins. Co., 113 N.C. App. 260,
437 S.E.2d 910, disc. review denied, 335 N.C. 768, ___ S.E2d ___
(1994). In that case we were asked to decide whether an underin-
sured highway vehicle as defined in G.S. § 20-279.21(b)(4) could
include a state-owned vehicle despite the fact that the definition of
an uninsured motor vehicle specifically excluded “[a] motor vehicle
that is owned by . . . a state.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 20-279.21(b)(3). The
insurer in that case argued that due to the fact that G.S.
§ 20-279.21(b)(4) states that: “[a]n ‘uninsured motor vehicle,’ as
described in subdivision (3) of this subsection, includes an ‘underin-
sured highway vehicle’. . . ,” to qualify as an underinsured highway
vehicle, it must meet the definition of an uninsured motor vehicle;
and thus, an underinsured highway vehicle, like an uninsured vehi-
cle, could not include a state-owned vehicle. We disagreed, holding in
pertinent part that:

The language in Section 20-279.21(b)(4) that an uninsured motor
vehicle includes an underinsured highway vehicle is far from
being clear and unambiguous as to whether to qualify as an
underinsured highway vehicle, a vehicle must first meet the def-
inition of uninsured motor vehicle set out in Section
20-279.21(b)(3). Furthermore, an underinsured highway vehicle
has its own specific definition in Section 20-279.21(b)(4) which is
different from the definition of an uninsured motor vehicle and
which makes no mention of an exclusion for state-owned vehi-
cles. Because of this ambiguity, we resort to tenets of statutory
construction to ascertain legislative intent . . . .

Although it is possible for a vehicle to be an underinsured vehi-
cle and an uninsured vehicle simultaneously where the vehicle is
insured with liability limits less than those required by Section
20-279.5 or where the vehicle is self-insured, to attempt to define
every underinsured highway vehicle as an uninsured motor vehi-
cle under all circumstances is, by the definitions contained in
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Sections 20-279.21(b)(3) and (b)(4), an impossible task . . ., Due
to the impossibility of every underinsured highway vehicle meet-
ing the definition of an uninsured motor vehicle as defined in
Section 20-279.21(b)(3) and because state-owned vehicles are
specifically excluded in the circumstance where an uninsured
motor vehicle is involved, but are not specifically excluded in the
definition of an underinsured highway vehicle in Section
20-279.21(b)(4), we do not believe the legislature intended to
fully incorporate the definition of an uninsured motor vehicle
into the definition of an underinsured highway vehicle . . . .

For these reasons, we hold that an underinsured highway vehicle
as defined in Section § 20-279.21(b)(4) can include a state-owned
vehicle.

Cochran, 113 N.C. App. at 262-63, 437 S.E.2d at 911-12. The Cochran
court also realized that an opposite interpretation of the language of
G.S. § 20-279.21(b)(4) would conflict with the required liberal con-
struction of the Motor Vehicle Safety and Financial Responsibility
Act. Id. at 263, 437 S.E.2d at 912. Siniilarly, the definition of underin-
sured highway vehicle makes no mention of an exclusion for a
“motor vehicle owned by the named insured.” Additionally, the
definition of “underinsured highway vehicle” contains its own less-
inclusive list of specific exclusions, which are all also named as
exclusions to the definition of an “uninsured motor vehicle” and
would be repetitive if the definition of an uninsured motor vehicle
were fully incorporated into the definition of an underinsured
highway vehicle. Thus, in accord with our decision in Cochran, we
hold that an underinsured highway vehicle as defined in G.S.
§ 20-279.21(b)(4) can include a motor vehicle owned by the named
insured, and the provisions in the policies issued by plaintiff attempt-
ing to exclude such coverage are invalid and unenforceable. The leg-
islature can amend the statute so as to authorize the exception which
plaintiff included in its policies. However, this Court may not.

Accordingly, because we hold that there is no genuine issue of
material fact and that defendants are entitled to judgment as a mat-
ter of law, summary judgment on this issue is reversed as to plaintiff
and the case is remanded with instructions to enter summary judg-
ment in favor of defendants on this issue and for trial on defendants’
remaining counterclaims.
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Reversed and Remanded.

Chief Judge ARNOLD and Judge WYNN concur.

JANELLE M. LAVELLE, PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT, v. GUILFORD COUNTY AREA MENTAL
ILLNESS, MENTAL RETARDATION AND SUBSTANCE ABUSE AUTHORITY, AnD
DR. TIMOTHY DAUGHTRY, IN HIS OFFICIAL CAPACITY AS AREA DIRECTOR OF GUILFORD
COUNTY AREA MENTAL ILLNESS, MENTAL RETARDATION AND SUBSTANCE ABUSE AUTHORI-
TY, DEFENDANTS-APPELLEES

No. 93188C259
(Filed 7 June 1994)

Injunctions § 7 (NCI4th)— relief previously granted plain-
tiff—summary judgment proper
Since plaintiff received the relief she requested, release of
her medical files by appellees to her attorney, there were no
remaining issues to be determined, and the trial court properly
entered summary judgment for defendants.

Am Jur 2d, Injunctions §§ 23 et seq.
Judge ORrRr dissenting.

Appeal by plaintiff from judgment entered 10 December 1992 by
Judge Julius A. Rousseau in Guilford County Superior Court. Heard
in the Court of Appeals 6 January 1994.

Central Carolina Legal Services, Inc., by Sorien K. Schmidt, for
plaintiff-appellant.

Guilford County Attorney’s Office, by Deputy County Attorney
J. Edwin Pons, for defendants-appellees.

WYNN, Judge.

Plaintiff Janelle M. Lavelle received outpatient mental health serv-
ices from defendant Guilford County Area Mental Illness, Mental
Retardation and Substance Abuse Authority (Mental Health) for
approximately two years. In April 1991 plaintiff disagreed with Mental
Health’s proposed course of treatment which included termination of
her therapy. Plaintiff filed a grievance with Mental Health and
obtained an external advocate pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 122C-53
to assist her with the grievance process. Plaintiff and her advocate
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requested a copy of plaintiff’s confidential records but Mental Health
refused to release them.

Plaintiff then retained an attorney who requested access to plain-
tiff’s records and provided a release signed by plaintiff. Dr. Jan D.
Lhotsky, a Mental Health employee, replied that he would only give
plaintiff’s attorney copies of plaintiff’s grievance form and her invol-
untary commitment certificate and would not release any other of
plaintiff’s mental health records. Dr. Lhotsky said the other records
in plaintiff’s file would be injurious to plaintiff’s physical or mental
health if shown to her.

Plaintiff then filed this action seeking a temporary restraining
order and a preliminary injunction directing defendants to release
plaintiff’'s complete file with Mental Health, a permanent injunction to
the same effect, a declaratory judgment that N.C. Gen. Stat. § 122C-
53(i) requires Mental Health to release all confidential information to
an attorney upon the request of a client without restrictions, and
attorney’s fees. On 19 September 1991 the trial court granted plaintiff
a preliminary injunction which provided in pertinent part:

1. That the Defendants and all other persons who are their offi-
cers, agents, servants, employees and attorneys are hereby
enjoined from refusing to release Plaintiff's confidential records
with Defendants to counsel for Plaintiff upon Plaintiff’s request;

2. That the attending physician or facility director or his designee
must identify and mark which specific documents in Plaintiff’s
confidential Mental Health record may be injurious to Plaintiff’s
mental or physical well-being;

5. That counsel for Plaintiff must not release to Plaintiff such
confidential records that have been marked as injurious to plain-
tiff as set out in paragraph 2 (two) above, unless or until a psy-
chiatrist or psychologist of Plaintiff’'s choice determines that
such marked documents would not be injurious to Plaintiff’s
mental or physical well-being, or unless or until a judgment or
order in this action or an action superceding (sic) this action
finds that Plaintiff may have access to such documents;

Subsequently both plaintiff and defendants moved for summary
judgment. The trial court granted defendants’ motion for summary
judgment. From that judgment, plaintiff appeals.
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Plaintiff assigns error to the trial court’s granting of defendants’
motion for summary judgment on the grounds that N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 122C-53 “requires defendants to release to an attorney all confiden-
tial information relating to a client upon the request of that client.”
Our review of the record reveals, however, that plaintiff has not
raised the issue of the proper construction of N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 122C-53 before the trial court nor presented any argument in her
brief that she is entitled to a permanent injunction or a declaratory
judgment interpreting this statute. Questions not presented and dis-
cussed in a party’s brief are deemed abandoned. N.C.R. App. P. 28(a);
see Gentile v. Town of Kure Beach, 91 N.C. App. 236, 371 S.E.2d 302
(1988); State v. Oliver, 82 N.C. App. 135, 345 S.E.2d 697 (1986), cert.
denied, 321 N.C. 123, 361 S.E.2d 601 (1987). Since plaintiff has
received the relief she requested, there is no question of law remain-
ing and summary judgment was properly entered for defendants.

Summary judgment shall “be rendered forthwith if the pleadings,
depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file,
together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine
issue as to any material fact and that any party is entitled to a judg-
ment as a matter of law.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1A-1, Rule 56(c) (1990).
The moving party must carry the burden of establishing the lack of a
genuine issue as to any material fact and its entitlement to judgment
as a matter of law. Bernick v. Jurden, 306 N.C. 435, 293 S.E.2d 405
(1982); Myers v. Barringer, 101 N.C. App. 168, 398 S.E.2d 615 (1990).
An issue is genuine if it can be supported by substantial evidence.
Martin v. Ray Lackey Enterprises, Inc., 100 N.C. App. 349, 396
S.E.2d 327 (1990). A fact is material if would establish any material
element of a claim or defense. City of Thomasville v. Lease-Afex,
Inc., 300 N.C. 651, 268 S.E.2d 190 (1980). The purpose of summary
judgment is to eliminate formal trials where only questions of law are
involved. Baumann v. Smith, 298 N.C. 778, 260 S.E.2d 626 (1979).

In the instant case, plaintiff has already received the relief which
she requested. The preliminary injunction ordered defendants to pro-
vide plaintiff’s attorney with her mental health records which is what
she requested in her complaint. Although plaintiff’s contention that
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 122C-53 requires that no confidential information
may be withheld from the client’s attorney by a facility was not prop-
erly preserved for appeal, we note that the statute explicitly prohibits
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a client from access to information in the client’s record that would
be injurious to the client’s physical or mental well-being as deter-
mined by the attending physician. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 122C-53(c) (1989).
It would subvert the purpose of this prohibition to allow the client’s
attorney to obtain the injurious information and then pass such mate-
rial to the client without restriction. Common sense requires the con-
clusion that an attorney should not, of his own accord, contradict the
opinion of a medical professional that certain medical records would
be harmful if released to the patient. The statute does not require
such an absurd result.

Since plaintiff received the relief to which she requested, the
release of her medical file to her attorney, there were no remaining
issues to be determined and the trial court properly entered summa-
ry judgment for defendants.

Affirmed.
Judge LEWIS concurs.
Judge ORR dissents.

Judge ORr dissenting.

Because I disagree with the majority’s statement that plaintiff
failed to present argument with regard to her request for a declara-
tory judgment and because I disagree with the majority’s assertion
that “plaintiff has already received the relief which she requested”, I
respectfully dissent.

Although the preliminary injunction of 19 September 1991
granted plaintiff the initial relief she sought as far as her request for
the release of plaintiff’s records up to the point of the injunction, it
did not affect plaintiff’s request for a declaratory judgment that N.C.
Gen. Stat. § 122C-53(i) requires defendants to release to an attorney
all confidential information relating to the client upon the request of
a client, with no restrictions.

As correctly stated by the majority, summary judgment is proper
where no genuine issue of material fact exists and one party is enti-
tled to a judgment as a matter of law. Further, “summary judgment
can be appropriate in an action for a declaratory judgment where
there is no genuine issue of material fact and one of the parties is



IN THE COURT OF APPEALS 79

LAVELLE v. GUILFORD COUNTY AREA MENTAL ILLNESS AUTH.
{115 N.C. App. 75 (1994)]

entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” North Carolina Ass’n of
ABC Bds. v. Hunt, 76 N.C. App. 290, 292, 332 S.E.2d 693, 694, disc.
review denied, 314 N.C. 667, 336 S.E.2d 400 (1985).

In the present case, the basis for the conclusion that defendants
were entitled to a judgment as a matter of law cannot, however, be
that plaintiff already received the relief she asks for on appeal, as
plaintiff’s request for a declaratory judgment was never addressed.
Further, my review of plaintiff’s brief shows that she did not fail to
present argument on the issue of this declaratory judgment, and I dis-
agree, therefore, with the majority’s assertion that plaintiff aban-
doned this claim. Thus, in order to determine whether the trial court
erred in granting defendants’ summary judgment motion, I would
reach the merits of plaintiff’s claim and interpret N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 122C-53(J).

On the issue of statutory construction, our Supreme Court stated
in Fowler v. Valencourt, 334 N.C. 345, 348, 435 S.E.2d 530, 532 (1993):

In construing a statute, the Court must first ascertain the legisla-
tive intent to assure that the purpose and intent of the legislation
are carried out. . . . To make this determination, we look first to
the language of the statute itself. . . . If the language used is clear
and unambiguous, the Court does not engage in judicial con-
struction but must apply the statute to give effect to the plain and
definite meaning of the language.

(Citations omitted.)

The statute at issue in the present case is N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 122C-53(i) which states:

(i) Upon the request of a client, a facility shall disclose to an
attorney confidential information relating to that client.

I find this language to be clear and unambiguous. N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 122C-53(i) clearly applies to releasing confidential information only
to attorneys. Further, the language clearly states that when a client
requests that the facility release confidential information concerning
that client to an attorney, the facility is required to do so, without
restrictions.

My reading of the language in N.C. Gen. Stat. § 122C-53(i) is fur-
ther bolstered by an examination of two other provisions in the
statute that deal with releasing confidential information to the client
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and the client’s legal representative. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 122C-53(c) and
(d) state:

(c) Upon request a client shall have access to confidential
information in his client record except information that would be
injurious to the client’s physical or mental well-being as deter-
mined by the attending physician or, if there is none, by the facil-
ity director or his designee. If the attending physician or, if there
is none, the facility director or his designee has refused to pro-
vide confidential information to a client, the client may request
that the information be sent to a physician or psychologist of the
client’s choice, and in this event the information shall be so
provided.

(d) Except as provided by G.S. 90-21.4(b), upon request the
legally responsible person of a client shall have access to confi-
dential information in the client’s record; except information that
would be injurious to the client’s physical or mental well-being as
determined by the attending physician or, if there is none, by the
facility director or his designee. If the attending physician or, if
there is none, the facility director or his designee has refused to
provide confidential information to the legally responsible
person, the legally responsible person may request that the infor-
mation be sent to a physician or psychologist of the legally
responsible person’s choice, and in this event the information
shall be so provided.

Thus, the Legislature placed specific limitations on the confidential
information to which the client or the client’s legal representative
may have access. If the Legislature intended to limit the confidential
information to which an attorney may have access, then I presume
the Legislature would have included language similar to the language
found in N.C. Gen. Stat. § 122C-53(c) and (d) in N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 122C-53(1) and if from a policy standpoint that is desirable, then it
is for the Legislature to amend the statute accordingly.

Therefore, I would reverse the order of the trial court granting
defendants’ motion for summary judgment and remand the case for
entry of judgment consistent with my dissent.
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DAWN COLOMBO, PLainTiFF v. WILLIAM THOMPSON DORRITY; anp CITY OF
DURHAM, DEFENDANTS

No. 9314SC878
(Filed 7 June 1994)

1. Appeal and Error § 112 (NCI4th)— sovereign immunity—
refusal of trial court to dismiss—denial immediately
appealable

Sovereign immunity is a matter of personal jurisdiction, not
subject matter jurisdiction; therefore, the trial court’s refusal to
dismiss a suit against the State on this ground is immediately .
appealable under N.C.G.S. § 1-277(b).

Am Jur 2d, Appeal and Error §§ 47 et seq.

2. Highways, Streets, and Roads § 66 (NCI4th)— state roads
maintained by city—city’s liability arising out of con-
tract—action barred by statute of limitations

In an action arising out of an automobile accident where
plaintiff claimed that a city negligently failed to clear vegetation
which obscured a stop sign at the intersection where the acci-
dent occurred and failed to properly sign the intersection, the
trial court erred in denying defendant city’s motion for summary
judgment, since a city is not liable for accidents which occur on
a street which is part of the State highway system and under the
control of the North Carolina Department of Transportation; the
roads where the accident occurred were part of the State high-
way system; any liability that the city might have had for the acci-
dent in question would arise out of the contract between the city
and North Carolina Department of Transportation; but plaintiff’s
action against the city was commenced after the expiration of the
two-year statute of limitations of N.C.G.S. § 1-63(1) and is there-
fore barred.

Am Jur 2d, Highways, Streets, and Bridges §§ 460, 462.

Governmental liability for failure to reduce vegetation
obscuring view at railroad crossing or at street or highway
intersection. 22 ALR4th 624.

Appeal by defendant City of Durham from orders entered 6 April
1993 and 10 May 1993 by Judge Robert L. Farmer in Durham County
Superior Court. Heard in the Court of Appeals 20 April 1994.
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Pulley, Watson & King, P. A. by Richard N. Watson and Julie
Cheek Woodmansee, for plaintiff-appellee.

Faison and Fletcher, by Reginald B. Gillespie, Jr. and Selina S.
Nomeir, for defendant-appellant City of Durham.

JOHNSON, Judge.

This case arises out of an automobile collision which occurred
on 16 June 1988 at the intersection of Sparger Road and U.S. 70 in
Durham, North Carolina. Plaintiff, Dawn Colombo, was a passenger
in a vehicle owned by William Malec and operated by Mariah
Elizabeth Malec. The Malec vehicle was travelling in a southerly
direction along Sparger Road approaching the intersection of Sparg-
er Road and U.S. 70. After Mariah Malec failed to stop at the stop sign
at the intersection of Sparger Road and U.S. 70, the Malec vehicle col-
lided with William Thompson Dorrity’s vehicle. At the time of the col-
lision, the portions of Sparger Road and U.S. 70 in question, were
within the municipal limits of Durham, but part of the State highway
system.

On 22 February 1989, plaintiff filed a complaint against Mariah
Elizabeth Malec and William S. Malec, alleging that Mariah Malec had
negligently run the stop sign at the intersection of Sparger Road and
U.S. 70.

On 17 June 1991, plaintiff filed an amended complaint asserting
claims against William Thompson Dorrity, the City of Durham (the
City), and the North Carolina Department of Transportation
(NCDOT). In the amended complaint, plaintiff alleged that the City
negligently failed to clear vegetation that obscured the stop sign at
the intersection of Sparger Road and U.S. 70 and that the City failed
to properly sign the intersection.

On 26 August 1991, the City filed a motion to dismiss plaintiff’s
amended complaint. The motion was heard by Judge Anthony M.
Brannon on 4 September 1991 in Durham County Superior Court. On
1 June 1992, Judge Brannon entered an order denying the City’s
motion to dismiss.

On 12 March 1993, the City filed a motion for summary judgment
pursuant to Rule 56 of the North Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure.
The motion came on for hearing before Judge Robert L. Farmer at the
25 March Civil Session of Superior Court and the 3 May 1993 Civil
Session of Superior Court. On 6 April 1993, an order was entered
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denying the City’s motion for summary judgment based on the City’s
contention that plaintiff’s claim was barred by the statute of limita-
tions and that the City was not responsible for the accident. On 10
May 1993, an order was entered denying the remainder of the City’s
motion for summary judgment based on governmental immunity.
From these orders, the City appealed to our Court.

At the outset, we note that plaintiff contends that the trial court’s
order denying the City’s motion for summary judgment based on the
doctrine of governmental immunity is interlocutory, and therefore
not appealable. We disagree. North Carolina General Statutes
§ 1-277(b)(1983) provides:

[alny interested party shall have the right of immediate appeal
from an adverse ruling as to the jurisdiction of the court over the
person or property of the defendant or such party may preserve
his exception for determination upon any subsequent appeal in
the cause.

[1] This Court has held that sovereign immunity is a matter of per-
sonal jurisdiction, not subject matter jurisdiction; therefore, the trial
court’s refusal to dismiss a suit against the state on these grounds is
immediately appealable under North Carolina General Statutes
§ 1-277(b). Zimmer v. N. C. Dept. of Transportation, 87 N.C. App.
132, 360 S.E.2d 115 (1987). The Court in Zimmer stated:

[wihether sovereign immunity is a question of subject matter
jurisdiction or personal jurisdiction is an unsettled area of the
law in North Carolina. The distinction is important because the
denial of a motion to dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdic-
tion pursuant to G.S.1A-1, Rule 12(b)(1) is non-appealable,
G.S. 1-277(a), but the denial of a motion challenging the jurisdic-
tion of the court over the person of the defendant pursuant to
G.S.1A-1, Rule 12(b)(2) is immediately appealable. G.S. 1-277(b).

Id. at 133, 360 S.E.2d at 116. (Citation omitted.) The Zimmer Court
also noted that the North Carolina Supreme Court in Teachy v. Coble
Dairies, Inc., 306 N.C. 324, 293 S.E.2d 182 (1982) expressly declined
to decide “whether the denial of a motion to dismiss on grounds of
sovereign immunity is immediately appealable.” Teachy at 328, 293
S.E.2d at 184. Therefore, following the precedent of this Court, we
hold that the present appeal based on governmental immunity is
properly before this Court.
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Additionally, plaintiff argues that the City’s motion for summary
judgment was based on several grounds other than governmental
immunity and that the denial of the City’s motion for summary judg-
ment on these grounds is interlocutory. We disagree. We believe that
allowing an immediate appeal only from the order denying the City’s
motion for summary judgment on the grounds of governmental
immunity would create a fragmentary appeal. As such, we allow an
immediate appeal from both orders denying the City’s motion for
summary judgment.

As we have established that this appeal is properly before this
Court, we address the merits of the City's appeal.

By the City’s sole assignment of error, the City contends that the
trial court erred in denying its motion for summary judgment on the
grounds that plaintiff’s actions were barred by governmental immu-
nity and/or the applicable statute of limitations.

The purpose of summary judgment is to eliminate formal trials
when the only questions involved are questions of law. Ellis v.
Williams, 319 N.C. 413, 355 S.E.2d 479 (1987). A motion for summa-
ry judgment tests the legal sufficiency of a claim for submission to
the jury; if the pleadings, depositions, interrogatories, admissions on
file and affidavits demonstrate that there is no genuine issue of any
material fact and that only questions of law exist, then summary
Judgment is proper. Bolick v. Townsend Co., 94 N.C. App. 650, 381
S.E.2d 175, disc. review denied, 325 N.C. 545, 385 S.E.2d 495 (1989).
Therefore, we must determine whether the pleadings, depositions,
interrogatories and admissions on file, establish that summary judg-
ment was not warranted in this case.

Generally, a municipality may not be held liable for its acts if the
incident arises out of a governmental function. Guthrie v. State Ports
Authority, 307 N.C. 522, 299 S.E.2d 618 (1983). Unless a right of
action is given by statute, municipal corporations may not be held
civilly liable for neglecting to perform or negligence in performing
duties which are governmental in nature. Insurance Co. v. Blythe
Brothers Co., 260 N.C. 69, 131 S.E.2d 900 (1963). Additionally, a
municipality while acting on the State’s behalf in promoting or pro-
tecting health, safety, security, or the general welfare of its citizens,
is an agency of the sovereign and not subject to an action in tort for
resulting injury to person or property, in the absence of waiver of
governmental immunity under the statute. Clark v. Scheld, 253 N.C.
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732, 117 S.E.2d 838 (1961). In the case sub judice, we find no statu-
tory waiver of governmental immunity.

[2] Inthe instant case, plaintiff alleges that a common law exception
to the doctrine of governmental immunity exists. Plaintiff alleges that
the courts of this state have long recognized a common law excep-
tion to the doctrine of governmental immunity where a municipality
creates a dangerous condition in its streets that proximately causes
injury to a person using the street. Specifically citing Hunt v. City of
High Point, 226 N.C. 74, 36 S.E.2d 694 (1946) which held that “the
right to recover against a city for actionable negligence for defects in
its streets and sidewalks is based on the common law, and requires
no statute to proclaim it,” Id. at 75, 36 S.E.2d at 695 (citation omit-
ted), plaintiff claims that the City is not protected by governmental
immunity.

The City argues that it was merely acting on the State’s behalf
because the portions of Sparger Road and U.S. 70 in question were
part of the State highway system and not part of the Municipal Street
System at the time of the accident; therefore, the doctrine of govern-
mental immunity applies.

By virtue of the North Carolina General Statutes, a municipality
is not liable for accidents which occur on a street which is part of the
State highway system and under the control of the NCDOT. North
Carolina General Statutes § 160A-297(a) (1987) provides:

[a] city shall not be responsible for maintaining the streets or
bridges under the authority and control of the Board of Trans-
portation, and shall not be liable for injuries to persons or prop-
erty resulting from any failure to do so.

North Carolina General Statutes § 136-45 (1993) sets forth the gener-
al purpose of the laws creating the NCDOT and provides in pertinent
part:

[t]The general purpose of the laws creating the [North Carolina]
Department of Transportation is . . . for the . . . purpose of per-
mitting the State to assume control of the State highways, repair,
construct, and reconstruct and maintain said highways at the
expense of the entire State, and to relieve the counties and cities
and towns of the State of this burden.
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In the case sub judice, the City contracted with the NCDOT to
care and maintain the streets in question pursuant to North Carolina
General Statutes § 136-66.1(3) (1993) which provides:

[alny city or town, by written contract with the Department of
Transportation, may undertake to maintain, repair, improve, con-
struct, reconstruct or widen those streets within municipal limits
which form a part of the State highway system and may also, by
written contract with the Department of Transportation, under-
take to install, repair and maintain highway signs and markings,
electric traffic signals and other traffic-control devices on such
streets.

The portions of Sparger Road and U.S. 70 in question were part
of the State highway system, and as such, the responsibility of the
NCDOT. Therefore, based upon the foregoing statutes, apart from its
contract with the NCDOT, the City had no responsibility for the main-
tenance or condition of the traffic signal in question. According to
our Supreme Court’s holding in Matternes v. City of Winston-Salem,
286 N.C. 1, 209 S.E.2d 481 (1974), the contract between the City and
the NCDOT does not change the status of the streets in question from
being part of the State highway system. Nor does the contract bring
the streets in question within the general rule that a city is under a
duty to use due care to keep its own streets safe for ordinary use.
Therefore, we find that any liability that the City might have for the
accident in question would arise out of the contract between the City
and the NCDOT. Nonetheless, even under the theory of contract law,
and without addressing the issue of third party beneficiary, plaintiffs’
action must fail because it was not timely instituted.

North Carolina General Statutes § 1-53(1) (1983) provides a two-
year statute of limitations for “[a]n action against a local unit of gov-
ernment upon a contract, obligation or liability arising out of a
contract, express or implied. . . .” As the accident from which this
action arises occurred on 16 July 1988, and plaintiff did not com-
mence an action against the City until on or about 17 July 1991, plain-
tiff’s action was commenced after the expiration of the two-year
statute of limitations and is barred. Accordingly, we find the trial
court erred in denying the City’s motion for summary judgment.

We reverse the decision of the trial court and remand with direc-
tion for the trial court to enter summary judgment for the City of
Durham.
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Chief Judge ARNOLD and Judge JOHN concur.

GUILFORD COUNTY PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT anp GUILFORD
COUNTY, PLAINTIFFS-APPELLANTS v. DALE SIMMONS anD wiFg, JUDY SIMMONS,
DEFENDANTS-APPELLEES

No. 9318DC644
(Filed 7 June 1994)

1. Zoning § 6 (NCI4th)— failure to appeal ruling by Board of
Adjustment—defendants not estopped from arguing loca-
tion of property

Though defendants failed to appeal the board of adjustment’s
determination that their property was located in Guilford Coun-
ty, defendants were not subsequently estopped from arguing the
issue of the location of their property, since that issue determines
the fundamental question of whether the board of adjustment
had subject matter jurisdiction over this matter.

Am Jur 2d, Zoning and Planning § 129.

2. Zoning § 6 (NCI4th)— chicken house built in violation of
zoning ordinance—chicken house outside county

In an action to restrain and enjoin defendants from building
chicken houses in violation of Guilford County’s zoning ordi-
nances, the evidence was sufficient to support the trial court’s
determination that plaintiff failed to meet its burden of proving
that defendants’ chicken houses were located in Guilford Coun-

ty.
Am Jur 2d, Zoning and Planning § 129.

Appeal by plaintiffs from order entered 22 January 1993 by Judge
J. Bruce Morton in Guilford County District Court. Heard in the Court
of Appeals 21 March 1994.

Guilford County Attorney’s Office, by Deputy County Attorney
J. Edwin Pons and County Attorney Jonathan V. Maxwell, for
plaintiffs-appellants.

No brief filed for defendanis-appellees.
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LEWIS, Judge.

Defendants sought building permits from the Guilford County
Department of Planning and Development to erect two chicken
houses on their property. The department denied the permits
because defendants’ property did not meet dimensional require-
ments, although it was zoned correctly. Defendants appealed the
denial to the Guilford County Board of Adjustment, requesting vari-
ances from the dimensional requirements and raising the issue of
whether their property is actually located in Guilford County. The
Board ruled that the property is located in Guilford County and
denied the variances. Instead of petitioning the superior court for
review of the Board’s decision, according to N.C.G.S. § 153A-345(e)
(1991), defendants began building their chicken houses without the
appropriate permits.

In October 1985, the Guilford County Planning and Development
Department and Guilford County (hereinafter “the County”) brought
the present action in Guilford County District Court to restrain and
enjoin defendants from building the chicken houses. The court
issued a preliminary injunction preventing defendants from building
the chicken houses without the necessary permits. When the case
proceeded to a hearing the parties stipulated to two issues: (1)
whether defendants’ property is subject to Guilford County zoning,
and (2) whether defendants’ property is located in Guilford County.
The court ruled, on 23 January 1990, nunc pro tunc for 28 March
1986, that defendants’ property was not subject to Guilford County
zoning, but did not rule on whether the property was located in Guil-
ford County. The County appealed to the Court of Appeals.

On 19 March 1991 the Court of Appeals remanded the case for a
determination of the threshold issue of whether the property is locat-
ed in Guilford County, stating that the trial court could hear addi-
tional evidence on the issue. Guilford County Planning & Dev. Dep’t
v. Simmons, 102 N.C. App. 325, 401 S.E.2d 659, disc. review denied,
329 N.C. 496, 407 S.E.2d 533 (1991). On remand, in February 1992,
without hearing any additional evidence, the trial court signed an
order nunc pro tunc for 7 November 1991 finding that the property
was located in Guilford County and permanently enjoining defend-
ants from building their chicken houses. On 8 June 1992, however,
the court granted defendants’ motion for a new trial. In January 1993
the court dismissed the County’s action, finding that the County had
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failed to meet its burden of proving that the property is located in
Guilford County. The County now appeals to this Court.

On appeal the County contends the court erred in dismissing its
action, because: (1) defendants were estopped from denying that
their property is located in Guilford County because they failed to
appeal the Board of Adjustment’s decision, and (2) the evidence at
trial was sufficient to show that the property and chicken houses are
located in Guilford County. The County also contends that the trial
court erred in setting aside its 17 February 1992 judgment and per-
manent injunction.

L

[1] The County contends that defendants should be estopped from
denying that the chicken houses are in Guilford County, because they
failed to appeal the Board of Adjustment’s determination that the
houses are located in Guilford County. As the County points out, by
statute defendants’ only remedy from an adverse decision of a Board
of Adjustment is an appeal to the superior court in the nature of cer-
tiorari. N.C.G.S. § 153A-345(e) (1991). It is well settled that collateral
attacks on a decision of a Board of Adjustment are not permitted.
See, e.g., Guilford County Planning & Dev. Dep’t v. Simmons, 102
N.C. App. 325, 401 S.E.2d 659, disc. review denied, 329 N.C. 496, 407
S.E.2d 533 (1991); Durham County v. Addison, 262 N.C. 280, 136
S.E.2d 600 (1964). Thus, the County contends that defendants may
not, in a later action, raise defenses and issues which were before the
Board of Adjustment, such as the location of the property.

Although the County’s statement of the law is accurate, we must
overrule this assignment of error. The issue of the location of the
property determines the fundamental question of whether the Board
of Adjustment had subject matter jurisdiction over this matter. See
Simmons, 102 N.C. App. at 327, 401 S.E.2d at 660-61. If the property
is not in Guilford County, the Board had no jurisdiction. Id. at 327,
401 S.E.2d at 661; N.C.G.S. §§ 153A-320, -340 (1991). If the Board
lacked jurisdiction, the district court lacked jurisdiction. Simmons,
102 N.C. App. at 327, 401 S.E.2d at 661. For this reason this Court
remanded the case to the district court for a determination of the
location of the property. If the district court determined that the
property is not in Guilford County, the case would have to be dis-
missed. Id. If the district court determined that the property is in
Guilford County, defendants would be estopped from raising any
issues they should have raised by petitioning for review of the
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Board’s decision. Id. The threshold issue, therefore, in determining
whether defendants should be estopped, is whether the property is
located in Guilford County. For the purposes of determining this
threshold issue, defendants were not estopped from arguing the issue
of the location of their property.

IL

[2] The County next contends that the evidence was sufficient to
establish that defendants’ chicken houses are located in Guilford
County. The County points out that all witnesses who referred to offi-
cial federal and state maps testified that the maps showed that the
chicken houses are in Guilford County. The County discredits de-
fendants’ evidence of aerial photos and topographic maps, stating
that the maps contain no indicia of accuracy, are not tied to the coor-
dinate plane system, and are not as reliable as tax maps. The County
also points out that the tax maps show the chicken houses to be
located in Guilford County.

In cases where the trial judge sits as the trier of fact, the court’s
Jjudgment is binding upon this Court if there is any competent evi-
dence to support its findings, whether or not contrary evidence also
exists. Institution Food House, Inc. v. Circus Hall of Cream, Inc.,
107 N.C. App. 552, 555-56, 421 S.E.2d 370, 372 (1992). The trial court
is in the best position to evaluate and weigh the evidence, and deter-
mine the credibility of the witnesses. Kirkhart v. Saieed, 98 N.C.
App. 49, 54, 389 S.E.2d 837, 840 (1990).

We find that there was sufficient competent evidence to support
the court’s judgment. In its order dismissing the action, the court
carefully set forth and reviewed the evidence presented. Several
maps, including the tax maps, indicate that the property is located in
Guilford County. However, other maps indicate that the property is
located in Alamance County. The court considered whether the vari-
ous maps were based upon field surveys, or whether they were com-
posites from various sources such as deeds. Notably, the official
zoning map for Guilford County, prepared in January 1992, clearly
shows that the property in question is located in Alamance County. A
witness from the Guilford County Planning Department testified that
the county zoning map and topographic map indicate that the prop-
erty is in Alamance County. He also testified that those maps may not
be accurate and that the department relies more on the tax maps. An
assistant tax supervisor for Guilford County visited the property in
search of a monument indicating the location of the County line.
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Finding none, he concluded that any monuments had been either
removed or destroyed.

The court also found that the boundary line between Guilford
and Alamance Counties had been established by the Colonial Legis-
lature in 1770. It was to be a line running north and south, “25 miles
due west of Hillsborough.” However, no specific location in Hills-
borough was mentioned. Other testimony established that there
never has been a survey of the Alamance/Guilford County line, and
that there are no monuments to mark it.

None of the evidence presented, according to the court, was reli-
able enough to clearly indicate the location of the county line. The
court noted that plaintiffs had the burden of proof on the issue and
concluded that plaintiffs had failed to show by a preponderance of
the evidence that the land is located in Guilford County. We conclude
that competent evidence supported the court’s findings and find no
basis for disturbing the court’s well-reasoned determination that the
County has failed to meet its burden of proof.

II1.

Finally, the County contends that the trial court erred in setting
aside its 27 February 1992 judgment. The County argues that defend-
ants’ Rule 59 motion was insufficient to warrant a new trial. We note
that the court granted the new trial pursuant to Rule 59(a)(9). Rule
59(a)(9) is a catch-all provision, permitting a new trial for “[a]ny
other reason heretofore recognized as grounds for new trial.”
N.C.G.S. § 1A-1, Rule 59(a)(9) (1990); Britt v. Allen, 291 N.C. 630, 231
S.E.2d 607 (1977).

A court’s decision regarding a Rule 59 motion is reviewable only
for a manifest abuse of discretion. Worthington v. Bynum, 3056 N.C.
478, 290 S.E.2d 599 (1982). In granting the motion to set aside, the
trial court made findings of fact and conclusions of law. In its find-
ings of fact the court noted and discussed the evidence presented in
the new trial motion. The court did not grant the trial on the basis of
newly-discovered evidence under Rule 59(a)(4), but concluded that,
pursuant to Rule 59(a)(9), “justice and equity require that this court
consider any additional evidence” concerning the issue of the loca-
tion of the property. It is well established that a court may set aside
a verdict under Rule 59(a)(9) in the interests of justice and equity.
See, e.g., Sizemore v. Baxter, 58 N.C. App. 236, 293 S.E.2d 294, disc.
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review denied, 306 N.C. 744, 205 S.E.2d 480 (1982); Goldston wv.
Chambers, 272 N.C. 53, 157 S.E.2d 676 (1967).

We find no abuse of discretion in the case at hand. The judgment
of the trial court is hereby affirmed in all respects.

Affirmed.

Chief Judge ARNOLD and Judge COZORT concur.

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. JEFFREY ALAN SWANN

No. 93285C585
(Filed 7 June 1994)

1. Criminal Law § 104 (NCI4th)— officers’ reports—change
in terminology—defendant not surprised—issue not raised
prior to appeal

There was no merit to defendant’s contention that changes in
the police officers’ report of defendant’s statements omitting
racial phraseology and substituting acceptable terminology
impermissibly violated N.C.G.S. § 15A-903 by depriving defense
counsel of the opportunity to voir dire prospective jurors regard-
ing their reactions to the racial slurs prior to hearing those epi-
thets during the officers’ testimony, since the State voluntarily
provided the discovery at issue; defendant was not deceived or
unfairly surprised when he discovered during trial what terms
the officers used in their report; defendant did not move for dis-
covery pursuant to N.C.G.S. § 15A-903 in order to determine the
actual terminology used by defendant in his statement, nor did he
move for sanctions for the State’s failure to comply with discov-
ery pursuant to N.C.G.S. § 15A-910; and defendant did not object
to the testimony of the police officers at the time the statements
were made and thereby waived any evidentiary assignment of
error he might have had.

Am Jur 2d, Depositions and Discovery §§ 436 et seq.
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2. Criminal Law § 1098 (NCI4th)— use of deadly weapon evi-
dence to show malice—use of pistol not to be considered
in sentencing

Evidence that defendant took a deadly weapon with him into
the homicide victim'’s neighborhood was so closely connected to
the evidence possibly used by the jury to find that the killing was
done with malice that it was error for the trial court to consider
the use of the pistol again in sentencing.

Am Jur 2d, Criminal Law §§ 598, 599.

Appeal by defendant from judgment entered 3 February 1993 by
Judge Shirley L. Fulton in Buncombe County Superior Court. Heard
in the Court of Appeals 28 February 1994.

The defendant was indicted by the grand jury on 2 November
1992 on a charge of first degree murder in the shooting death of
Reginald Whiteside on 5 September 1992. The charge arose out of an
incident occurring in the Shiloh area of Asheville, North Carolina. At
trial, evidence presented by both the prosecution and the defendant
tended to show that the defendant drove to a house in the area where
he was approached by the victim. They engaged in an argument while
the defendant remained seated in his car. Evidence was presented
that the victim “grabbed the defendant’s wallet” during the conversa-
tion. The defendant had a .32 caliber pistol beneath the driver’s seat
of his automobile. At some point, he reached under the seat and fired
the gun, fatally striking the victim in the abdomen.

At the close of the State’s evidence, the trial court granted the
defendant’s motion to dismiss the first degree murder charge. The
case proceeded to the jury on second degree murder and voluntary
manslaughter. The jury convicted the defendant of murder in the sec-
ond degree.

During sentencing of the defendant, the trial court found as
aggravating factors that the defendant had prior convictions of crim-
inal offenses punishable by more than sixty days imprisonment, and
that “the defendant deliberately armed himself with a gun and went
into an area which he believed to be dangerous to commit an illegal
act i.e. to purchase and possess a schedule II controlled substance,
cocaine.” The court further found the defendant’s good character in
the community to be a mitigating factor to be considered in sentenc-
ing. Judge Fulton concluded that the aggravating factors outweighed
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the factors in mitigation, and on 3 February 1993, sentenced the
defendant to life imprisonment. From the verdict and judgment, the
defendant appeals.

Attorney General Michael F. Easley, by Special Deputy Attorney
General Thomas D. Zweigart, for the State.

Stepp, Groce & Cosgrove, by W. Harley Stepp, Jr. and
Christopher S. Stepp, for defendant-appellant.

ORR, Judge.
I

[1] The defendant argues four assignments of error before this
Court. He first argues that changes in the police officers’ report omit-
ting racial phraseology and substituting acceptable terminology
impermissibly violated N.C. Gen. Stat. § 15A-903 by depriving defense
counsel of the opportunity to voir dire prospective jurors regarding
their reactions to the racial slurs prior to hearing those epithets dur-
ing the officers’ testimony. He argues that the changes between the
verbatim reports of defendant’s statements to police and the subse-
quent testimony of the officers unfairly surprised the defendant. We
disagree with this contention and accordingly affirm the trial court.

N.C. Gen Stat. § 15A-903 provides in pertinent part:

(a) Statement of Defendant.—Upon motion of a defendant, the
court must order the prosecutor:

(1) To permit the defendant to inspect and copy or photo-
graph any relevant written or recorded statements made by the
defendant, or copies thereof, . . ..

“N.C.G.S. 15A-903(a)(2) requires the trial court, upon motion by the
defendant, to order the prosecutor to disclose ‘the substance of any
oral statement’ by the defendant. As used in the statute, ‘substance’
means: ‘Essence; the material or essential part of a thing, as distin-
guished from “form”. That which is essential.’ ” State v. Bruce, 315
N.C. 273, 280, 337 S.E.2d 510, 515 (1985) (quoting Black’s Law Dic-
tionary 1280 (rev. 5th ed. 1979)).

In the case at bar, the State voluntarily provided the discovery at
issue. The defendant does not argue that the prosecution failed to
provide the officers’ reports; rather, he contends that the use of the
word “B/M” in the reports and the subsequent use of the actual racial-
ly inflammatory language created prejudicial error in his trial. Obvi-
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ously, defense counsel was aware that the defendant did not literally
use the term “B/M” when questioned by the officers. “B/M” common-
ly indicates that the person speaking is referring to an African-Amer-
ican male, and we do not believe that the defendant was deceived or
unfairly surprised when he discovered during trial that another term,
even one more racially inflammatory, was used.

Furthermore, the record indicates that the defendant did not
move for discovery pursuant to N.C.G.S. § 15A-903 in order to deter-
mine the actual terminology used by the defendant in his statement.
Additionally, he did not move for sanctions for the State’s failure to
comply with discovery pursuant to N.C.G.S. § 15A-910 which would
have allowed the court in its discretion, inter alia, to declare a mis-
trial, dismiss the charges, recess, or issue “other appropriate orders.”
Rather, the defendant argues for the first time in this appeal that
N.C.G.S. § 15A-903 has been violated by the State. We find no viola-
tion of the statute in question.

We also note that under N.C.G.S. § 15A-1446, an assignment of
error will not be considered on appellate review unless the error has
been brought to the attention of the trial court by appropriate and
timely objection or motion. Failure to do so amounts to a waiver.
State v. Reid, 322 N.C. 309, 367 S.E.2d 672 (1988). In the case sub
judice, it was incumbent upon defendant to object to the testimony
of the police officers at the time the statements were made. Our
review of the transcript indicates no such objections. We therefore
hold that any evidentiary assignment of error in the admission of tes-
timony of the officers has been waived by the defendant.

1L

[2] Secondly, the defendant argues that the trial court committed
reversible error in instructing the jury that malice could be inferred
from the use of a deadly weapon, then applying as an aggravating fac-
tor in sentencing the fact that the defendant armed himself prior to
going into the area. He contends that since the evidence of the use of
the deadly weapon was necessary to prove the element of malice in
the second degree murder offense, it could not be again used as an
aggravating factor during sentencing. He further argues that the trial
court failed to find or to consider as a factor in mitigation that the
defendant acted under strong provocation during the altercation
leading to the victim’s death. Finally, he argues that the trial court
should have found as a mitigating factor that the victim, as a thirty-
one-year-old, was a “voluntary participant.” He contends that
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because these applications of aggravating and mitigating factors
were erroneous, a new sentencing hearing is mandated. We agree
that the non-statutory aggravating factor that the defendant “deliber-
ately armed himself with a gun” was used impermissibly by the trial
court in sentencing and accordingly remand for sentencing consist-
ent with the reasoning set forth below.

The Fair Sentencing Act, N.C.G.S. §§ 15A-1340.1 et seq., applies
to sentencing of all convictions other than Class A or Class B
felonies. N.C.G.S. § 15A-1340.4(a) provides that “[e]vidence neces-
sary to prove an element of the offense may not be used to prove any
factor in aggravation, . . .."

In State v. Blackwelder, 309 N.C. 410, 306 S.E.2d 783 (1983), our
Supreme Court adopted a “bright-line” rule regarding the use of a
deadly weapon as an aggravating factor where the jury had been
given instructions that it might consider the use of that weapon in
finding malice as an element of second degree murder. The Court
held that when “the facts justify an instruction on the inference of
malice arising as a matter of law from the use of a deadly weapon,
evidence of the use of that deadly weapon may not be used as an
aggravating factor at sentencing.” Id. at 417, 306 S.E.2d at 788. The
rule was adopted in order “to avoid hairsplitting factual disputes
necessitated by having to second-guess jury decisions as to the exist-
ence of malice.” Id.

We find that Blackwelder controls the case sub judice. After the
close of all the evidence, the trial court instructed the jury as follows:

[TThe defendant, Jeffrey Alan Swann, has been accused of
Second Degree Murder. Under the law and under the evidence in
this case, it is your duty to return one of the following verdicts:
Guilty of Second Degree Murder, or Guilty of Voluntary
Manslaughter, or Not Guilty.

Now Second Degree Murder is the unlawful killing of a
human being with malice. . . .

Now I charge that for you to find the defendant guilty of Sec-
ond Degree Murder, the state must prove three things beyond a
reasonable doubt:

First, that the defendant intentionally and with malice killed
the victim with a deadly weapon.
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Now if the state proves beyond a reasonable doubt that the
defendant intentionally killed the victim with a deadly weapon or
intentionally inflicted a wound upon the victim with a deadly
weapon that proximately caused his death, you may infer first
that the killing was unlawful; and, second, that it was done with
malice, but you are not compelled to do so. You may consider
this along with all other facts and circumstances in determining
whether the killing was unlawful and whether it was done with
malice. If the killing was unlawful and was done with malice, the
defendant would be guilty of Second Degree Murder.

Nothing in the record indicates the reasoning behind the jury’s
decision to convict the defendant of second degree murder rather
than the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter. The
Blackwelder Court pointed out that

short of requiring every jury to specify upon what facts and cir-
cumstances it relied in determining the existence of malice, it is
simply not possible to conclude . . . that a jury instructed on the
inference of malice would not have considered the use of a dead-
ly weapon as evidence necessary to prove the element of malice.

Id. at 417-18, 306 S.E.2d at 788.

The State argues in its brief before this Court that this does not
fall within the rule set forth in Blackwelder and its progeny, since the
trial court found as an aggravating factor that the defendant armed
himself with a deadly weapon, rather than that he used a deadly
weapon. Common sense dictates that the use of a deadly weapon
implies that a defendant has armed himself with a deadly weapon
prior to the altercation giving rise to the murder charge. Therefore, if
such were the case, in any conviction where a deadly weapon was
used, the fact that the defendant had such a weapon with him at the
time of the offense could be used in a finding of aggravation.

As stated above, evidence necessary to prove the offense may
not be used to prove any factor in aggravation. We find that the evi-
dence that the defendant took a deadly weapon with him into the
victim’s neighborhood was so closely connected to the evidence pos-
sibly used by the jury to find that the killing was done with malice
that under Blackwelder, it was error for the trial court to consider the
use of the pistol again in sentencing. We therefore remand for resen-
tencing on this issue.
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We have reviewed the defendant’s remaining assignments of
error in his sentencing and find that there was no error by the trial
court in failing to find that the defendant did not act under strong
provocation. The defendant has provided neither authority nor sup-
port for his final argument, and accordingly we decline to review this
assignment of error.

No error in the trial. Remanded for resentencing.

Judges WELLS and WYNN concur.

ROBERT L. DAVIS, PeTiTioNER v. THE PUBLIC SCHOOLS OF ROBESON COUNTY,
BOARD OF EDUCATION, anD DOUGLAS Y. YONGUE, SUPERINTENDENT,
RESPONDENTS

No. 93168C924
(Filed 7 June 1994)

1. Schools § 158 (NCI4th)— suspended teacher—reinstate-
ment denied—teacher not prejudiced

There was no merit to petitioner teacher’s contention that
respondent board of education was without authority to deny the
reinstatement of petitioner because more than ninety days
passed between the notice of suspension with pay and the notifi-
cation of the recommendation to dismiss, since petitioner’s rein-
statement was automatic, based on Evers v. Pender County Bd.
of Education, 104 N.C.App. 1, and N.C.G.S. § 115C-325(f1); how-
ever, the superintendent’s failure to reinstate petitioner was of no
practical effect because school was not in session, petitioner was
compensated, and a new suspension began shortly thereafter.

Am Jur 2d, Schools §§ 111 et seq.

2. Schools § 245 (NCI4th)— dismissal of teacher—violations
of N.C.G.S. § 115C-325 alleged—teacher not prejudiced

There was no merit to petitioner teacher’s argument that
respondent board of education violated various sections of
N.C.G.S. § 1156C-325 during his dismissal hearing, since petition-
er received information concerning witnesses and documents in
a timely fashion; petitioner who was accused of immorality was



IN THE COURT OF APPEALS 99

DAVIS v. PUBLIC SCHOOLS OF ROBESON COUNTY
(115 N.C. App. 98 (1994)]

not prejudiced by the presence of a minor child’s parents in the
hearing room during the child’s testimony; petitioner received
timely notice of respondent’s decision; and the board’s decision
was clearly supported by a preponderance of competent
evidence.

Am Jur 2d, Schools §§ 180 et seq.

Appeal by petitioner from order entered 5 July 1993 by Judge
Henry V. Barnette, Jr. in Robeson County Superior Court. Heard in
the Court of Appeals 9 May 1994.

Robert L. Davis, pelitioner-appellant, pro se.

Locklear, Jacobs, Sutton and Hunt, by Arnold Locklear, for
respondents-appellees.

JOHNSON, Judge.

Petitioner Robert L. Davis was employed by respondent Board of
Education for the Public Schools of Robeson County (hereafter,
Board) as a tenured teacher on 23 March 1992 when he was
suspended with pay pursuant to North Carolina General Statutes
§ 115C-325(f1) (Cum. Supp. 1993). By letter dated 22 July 1992, peti-
tioner was informed by the interim superintendent that he intended
to recommend petitioner’s dismissal to the Board on the grounds of
immorality pursuant to North Carolina General Statutes
§ 115C-325(e)(1)(b) (Cum. Supp. 1993).

Petitioner requested a hearing before the Professional Review
Committee (hereafter, PRC) and this hearing was scheduled for 16
September 1992. The PRC, by letter dated 16 September 1992, “found
that the Superintendent had provided inadequate evidence to sub-
stantiate the charge of immorality. Although the panel does not in any
way condone Mr. Davis’ behavior . . . they did not feel the isolated
incident constituted grounds for dismissal.”

By letter dated 24 September 1992, the interim superintendent
informed petitioner that, having received the report of the PRC, he
intended to recommend petitioner’s dismissal to the Board. The peti-
tioner by letter dated 28 September 1992 to the interim superintend-
ent requested a hearing before the Board.

The Chairman of the Board, by letter dated 6 October 1992, noti-
fied petitioner that the superintendent’s recommendation for his dis-
missal would be heard on 26 October 1992 at 6:30 p.m. The hearing
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began as scheduled and was continued the following evening, and
during the early morning hours of 28 October 1992, it was announced
to the reporter that “ . . . the Board reached a compromise with Mr.
Davis and will not be reaching a decision on the merits of the case at
this time.” However, on 3 November 1992, the Chairman of the Board,
before the Board resumed its deliberations in executive session, said,
“let it be noted that the efforts and informal resolution of this matter
proved unsuccessful.” The Board thereafter accepted unanimously
the interim superintendent’s recommendation to dismiss petitioner
on the grounds of immorality.

Petitioner filed a petition for judicial review on 30 November
1992, appealing the order of dismissal. The superior court judge
entered an order 5 July 1993 affirming the decision and resolution of
the Board dismissing petitioner. From this order, petitioner appeals
to our Court.

[1] Petitioner first contends that the Board was without authority to
deny the reinstatement of petitioner because 124 days passed
between the notice of suspension and the notification of the recom-
mendation to dismiss. The record indicates that on 23 March 1992,
petitioner was suspended with pay, that by letter dated 22 July 1992,
petitioner was notified that the interim superintendent intended to
recommend his dismissal to the Board; that on 13 August 1992, peti-
tioner was notified that his employment status was changed to sus-
pension without pay, and that by letter dated 29 August 1992,
petitioner requested that the interim superintendent reinstate him to
his position.

North Carolina General Statutes § 115C-325(f1) states:

Suspension with Pay.—If a superintendent believes that cause
may exist for dismissing or demoting a probationary or career
teacher for any reasons specified in G.S. 115C-325(e)(1)b
through 115C-325(e)(1)j, but that additional investigation of the
facts is necessary and circumstances are such that the teacher
should be removed immediately from his duties, the superintend-
ent may suspend the teacher with pay for a reasonable period of
time, not to exceed 90 days. The superintendent shall immedi-
ately notify the board of education of his action. If the superin-
tendent has not initiated dismissal or demotion proceedings
against the teacher within the 90-day period, the teacher shall be
reinstated to his duties immediately and all records of the sus-
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pension with pay shall be removed from the teacher’s personnel
file at his request.

Our Court examined North Carolina General Statutes
§ 115C-325(f1) in Evers v. Pender County Bd. of Education, 104 N.C.
App. 1, 407 S.E.2d 879 (1991), aff’d, 331 N.C. 380, 416 S.E.2d 3 (1992).
In Evers, our Court held “that while N.C. Gen. Stat. § 115C-325(f1)
clearly requires the reinstatement of a teacher who has been sus-
pended with pay once ninety days without the initiation of dismissal
proceedings have lapsed, it does not prohibit the subsequent initia-
tion of dismissal proceedings against such teacher.” Id. at 12, 407
S.E.2d at 885. Our Court opined:

[W]e are of the opinion that the General Assembly, in enacting
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 115C-3256(f1), did not intend to prohibit the ini-
tiation of dismissal proceedings against a teacher who has been
suspended with pay once ninety days beyond the date of such
suspension have lapsed.

In the instant case, the language of N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 115C-325(f1) is clear and unambiguous: If the superintendent
fails to initiate dismissal proceedings against a teacher who has
been suspended with pay within ninety days of such suspension,
the teacher must be reinstated. However, we believe the language
of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 115C-325(f1) is equally clear that reinstate-
ment from suspension and upon request removal of the suspen-
sion action from the teacher’s record are the only consequences
which follow from a superintendent’s failure to timely initiate
dismissal proceedings. Section 115C-325(f1) does not provide
that the failure to initiate dismissal proceedings within the statu-
torily prescribed time limit will forever bar the initiation of dis-
missal proceedings; the statute merely requires that the teacher
be removed from suspension.

Id. at 11-12, 407 S.E.2d at 884-85 (emphasis retained). In Evers,
because the plaintiff challenged only the initiation of proceedings
and not the superintendent’s failure to reinstate him to his position
after ninety days, the Court did not address the failure to reinstate.

At petitioner’s hearing in the instant case, the Board found that

N.C.G.S. 115C-325(f1) permits the Superintendent to suspend a
teacher with pay for a period of time not to exceed ninety (90)
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days. The Board finds that the Superintendent failed to initiate
dismissal or demotion proceedings within the ninety (90) day
period. There was no evidence presented that Mr. Davis request-
ed reinstatement to his position when the ninety (90) day time
period expired. It is also noted that the extended period of sus-
pension occurred during the summer when school was not in ses-
sion. The Board has ordered that Mr. Davis be paid any salary to
which he would have been entitled from the ninety first (91st)
day until the day that the Superintendent initiated dismissal pro-
ceedings against him.

We are of the opinion that petitioner need not have requested
reinstatement to his position when the ninety day time period
elapsed; this reinstatement was automatic, based on Evers and North
Carolina General Statutes § 115C-325(f1). The superintendent’s fail-
ure to reinstate petitioner, however, was of no practical effect
because school was not in session, petitioner was compensated, and
a new suspension began shortly thereafter. Therefore, we find this
argument without merit.

[2] Petitioner next argues that the Board violated various sections of
North Carolina General Statutes § 115C-325 (Cum. Supp. 1993) dur-
ing the dismissal hearing and that therefore, the Board’s resolution
should be overturned. First, petitioner argues that North Carolina
General Statutes § 115C-325()(5) (requiring the superintendent and
teacher to exchange a list of witnesses and documents within at least
five days of the hearing) was violated; we note that this information
was transmitted verbally seven days before the hearing and in writ-
ten form less than five days before the hearing, and that petitioner
was not prejudiced by this procedure.

Next, petitioner argues that North Carolina General Statutes
§ 115C-325(j)(1) requires that the hearing be private, yet, the minor
child’s parents were allowed to attend the hearing while their daugh-
ter testified. A review of the evidence indicates that petitioner was
not unduly prejudiced by the presence of the minor child’s parents in
the hearing room, and we therefore overrule this argument. Cf. North
Carolina General Statutes § 15A-1225 (1988) (where upon motion of
a party the judge may order witnesses other than the defendant to
remain outside of the courtroom until called to testify; except when
a minor child is testifying, a parent or guardian may be present even
though the parent or guardian is to be called subsequently).
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Petitioner also argues that North Carolina General Statutes
§ 115C-325(1)(5), which requires the Board to notify the teacher of
the Board’s decision within five days of the hearing, was violated.
The record shows that the Board reached a final decision in this mat-
ter on 3 November 1992, and that petitioner received a copy of this
resolution on 5 November 1992. Petitioner’s argument is overruled.

Finally, petitioner argues that the decision of the Board is not
supported by competent evidence as set forth in the record. We have
reviewed the record and find the decision of the Board was clearly
supported by a preponderance of competent evidence.

Petitioner’s remaining arguments are without merit or are based
on matters stipulated to by petitioner previously.

Affirmed.

Judges WELLS and JOHN concur.

EARLENE LEONARD, PLAINTIFF v. VAUGHN ENGLAND, GUARDIAN FOR MICHAEL
DANIEL, DEFENDANT

No. 93265C868

(Filed 7 June 1994)

Limitations, Repose, and Laches § 119 (NCI4th)— emotional
distress—battery—repressed memories—incompetent
plaintiff—statute of limitations tolled

In the 39-year-old plaintiff’s action against her grandmother
for battery and intentional infliction of emotional distress which
allegedly occurred when plaintiff was a child, she produced
sufficient evidence that her repression of memories and post-
traumatic stress syndrome suffered as a result of her grandmoth-
er's alleged sexual, physical, and emotional abuse rendered
plaintiff “incompetent” within the meaning of N.C.G.S.
§ 35A-1101(7), thereby tolling the statutes of limitations so that
summary judgment for defendant was improper. N.C.G.S.
§ 1-17(a).
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Am Jur 2d, Limitation of Actions §§ 182 et seq.

Emotional or psychological “blocking” or repression as
tolling running of statute of limitations. 11 ALR5th 588.

Post-traumatic syndrome as tolling running of statute
of limitations. 12 ALR5th 546.

Appeal by plaintiff from order entered 27 May 1993 in Mecklen-
burg County Superior Court by Judge Forrest A. Ferrell. Heard in the
Court of Appeals 21 April 1994.

Murphy & Chapman, PA., by Ronald L. Chapman, for
plaintiff-appellant.

No brief filed for defendant-appellee.

GREENE, Judge.

Earlene Leonard (plaintiff) appeals from an order filed 27 May
1993 in Mecklenburg County Superior Court, granting summary judg-
ment based upon the statute of limitations for Vaughn England,
Guardian for Michael Daniel, in plaintiff’'s action for battery and
intentional infliction of emotional distress.

On 15 February 1991, plaintiff filed a complaint against her
grandmother, Michael Daniel (Daniel), alleging that “[w]hile the
plaintiff was a child, and specifically while the plaintiff was between
the approximate ages of 9 to 11, [Daniel] abused the plaintiff sexual-
ly, physically and emotionally.” Plaintiff, who was 39 years of age at
the time of filing suit, alleged that this abuse that occurred approxi-
mately 28 years ago constituted a battery and intentional infliction of
emotional distress, entitling her to compensatory and punitive dam-
ages. On 28 May 1991, the court granted Daniel’'s motion to substitute
Vaughn England (defendant), guardian for Daniel, as defendant due
to Daniel's incompetency. Also on 28 May 1991, defendant filed an
answer, denying plaintiff’s allegations and moving to dismiss her
complaint for insufficiency of service of process and because it is
barred by the statutes of limitations for battery and intentional inflic-
tion of emotional distress.

On 25 May 1993, John Humphrey, M.D. (Dr. Humphrey), filed an
affidavit which states in pertinent part:

2. ... [on 30 March 1990], [plaintiff] related a history of hav-
ing been troubled by “pictures of abuse.” She thought she was
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hallucinating and was “losing her mind”, but was beginning to
wonder if the “pictures” could possibly be of real events.

3. ... these events were interfering with [plaintiff]’s ability
to function in everyday life . . . .

4. On April 25, 1990, with [plaintiff]’s consent, I performed a
sodium amytal interview. Sodium amytal is a drug (popularly
referred to as “truth serum”) used for therapeutic interviews and
is recognized as an effective treatment for disorders involving
repression.

5. Following this session, it became clear to [plaintiff] that
the experiences she was reliving were in fact real, and not
hallucinations.

6. [Plaintiff] had uncovered sexual abuse as a child, commit-
ted by her uncle and grandmother. These relatives had also
threatened her with physical, emotional and “religious” harm if
she revealed their acts. I diagnosed her as suffering from major
depression and post-traumatic stress disorder.

7. It is a fairly typical defense mechanism for an abused per-
son to repress memories of abuse so deeply that, even as an
adult, suggestions of abuse would be denied by the victim. At
some point, abused individuals typically begin to be troubled by
flashbacks, which, as in [plaintiff]’s case, became more and more
troublesome to the point that treatment was sought.

8. The fact that these flashbacks began to bring to the con-
scious mind the events of abuse, does not mean there was no
mental illness through the interim period. Far from it. In fact, the
timing of the flashbacks is entirely consistent with the diagnoses
listed above and fit the pattern of post-traumatic stress syn-
drome. That pattern is a contributing fact in my diagnosis.

9. Based upon my examination and treatment of [plaintiff], it
is my professional opinion to a reasonable degree of medical cer-
tainty that [plaintiff], until her sodium amytal session of April 25,
1990, lacked sufficient capacity to make or communicate impor-
tant decisions regarding her legal rights, her person and proper-
ty, including, specifically, the decision to file suit for damages for
childhood abuse, because she lacked awareness or knowledge of
such abuse, having repressed this knowledge to deal with the
trauma caused thereby, that repression being a direct result of
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her mental condition. As a result of her mental illness and condi-
tion, [plaintiff] was incompetent to proceed until she became
conscious of what happened to her and accepted the events as
real rather than some hallucination on her part. Until that hap-
pened she was simply incapable of competently making impor-
tant decisions about her life, all aspects of which were affected
by her mental condition.

The trial court, after treating defendant's motion to dismiss as a
motion for summary judgment by consent of the parties, allowed
defendant’s motion for summary judgment because “there is no gen-
uine issue as to any material fact on the issue of the failure of the
Plaintiff to file this action within the statute of limitations, and that
the Defendant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.”

The issue presented is whether plaintiff has produced evidence
that her repression of memories and post-traumatic stress syndrome
suffered as a result of her grandmother’s alleged sexual, physical,
and emotional abuse rendered plaintiff “incompetent” thereby tolling
the statutes of limitations so that summary judgment for defendant
was improper.

Because plaintiff failed to include a certificate of service in her
notice of appeal and because defendant, by her counsel’s withdraw-
ing and by her failing to file a brief in this Court, did not “waive the
failure of service by not raising the issue by motion or otherwise and
by participating without objection in the appeal,” see Hale v. Afro-
American Arts Int'l, 335 N.C. 231, 232, 436 S.E.2d 588, 589 (1993), we
treat plaintiff’s appeal as a petition for writ of certiorari.

Statutes of limitations achieve several purposes, including
“strik[ing] a delicate balance between the rights of the diligent plain-
tiff who should not be barred from pursuing a meritorious claim and
the defendant who deserves protection from stale claims.” Black v.
Littlejohn, 312 N.C. 626, 635, 325 S.E.2d 469, 476 (1985). Under North
Carolina law, the statute of limitations for a claim of intentional
infliction of emotional distress is three years, N.C.G.S. § 1-52(5)
(1993); see King v. Cape Fear Mem. Hosp., 96 N.C. App. 338, 385
S.E.2d 812 (1989), cert. denied, 326 N.C. 265, 389 S.E.2d 114 (1990)
(because not specifically denominated under any limitations statute,
claim for emotional distress falls under general three-year provision
of Section 1-52(5)), and the statute of limitations for battery is one
year. N.C.G.S. § 1-54(3) (1993). These provisions are subject to
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expansion, however, by North Carolina’s “discovery” and “disabili-
ties” statutes. The discovery statute provides that personal injury
causes of action “shall not accrue until bodily harm to the claimant
... becomes apparent or ought reasonably to have become apparent
to the claimant.” N.C.G.S. § 1-52(16) (1993). The disabilities statute
provides in pertinent part that

(a) A person entitled to commence an action who is at the
time the cause of action accrued either

(1) Within the age of 18 years;
(2) Insane; or

(3) Incompetent as defined in G.S. 35A-1101(7) or (8)
may bring his action . . . within three years next after
the removal of the disability, and at no time there
after.

N.C.G.S. § 1-17(a) (1993). Because plaintiff does not argue the insan-
ity exception or the discovery statute, we address only whether
plaintiff was incompetent within the meaning of Section 35A-1101(7)
“at the time the cause of action accrued.” See generally Note, Aduli
Survivors of Childhood Sexual Abuse and Statutes of Limitations:
A Call for Legislative Action, 26 Wake Forest L. Rev. 1245 (1991);
Gary M. Ernsdorff & Elizabeth F. Loftus, Let Sleeping Memories Lie?
Words of Caution About Tolling the Statute of Limitations in Cases
of Memory Repression, 84 J. Crim. L. & Criminology 129 (1993)
(states have either allowed or rejected tolling statutes of limitations
in adult survivor’s claims based on childhood sexual abuse through
“insanity” exceptions or discovery statutes while some states have
addressed the issue through legislation).

Plaintiff argues that Dr. Humphrey’s affidavit represents a “com-
petent and unchallenged expert opinion that [plaintiff] was until
April 1990, less than one year prior to filing of this claim, an incom-
petent adult for purposes of the tolling of the statute of limitations,”
and that summary judgment for defendant was improper. We agree.
Section 35A-1101(7), the relevant section in this case, provides that

“Incompetent adult” means an adult or emancipated minor who
lacks sufficient capacity to manage his own affairs or to make or
communicate important decisions concerning his person, family,
or property whether such lack of capacity is due to mental ill-
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ness, mental retardation, epilepsy, cerebral palsy, autism, inebri-
ety, senility, disease, injury or similar cause or condition.

N.C.G.S. § 36A-1101(7) (1987). Dr. Humphrey states that plaintiff was,
until 26 April 1990, mentally ill and suffering from post-traumatic
stress syndrome, causing her to repress memories of abuse and to
lack “sufficient capacity to make or communicate important deci-
sions regarding her legal rights, her person and property, including,
specifically, the decision to file suit for damages for childhood
abuse.” This uncontradicted evidence fully supports the classifica-
tion of plaintiff as “incompetent” within the meaning of Section
35A-1101(7) at all times from the date of the alleged abuse until 25
April 1990, which necessarily includes the date of accrual of the
cause of action. See Bryant v. Thalhimer Bros., Inc., 113 N.C. App.
1, 13, 437 S.E.2d 519, 526 (1993) (action for emotional distress does
not accrue until distress manifests itself). Therefore, because plain-
tiff filed her complaint within three years after 25 April 1990, the date
- her incompetency terminated, her claim is not barred by the statute
of limitations. The order of the trial court granting summary judg-
ment for the defendant on the basis of the statute of limitations is
accordingly

Reversed.

Chief Judge ARNOLD and Judge McCRODDEN concur.

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. DAN LEMAR BLUE

No. 93128C816
(Filed 7 June 1994)

Homicide § 349 (NCI4th)— submission of second-degree mur-
der—no objection—absence of plain error

Even if the evidence in a homicide prosecution clearly estab-
lished all of the elements of first-degree murder and would not
support a charge of second-degree murder, the trial court’s sub-
mission of second-degree murder as a possible verdict did not
constitute plain error, and defendant may not assign error to the
trial court’s submission of second-degree murder to the jury,
where the trial court announced at the charge conference that it
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would submit verdicts of guilty of first-degree murder, guilty of
second-degree murder, or not guilty, and defendant failed to
object at the charge conference or at any time before the jury
retired, since to allow a defendant who did not object to then use
his choice at trial to gain reversal on appeal would afford a crim-
inal defendant the right to appellate review predicated on invited
error.

Am Jur 24, Homicide §§ 496, 497.

Appeal by defendant from judgment entered 26 May 1993 by
Judge Joe Freeman Britt in Cumberland County Superior Court.
Heard in the Court of Appeals 18 April 1994.

Defendant was indicted in a four-count indictment on charges of
first degree murder, assault with a deadly weapon with intent to kill
inflicting serious injury, attempted armed robbery, and conspiracy to
commit armed robbery. The homicide case was tried as a noncapital
first degree murder.

The State’s evidence tended to show that at approximately 2:00
on the afternoon of 30 August 1992, the 16-year-old defendant and
another young man named Brewington entered the East Coast Pawn
Shop in Fayetteville. Defendant and Brewington purchased a
Nintendo game cartridge from the clerk, Delmar Moses. As they were
completing this purchase, two other customers entered the shop.
Defendant and Brewington exchanged comments and left the store.

Minutes later, defendant and Brewington re-entered the shop.
Jimmy Denning, one of the owners of the shop, waited on the two
men as they selected another Nintendo game cartridge. Defendant
and Brewington selected a game, and Denning removed it from the
counter where it was kept and set it down for them. Defendant
picked the game up and carried it as the three men went back to the
sales counter where defendant laid the game down. While defendant
and Brewington stood in front of the sales counter, Denning began to
write a sales ticket for the game. Delmar Moses was standing behind
Denning.

The record of evidence, which included a videotape of the shoot-
ing, shows that as Brewington was in the act of placing the tape on
the counter, defendant, who was standing immediately to the right of
Brewington and facing the counter, turned to his left and stepped
back from Brewington. Brewington immediately drew a pistol from
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his pocket and fired four quick shots in succession. One shot struck
Denning below the heart, and two shots struck Moses, causing his
immediate death. After firing the shots, Brewington immediately fled
from the shop and was followed by defendant.

Brewington was apprehended when a female acquaintance called
the Cumberland County Sheriff’s Office and reported that
Brewington had been shot. Defendant was not with Brewington at
the time. Brewington agreed to telephone defendant in the presence
of law enforcement officers and to allow them to record this call. The
law enforcement officers later went to defendant’s home, where they
found the clothing defendant had worn in the pawnshop hidden
behind the dresser in his room.

Miss Elisha Bath testified that in August of 1992, she had been
going steady with a young man named Scott Fisher for about a year.
Miss Bath was then 15 years old, and Fisher was 17 or 18. Fisher and
defendant were friends. On 30 August 1992, Fisher was at Miss Bath’s
home. At one point during his visit, the two went into Miss Bath’s par-
ents’ bedroom, where her father kept his handguns. Fisher was famil-
iar with these guns and had fired them before. Fisher looked through
the drawer where the guns were kept, but neither of them took a gun
out of the room. Fisher later left, and Miss Bath went across the
street to a babysitting job.

Miss Bath saw Fisher again that day when he and defendant came
to the house where she was babysitting. They stayed only a few min-
utes. Miss Bath commented to defendant that Fisher looked unchar-
acteristically nervous, and defendant responded that nothing was
wrong. Miss Bath did not see where they went when they left. Fisher
returned alone a short while later to the house where Miss Bath was
babysitting. He came into the house and pulled a gun wrapped in a
vellow bandanna from under his shirt. He put the wrapped gun into
Miss Bath's purse and left.

Miss Bath returned home when she finished babysitting and
found Fisher and other members of her family there. Fisher asked
her about the gun, and she told him it was in her purse. On Fisher’s
instructions, she took the gun out of her purse and got the holster
from her parents’ bedroom. She watched Fisher remove the gun from
the bandanna and put it in the holster. Fisher took care not to leave
any fingerprints on the gun as he did so. At Fisher’s direction, Miss
Bath replaced the gun in its holster in the drawer in her parents’
room. Miss Bath testified that she did not know when the gun was
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taken from her home. She also testified she kept her spare house key
in Fisher’s car. Tests revealed that Miss Bath’s father's gun was the
gun used by Brewington to shoot Denning and Moses. Defendant
offered no evidence.

The jury found defendant guilty of second degree murder, assault
with a deadly weapon with intent to kill inflicting serious injury,
attempted armed robbery, and conspiracy to commit armed robbery.
Defendant was given the presumptive sentence of fifteen years for
second degree murder, to be served consecutively to the presumptive
sentence of fourteen years for attempted robbery with a firearm; the
presumptive sentence of six years for assault with a deadly weapon
with intent to kill inflicting serious injury, to be served consecutively
to the second degree murder sentence; and the presumptive sentence
of three years for conspiracy to commit robbery with a firearm, to be
served concurrently with the six year sentence for assault with a
deadly weapon.

Attorney General Michael F. Easley, by Assistant Attorney Gen-
eral P Bly Hall, for the State.

Parish, Cooke & Russ, by James R. Parish, for defendant-
appellant.

WELLS, Judge.

Pursuant to one of his assignments of error, defendant contends
that the trial court erred in submitting to the jury second degree mur-
der as a possible verdict because there was no evidence to support
such a charge.

After the jury verdicts were returned, in the beginning stages of
the charge conference, the trial judge stated that on the murder
indictment, he would submit verdicts of guilty of first degree murder,
or guilty of second degree murder, or not guilty. Defendant did not
object then or at any time during the court’s very thorough charge
conference, or at any time before the jury retired.

Rule 10(b)(2) of our Rules of Appellate Procedure provides:

A party may not assign as error any portion of the jury charge or
omission therefrom unless he objects thereto before the jury
retires to consider its verdict, stating distinctly that to which he
objects and the grounds of his objection; provided, that opportu-
nity was given to the party to make the objection out of the hear-
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ing of the jury, and, on request of any party, out of the presence
of the jury.

Thus, the standard of review we must employ is the “plain error” rule
adopted by our Supreme Court in State v. Odom, 307 N.C. 655, 300
S.E.2d 375 (1983). As the Court stated in Odom, the adoption of the
“plain error” rule does not mean that an improper instruction will
mandate reversal regardless of a defendant’s failure to object at trial,
because to so hold would negate Rule 10(b)(2). Even when the “plain
error” rule is applied, an improper instruction will rarely justify
reversal of a criminal conviction when no objection was made in the
trial court. Id. In this case, we accept for the purpose of our ruling
defendant’s contention that the evidence clearly established all the
elements of first degree murder: malice, premeditation, and delibera-
tion. Had defendant objected at trial to submitting the second degree
verdict to the jury, we would be required to reverse his conviction.
State v. Arnold, 329 N.C. 128, 404 S.E.2d 822 (1991). But to allow a
defendant who does not so object to then use his choice at trial to
gain reversal on appeal would afford a criminal defendant the right to
appellate review, predicated on invited error. We refuse to recognize
such a right. To do so would defy common sense and establish bad
law. Accordingly, we hold that this defendant may not assign error in
this appeal to the trial court’s submitting the second degree verdict
to the jury.

In his second, third, and fourth assignments of error, defendant
challenges the sufficiency of the evidence to support his conviction
of (1) attempted armed robbery, (2) conspiracy to commit robbery
with a dangerous weapon, and (3) assault with a deadly weapon with
intent to kill inflicting serious injury. Qur review of the State’s evi-
dence, giving the State the benefit of all reasonable inferences to be
drawn therefrom, persuades us that the evidence was more than suf-
ficient to submit these charges to the jury. The evidence relating to
the gun used in the killing, and the telling evidence of defendant’s
conduct in the pawn shop before and after the shooting deflate
defendant’s arguments on these assignments, and they are overruled.

We have considered defendant’s argument that the trial court
erred in instructing the jury on acting in concert, find it to be without
sufficient merit to require discussion, and overrule it. For the reasons
stated, we find no error in the trial.

There is one other aspect of defendant’s appeal which merits our
discussion. At trial, after judgments were pronounced at the jury’s
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verdicts, there ensued a discussion between the defendant, defend-
ant’s trial counsel, and the trial judge as to whether defendant chose
. to appeal his convictions. This discussion culminated in defendant’s
informing the trial judge that he chose not to appeal. As the record
reveals, the judgments were entered and signed on 26 May 1992. In
his brief, defendant states that he gave notice of appeal on 4 June
1992. The record on appeal includes appellate entries dated 4 June
1992, signed by the Honorable Coy E. Brewer, Jr.,, but contained no
written notices of appeal as required by Rule 4 of the Rules of Appel-
late Procedure. Upon inquiry, we have determined that there are no
written notices of appeal on file in the Office of the Clerk of Superi-
or Court of Cumberland County, but only an entry in the Clerk’s min-
utes of the proceedings at the 4 June 1992 session that defendant
gave notice of appeal. Thus, defendant did not preserve his right to
appeal his convictions; therefore, his appeal is not before us as a mat-
ter of right. Because defendant’s purported appeal of his conviction
of second degree murder presented a question of importance to the
criminal jurisprudence of this State, we have determined that it is not
in the public interest to dismiss defendant’s appeal. See Rule 2 of the
Rules of Appellate Procedure.

No error.

Judges JOHNSON and JOHN concur.

TOWN OF CARY v. FRANKLIN-SLOAN V.F.W. POST 7383, VETERANS OF FOREIGN
WARS OF THE UNITED STATES

No. 9310SC805
(Filed 7 June 1994)

Dedication § 11 (NCI4th)— site plan to obtain special use per-
mit—thoroughfare marked—insufficient description—no
dedication

An 80-foot proposed thoroughfare on defendant’s site plan
which was submitted to plaintiff in order to get a special use per-
mit was insufficient to constitute a dedication, since the site plan
contained only two lines consisting of a series of dashes with no
markings indicating distances or bearings, with the words “80
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foot proposed thoroughfare” written between the two lines; the
plan did not have any ascertainable monuments; and there was
no information attempting to locate the right of way on the prop-
erty. N.C.G.S. § 160A-381.

Am Jur 2d, Dedication §§ 29-33.

Appeal by plaintiff from judgment entered 17 March 1993 in Wake
County Superior Court by Judge Robert L. Farmer. Heard in the Court
of Appeals 19 April 1994.

Wishart, Norris, Henninger & Pittman, PA., by June K.
Allison, and Charles Henderson, Town Attorney, for plaintiff-
appellant.

Young Moore Henderson & Alvis PA., by Henry S. Manning
and Evelyn M. Coman, for defendant-appellees.

GREENE, Judge.

The Town of Cary, North Carolina (the Town), appeals from an
order dated 17 March 1993 in Wake County Superior Court, ordering
that the Town compensate Franklin-Sloan V.F.W. Post 7383, Veterans
of Foreign Wars of the United States (VFW) for a 100 foot right-of-
way running through VFW’s property.

In 1978, VFW acquired property zoned R-30 (residential) in the
Town. In 1979, VFW’s governing officers voted to establish a post
home on the property, a use not permitted of right because it was
zoned R-30. Dennis G. Beck (Beck), who represented VFW, learned
that VFW would have to obtain a special use permit to have a post
home and that the Town would have to approve VFW'’s site plan pur-
suant to Section 11-25 of the Town’s Planning, Zoning, Subdivision,
and Sedimentation Ordinance. On 13 August 1979, Beck appeared
before the Town'’s Board of Adjustment which unanimously approved
a Special Use Permit for VFW. On 15 October 1979, the Town’s Plan-
ning and Zoning Board (the Board) approved the site plan with a
notation in the minutes that a “right-of-way dedication for a section
of Maynard Road is required.” The site plan shows a 4.999 acre tract
of land with the west end of the property adjoining Reedy Creek
Road. On the east end, the site plan reveals two apparently parallel
lines consisting of a series of dashes. The lines have no markings
indicating distances or bearings. Between the two lines is written the
words “80 foot proposed thoroughfare.” There is no information on
the site plan which attempts to locate the right-of-way on the prop-
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erty. On 25 October 1979, the Town Council unanimously approved
the Board’s recommendation to approve VFW’s site plan. VFW built
the post home and has since used the property in accordance with its
special use permit.

On 20 October 1989, the Town filed a complaint, declaration of
taking, and notice of deposit in Wake County Superior Court, alleging
that VFW, on 25 October 1979, had dedicated, for zero compensation,
an 80 foot right-of-way on Maynard Road to the Town by virtue of
VFW’s obtaining a special use permit, and attempting to acquire an
additional 20 feet by condemnation. VFW filed an answer and coun-
terclaim, denying it dedicated any land to the Town and alleging it
intended only to reserve and agree not to build on the 80 foot area in
question.

A non-jury trial was held in which Beck testified that during the
site plan approval process in 1979 and 1980, Reedy Creek Road was
the only road that served the VFW property, VFW was not aware of
the Town's thoroughfare plan at that time, and VFW “had no agree-
ment” with the Town “regarding the right-of-way for Maynard Road at
the time of the site plan approval process.” Beck also stated that VFW
did not “sign anything conveying an interest in its property to the
town.” As “VFW's representative for the site plan approval process,”
Beck “was never authorized by any member or officer” of VFW to
agree to donate the Maynard Road right-of-way to the Town at no
cost. The right-of-way was included on the site plan to show that the
area “would be kept open but never given to the town,” and there has
been “no . . . road [easement] . . . that had been recorded.” Further-
more, “that word dedication was not discussed or explained when
[VFW] went through that process of getting site plan approval.” VFW,
which had maintained the area reserved for the right-of-way since
1979, first learned the Town was claiming an interest in the Maynard
Road right-of-way in 1988. The site plan that was ultimately approved
included the Maynard Road thoroughfare because Beck “was told
that it was only a proposal. It was—nothing was ever going to be
done with it in the future, and that's why we said, hey, in that area we
would reserve that area for the road. We didn’t object to it, but we—
we weren't going to give it away.”

Mike Sorensen (Sorensen), the assistant planning director with
the Town in 1979, testified that Maynard Road was on the Town's
thoroughfare plan to serve traffic, and that through reviewing the
meeting minutes from 13 August 1979, “the board of adjustment was
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requiring dedication of a right-of-way as a condition for the issuance
of the special use permit” to VFW because “it’s tied into the thor-
oughfare plan,” and there was indication at that meeting that VFW
was aware of the thoroughfare plan. Sorensen stated that in 1979,
when the site plan was approved, there was no metes and bounds
location for Maynard Road, the Town “did not have a time schedule
for that road,” and he was “not aware” if the Town ever got anything
in writing from VFW concerning the Maynard Road right-of-way.
After Sorensen reviewed the minutes of the 15 October 1979 planning
and zoning board meeting in which he indicated the proposed thor-
oughfare had been “set aside for the Maynard loop,” he stated that
the words set aside meant “dedicated for future use.” He also testi-
fied that VFW used its property for post purposes for more than ten
years before Maynard Road was built.

The trial court, in its 17 March 1993 order, made the following
pertinent findings of fact:

6. As a condition to obtaining site plan approval, the VFW
was required to sketch in on the site plan a proposed 80 foot wide
corridor for the possible future extension of Maynard Road.

7. The VFW agreed that it would erect no improvements on
the rear or easternmost portion of their property where this pro-
posed corridor was located, and it did not do so. The showing of
the proposed corridor on the VFW site plan was not a con-
veyance or dedication of the corridor to the Town. No metes and
bounds description of the corridor was given.

The court concluded VFW never dedicated or conveyed any of its real
property to the Town “for the Maynard Road Extension Project,” and
“[t]he acquisition of the entire 100 foot right of way for the Maynard
Road Extension is a lawful taking by the Town of Cary for the full
amount of which compensation must be paid to the VEFW.” The court
then ordered the Town to compensate VFW for the entire right-of-
way for the Maynard Road Extension running through VFW’s
property.

The issue presented is whether the description of the “80 foot
proposed thoroughfare” on the VFW site plan is sufficient to consti-
tute a dedication.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 160A-381, which grants municipalities the power
to place conditions on the issuance of special use permits, states that
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“such conditions may include requirements that street and utility
rights-of-way be dedicated to the public” “[f]lor the purpose of pro-
moting health, safety, morals, or the general welfare of the commu-
nity.” N.C.G.S. § 160A-381 (1987). Pursuant to this statute, the Town
enacted Section 11-25 which provides “[i]n the development of any
property for which a site plan is required by Subsection (a) of this
Section, the owner or developer shall be required to dedicate any
additional right-of-way necessary to the width required by the Town
thoroughfare plan for streets adjoining the property. . . .” Cary, North
Carolina, Code § 11-25(d).

Assuming the constitutionality of the ordinance permitting the
Town to require dedication of a right-of-way across the VFW property
as a condition of obtaining a special use permit, see 6 Powell, Law of
Real Property § 866.3[1] (1984) (“if applicant must donate property
for a public use that bears no relationship to the benefit conferred on
the applicant . . . there is a taking of property”), the Town’s claim
must nonetheless fail because it granted the special use permit with-
out demanding, as a condition precedent, the dedication of the right-
of-way. A dedication of a street can occur, in the context of this
ordinance, only if the site plan contains an adequate description of
the street. See 2 Thompson on Real Property § 369, at 465 (1961)
(map must reflect both bearings and length of street); 23 Am. Jur. 2d
Dedication § 39, at 36 (1983) (under ordinance requiring dedication,
plat or other instrument must particularly describe and designate
land proposed to be dedicated); Farmville v. Monk & Co., 250 N.C.
171, 108 S.E.2d 479 (1959) (conveyance of land describing street as
boundary without any reference to plat or map and without a street
in existence at time of conveyance is insufficient to show dedication
of any part of land as a street). An adequate description is one which
is “either certain in itself or capable of being reduced to a certainty
by a recurrence to something extrinsic to which the deed refers”
Duckett v. Lyda, 223 N.C. 356, 358, 26 S.E.2d 918, 919 (1943); there-
fore, an indefinite description will suffice only “if the court can, with
the aid of extrinsic evidence which does not add to, enlarge, or in any
way change the description, fit it to the property conveyed by the
deed.” Foreman v. Sholl, 113 N.C. App. 282, 288, 439 S.E.2d 169, 173
(1994) (quoting 2 C.J.S. Adverse Possession § 108, at 802 (1972)). For
example, a drawing which “does not have any ascertainable monu-
ments, does not indicate the size of the tracts of land shown, does not
indicate any courses and very few distances, and has no ascertain-
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able beginning point” is not a sufficient description. Id. at 289, 439
S.E.2d at 174.

In this case, the site plan only contains two lines consisting of a
series of dashes with no markings indicating distances or bearings,
with the words “80 foot proposed thoroughfare” written between the
two lines. The plan “does not have any ascertainable monuments,”
and there is no information attempting to locate the right-of-way on
the property. Because of the insufficiency of the description of the
proposed thoroughfare, the trial court did not err in determining that
VFW did not dedicate any portion of its land to the Town.

Affirmed.

Chief Judge ARNOLD and Judge McCRODDEN concur.

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. JIMMY DEAN ROTEN

No. 93235C791
(Filed 7 June 1994)

1. Criminal Law § 738 (NCI4th)— State’s burden of proof—
instruction prior to evidence not required

A trial court is not required, after a jury has been empaneled
but before evidence has been presented, to instruct the jury as to
the State’s burden of proof.

Am Jur 2d, Trial §§ 1077 et seq.

2. Criminal Law § 762 (NCI4th)— reasonable doubt—moral
certainty—instruction proper

The trial court did not err by using the term “moral certain-
ty” in its instruction to the jury concerning reasonable doubt.

Am Jur 2d, Trial § 832.

3. Burglary and Unlawful Breakings § 151 (NCI4th)— first-
degree burglary—instructions—felonious intent—felony
not named in indictment

The trial court did not err by instructing the jury that it could
find defendant guilty of first-degree burglary if it found that he
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broke into the victim’s home with the intent to commit a second-
degree sexual offense when the indictment alleged that defend-
ant intended to commit a first-degree sexual offense since the
indictment is required to allege only that defendant intended to
commit a felony, and any language in the indictment which states
with specificity the felony defendant intended to commit is sur-
plusage and may be disregarded.

Am Jur 2d, Burglary § 69.

Appeal by defendant from judgment entered 4 February 1993 in
Wilkes County Superior Court by Judge Julius A. Rousseau, Jr. Heard
in the Court of Appeals 12 April 1994

Michael F. Easley, Attorney General, by Roy A. Giles, Jr.,
Assistant Attorney General, for the State.

Herbert H. Pearce for defendant-appellant.
GREENE, Judge.

Jimmy Dean Roten (defendant) appeals from judgments and
commitments entered upon jury verdicts finding him guilty of
attempted second degree sexual offense and first degree burglary.

Defendant was indicted and tried for first degree sexual offense
and first degree burglary. The burglary indictment alleged that
defendant unlawfully, willfully, and feloniously during the nighttime
did break and enter the occupied dwelling house of Ms. Betty Jean
Wyatt “with the intent to commit a felony therein: first degree sexual
offense.”

At trial, the trial court did not give a preliminary instruction con-
cerning the State’s burden of proof. The victim, Ms. Wyatt, defend-
ant’s ex-mother-in-law, testified that on 6 April 1992, she lived in a
house trailer with her daughter, Janie Roten, who was defendant’s ex-
wife, and two grandchildren. Ms. Wyatt testified that between 9:30
and 10:30 PM., Janie Roten left the house trailer, that defendant soon
thereafter entered the house trailer, grabbed her from behind, tore
off part of her clothing, pulled down her pants, forced her to lay over
the back of a couch, and touched her rectum with his penis but did
not make penetration. Ms. Wyatt then testified that defendant left the
house trailer shortly before Janie Roten returned home.

At the close of the State’s evidence, the first degree sexual
offense charge was dismissed and the case proceeded on the lesser
included offense of second degree sexual offense.
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The trial court charged the jury concerning the State’s burden of
proof as follows:

Under our system of justice, when a Defendant pleads not
guilty, he is not required to prove his innocence. He is presumed
to be innocent. The State of North Carolina must prove to you
that the Defendant is guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.

Now, a reasonable doubt is not a vain, imaginary, or fanciful
doubt, but it’'s a sane and rational doubt. It’s a doubt based on
common sense.

When it's said that you, the jury, must be satisfied of the
Defendant’s guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, it is meant that you
must be fully satisfied, or entirely satisfied, or satisfied to a
moral certainty of the truth of the charges.

If, after considering, comparing, and weighing the evidence,
or lack of evidence, the minds of the jury, are such, the minds of
the jury are in such, are in such a condition that you cannot say
that you have an abiding faith to a moral certainty in the Defend-
ant’s guilty [sic], then you have a reasonable doubt. Otherwise,
not.

The trial court dismissed the second degree sexual offense
charge and instead instructed the jury as to attempted second degree
sexual offense. The trial court further instructed the jury that it could
find defendant guilty of first degree burglary if, in addition to the
other elements of the offense, it found that defendant “at the time of
the breaking and entering, . . . intended to commit a second degree
sexual act.”

The issues presented are whether the trial court erred in (I) fail-
ing to give a preliminary instruction concerning the State’s burden of
proof; and (II) instructing the jury that it could find defendant guilty
of first degree burglary if it found he broke into the victim’s home
with the intent to commit a second degree sexual offense when the
indictment alleged defendant possessed the intent to commit a first
degree sexual offense.

I

[1] Defendant appears to argue that a trial court is required, after a
Jury has been empaneled, but before evidence has been presented, to
instruct the jury as to the State’s burden of proof. Defendant cites no
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authority for this position and we have found none. The trial court is
certainly permitted to give a preliminary instruction regarding the
State’s burden of proof before evidence is presented, but it is not
required to do so.

[2] Defendant cites State v. Harris, 289 N.C. 275, 280, 221 S.E.2d 343,
347 (1976) for the proposition that a preliminary “erroneous instruc-
tion on the burden of proof is not ordinarily corrected by subsequent
correct instructions upon the point.” While this proposition is cor-
rect, Harris is not applicable to the present case because in Harris
the trial court gave conflicting instructions to the jury. In this case,
the trial court gave no preliminary instructions concerning the
State’s burden of proof, and properly instructed the jury on this point
during the final instructions. Accordingly, conflicting instructions
were not given. We also reject defendant’s argument that the trial
court violated Cage v. Louisiana, 498 U.S. 39, 112 L. Ed. 2d 339
(1990) by using the term “moral certainty” in its instruction to the
jury concerning reasonable doubt. This Court recently upheld as
proper a jury instruction identical to that given in this case. State v.
Long, 113 N.C. App. 765, 773, 440 S.E.2d 576, 580 (1994); see also
State v. Patterson, 335 N.C. 437, 439 S.E.2d 578 (1994).

I1

[3] Defendant next argues that the trial court erred in instructing the
jury that it could find defendant guilty of first degree burglary if it
found that defendant entered the victim’s dwelling with the intent to
commit a second degree sexual offense when the indictment alleged
defendant possessed the intent to commit a first degree sexual
offense.

The State, in an indictment for burglary, is not required to speci-
fy the felony the defendant intended to commit when he broke into
the dwelling house. State v. Worsley, 336 N.C. 268, 280, 443 S.E.2d 68,
73-74 (1994). Worsley, however, only removed the requirerment of
specifying in an indictment for first degree burglary the felony the
defendant intended to commit; Worsley did not remove the State’s
burden of proving at trial that the defendant possessed the intent to
commit a specific felony at the time of the breaking and entering into
the dwelling house. See State v. Warren, 313 N.C. 254, 262, 328 S.E.2d
256, 262 (1985) (essential element of first degree burglary is that
defendant possess the intent to commit a felony at the time of the
breaking and entering). Accordingly, the State, at trial, must present
substantial evidence that the defendant intended to commit a partic-
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ular felony in order to have the case submitted to the jury. If the State
does present substantial evidence that the defendant possessed the
intent to commit a particular felony, the trial court is required to
instruct the jury that it may convict the defendant of first degree bur-
glary if the jury finds the defendant possessed the intent to commit
that particular felony. See State v. Austin, 320 N.C. 276, 297, 357
S.E.2d 641, 654, cert. denied, 484 U.S. 916, 98 L. Ed. 2d 224 (1987)
(trial court required to instruct upon matters arising upon the evi-
dence at trial).

We reject defendant’s argument that when, as here, the indict-
ment alleges that a defendant possessed the intent to commit a spec-
ified felony, the State must prove that the defendant possessed the
intent to commit the specified felony. Because the State is only
required in the indictment to allege that the defendant intended to
commit a felony, Worsley, slip. op. at 14, any language in the indict-
ment which states with specificity the felony defendant intended to
commit is surplusage which may properly be disregarded. State v.
Freeman, 314 N.C. 432, 436, 333 S.E.2d 743, 745 (1985).

In this case, the indictment alleged that defendant unlawfully,
willfully, and feloniously during the nighttime did break and enter the
occupied dwelling house of Ms. Wyatt “with the intent to commit a
felony therein: first degree sexual offense.” The language following
the colon is surplusage and may be disregarded. Freeman, 314 N.C.
at 436, 333 S.E.2d at 745. During the trial, the State was required to
prove that defendant possessed the intent to commit some felony at
the time he broke and entered Ms. Wyatt's dwelling house. The State
did this by presenting substantial evidence from which the jury could
find that defendant intended to commit a second degree sexual
offense at the time he broke and entered the dwelling house. See
State v. Bell, 285 N.C. 746, 750, 208 S.E.2d 506, 508 (1974) (jury may
infer defendant’s intent at time of breaking and entering from defend-
ant’s actions after entering the dwelling house). There being sub-
stantial evidence of the felony which defendant intended to commit,
the trial court was required to instruct the jury that it could convict
defendant of first degree burglary if it found that he possessed the
intent to commit a second degree sexual offense at the time he broke
and entered Ms. Wyatt’s dwelling house.

We have reviewed defendant’s remaining assignments of error
and hold that there was no prejudicial error for the following rea-
sons: assignments of error numbers 2 and 6—defendant failed to



IN THE COURT OF APPEALS 123

THARRINGTON v. STURDIVANT LIFE INS. CO.
{115 N.C. App. 123 (1994)]

make an offer of proof regarding what the answers to the objection-
able questions would have been; assignments of error numbers 3, 9,
10, and 12—the evidence and testimony which defendant sought to
introduce was later introduced; assignments of error numbers 4 and
8—the trial court’s limiting instruction was sufficient; assignment of
error number 5—the testimony was admissible for purposes of cor-
roborating Ms. Wyatt’s testimony and defendant failed to request a
limiting instruction, see State v. Chandler, 324 N.C. 172, 182, 376
S.E.2d 728, 735 (1989); assignment of error number 7—the testimony
was admissible as a statement made for purposes of medical diagno-
sis or treatment, see N.C.G.S. § 1A-1, Rule 803(4); assignment of error
number 11-—defendant failed to ask for a limiting instruction; assign-
ment of error number 13—inquiry into specific instances of conduct
that would rebut earlier reputation or opinion evidence offered by
the defendant is admissible, see State v. Cummings, 332 N.C. 487,
507, 422 S.E.2d 692, 703 (1992) and N.C.G.S. § 8C-1, Rule 405(a)
(1992); assignment of error number 15—defendant failed to object to
the charge before the jury retired to consider its verdict, see N.C. R.

App. P. 10(b)(2).

No error.

Chief Judge ARNOLD and Judge McCRODDEN concur.

HAROLD F. THARRINGTON, EXECUTOR OF THE EsTaTE OF DORIS H. WILLIAMS v.
STURDIVANT LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY

No. 9323SC774
(Filed 7 June 1994)

Insurance § 254 (NCI4th)— insurance application—material
misrepresentation

In an action to recover on a credit life and disability insur-
ance policy issued by defendant, the trial court properly entered
summary judgment for defendant where defendant satisfied its
burden of showing as a matter of law that decedent’s application
for insurance contained a material misrepresentation that she
had not consulted a doctor or been treated for a condition of the
lungs at the time she signed; decedent, in fact, had consulted a
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physician and was being treated for pulmonary fibrosis; decedent
was not aware of the diagnosis until after she signed, but her
knowledge was not required under the law; and this material mis-
representation entitled plaintiff to cancel the policy.

Am Jur 2d, Insurance §§ 1055 et seq., 1067 et seq.

Insured’s lack of knowledge of adverse health condi-
tion as affecting applicability of “good health” clause in
insurance policy. 30 ALR3d 389.

Appeal by plaintiff from judgment entered 29 June 1993 by Judge
Julius A. Rousseau in Yadkin County Superior Court. Heard in the
Court of Appeals 22 March 1994.

Franklin Smith for plaintiff-appellant.

E. James Moore for defendant-appellee.

MARTIN, Judge.

Plaintiff, the Executor of the Estate of Doris H. Williams, brought
this action to recover upon a credit life and disability insurance pol-
icy issued by defendant. The record discloses that on 6 October 1989,
the decedent, Doris H. Williams, entered into a conditional sales con-
tract with Gene McNeil Autoworld, Inc., for the purchase of a 1987
Buick Skylark. Concurrent with this purchase, decedent made an
application to defendant, Sturdivant Life Insurance Company, for a
credit life, accident and health insurance policy. In her policy appli-
cation, dated 6 October 1989, decedent signed a statement that she
had not, within the preceding twelve months, been consulted or
treated for certain enumerated health conditions. The policy applica-
tion was accepted by defendant with coverage effective from the
date of purchase.

On 1 August 1989, prior to her purchase of the automobile, dece-
dent sought treatment from Dr. Paul H. Gulley, her family physician,
for a persistent cough which had begun about a month earlier. Ini-
tially, Dr. Gulley thought decedent’s cough might be due to allergies,
but when it did not resolve he ordered a chest x-ray. In early Sep-
tember, Dr. Gulley referred decedent to Dr. James C. Martin, who
diagnosed her as suffering from rhinosinusitis with post nasal drip
and cough.
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Decedent’s cough did not improve and she again consulted with
Dr. Gulley on 9 October 1989. On 18 October 1989, twelve days after
she purchased the automobile and applied for the credit life and
health insurance, decedent was seen by Dr. Villeponteaux, a pul-
monary specialist. Dr. Villeponteaux diagnosed decedent with pul-
monary fibrosis based on his physical examination and x-rays taken
that day, as well as x-rays which had been taken one week and seven
weeks prior thereto. He scheduled decedent for a lung biopsy on 30
October 1989, which decedent postponed.

Decedent’s symptoms worsened and she was hospitalized 27
November 1989 and underwent a bronchoscopy on 28 November
1989 and a bone scan on 8 December 1989. Based on the results of
these tests, Dr. David F. Jones and Dr. David D. Hurd diagnosed dece-
dent with advanced stage large cell lung cancer and began treating
her with chemotherapy.

On 28 November 1989, decedent filed a statement of accident or
sickness with defendant in which she claimed that she had been
unable to work since 1 November 1989. She requested defendant to
make payments on her vehicle in accordance with the insurance pol-
icy. Dr. Gulley certified that she was disabled from 1 November 1989
due to pulmonary fibrosis which had begun in the summer of 1989,
and for which he had first been consulted on 1 August 1989. After
reviewing decedent’s medical records, defendant cancelled dece-
dent’s policy due to her failure to disclose on her insurance applica-
tion that she had consulted or been treated for conditions of the
lungs. In addition, defendant advised decedent that her condition
was a pre-existing condition for which coverage was excluded by the
policy. Defendant fully refunded decedent’s premium.

Decedent died of lung cancer in April 1990. The executor of her
estate brought this suit alleging wrongful termination of the insur-
ance policy. Defendant answered, alleging that it had the right to can-
cel the policy based on a material misrepresentation made in the
policy application and the right to deny coverage under the pre-exist-
ing condition clause of the policy. From a judgment granting defend-
ant’s motion for summary judgment, plaintiff appealed. We affirm.

G.S. § 1A-1, Rule 56(c) provides that summary judgraent will be
granted if “the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories,
and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that
there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that any party is
entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.” Pembee Mfg. Corp. v. Cape
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Fear Constr. Co., 313 N.C. 488, 491, 329 S.E.2d 350, 352 (1985);
Caldwell v. Deese, 288 N.C. 375, 218 S.E.2d 379 (1975).

In ruling on summary judgment, a court does not resolve
questions of fact but determines whether there is a genuine issue
of material fact. . . . Thus a defending party is entitled to summa-
ry judgment if he can show that claimant cannot prove the exist-
ence of an essential element of his claim [citation omitted], or
cannot surmount an affirmative defense which would bar the
claim. [Citation omitted.]

Ward v. Durham Life Insurance Co., 325 N.C. 202, 209-10, 381 S.E.2d
698, 702 (1989), citing Dickens v. Puryear, 302 N.C. 437, 276 S.E.2d
325 (1981).

Defendant argues that decedent’s application contained a mater-
ial misrepresentation which entitles defendant to cancel the policy. If
true, this would constitute an affirmative defense to plaintiff’s claim.
Thus, we must determine whether defendant has satisfied its burden
of showing as a matter of law the existence of this affirmative
defense and, if so, whether plaintiff has forecast evidence which, if
believed by a jury, would overcome it.

On the Insurance Application and Authorization form, decedent
signed the following statement:

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have not been consult-
ed or treated during the last twelve months for: aids related com-
plex, acquired immunodeficiency syndrome, cancer, diabetes or
conditions of the heart, circulatory system, high blood pressure,
lungs, brain, liver, kidneys or back.

Defendant contends that since decedent was being treated for pul-
monary fibrosis, a condition of the lungs, her signature on this state-
ment constituted a misrepresentation.

In North Carolina, statements made in an application of insur-
ance are deemed to be representations rather than warranties.
G.S. § 58-3-10 states:

All statements or descriptions in any application for a policy
of insurance, or in the policy itself, shall be deemed representa-
tions and not warranties, and a representation, unless material or
fraudulent, will not prevent a recovery on the policy.
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Thus, false statements will avoid a policy if fraudulently made, irre-
spective of materiality; however, absent fraud, the falsity of an appli-
cant’s answer must be material to the risk in order to warrant avoid-
ance of the policy on that ground. See 43 Am Jur 2d, Insurance,
§§ 1035, 1036 and 1055. There is no evidence in this case that dece-
dent fraudulently signed the statement. Since fraud is not claimed,
the two-part question before us is whether defendant has proved that
decedent made a material and false representation on her applica-
tion. A life insurance contract may be avoided by showing that the
insured made representations which were material and false. Hardy
v. Integon Life Ins. Corp., 85 N.C. App. 575, 355 S.E.2d 241, disc.
review denied, 320 N.C. 631, 360 S.E.2d 85 (1987).

The first part of the question is whether decedent’s representa-
tion that she had not been consulted or treated for a condition of the
lungs at the time she signed the application was material. Our
Supreme Court has held that a representation in an application for an
insurance policy is material “if the knowledge or ignorance of it
would naturally influence the judgment of the insurer in making the
contract, or in estimating the degree and character of the risk, or in
fixing the rate of premium.” Goodwin v. Investors Life Insurance,
North America, 332 N.C. 326, 331, 419 S.E.2d 766, 769 (1992), quot-
ing Tolbert v. Insurance Co., 236 N.C. 416, 418-19, 72 S.E.2d 915, 917
(1952). (Emphasis omitted). While materiality is generally a question
of fact for the jury, Michael v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co., 65
N.C. App. 50, 308 S.E.2d 727 (1983), it is clearly the law in North Car-
olina that, in an application for a life insurance policy, written ques-
tions and answers relating to health are deemed material as a matter
of law. Rhinehardt v. Insurance Co., 2564 N.C. 671, 119 S.E.2d 614
(1961); Jones v. Insurance Co., 254 N.C. 407, 119 S.E.2d 215 (1961);
Thomas-Yelverton Co. v. Insurance Co., 238 N.C. 278, 77 S.E.2d 692
(1953); Tolbert v. Insurance Co., supra; Assurance Society v. Ashby,
215 N.C. 280, 1 S.E.2d 830 (1939); Inman v. Woodmen of the World,
211 N.C. 179, 189 S.E 496 (1937); Gardner v. Insurance Co., 163 N.C.
367, 79 S.E. 806 (1913); In Re Appeal By McCrary, 112 N.C. App. 161,
435 S.E.2d 359 (1993). Therefore, decedent’s representation that she
had not been treated or consulted in the last twelve months for a con-
dition of the lungs is unquestionably material in this case.

The second part of the question is whether the statement was
false. Plaintiff admits that pulmonary fibrosis is a condition of the
lungs; the issue is whether decedent had been consulted or treated
for pulmonary fibrosis in the twelve months prior to 6 October 1989,
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the date upon which she signed the insurance application. Decedent
was treated by several doctors over a period in excess of two months
prior to the date of the application for symptoms including a persist-
ent cough, discomfort in breathing, and occasional wheezing and
asthmatic symptoms. Dr. Gulley, decedent’s primary physician, stated
in his affidavit that he treated her from August 1, 1989 until Novem-
ber 7, 1989 “for a continuing problem which she was then having with
a chronic cough” and that his “diagnosis of [decedent’s] disease was
pulmonary fibrosis which is a condition of the lung.” Decedent also
consulted Dr. Villeponteaux, a pulmonary specialist. Although dece-
dent’s first appointment with Dr. Villeponteaux was twelve days after
the date of the application, his report indicates that decedent first
developed the cough in June, 1989 and that chest x-rays taken five
weeks prior to the date of the application revealed “extensive fibro-
sis involving both lungs.”

Plaintiff argues, however, that decedent was unaware of the diag-
nosis of pulmonary fibrosis at the time she made the representation.
Considered in the light most favorable to plaintiff, the evidence sug-
gests that decedent may have been first advised of the formal diag-
nosis of pulmonary fibrosis after she had made the application for
insurance. However, decedent’s knowledge of the condition is not
required under the law. In this jurisdiction it is well settled that a mis-
representation of a material fact, or the suppression thereof, in an
application for insurance, will avoid the policy “even though the
assured be innocent of fraud or an intention to deceive or to wrong-
fully induce the assurer to act, or whether the statement be made in
ignorance or good faith, or unintentionally.” Thomas-Yelverton Co. v.
Insurance Co., 238 N.C. at 282, 77 S.E.2d at 695. (Citations omitted.)

Plaintiff produced no evidence to contradict the showing by
defendant that decedent had been medically treated for a condition
of the lungs within twelve months prior to her application for insur-
ance. Thus, there is no genuine issue of fact as to either the falsity or
materiality of decedent's statement to the contrary on the policy
application and defendant was entitled, as a matter of law, to judg-
ment in its favor. Having concluded that defendant was entitled to
cancel the policy, we need not decide whether decedent’s disability
was due to a pre-existing condition excluded from coverage under
the terms of the policy.

Affirmed.
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Judges EAGLES and McCRODDEN.

IN THE MATTER OF: THE APPEAL OF R. W. MOORE EQUIPMENT COMPANY, INC.,
FROM THE DISCOVERY OF CERTAIN PERSONAL PROPERTY BY WAKE COUN-
TY FOR 1988, 1989, 1990, AND 1991

No. 9310PTC959
(Filed 7 June 1994)

1. Taxation § 65 (NCI4th)— equipment rented subject to
sale—no tax exempt status

There was no merit to taxpayer’s contention that its equip-
ment did not lose its tax exempt status merely because it was
rented to third parties because taxpayer retained the right to sell
the property to another party, since the language of N.C.G.S.
§ 105-273(8a) requires that the goods be held by merchants; the
equipment here was not held by taxpayer but by the lessees of
the equipment; it is the use to which the property is dedicated,
rather than the nature or characteristics of the owning entity,
which ultimately determines the property’s exemption status;
and the evidence showed that the equipment of taxpayer in ques-
tion was primarily used for rental purposes.

Am Jur 2d, State and Local Taxation §§ 332 et seq.

2. Taxation § 66 (NCI4th)— equipment treated as income
producing property and not inventory—no tax exclusion
for rented equipment

The North Carolina Property Tax Commission properly
found that taxpayer’s treatment of equipment as income produc-
ing property rather than inventory rendered the equipment used
for rental purposes ineligible for tax exclusion because its use
and consumption as income producing property was incompati-
ble with its character as inventory.

Am Jur 2d, State and Local Taxation §§ 332 et seq.
Appeal by R. W. Moore Equipment Company from a Final Deci-

sion of the North Carolina Property Tax Commission entered 5 April
1993. Heard in the Court of Appeals 11 May 1994.
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Poyner and Spruill, by Thomas L. Norris, Jr. and Thomas H.
Cook, Jr. for appellant.

Wake County Attorney’s Office, by Deputy County Attorney
Shelley T. Eason for appellee Wake County.

JOHNSON, Judge.

The facts of this appeal are as follows: Taxpayer, R. W. Moore
Equipment Company, Inc. (hereafter, Taxpayer), is challenging the
denial of tax exclusions for certain items of heavy equipment rented
to third parties during the tax years 1988 to 1991.

Taxpayer is a wholesaler and retailer of new and used John
Deere heavy equipment. In addition to selling John Deere equipment,
Taxpayer also rents equipment under week to week or month to
month rental agreements. All of Taxpayer’s rental agreements pro-
vide that Taxpayer may withdraw the equipment from the renter at
any time and sell it to another party. It is estimated that Taxpayer
exercises this contractual right approximately 3 to 6 times per year.

In October of 1991, the Wake County Assessor (hereafter, Asses-
sor), pursuant to North Carolina General Statutes § 105-312(c)
(1992), issued a notice of discovery of personal property taxes for the
tax years 1987 through 1991 to Taxpayer. The notice stated that the
Assessor had determined that Taxpayer was liable for property taxes
on “Rental Equipment” discovered by the County. On 18 November
1991, Taxpayer filed written exception to the discovery of the prop-
erty. A hearing on the matter was held before the Wake County Tax
Committee, acting by appointment of the Wake County Commission-
ers. By letter dated 6 February 1992, the Wake County Board of Com-
missioners affirmed the discovery. On 27 February 1992, Taxpayer
timely appealed the discovery to the North Carolina Property Tax
Commission (hereafter, the Commission). The Commission heard the
matter on stipulated facts, documentary evidence and testimony and
issued a decision dated 5 April 1993 affirming the County’s decision
as to the taxability of Taxpayer’s property. From the decision of the
Commission, Taxpayer appealed to our Court.

By Taxpayer’s first assignment of error, Taxpayer contends that
the Commission erred in holding, as a matter of law, that Taxpayer’s
property does not constitute goods held for sale while rented to third
parties.
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The scope of appellate review of cases from the Commission is
set out by North Carolina General Statutes § 105-345.2(1992), which
in pertinent part provides:

(a) On appeal the court shall review the record and the excep-
tions and assignments of error in accordance with the rules of
appellate procedure, and any alleged irregularities in procedures
before the Property Tax Commission, not shown in the record,
shall be considered under the rules of appellate procedure.

(b) So far as necessary to the decision and where presented, the
court shall decide all relevant questions of law, interpret consti-
tutional and statutory provisions, and determine the meaning and
applicability of the terms of any Commission action. The court
may affirm or reverse the decision of the Commission, declare
the same null and void, or remand the case for further proceed-

ings[.]...

In applying this “whole record test” to determine whether the record
fully supports the Commission’s decision, this Court must evaluate
whether the Commission’s decision is supported by substantial, com-
petent and material evidence. Where the Commission’s findings are
supported by such evidence, they are binding on appeal. In re
Forestry Foundation, 296 N.C. 330, 250 S.E.2d 236 (1979).

North Carolina General Statutes § 105-274(1992) provides that all
property located within North Carolina, both real and personal, is
subject to taxation unless expressly excluded or exempt from taxa-
tion by a statutory or constitutional provision. North Carolina Gen-
eral Statutes § 105-275(34) (1992) expressly excludes from taxation,
“[ilnventories owned by retail and wholesale merchants.” “Inven-
tories” is defined by North Carolina General Statutes
§ 105-273(8a) (1992) as “goods held for sale in the regular course of
business by manufacturers, retail and wholesale merchants, and con-
tractors[.] . ..”

[1] Taxpayer contends that the property in question does not lose its
exemption status merely because it is rented to third parties because
Taxpayer retains the right to sell the property to another party. Tax-
payer argues that the relevant statute only requires that Taxpayer’s
equipment be held for sale in the regular course of business. There-
fore, because the equipment in question was held primarily for the
purpose of sale and marketed for sale, even while being rented, the
equipment was held for sale within the meaning of North Carolina
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General Statutes § 105-273(8a) and exempt from taxation. We dis-
agree for two reasons.

We disagree, first, because of the language in the relevant statute.
North Carolina General Statutes § 105-273(8a) requires that the
“goods be held for sale by manufacturers, retail and wholesale mer-
chants, and contractors].] . . .” (Emphasis added.) The term “held”
has not been defined by statute or judicial decision; therefore, we
look to its natural, approved and recognized meaning. Cab Co. v.
Charlotte, 234 N.C. 572, 68 S.E.2d 433 (1951). Webster’s Third New
International Dictionary primarily defines “hold” as: “to retain in
one’s keeping or maintain possession of.” Webster’s Third New Inter-
national Dictionary 1078 (3rd ed. 1966).

Utilizing this definition, we find that the equipment in question
was not “held” by Taxpayer, but rather the lessee of the equipment.
While Taxpayer argues that it “held” the equipment because it
retained the right to repossess the equipment and sell it to another at
any time, the equipment was in the lessee’s possession until Taxpay-
er exercised its right to repossess the equipment. Additionally, Tax-
payer’s power to sell the leased equipment to others is limited by
Taxpayer giving the present renter the option to purchase the equip-
ment prior to the equipment being sold to a third party. As such, we
cannot find that the equipment in question was “held” by Taxpayer
when rented to third parties.

We disagree secondly, because of the previous holdings of this
Court that it is the use to which the property is dedicated, rather than
the nature or characteristics of the owning entity which ultimately
determines the property’s exemption status. In re Wake Forest Uni-
versity, b1 N.C. App. 516, 277 S.E.2d 91, disc. review denied, 303 N.C.
544, 281 S.E.2d 391 (1981). (Citations omitted.) While Taxpayer con-
tends that it holds all its equipment for the purpose of sale, the evi-
dence shows that the equipment of Taxpayer in question is primarily
used for rental purposes. We, therefore, agree with the Commission
that Taxpayer, by renting the equipment to third parties, is not enti-
tled to the inventory tax exclusion for the rented equipment.

[2] By Taxpayer’s second assignment of error, Taxpayer contends
that the Commission erred in failing to hold that in order to qualify
for the inventory exclusion, Taxpayer need not exclusively hold the
property for sale.
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Taxpayer argues that implicit in the Commission’s decision to tax
the property in question is the assumption that while Taxpayer’s
equipment is being rented, it cannot be held for sale and thus cannot
qualify as nontaxable inventory. In essence, Taxpayer contends the
Commission has placed an exclusive use requirement in the statute.

We agree with the Commission that Taxpayer’s use of the prop-
erty in question disqualifies the property from exemption. The record
reflects that defendant treats the equipment as income producing
property rather than inventory for financial reporting purposes,
depreciating only that part of its inventory of new and used equip-
ment that it uses for rental purposes. We, therefore, agree with the
Commission’s finding that this treatment renders the equipment used
for rental purposes ineligible for tax exclusion because its use and
consumption as income producing property is incompatible with its
character as inventory. The Commission merely recognized that
allowing inventory to be used for income producing purposes would
be inconsistent with the general definition of inventory as defined by
North Carolina General Statutes § 105-273(8a); the Commission did
not find that the equipment in question needs to be exclusively held
for sale. However, we do not believe the Commission erred in not
holding that in order to qualify for the inventory exclusion, Taxpayer
need not exclusively hold the property for sale.

By Taxpayer's final assignment of error, Taxpayer contends that
the Commission erred in comparing the tax treatment of Taxpayer to
the property tax treatment of equipment leasing companies such as
Hertz Equipment Rental Corporation and Rex Rentals, Inc.

We do not find that the Commission erred in comparing Taxpay-
er to the above named rental companies. In essence, Taxpayer is in
direct competition with the rental companies, since Taxpayer does
not require that its lessees purchase the equipment. While Taxpayer
contends that it should not be compared with such companies
because such companies are in the primary business of leasing and
Taxpayer is in the primary business of selling, an individual can lease
from Taxpayer just as easily as it can from the comparison compa-
nies. We do not feel that Taxpayer’s right to repossess the equipment
is dispositive. Accordingly, we overrule Taxpayer’s final assignment
of error.

The decision of the Commission is affirmed.

Judges WELLS and JOHN concur.
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KENNETH ALLEN ANDERSON PrLanTiFF v. CURTIS DALE AUSTIN, RONALD
AUSTIN, anp FRANCES AUSTIN, DEFENDANTS

No. 93155C648

(Filed 7 June 1994)

1. Automobiles and Other Vehicles § 564 (NCI4th)— automo-
bile accident—willful and wanton conduct by plaintiff pas-
senger—sufficiency of evidence

In an action to recover for injuries sustained in an automobile
accident, the trial court properly instructed on and submitted to the
jury the issue of willful or wanton conduct on the part of plaintiff
where the evidence tended to show that plaintiff routinely drank
beer, smoked marijuana, and then either drove an automobile or rode
with a driver who had engaged in that same behavior; on the night of
the accident both plaintiff and the driver had been drinking, and the
driver had a blood alcohol level of .234; and plaintiff knew the dri-
ver’s license had been revoked for driving while impaired.

Am Jur 2d, Automobiles and Highway Traffic § 423.

2. Automobiles and Other Vehicles § 564 (NCI4th)— plain-
tiff’'s use of alcohol, marijuana, cars—evidence of habit—
admissibility to show willful and wanton conduct

In an action to recover for injuries sustained in an automo-
bile accident, evidence of plaintiff’s habits with regard to alcohol,
marijuana, and automobiles was relevant to defendants’ claim of
willful or wanton conduct on the part of plaintiff, and the trial
court did not abuse its discretion in concluding that the relevan-
cy of the evidence was not substantially outweighed by the dan-
ger of unfair prejudice.

Am Jur 2d, Automobiles and Highway Traffic § 423.

Appeal by plaintiff from order and judgment filed 30 December
1992 and appeal by defendants Curtis Dale Austin and Frances Austin
from ruling denying motions for directed verdict by Judge J. Milton
Read, Jr. in Alamance County Superior Court. Heard in the Court of
Appeals 10 March 1994.
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Hayes Hofler & Associates, PA., by R. Hayes Hofler and Laurel
E. Solomon, for plaintiff.

Carruthers & Roth, PA., by Kenneth R. Keller and John M.
Flynn, for defendant Curtis Dale Austin.

Henson Henson Bayliss & Sue, by Walter K. Burton and Brian
A. Buchanan, for defendants Ronald Austin and Frances
Austin.

LEWIS, Judge.

Plaintiff coramenced this action to recover for injuries sustained
as a result of an automobile accident. Plaintiff alleged that he was a
passenger in the car driven by defendant Curtis Dale Austin (here-
inafter “Curtis”). Plaintiff sought to hold Ronald and Frances Austin,
the parents of Curtis, liable under the family purpose doctrine and
under the theory of negligent entrustment. The trial court directed a
verdict in favor of defendant Ronald Austin and submitted the case
to the jury. The jury found that Curtis negligently drove the car and
that his conduct was willful or wanton. In addition, the jury found
that plaintiff was contributorily negligent and that his conduct was
also willful or wanton, and thus awarded plaintiff no damages.
Accordingly, the jury did not address the issues of family purpose and
negligent entrustment. From the order granting defendant Ronald
Austin’s motion for directed verdict, and from the judgment, plaintiff
appeals. From rulings denying Curtis and Frances Austin’s motions
for directed verdict, defendants Curtis and Frances Austin appeal.

The evidence at trial tended to show that on the evening of 28
September 1990 at approximately 10:30 p.m., Curtis drove to John
Michael Mitchell’s (hereinafter “John”) home in a 1974 Oldsmobile,
which was titled in Frances Austin’s name. When Curtis arrived, John
and plaintiff were in the backyard drinking beer. Shortly thereafter,
the three went to a nearby convenience store to purchase more beer,
with Curtis driving plaintiff’s car. They then returned to John's house
and drank the beers. When they had finished all the beer, they went
to the store to purchase more beer. On this occasion, Curtis was dri-
ving the 1974 Oldsmobile. As they left the store, Curtis was driving,
John was in the passenger’s seat, and plaintiff was in the back seat.
Thereafter, at approximately 1:20 a.m., the car left the roadway and
crashed, injuring all three men.

Medical testimony at trial showed that at the time of the acci-
dent, Curtis’ blood alcohol level was approximately .234, and plain-
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tiff’s was between .11 and .13. Furthermore, urine tests of both plain-
tiff and Curtis revealed the presence of marijuana. Curtis testified,
over plaintiff’s objections, that he, John, and plaintiff would regular-
ly meet at John’s house to drink beer and smoke marijuana, and then
drive in one of their cars. Curtis also testified, and plaintiff denied,
that plaintiff knew that Curtis’ driver’s license had been revoked, and
as of the date of the accident was still revoked, for driving while
impaired.

[1] Plaintiff’s first contention on appeal is that the trial court erred
in submitting to the jury the issue of plaintiff’s willful or wanton con-
duct. Plaintiff argues that his conduct amounted to no more than sim-
ple contributory negligence, and therefore an instruction on a greater
degree of culpability was improper. We disagree.

Plaintiff bases his argument on the holdings of Pearce v.
Barham, 271 N.C. 285, 156 S.E.2d 290 (1967) and similar cases, which
have stated that where the driver of a vehicle engages in willful or
wanton conduct, the mere failure of the passenger to protest or
remonstrate, or to ask the driver to stop and let him out, amounts to
no more than simple contributory negligence, and will not bar recov-
ery against the driver. However, in the present case, there was evi-
dence tending to show that plaintiff did more than merely fail to
protest or remonstrate, and that his actions rose to the level of will-
ful or wanton conduct.

An act is willful when it is done purposely and deliberately in vio-
lation of the law, or when it is done knowingly and of set purpose, or
when the mere will has free play, without yielding to reason. King v.
Allred, 76 N.C. App. 427, 431, 333 S.E.2d 758, 761, disc. review
denied, 315 N.C. 184, 337 S.E.2d 857 (1985). An act is wanton when it
is done of wicked purpose, or when it is done needlessly, with reck-
less indifference to the rights of others. Id. at 432, 333 S.E.2d at 761.

It is the duty of the trial court to instruct the jury on the law with
regard to every substantial feature of the case. Bolick v. Sunbird Air-
lines, Inc., 96 N.C. App. 443, 448, 386 S.E.2d 76, 79 (1989), disc.
review on additional issues denied, 326 N.C. 363, 389 S.E.2d 811,
aff'd per curiam, 327 N.C. 464, 396 S.E.2d 323 (1990). The instruc-
tions must be based on evidence, which when viewed in the light
most favorable to the proponent, will support a reasonable inference
of each essential element of the claim or defense asserted. Id. at 448-
49, 386 S.E.2d at 79.
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In the instant case, the evidence, when viewed in the light most
favorable to defendants, tended to show that plaintiff routinely drank
beer, smoked marijuana, and then either drove an automobile or rode
with a driver who had engaged in that same behavior. On the night of
the accident, both plaintiff and Curtis had been drinking, and had
gone to the store twice for more beer. Curtis’ blood alcohol level at
the time of the accident was approximately .234. Plaintiff's expert
testified that at such a level of intoxication, Curtis would be flush-
faced, his pupils would be dilated, his eyeballs would move rapidly,
he would stagger when turning, and his speech would be thick. Fur-
thermore, plaintiff knew that Curtis’ driver’s license had been
revoked for driving while impaired, yet he still allowed Curtis to
drive the car in which he was a passenger. We conclude that the jury
could reasonably find that plaintiff acted knowingly and of set pur-
pose, and that his behavior indicated a reckless disregard for his own
safety and the safety of others. Accordingly, the trial court properly
instructed on, and submitted to the jury, the issue of willful or wan-
ton conduct on the part of plaintiff.

[2] Plaintiff’s next contention on appeal is that the trial court erred
in admitting the testimony relating to his prior course of conduct
involving alcohol, marijuana, and automobiles. The trial court admit-
ted such testimony under Rule 406 of the Rules of Evidence, which
provides:

Evidence of the habit of a person or of the routine practice of
an organization, whether corroborated or not and regardless of
the presence of eyewitnesses, is relevant to prove that the con-
duct of the person or organization on a particular occasion was
in conformity with the habit or routine practice.

N.C.G.S. § 8C-1, Rule 406 (1992). Plaintiff argues that the evidence
was inadmissible because evidence of alcohol use on a prior occa-
sion is not relevant to the issue of whether a person was drinking on
the date in question, and that if it was relevant in the instant case, any
relevance was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair
prejudice.

We first note that the habit evidence in the present case was not
admitted to prove that plaintiff was drinking on the night in question.
The theory advanced at trial by defendants was that plaintiff had a
habit of engaging in the above-described behavior, and that his con-
duct on the night in question was willful or wanton, in conformity
with the habit. That is, the evidence showed that plaintiff was taking
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the same risk on the night in question that he habitually took. The
more often plaintiff took this risk, the greater the knowledge he had
of the dangers inherent in taking the risk. And, knowledge of the dan-
gers involved, together with an intentional or reckless disregard of
those dangers, tends to show that his conduct was willful or wanton.
We agree with defendants’ theory of admissibility and conclude that
the evidence of habit was relevant to defendants’ claim of willful or
wanton conduct on the part of plaintiff, and that the trial court did
not abuse its discretion in concluding that the relevance of the evi-
dence was not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prej-
udice. Accordingly, the trial court properly admitted the evidence.

Plaintiff also argues that the trial court erred in granting defend-
ant Ronald Austin’s motion for a directed verdict and in excluding
testimony regarding Ronald Austin’s maintenance of automobile
insurance. However, the jury found that plaintiff’s conduct was will-
ful or wanton, barring his recovery, and thus did not have to reach
the issues regarding the liability of the parents of Curtis Austin.
Therefore, because we find no error in the judgment of the trial
court, we need not address the issues regarding the liability of
Ronald Austin.

Defendants Curtis and Frances Austin have also appealed, argu-
ing that the trial court erred in denying their motions for directed ver-
dict. Because we find no error in the judgment of the trial court,
which was in favor of defendants and which dismissed plaintiff’s
claims, we need not address Curtis and Frances Austin’s appeals.

For the reasons stated, we conclude that the trial court commit-
ted no error.

No error.

Chief Judge ARNOLD and Judge COZORT concur.
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TERESA T. WIKE v. EDWIN WAYNE WIKE

No. 93255C990
(Filed 7 June 1994)

Partnership § 8 (NCI4th)— former husband and wife as busi-
ness partners—existence of partnership—sufficiency of
evidence

The evidence was sufficient to support the verdict that piain-
tiff and defendant were equal partners in a landscape business
where it tended to show that the business was run from the par-
ties’ home; it was through plaintiff’s efforts that the business was
able to be initially capitalized; plaintiff handled most of the finan-
cial affairs of the business; plaintiff purchased equipment used in
the landscaping business with funds from her personal account
and paid for some of the debts of the business from her personal
account; and plaintiff never received a salary for her services but
systematically wrote checks from the business account for her
personal as well as joint debts. N.C.G.S. § 59-36.

Am Jur 2d, Partnership §§ 43 et seq.

Appeal by defendant from order entered 15 June 1993 nunc pro
tunc for 13 April 1993 by Judge Beverly T. Beal in Caldwell County
Superior Court. Heard in the Court of Appeals 23 May 1994.

Todd A. Cline for plaintiff-appellee.

Wilson, Palmer, Lackey and Starnes, P. A., by W. C. Palmer, for
defendant-appellant.

JOHNSON, Judge.

Plaintiff Teresa T. Wike filed a verified complaint against defend-
ant Edwin Wayne Wike on 25 September 1991 seeking a decree of dis-
solution of a partnership she contended existed between the parties
or, in the alternative, a judgment for $36,913.15 against defendant for
monies due and owing. Defendant filed an answer on 26 September
1991 denying the allegations of plaintiff. The matter came on for
hearing before a jury on 12 April 1993.

Evidence presented at trial showed that plaintiff and defendant
were married on 21 July 1967 and were divorced on 4 August 1982.
However, plaintiff and defendant continued to have a relationship
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and began to reside together in 1984 or early 1985. After plaintiff and
defendant lived together for some time, defendant discussed with
plaintiff the idea of starting a landscaping business; at the time,
defendant was employed as a truck driver operating a business
known as “Bug Tussle.” Plaintiff never shared in the income derived
from Bug Tussle, or had independent signature authority to sign
checks for the Bug Tussle account.

After the parties moved in together, they purchased a home in
their joint names. At the time the parties decided to start this land-
scaping business, Wayne Wike Landscaping (WWL), defendant owed
money to the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) as well as other parties.
Defendant’s indebtedness prohibited the parties from going into busi-
ness immediately. However, plaintiff obtained two loans totalling
$13,614.84 to satisfy the existing indebtedness to the IRS. Plaintiff
repaid these loans from her own personal account.

The business was formed and operated from their home. Plaintiff
handled most of the financial affairs of the business which consisted
of writing checks, preparing and sending out bills, general banking,
preparation of invoices, and preparation of the books for the book-
keeper. Defendant had little knowledge of the financial transactions
of the business. Plaintiff executed promissory notes with defendant
for monies which were used to acquire assets of the business. Plain-
tiff assisted with manual labor involved in the business by putting up
straw, combining, setting up yards and shrubbery and blowing straw.

Plaintiff purchased equipment used in the landscaping business
with funds from her personal account, and also paid for some of the
debts of the business from her personal account. Plaintiff never
received a salary for her services but systematically wrote checks
from the WWL account for her personal as well as joint debts.
Defendant never objected to plaintiff withdrawing funds from the
WWL account for her own personal use. The parties ended their rela-
tionship in 1991.

During the course of the trial, defendant made a motion for a
directed verdict at the close of plaintiff’s evidence which the trial
judge denied. Defendant also made a motion for a directed verdict at
the close of all the evidence, which the trial court denied. The jury
found that a partnership existed between plaintiff and defendant, and
that plaintiff had a 50% interest in the partnership. The trial court
entered a judgment declaring the parties to be equal partners in the
business known as WWL, dissolving the partnership, and appointing
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areceiver. From this order, defendant entered notice of appeal to our
Court.

Defendant argues on appeal that the trial court erred in that the
evidence as a matter of law was insufficient to support the verdict.
We disagree.

North Carolina General Statutes § 59-36 (1989) states that “[a]
partnership is an association of two or more persons to carry on as
co-owners a business for profit.” To prove existence of a partnership,
an express agreement is not required; the intent of the parties can be
inferred by their conduct and an examination of all of the circum-
stances. Peed v. Peed, 72 N.C. App. 549, 325 S.E.2d 275, cert. denied,
313 N.C. 604, 330 S.E.2d 612 (1985). “A partnership is a combination
of two or more persons of their property, effects, labor, or skill in a
common business or venture, under an agreement to share the prof-
its or losses in equal or specified proportions, and constituting each
member an agent of the others in matters appertaining to the part-
nership and within the scope of its business.” Zickgraf Hardwood
Co. v. Seay, 60 N.C. App. 128, 133, 298 S.E.2d 208, 211 (1982), citing
Johnson v. Gill, 235 N.C. 40, 68 S.E.2d 788 (1952). “Our appellate
courts have clearly held that co-ownership and sharing of any actual
profits are indispensable requisites for a partnership.” Wilder v.
Hobson, 101 N.C. App. 199, 202, 398 S.E.2d 625, 627 (1990), citing
Sturm v. Goss, 90 N.C. App. 326, 368 S.E.2d 399 (1988).

The evidence presented herein shows that plaintiff certainly con-
tributed her “property, effects, labor, [and] skill” to the business
known as WWL; indeed, the testimony indicates that it was through
her efforts the business was able to be initially capitalized. We also
find persuasive the evidence that WWL operated from the home
which was owned by both of the parties; that plaintiff handled most
of the financial affairs of the business; that plaintiff purchased equip-
ment used in the landscaping business with funds from her personal
account and also paid for some of the debts of the business from her
personal account; and that plaintiff never received a salary for her
services but systematically wrote checks from the WWL account for
her personal as well as joint debts. Therefore, we find defendant’s
contention that the trial court erred in finding the evidence as a mat-
ter of law sufficient to support the verdict without merit.

Defendant next argues that the trial court erred in that plaintiff’s
claim is barred as against public policy. Defendant contends that
“[t]he ‘partnership’ proposed by the plaintiff was against public poli-



142 IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

PATTERSON v. PIERCE
[115 N.C. App. 142 (1994)]

cy because it would allow her to escape the effects of the prior
divorce decree and because the illicit relationship of the parties was
the basis for the agreement.” We disagree with defendant. The
actions presented in the instant case all took place after the parties
were divorced. Additionally, we find no evidence that the “illicit rela-
tionship” has formed a part of the consideration of any binding con-
tract. This argument is meritless.

No error.

Judges ORR and WYNN concur.
]

RONALD D. PATTERSON anp wirg, ROBIN PATTERSON, PraintiFrs v. CURTIS
PIERCE, ADMINISTRATOR OF THE ESTATE OF ELMER RAY PIERCE, DEFENDANT

No. 93115C923
(Filed 7 June 1994)

Automobiles and Other Vehicles § 464 (NCI4th)— onrushing
truck—failure to take evasive action—no actionable
negligence

The trial court properly granted summary judgment for
defendant in plaintiff’s action to recover for injuries sustained in
an automobile accident where the evidence tended to show that
plaintiff was a passenger in a truck which went out of control
during heavy rain; the truck veered into the path of defendant’s
vehicle; though another vehicle in front of defendant’s avoided
the truck in the less than five seconds available to react, defend-
ant, who had less than one second more to react, failed to take
evasive action; and even if defendant made an error of judgment
in failing to react to the onrushing truck, no reasonable mind
could conclude that such an error of judgment rose to the level
of actionable negligence.

Am Jur 2d, Automobiles and Highway Traffic § 420.
Appeal by plaintiffs from judgment signed 29 July 1993 in Lee

County Superior Court by Judge Narley L. Cashwell. Heard in the
Court of Appeals 9 May 1994.

Plaintiffs brought this action seeking to recover damages for per-
sonal injuries to plaintiff Ronald Patterson and loss of consortium by
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plaintiff Robin Patterson. In their complaint, plaintiffs alleged Ronald
Patterson’s injuries were caused by the negligent operation of an
automobile operated by defendant’s intestate Elmer Pierce. Defend-
ant answered with general denials. Following discovery, the trial
court heard and allowed defendant’s motion for summary judgment,
from which order plaintiffs have appealed.

J. Douglas Moretz, PA., by Beverly D. Basden, for plaintiffs-
appellants.

Russ, Worth, Cheatwood & Guthrie, by Philip H. Cheatwood,
for defendant-appellee.

WELLS, Judge.

Although our appellate courts have consistently held that sum-
mary judgment is rarely appropriate in negligence actions, see Lamb
v. Wedgewood South Corp., 308 N.C. 419, 302 S.E.2d 868 (1983); nev-
ertheless, summary judgment should be entered where the forecast
of evidence before the trial court demonstrates that a plaintiff cannot
support an essential element of his claim. Roumillat v. Simplistic
Enterprises, Inc., 331 N.C. 57, 414 S.E.2d 339 (1992).

The materials before the trial court in this case consisted of the
parties’ pleadings, the depositions of Ronald Patterson, Frankie
Wicker, and James QOakley, and the affidavit of Richard Edwards. The
depositions we refer to reflect the following pertinent events and cir-
cumstances.

On the morning of 17 July 1989, plaintiff Ronald Patterson was
riding as a passenger in a pickup truck being driven by Frankie
Wicker in a southerly direction near Vass on U.S. Highway 1. It was
raining very heavily. As he was driving at a speed of about 50-55 miles
per hour, Wicker lost control of his truck. The truck suddenly skid-
ded across the center line of U.S. Highway 1 and struck an automo-
bile driven in the opposite direction by defendant’s intestate, Elmer
Pierce, who was killed in the collision. The other occupant of the
Pierce vehicle, Pierce’s wife, was also killed in the collision.

James Oakley was driving his truck in a northerly direction along
U.S. Highway 1 at a speed of about 40 miles per hour. The Pierce car
was approximately two car lengths behind Oakley when Oakley
observed the truck Wicker was operating skidding out of control
across the center line toward his truck. Oakley then veered to his
right and thereby avoided the Wicker truck. Almost immediately, the
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Wicker truck struck the front of the Pierce car, resulting in the total
demolition of the Pierce car and the death of its occupants.

Both Wicker and Oakley described the weather conditions at the
time as terrible, resulting in severely reduced visibility. They both
stated that once Wicker began to lose control of his truck, it veered
quickly into the opposite lane of travel. Due to his evasive movement,
Oakley was able to avoid the collision. Pierce did not make an eva-
sive move prior to the collision of the Wicker truck with his car.

In his affidavit, Richard Edwards stated that he had nine years of
experience in accident reconstruction and had testified approxi-
mately 24 times as an expert witness concerning reconstruction of
vehicular accidents. Based on his interview with James Oakley,
Edwards stated that (1) the Wicker truck was out of control at the
point of impact resulting from hydroplaning on excess water on the
roadway; (2) based on the speed of the Wicker truck at 45-48 miles
per hour and the Pierce car at about 40 miles per hour, Oakley’s eva-
sion of the Wicker truck required at least 2.5 to 4.5 seconds; and (3)
based on a “reasonable” following distance, Pierce would have had
an additional 1.5 to 2.5 seconds to evade the collision. From these
observations, Edwards stated that in his opinion Pierce had the
opportunity to avoid the collision and that the reason he did not was
because he was looking somewhere other than in the forward
direction.

In light of this forecast of evidence, considered in the light most
favorable to plaintiffs, we hold that the trial court properly entered
summary judgment for defendant.

Actionable negligence requires a showing that (1) there has been
a failure to exercise proper care in the performance of some legal
duty which a defendant owed to the plaintiff under the circum-
stances in which they were placed and (2) such breach of duty was a
proximate cause of the plaintiff’s injury. See Hairston v. Alexander
Tank & Equipment Co., 310 N.C. 227, 311 S.E.2d 559 (1984). It is this
threshold requirement which plaintiffs have not shown in this case.
Forgy v. Schwartz, 262 N.C. 185, 136 S.E.2d 668 (1964) contains a
thorough discussion and analysis of the duty of a motorist, though
traveling at a lawful speed and in his proper lane, to avoid colliding
with another vehicle which comes into his path from the opposite
direction.
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In Forgy, Justice (later Chief Justice) Sharp aptly stated the prin-
ciple that when a motorist is suddenly (emphasis supplied) con-
fronted with such circumstances, without opportunity to reason or
reflect, he is not held to the wisest choice of conduct but only to such
choice as a person of ordinary care and prudence similarly situated
would have made. /d. Some allowance must be made for the exigen-
cies of the moment, and time must be allowed for the driver put in
such peril without his fault to comprehend the danger and form a
judgment as to how to meet it. Id. “In applying the doctrine of sudden
emergency, the courts have not been inclined to weigh in ‘golden
scales’ the conduct of the motorist who has acted under the excited
impulse of sudden panic induced by the negligence of the other
~ motorist.” Id.

In the case now before us, the Wicker vehicle was traveling at a
speed of approximately 50 miles per hour, covering a distance of 73.3
feet per second, while the Pierce vehicle was traveling at a speed of
40 miles per hour, covering a distance of 58.7 feet per second. Hence,
taking the median speeds, the closing speed between the two vehi-
cles prior to the collision was approximately 132 feet per second.
Assuming, as plaintiffs’ evidence tended to show, that the Pierce
vehicle was two car lengths (approximately 24 feet) behind the Oak-
ley vehicle, Mr. Pierce had a maximum of .18 seconds more than Mr.
Oakley in which to form a judgment and take evasive action. Given
these circumstances, if we were to accept arguendo that Mr. Pierce
made any error of judgment in failing to react to the onrush of the
Wicker truck toward him, no reasonable mind could conclude that
such an error of judgment rose to the level of actionable negligence.

For the reasons stated, the judgment below is
Affirmed.

Judges JOHNSON and JOHN concur.
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ANGELO PURVIS, PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT V. BRYSON’S JEWELERS, INC.,
DEFENDANT/APPELLEE

No. 9318SC838
(Filed 7 June 1994)

Negligence § 108 (NCI4th)— armed robbery of store
customer—insufficiency of evidence of foreseeability

In an action to recover for injuries sustained by plaintiff cus-
tomer during an armed robbery at defendant’s store, the evidence
was insufficient to create a triable issue on the question of fore-
seeability where there was evidence of only one crime on
defendant’s premises, and that was a non-violent property crime;
evidence of crime away from defendant’s store was of criminal
activity within an approximately three-block area around the
store; there were no instances of armed robbery of jewelry stores
in evidence; and these facts were not sufficient to give defendant
reason to believe that there was a likelihood that third persons
would endanger the safety of its invitees.

Am Jur 2d, Premises Liability § 29.

Appeal by plaintiff from order filed 20 July 1993 by Judge James
A. Beaty, Jr. in Guilford County Superior Court. Heard in the Court of
Appeals 19 April 1994.

Egerton, Hodgman & Brenner, by Lawrence J. D’Amelio, III
and Lawrence Egerton, Jr., for plaintiff-appellant.

Bell, Davis & Pitt, PA., by Joseph T. Carruthers, for defendant-
appellee.

LEWIS, Judge.

Plaintiff commenced this negligence action against defendant’s
Jjewelry store to recover for the injuries he sustained during an armed
robbery of the store. Plaintiff alleged that his injuries were the result
of defendant’s failure to provide adequate security or to warn of
potential danger. The trial court granted summary judgment for
defendant, and plaintiff appeals.

The evidence tended to show that on 1 June 1991, plaintiff
entered the jewelry store, located on Summit Avenue in Greensboro,
to pick up a ring he had brought in for sizing. Two men, who were
already in the store when plaintiff arrived, then proceeded to rob the
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store. In the course of the robbery, one of the men shot plaintiff and
two store employees. As a result of the shooting, plaintiff was para-
lyzed from the waist down.

On appeal, the sole question is whether defendant owed a duty to
plaintiff to protect or warn him. It is well established that one who
enters a store as a customer during business hours is considered a
business invitee. Abernethy v. Spartan Food Sys., Inc., 103 N.C. App.
154, 155, 404 S.E.2d 710, 712 (1991). Ordinarily, the store owner is not
liable to his invitees for injuries which result from the intentional,
criminal acts of third persons. Id. at 155-56, 404 S.E.2d at 712. How-
ever, where circumstances exist which give the owner reason to
know that there is a likelihood of conduct on the part of third per-
sons which endangers the safety of the invitees, a duty to protect or
warn the invitees can be imposed. Id. at 156, 404 S.E.2d at 712. Thus,
the test for determining when this duty arises is one of foreseeabili-
ty. Murrow v. Daniels, 321 N.C. 494, 501, 364 S.E.2d 392, 397 (1988).
Plaintiff argues that the forecast of evidence in the present case was
sufficient to raise a triable issue as to whether the armed robbery
was reasonably foreseeable. We disagree.

The affidavits and other evidence presented by plaintiff tended to
show that during the years 1986 through 1989, there were 937 inci-
dents of criminal activity, ranging from minor to serious offenses, in
the approximately three-block area in which the jewelry store is
located. Of those offenses, twenty-four were armed robberies.
Approximately half of those armed robberies occurred at food or gro-
cery stores, with the next most common sites being banks, depart-
ment stores, and parking lots. The only prior criminal activity at the
jewelry store occurred in December 1990. On that occasion, a person
broke in after hours and stole a small amount of merchandise.

The most probative evidence on the question of foreseeability is
evidence of similar prior criminal activity committed on the defend-
ant’s premises. Sawyer v. Carter, 71 N.C. App. 556, 561, 322 S.E.2d
813, 817 (1984), disc. review denied, 313 N.C. 509, 329 S.E.2d 393
(1985). Moreover, while evidence of crimes away from the premises
may be relevant, courts are reluctant to impose liability absent evi-
dence of prior criminal activity on the premises. Id. at 561, 322 S.E.2d
at 816. Indeed, the cases in which our courts have held the evidence
sufficient to go to the jury on the issue of foreseeability have gener-
ally involved numerous incidents of prior criminal activity on the
premises. See Foster v. Winston-Salem Joint Venture, 303 N.C. 636,
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281 S.E.2d 36 (1981); Urbano v. Days Inn of America, Inc., 58 N.C.
App. 795, 295 S.E.2d 240 (1982). One exception to the general rule is
found in Murrow v. Daniels, 321 N.C. 494, 364 S.E.2d 392 (1988),
where our Supreme Court held that the criminal activity in the area
immediately surrounding defendants’ premises was sufficient to
raise issues of fact concerning foreseeability. Id. at 502-03, 364 S.E.2d
at 398.

In that case, the plaintiff was sexually assaulted and robbed in
her room at defendants’ motel. The evidence showed that the motel
was located at the intersection of Interstate 95 and Highway 70,
which was known to be a high-crime intersection. In fact, at the
motel next door to defendants’, there had been five armed robberies
in the preceding four years. Other reported incidents at the intersec-
tion included one kidnapping, three assaults, one vehicle theft, and
sixty-three instances of breaking and entering and larceny. Id. at 502,
364 S.E.2d at 398. There was also evidence of various property crimes
at defendants’ motel. Id. The Court concluded that in light of the
criminal activity that had occurred in such close proximity to defend-
ants’ motel, the issue of foreseeability was for the jury to decide. Id.
at 502-03, 364 S.E.2d at 398.

In the case at hand, there was evidence of only one crime on
defendant’s premises, and that crime was a non-violent property
crime. In addition, the evidence of crime away from defendant’s store
was of criminal activity within an approximately three-block area
around the store. There were no instances of armed robbery of jew-
elry stores in evidence. These facts were not sufficient to give
defendant reason to believe that there was a likelihood that third per-
sons would endanger the safety of its invitees. Accordingly, we con-
clude that the evidence was not sufficient to create a triable issue on
the question of foreseeability, and the trial court properly granted
summary judgment for defendant.

For the reasons stated, the order of the trial court is affirmed.

Affirmed.

Judges EAGLES and WYNN concur.
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MARIE G. SMITH ano MIRANDA BLAINE SMITH v. MICHAEL R. BUMGARNER anp
ROBIN BRUCE SMITH

No. 9325DC5E52
(Filed 7 June 1994)

1. Illegitimate Children § 4 (NCI4th)— paternity action—no
guardian ad litem for minor child—dismissal error—
appointment of new guardian required

Dismissal of a paternity action due to the non-appointment of
a guardian ad litem for the minor child is clearly error, since the
proper practice where there is a fatal defect of the parties is for
the court to refuse to deal with the merits of the case until the
absent parties are brought into the action. In this case, the trial
court should have, ex mero motu, appointed a new guardian ad
litem for the minor child.

Am Jur 2d, Bastards §§ 77, 84-86, 89.

Necessity or propriety of appointment of independent
guardian for child who is subject of paternity proceedings.
70 ALR4th 1033.

2. Illegitimate Children § 4 (NCI4th)— paternity action—
child not a necessary party—action dismissed—error

The minor child is not a necessary party in a paternity action
pursuant to N.C.G.S. § 49-14 or an action for custody and sup-
port; moreover, N.C.G.S. § 49-16 allows either the mother, the
father, or the child to bring the action. Therefore, the trial court
erred in dismissing this action brought pursuant to N.C.G.S.
§ 49-14 because the child was not a party to the action.

Am Jur 2d, Bastards §§ 77, 84-86, 89.

Necessity or propriety of appointment of independent
guardian for child who is subject of paternity proceedings.
70 ALR4th 1033.

Appeal by plaintiff from order entered 18 March 1993 by Judge
Nancy Einstein in Catawba County District Court. Heard in the Court
of Appeals 3 March 1994.

Plaintiff Marie G. Smith commenced this action alleging that
defendant Michael R. Bumgarner is the biological father of her minor
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child Miranda Blaine Smith (“Miranda”), who was born 14 March
1981. Plaintiff sought an order granting her permanent custody of
Miranda and requiring defendant Bumgarner to pay child support.

At the time of Miranda’s birth, Marie G. Smith was married to
Robin Bruce Smith, who was listed on Miranda's birth certificate as
her father. Upon motion of defendant Bumgarner, Robin Bruce Smith
was joined as a necessary party defendant; by consent of the parties,
Miranda was joined as a necessary party plaintiff. A guardian ad litem
was appointed for Miranda; however the guardian ad litem was sub-
sequently permitted to withdraw and no other guardian ad litem was
ever appointed.

When the matter was called for trial, defendant Bumgarner
moved to dismiss the entire action on the grounds that Miranda had
not been properly made a party to the action since she was not rep-
resented by a guardian ad litem. The trial court allowed the motion
and dismissed the action. Plaintiff Marie G. Smith appealed.

Sherwood Carter for plaintiff-appellant.

Sigmon, Sigmon and Isenhower, by W. Gene Sigmon, for
defendant-appellee Bumgarner.

MARTIN, Judge.

In a civil action to establish paternity of an alleged illegitimate
child pursuant to G.S. § 49-14 et seq., does the failure to properly join
that child justify dismissal of the action? We conclude, for two rea-
sons, that the order of the trial court dismissing this action must be
reversed.

[1] Initially, we observe that dismissal of this action due to the non-
appointment of a guardian ad litem for Miranda Smith is clearly error.
Even where there is a fatal defect of the parties, as defendant
Bumgarner apparently convinced the trial court here, dismissal of
the action is not warranted. Rather, “the court should refuse to deal
with the merits of the case until the absent parties are brought into
the action, and in the absence of a proper motion by a competent per-
son, the defect should be corrected by ex mero motu ruling of the
court.” Booker v. Everhart, 294 N.C. 146, 158, 240 S.E.2d 360, 367
(1978). (Citations omitted.) Infants are particularly entitled to the
protection of the courts; in order to protect Miranda’s interests, the
trial court should have, ex mero motu, appointed a new guardian ad
litem for her.



IN THE COURT OF APPEALS 151

SMITH v. BUMGARNER
{115 N.C. App. 149 (1994)]

[2] We do not believe, however, that Miranda is a necessary party to
this action. Chapter 49, Article 3 of the North Carolina General
Statutes, entitled “Civil Actions Regarding Illegitimate Children,”
sets forth the statutory provisions applicable to this case. G.S.
§ 49-14(a) provides:

The paternity of a child born out of wedlock may be estab-
lished by civil action at any time prior to such child’s eighteenth
birthday. A certified copy of a certificate of birth of the child
shall be attached to the complaint. Such establishment of pater-
nity shall not have the effect of legitimation. (Emphasis added.)

G.S. § 49-16 provides:
Proceedings under this Article may be brought by:

(1) The mother, the father, the child, or the personal representa-
tive of the mother or the child.

A child born to a married woman but begotten by one other than
her husband is a child “born out of wedlock.” In re Legitimation of
Locklear, 314 N.C. 412, 334 S.E.2d 46 (1985) (interpreting G.S.
§ 49-10); Wright v. Gann, 27 N.C. App. 45, 217 S.E.2d 761, cert.
denied, 288 N.C. 513, 219 S.E.2d 348 (1975) (interpreting G.S.
§ 49-14). The legislative purpose of an action under G.S. § 49-14 is to
provide the basis or means of establishing the identity of the biolog-
ical father so that the child’s right to support may be enforced and the
child will not become a public charge. Becton v. George, 90 N.C. App.
607, 369 S.E.2d 366 (1988). In actions for custody and support of a
minor child in North Carolina, the minor child is not a necessary
party. Moreover, G.S. § 49-16 allows either the mother, the father, or
the child (or the representative of either the mother or child) to bring
the action. A statute’s words should be given their natural and ordi-
nary meaning, Hyler v. GTE Products Co., 333 N.C. 2b8, 425 S.E.2d
698 (1993), and need not be interpreted when they speak for them-
selves. Abeyounis v. Town of Wrightsville Beach, 102 N.C. App. 341,
401 S.E.2d 847 (1991). A court must presume that the legislature, in
enacting law, acted with full knowledge of prior and existing law.
Whittington v. N.C. Dept. of Human Resources, 100 N.C. App. 603,
398 S.E.2d 40 (1990). Where a statute contains two clauses which pre-
scribe its applicability and clauses are connected by the disjunctive
“or,” application of the statute is not limited to cases falling within
both clauses but applies to cases falling within either. Davis v. Gran-
ite Corporation, 259 N.C. 672, 131 S.E.2d 335 (1963).
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Those persons who may bring a proceeding pursuant to G.S.
§ 49-14, et seq., are specifically enumerated in G.S. § 49-16, separated
by commas and the disjunctive “or.” The provision is not ambiguous
and its natural and ordinary meaning indicates that either of the list-
ed persons may bring an action pursuant to G.S. § 49-14. Conversely,
a child is expressly required as a necessary party to a legitimation
proceeding pursuant to G.S. § 49-10. In re Legitimation of Locklear,
supra. If the legislature had intended to require the child to be joined
as a necessary party in an action under G.S. § 49-14, then it would
have specifically stated such, as it did in G.S. § 49-10. G.S. § 49-14
expressly states that an establishment of paternity under that section
does not have the effect of legitimation. Accordingly, we conclude
that the minor Miranda Blaine Smith was not a “necessary party” to
this action, and that dismissal of plaintiff’'s complaint pursuant to
G.S. § 1A-1, Rule 12(b)(7) was error.

Reversed and Remanded.
Judges EAGLES and McCRODDEN concur.
. ]
METROPOLITAN LIFE INSURANCE CO., PLAINTIFF v. C. E. ROWELL, DEFENDANT

No. 92265C877
(Filed 7 June 1994)

1. Liens § 40 (NCI4th)— beneficiary of deed of trust—not
party to prior action—beneficiary not precluded from
challenging lien which has been reduced to judgment

A beneficiary of a deed of trust is not precluded, based on the
doctrine of res judicata, from challenging the enforceability and
priority of a claim of lien for labor and materials that has been
reduced to judgment where the beneficiary was not a party to the
prior action.

Am Jur 2d, Mechanics’ Liens §§ 386, 387.
2. Liens § 40 (NCI4th)— materialmen’s lien—substantial

compliance with statute—priority

Defendant contractor’s lien for labor and materials had pri-
ority over the deed of trust held by plaintiff where defendant’s
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claim of lien was in substantial compliance with N.C.G.S.
§ 44A-12; defects in the claim of lien were not found in defend-
ant’s judgment; the judgment awards defendant $267,700 with
interest and properly orders a sale of the property to enforce the
lien; the judgment is for less than the total amount asserted in the
claim of lien; and the judgment properly refers to the date when
labor and materials were first furnished to the site.

Am Jur 2d, Mechanics’ Liens §§ 263-283.

Appeal by defendant from judgment entered 2 July 1992 by Judge
Claude S. Sitton in Mecklenburg County Superior Court. Heard in the
Court of Appeals 31 August 1993.

Petree Stockton, L.L.P, by David B. Hamilton and B. David
Carson, for plaintiff-appellee.

William G. Robinson for defendant-appellant.

JOHNSON, Judge.

Plaintiff Metropolitan Life Insurance Company (hereafter, Metro-
politan) timely petitioned for rehearing in this matter. We have grant-
ed this petition.

The facts of this appeal are set out in Metropolitan Life Insur-
ance Co. v. Rowell, 113 N.C. App. 779, 440 S.E.2d 283 (1994). In this
opinion, we address the basis for plaintiff’s petition for rehearing.
Plaintiff contends that in our previous opinion, we

held that a beneficiary of a deed of trust such as Metropolitan is
precluded, based on the doctrine of res judicata, from challeng-
ing the enforceability and priority of a claim of lien that has been
reduced to judgment, where that beneficiary was not a party to
the prior lien enforcement action.

Plaintiff points out that our Court recognized and examined defects
in defendant’s claim of lien against Tantilla Associates, but went on
to opine, “[hJowever, we do not now question whether these con-
cerns we have cited were properly or improperly considered by the
trial court because this judgment, having not been appealed, is res
Judicata.” Id. at 784, 440 S.E.2d at 285.

[1] Plaintiff argues that “a beneficiary of a deed of trust is not pre-
cluded, based on the doctrine of res judicata, from challenging the
enforceability and priority of a claim of lien that has been reduced to
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Judgment where the beneficiary was not a party to the prior action.”
Plaintiff cites Assurance Society v. Basnight, 234 N.C. 347, 67 S.E.2d
390 (1951), Childers v. Powell, 243 N.C. 711, 92 S.E.2d 65 (1956) and
Miller v. Lemon Tree Inn, 32 N.C. App. 524, 233 S.E.2d 69 (1977) in
support of its position. Our Court in Miller, 32 N.C. App. 524, 527-28,
233 S.E.2d 69, 72 stated:

The law does not place upon the materialman the burden to join
in the action to enforce his lien all parties who have acquired
liens upon the property subsequent to the time the materiaiman
first furnished labor and materials in order that the material-
men’s lien will relate back prior to the effective dates of the other
liens. Only the owner of the property subject to the material-
men’s lien is required to be a party to an action to enforce the
claim of lien. [Citations omitted.] However, it is axiomatic that a
judgment cannot be binding upon persons who were not party or
privy to an action. [Citation omitted.] [Trustees and beneficiary
of the deed of trust] were not parties to the action by [the mate-
rialman] to enforce its materialmen’s lien. Therefore, they were
free to challenge the default judgment purporting to enforce
[the materialmen’s] lien in this action to foreclose their deed of
trust in order to have the priority of the liens determined.
(Emphasis added.)

Accordingly, plaintiff is “free to challenge the . . . judgment pur-
porting to enforce [defendant’s] lien in this action . . . to have the pri-
ority of the liens determined.”

[2] Therefore, we once again examine defendant’s judgment. In our
previous opinion, we noted:

[T]he evidence indicates that the claim of lien which defendant
filed includes items that appear to be questionably lienable. For
example, one item in the claim of lien states defendant was hired
“as an employee to work on the Tantilla Apartments[.] . . . The
general description of the employment contract . . . provid[ed]
for $44,000 per year, plus $150 per week for gas expenses in using
. . . [defendant’s] truck for the owners.” Another item states that
“[o]wners also promised to pay [defendant’s} bill at Myrtle Beach
Lumber in the amount of $20,000 plus accumulated interest. This
was an additional amount of [defendant’s] employment con-
tract.” The judgment entered by the trial court resulting in
defendant obtaining the statutory lien does not specifically
address these questionable items; evidently, these items were
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resolved in determining the damages as to the breach of the con-
tract to build and construct the project between defendant and
Tantilla.

We further note that the amounts awarded in the judgment for
specific items vary from the amounts set forth in the claim of
lien; that the judgment contains two items which were not listed
in the claim of lien; and that the total judgment award differs but
does not exceed the total amount asserted in the claim of lien.

Rowell, 113 N.C. App. at 783, 440 S.E.2d at 285.

In Lowery v. Haithcock, 239 N.C. 67, 73, 79 S.E.2d 204, 208
(1953), our Supreme Court stated that although individual items in a
claim of lien failed to comply with the materialmen’s lien statute,
“[t]he notice of claim, generally speaking, is in substantial compli-
ance with the statute and . . . must be upheld.” (See also Conner Co.
v. Spanish Inns, 294 N.C. 661, 242 S.E.2d 785 (1978), where the plain-
tiff timely filed a claim of lien under North Carolina General Statutes
§ 44A in the amount of $543,919.58 due under a construction con-
tract, and a panel of arbitrators determined the amount of the lien on
the property to be $195,936.00; and Dail Plumbing, Inc. v. Roger
Baker & Assoc., 78 N.C. App. 664, 338 S.E.2d 135, disc. review
denied, 316 N.C. 731, 345 S.E.2d 398 (1986), where although the plain-
tiff filed a blanket materialmen’s lien on a condominium complex,
our Court instructed the trial court to apportion the lien so that it
was in the amount of the value of labor and materials provided by the
plaintiff as to a particular unit.)

In the case sub judice, defendant’s claim of lien was in substan-
tial compliance with North Carolina General Statutes § 44A-12
(1989). The defects in the claim of lien which we recognized and
examined in our earlier opinion are not found in defendant’s judg-
ment. Defendant’s “judgment properly awards a total of $267,700.00
to defendant, with interest at the legal rate from 29 January 1989, and
properly orders a sale of the property to enforce the lien.” Metropol-
itan, 113 N.C. App. at 784, 440 S.E.2d at 285. Nor does the trial court’s
omission of the effective date of the lien from the judgment bar
defendant’s lien. Jennings Glass Co. v. Brummer, 88 N.C. App. 44,
52, 362 S.E.2d 578, 583 (1987), disc. review denied, 321 N.C. 473, 364
S.E.2d 921 (1988). Finally, we again note that the trial court’s judg-
ment award ($267,700.00 with interest) did not exceed the total
amount asserted in the claim of lien ($345,805.00). See North
Carolina General Statutes § 44A-13(b) (1989).
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Therefore, we find defendant properly met the requirements of
North Carolina General Statutes § 44A, and the judgment signed by
the trial judge properly referred to the site upon which defendant
wanted a lien declared and related the lien back to the date when
labor and materials were first furnished at the site. Defendant’s lien
has priority over the deed of trust held by plaintiff.

The decision of the trial judge is reversed.

Judges WYNN and JOHN concur.

CUSTOM MOLDERS, INC., PLaNTIFF v. AMERICAN YARD PRODUCTS, INC., FORMER-
LY KNOWN AS ROPER CORPORATION, DEFENDANT

No. 93145C392
(Filed 7 June 1994)

1. Judgments § 651 (NCI4th)— treble damages awarded—no
post-judgment interest

Pursuant to N.C.G.S. § 24-5(b) and Love v. Keith, 95 N.C.App.
549, plaintiff was not entitled to post-judgment interest on the
treble damages portion of its judgment from the date of judgment
until paid.

Am Jur 2d, Interest and Usury §§ 59 et seq.

2. Costs § 7 (NCI4th)— plaintiff not prevailing party—no
right to attorney’s fees

Although N.C.G.S. § 75-16.1 includes fees for services ren-
dered at all stages of litigation, including appeals, and should be
construed liberally, plaintiff was not the prevailing party in this
case and therefore was not entitled to attorneys’ fees in bringing
a motion to protect its judgment and in bringing the present
appeal.

Am Jur 2d, Costs §§ 26 et seq.
Appeal by plaintiff from order entered 5 January 1993 by Judge

Jack A. Thompson in Durham County Superior Court. Heard in the
Court of Appeals 3 February 1994.
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A trial on the matter of Custom Molders, Inc. v. Roper Corpora-
tion was held in February 1988. The jury awarded plaintiff compen-
satory damages of $249,016 for breach of contract. The trial court
thereafter concluded that defendant’s actions were unfair and decep-
tive under N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-1.1 (1988) and trebled the damages
against defendant to $747,048 pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-16. The
court also awarded plaintiff $49,000 as its reasonable attorneys’ fees.
The judgment provided in pertinent part as follows:

IT 1S THEREFORE ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that the plaintiff
Custom Molders, Inc. shall have and recover from the defendant
Roper Corporation the sum of $747,048, together with reasonable
attorneys’ fees in the amount of $49,000 and interest as provided
by law from the date of entry of this judgment.

To stay execution of the judgment pending appeal, defendant’s
surety, The Aetna Casualty and Surety Company, executed and filed
a supersedeas bond in the amount of $1,003,020.48. On 19 February
1991, the Court of Appeals affirmed the judgment. Custom Molders,
Inc. v. Roper Corp., 101 N.C. App. 606, 401 S.E.2d 96 (1991). By order
dated 7 November 1991, the Supreme Court affirmed the decision of
the Court of Appeals. Custom Molders, Inc. v. Roper Corp., 330 N.C.
191, 410 S.E.2d 55 (1991) (per curiam).

On 14 February 1992, defendant tendered payment in the amount
of $940,447.53 to the Clerk of Durham County Superior Court as pay-
ment of the judgment. This sum was calculated as follows:

Judgment of $249,016 Trebled $747,048.00
Pre-appeal Attorneys’ Fees 49,000.00
Post-judgment Attorneys’ Fees 70,300.00

Post-judgment Interest on
Compensatory Award through

2-14-92 [54.58 per day] 74,063.53
Court Costs ~46.00
$940,447.53

The Clerk of Superior Court designated defendant’s payment as a
partial payment.

Based on the calculation of the Clerk of Superior Court that the
payment by defendant was a partial payment, plaintiff filed a Motion
for Judgment Against Defendant’s Surety on 14 October 1992 for the
remaining amount owed on plaintiff’'s judgment, plus additional
attorneys’ fees for protecting its judgment in these proceedings.
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A hearing was held on 16 November 1992 on plaintiff’s motions.
By order dated 4 January 1993, the trial court denied plaintiff’s
motion, finding that plaintiff was not entitled to post-judgment inter-
est on the trebled portion of its judgment. The court accordingly
denied plaintiff’s motion for additional attorneys’ fees in connection
with its motion against the surety. Plaintiff appeals the denial of its
motions.

Charles A. Bentley, Jr. & Associates, PA., by Charles A.
Bentley, Jr. and Susan B. Kilzer, for plaintiff appellant.

Brown & Bunch, by M. LeAnn Nease, for defendant appellee.

ARNOLD, Chief Judge.

[1] Plaintiff’s first assignment of error is that the trial court erred by
denying plaintiff’s motion for post-judgment interest on the treble
damages portion of its judgment from the date of judgment until paid.
Plaintiff bases its argument on an exhaustive review of the legislative
history of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 24-5(b) (1991). We, however, do not find
it necessary to examine the statute in such detail because the plain
language of G.S. § 24-5(b), as well as a recent decision of this Court,
squarely rebut plaintiff’s argument.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 24-5, entitled Contracts, except penal bonds,
and judgments to bear interest, provides in pertinent part:

(b) Other Actions.—In an action other than contract, the por-
tion of money judgment designated by the fact finder as com-
pensatory damages bears interest from the date the action is
instituted until the judgment is satisfied. Interest on an award in
an action other than contract shall be at the legal rate.

This Court addressed the application of G.S. § 24-5(b) to verdicts
trebled pursuant to G.S. § 75-16 in Love v. Keith, 95 N.C. App. 549,
383 S.E.2d 674 (1989). We held in Love:

The defendants finally argue the trial judge erred in imposing
interest on the portion of the judgment in excess of $3,400. We
agree. Since the defendants’ conduct violated N.C.G.S. Sec.
75-1.1 et seq., the trial judge properly trebled the jury’s $3,400 ver-
dict. N.C.G.S. Sec. 75-16. The trial judge then ordered interest on
the full $10,200. In this the trial judge erred since N.C.G.S. Sec.
24-5(b) (1986) only provides for interest on compensatory
damages as designated by the fact finder. The fact finder here,
the jury, specified compensatory damages of only $3,400. The
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plaintiffs may receive interest only on $3,400, calculated as spec-
ified in N.C.G.S. Sec. 24-5(b).

Id. at 557-58, 383 S.E.2d at 679 (emphasis added).

The applicable portion of G.S. § 24-5(b) in effect when Love was
decided is identical to the statutory language applicable in this case.
Plaintiff argues that according to Section 2 of the 1985 Session Laws,
the current language of the statute does not affect the law as it
existed before the enactment of Chapter 327 of the 1981 Session
Laws, which provided in pertinent part that “the amount of any judg-
ment . . . in any kind of action, . . . shall bear interest till paid . ...”
G.S. § 24-5 (1965). Therefore, plaintiff contends, North Carolina law
provides for post-judgment interest on any judgment, including a
judgment for treble damages, in any kind of action until paid. We dis-
agree.

In the case at bar, the trial court properly trebled the jury’s
$249,016 verdict pursuant to G.S. § 75-16. Under the plain language of
G.S. § 24-5(b), and the holding in Love, only the portion of the judg-
ment designated by the fact finder as “compensatory” accrues post-
judgment interest.

[2] Plaintiff next contends that in addition to its attorneys’ fees of
$49,000 for services rendered through the time of entry of the judg-
ment, and $70,300 for services rendered by plaintiff’s counsel in
defending against the first appeal, plaintiff is entitled to additional
attorneys’ fees in bringing a motion to protect its judgment and in
bringing the present appeal pursuant to G.S. § 75-16.1. G.S. § 75-16.1
states that “the presiding judge may, in his discretion, allow a rea-
sonable attorney fee to the . . . attorney representing the prevailing
party . . ..” Although G.S. § 75-16.1 includes fees for services ren-
dered at all stages of litigation, including appeals, see Cotion v.
Stanley, 94 N.C. App. 367, 380 S.E.2d 419 (1989), and should be con-
structed liberally, see City Finance Co. v. Boykin, 86 N.C. App. 446,
358 S.E.2d 83 (1987), plaintiff is not the prevailing party in this case.
Therefore, it is not entitled to attorneys’ fees with regards to its
motion or this appeal.

Affirmed.

Judges WYNN and McCRODDEN concur.
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CHARLES H. WEBER, PLaINTIFF v. RICHARD H. HOLLAND, JR., AND HOLLAND
GLASS COMPANY, INC., A CORPORATION, DEFENDANTS

No. 93255C994

(Filed 7 June 1994)

Evidence and Witnesses § 1994 (NCI4th)— refund of deposits
for stock purchase—summary judgment proper—evidence
of oral agreement inadmissible to vary terms of writing

In an action to recover sums which plaintiff had deposited
with defendant company in anticipation of the purchase of stock,
the trial court did not err in entering summary judgment for
plaintiff, since the written documents serving as receipts con-
tained in the record stated in express terms that each of the
deposits was immediately refundable upon demand; one docu-
ment expressly stated that if no formal purchase agreement were
executed, all deposit sums plus accrued interest would be
returned to plaintiff; these documents were signed by defendant;
and parol evidence of a verbal agreement as to the sale of com-
pany stock could not be admitted to vary or contradict the terms
of the parties’ final writing.

Am Jur 2d, Contracts §§ 260-263.

Appeal by defendants from order entered 15 July 1993 by Judge
J. Marlene Hyatt in Catawba County Superior Court. Heard in the
Court of Appeals 23 May 1994.

Bryce O. Thomas, Jr. for plaintiff-appellee.

Tate, Young, Morphis, Bach & Farthing, by Thomas C. Morphis,
Jor defendants-appellants.

JOHNSON, Judge.

This is an action brought by plaintiff Charles H. Weber against
defendant Richard B. Holland, Jr. (Holland) and Holland Glass Com-
pany, Inc. (Company) alleging that plaintiff was entitled to the return
of $65,000.00 which plaintiff had deposited with the Company in
anticipation of the purchase of stock. Defendants denied any liabili-
ty on the $65,000.00 deposit because defendants alleged an oral
agreement had been reached with plaintiff for the sale of fifteen per-
cent (15%) of the Company stock for $30,000.00.
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The record indicates that plaintiff, who worked for the Company,
first deposited $50,000.00 for the purchase of Company stock. A
receipt is contained in the record which reads:

May 29, 1991

Received from Charles H. Weber, the sum of Fifty Thousand
dollars ($50,000.00) as deposit for purchase of Holland Glass
Company Inc. corporate stock.

Refund of this deposit shall be immediate upon demand.
Richard H. Holland, Jr.
/s/

A second receipt is contained in the record showing a further
deposit:

July 19, 1991

Received from Charles H. Weber, the sum of Fifteen Thou-
sand Dollars ($15,000.00) as deposit for purchase of Holland
Glass Company, Inc. corporate stock.

Refund of this deposit shall be immediate upon demand.

I further agree that should no formal purchase agreement be
executed, all deposit sums ($50,000.00 received May 29, 1991 and
$15,000.00 received July 19, 1991) shall be fully refunded includ-
ing an amount equal to 8% annual interest accrued from date of
receipt until final payment.

/s/
Richard H. Holland, Jr.

Finally, the record contains a letter from plaintiff to Holland,
dated 10 June 1992, stating:

Dear Richard:

On May 29, 1991 you received fifty thousand dollars
($50,000.00) and on July 19, 1991, another fifteen thousand dol-
lars ($15,000.00) from me as deposit towards the purchase of
stock in Holland Glass Company.

To this date, no formal agreement has been executed or
transfer of stock taken place.
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Per our signed note, refund of this deposit shall be immedi-
ate upon demand. I have verbally requested that refund be made.

Written notice is hereby made that refund of this deposit is
due not later than June 19, 1992.

Sincerely,
/s/
Charles H. Weber

No refund of the deposit was ever made by defendants to plain-
tiff. Plaintiff then commenced the instant action. After various plead-
ings were filed, plaintiff filed a motion for summary judgment which
the trial court granted on 16 July 1993, finding that “judgment is
granted in favor of plaintiff against the defendant[s] and that the
plaintiff have and recover of the defendants the sum of $65,000 plus
interest at the rate of 8% per annum on $50,000 from May 29, 1991 and
on $15,000 from July 19, 1991 plus court costs.” Defendants filed
timely notice of appeal to our Court.

Defendants argue that the trial court committed reversible error
by granting plaintiff’s motion for summary judgment because there
was a genuine issue of material fact. Specifically, defendants argue
that there is an issue of fact to be resolved by a jury because deposi-
tions in the record indicate the two parties reached an oral agree-
ment as to the sale of Company stock. Defendants further argue that
the 29 May 1991 writing “cannot be interpreted without reference to
subsequent collateral evidence.” We disagree.

Summary judgment is appropriate where there is no genuine
issue as to any material fact and any party is entitled to judgment as
a matter of law. N.C.R. Civ. P. 56; Burton v. NCNB, 85 N.C. App. 702,
355 S.E.2d 800 (1987). The goal of summary judgment is to allow the
disposition before trial of an unfounded claim or defense. Cutchin v.
Pledger, 71 N.C. App. 279, 321 S.E.2d 462 (1984).

The written documents serving as receipts contained in the
record state in express terms that each of the deposits were immedi-
ately refundable upon demand. Additionally, the latter of these docu-
ments, dated 19 July 1991, expressly stated that if no formal purchase
agreement was executed, all deposit sums plus accrued interest
would be returned to plaintiff. These documents were signed by
defendant. Parol evidence of verbal agreements cannot be admitted
to vary or contradict the terms of a final writing. See Borden, Inc. v.
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Brower, 284 N.C. 54, 199 S.E.2d 414 (1973). We find the trial court did
not err in granting plaintiff’s motion for summary judgment.

Affirmed.

Judges ORR and WYNN concur.
L

JOHN C. BROOKS, COMMISSIONER OF LABOR OF NORTH CAROLINA, COMPLAINANT
v. N.C. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION, IREDELL COUNTY ROAD MAINTE-
NANCE, P.O. Box 1107, STATESVILLE, N.C. 28677, RESPONDENT

No. 9310SC962
(Filed 7 June 1994)

Staté § 22 (NCI4th)— violations of OSHA—citations against
State and agencies—sovereign immunity no defense

Based on the terms of the Occupational Safety and Health
Act prior to its amendment in 1992 the General Assembly deter-
mined that the State and its agencies can be issued citations for
violations of the Occupational Safety and Health Act which are
enforceable by proceedings before the Safety and Health Review
Board.

Am Jur 2d, State, Territories, and Dependencies
§§ 104-107.

Appeal by respondent from order signed 13 July 1993 in Wake
County Superior Court by Judge Gregory A. Weeks. Heard in the
Court of Appeals 11 May 1994.

On 9 July 1990, respondent began repairing a portion of Perch
Church Road in Mooresville, North Carolina. The project consisted of
laying a drainage pipe beneath the road. Respondent’s employees dug
a trench approximately 15 feet deep, 8 to 9 feet wide, and 30 feet
long. The sides of the trench were vertical and were neither sloped
nor shored. A trench box was not utilized, and no materials to shore
or brace the trench walls were present at the site. On 13 July 1990,
the trench collapsed, killing one of respondent’s employees and injur-
ing three others. The Occupational Safety and Health Division of the
North Carolina Department of Labor cited respondent for 11 “willful-
serious” violations of the Occupational Safety and Health Act.
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On 27 September 1990, respondent notified complainant of its
intent to contest the violations. Pursuant to the procedures adopted
by the Safety and Health Review Board, complainant filed a com-
plaint with the Safety and Health Review Board seeking to have it
affirm all of the violations contained in the citation issued to re-
spondent. Respondent’s answer contained motions to dismiss the
complaint based on lack of subject matter and personal jurisdiction.
Respondent also moved to dismiss the complaint for failure to state
a claim upon which relief could be granted. On 26 June 1991, a hear-
ing examiner for the Safety and Health Review Board entered an
order denying respondent’s motions. Respondent petitioned the Safe-
ty and Health Review Board to review the order of the hearing exam-
iner, and, on 13 July 1992, the Safety and Health Review Board
entered an order unanimously affirming the order of the hearing
examiner. Respondent petitioned the Superior Court of Wake County
to review the order of the Safety and Health Review Board, and, on
13 July 1993, the trial court entered an order dismissing as interlocu-
tory respondent’s petition for review. Respondent appeals.

Attorney General Michael F. Easley, by Associate Attorney Gen-
eral Linda Kimbell, for complainant-appellee.

Attorney General Michael F. Easley, by Special Deputy Attorney
General Grayson G. Kelley and Assistant Attorney General
David R. Minges, for respondent-appellant.

WELLS, Judge.

In its first assignment of error, respondent argues that the trial
court erred in dismissing the petition for judicial review because the
order appealed from was not interlocutory. Respondent based his
motion to dismiss on the defenses of sovereign and statutory immu-
nity and contends, because the doctrine of sovereign immunity pre-
sents a question of personal jurisdiction, that the denial of a motion
to dismiss on the grounds of sovereign immunity is immediately
appealable. We agree and permit respondent to pursue its appeal.
Zimmer v. N.C. Dept. of Transportation, 87 N.C. App. 132, 360
S.E.2d 115 (1987).

In its final assignment of error, respondent argues that the trial
court erred in failing to dismiss the complaint because respondent is
immune from suit. Respondent asserts the defense of sovereign
immunity and contends that complainant is barred from having the
citations affirmed by the Safety and Health Review Board. We
disagree.
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According to the doctrine of sovereign immunity, the State is
immune from suit unless and until it consents to be sued. Bailey v.
State of North Carolina, 330 N.C. 227, 412 S.E.2d 295 (1991), cert.
denied, 118 L.Ed.2d 547 (1992). Respondent does not dispute that it
and its employees are subject to the Occupational Safety and Health
Act. Rather, respondent contends that complainant is prohibited
from issuing citations to state agencies and enforcing those citations
through proceedings before the Safety and Health Review Board.
Respondent asserts that complainant can enforce the Occupational
Safety and Health Act in the public sector only by issuing notices and
consulting and negotiating with public entities.

Under the Occupational Safety and Health Act of North Carolina,
the definition of employer includes any state, N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 95-127(10), and the Occupational Safety and Health Act applies to
all employers. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 95-128. According to G.S. § 95-137(a),
an employer is subject to citation for violations of any standard, reg-
ulation, rule, or order promulgated under the Occupational Safety
and Health Act. The employer is permitted to contest the citation by
giving notice within 15 working days from the receipt of the citation
to the Division of Occupational Safety and Health. N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 95-137(b). Respondent is correct when it points out that prior to the
1992 amendments G.S. § 95-137 did permit the director of Occupa-
tional Safety and Health to prescribe procedures for the issuance of
anotice in lieu of a citation for violations by state agencies. However,
we believe the issuance of a notice was an additional method of
enforcement not a substitute for the issuance of citations. Based on
the terms of the Occupational Safety and Health Act prior to its
amendment in 1992, we hold that the General Assembly determined
that the State and its agencies can be issued citations for violations
of the Occupational Safety and Health Act which are enforceable by
proceedings before the Safety and Health Review Board. It is there-
fore apparent that the next appropriate step in these proceedings is
a hearing on the disputed citations before the Safety and Health
Review Board.

For the reasons stated, we have determined that respondent’s
petition for review to the Superior Court should have been dimissed.

As modified herein, the order appealed from is

Affirmed.

Judges JOHNSON and JOHN concur.
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CLYDE E. DENEGAR, D/B/A QUALITY SANITATION SERVICE, PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE v. THE
CITY OF CHARLOTTE, A NorTH CAROLINA MUNICIPAL CORPORATION, DEFENDANT-
APPELLANT

No. 93265C612
(Filed 7 June 1994)

Eminent Domain § 231 (NCI4th)— taking pursuant to annex-
ation—compensation not paid—actionable negligence—
governmental immunity no defense

The defense of governmental immunity was not available to
defendant city where plaintiff, who operated a solid waste col-
lection service, alleged that the city negligently prevented plain-
tiff’s receipt of just compensation for a taking of its property lost
when the city annexed the area in which plaintiff did business.
Therefore, the trial court’s denial of defendant city’s motion for
summary judgment was not immediately appealable.

Am Jur 2d, Eminent Domain § 397.

Appeal by defendant from order entered 11 March 1993 by Judge
Forrest A. Ferrell in Mecklenburg County Superior Court. Heard in
the Court of Appeals 21 March 1994,

Wells and Porter, PA., by Jameson P. Wells, for plaintiff-
appellee.

Office of the City Attorney, by Deputy City Attorney H. Michael
Boyd, for defendant-appellant.

LEWIS, Judge.

Plaintiff operated a private solid waste collection firm in an area
of Mecklenburg County until the area was annexed by defendant, the
City of Charlotte, in February 1991. Plaintiff filed a complaint against
defendant on 28 January 1992, alleging that defendant negligently
failed to fully inform plaintiff of his statutory rights in connection
with the annexation and that defendant improperly withheld just
compensation and economic loss payments. Defendant now appeals
from the trial court’s denial of its motions for summary judgment,
dismissal and judgment on the pleadings. Our disposition of this
appeal renders a recitation of the facts unnecessary.

The denial of a motion for summary judgment is interlocutory
and nonappealable unless a substantial right of one of the parties is



IN THE COURT OF APPEALS 167

DENEGAR v. CITY OF CHARLOTTE
[115 N.C. App. 166 (1994)]

involved. Equitable Leasing Corp. v. Myers, 46 N.C. App. 162, 265
S.E.2d 240, appeal dismissed, 301 N.C. 92 (1980). Defendant is
asserting the defense of governmental immunity, and it is well settled
that the question of governmental immunity affects a substantial
right and therefore renders an interlocutory order immediately
appealable. Dickens v. Thorne, 110 N.C. App. 39, 429 S.E.2d 176
(1993); Whitaker v. Clark, 109 N.C. App. 379, 427 S.E.2d 142, disc.
review denied and cert. denied, 333 N.C. 795, 431 S.E.2d 31 (1993).
According to defendant, annexation is a governmental function
invoking the protection of governmental immunity. Thrask v. City of
Asheville, 95 N.C. App. 457, 473-74, 383 S.E.2d 657, 666-67 (1989)
(stating that annexation is a governmental function), rev’d on other
grounds, 327 N.C. 251, 393 S.E.2d 842 (1990).

Plaintiff, on the other hand, argues that governmental immunity
is not an available defense in this case, and that the appeal is inter-
locutory and subject to dismissal. Plaintiff contends that defendant’s
actions amounted to a taking of plaintiff’s property, and asserts that
governmental immunity is not a defense to takings of private proper-
ty for public use. Long v. City of Charlotte, 306 N.C. 187, 203, 293
S.E.2d 101, 111-12 (1982). The fact that the taking occurred as part of
an annexation process is irrelevant, according to plaintiff.

Plaintiff contends that Thrash, which indicated that annexation
is a governmental function, provides no support for defendant’s argu-
ment that it is entitled to governmental immunity in this case,
because Thrash did not discuss the taking aspect of annexation.
Instead, that case involved a direct challenge to an annexation ordi-
nance. 95 N.C. App. at 461, 383 S.E.2d at 659. In the case at hand
plaintiff is not attempting to invalidate the annexation in any way.
Plaintiff is simply seeking compensation to which he was statutorily
entitled and would have received were it not for defendant’s alleged
negligence.

We find that Long is dispositive of the issue at hand. The general
rule from Long is that a taking is compensable, whether the govern-
mental authority was acting in a governmental or proprietary capac-
ity. 306 N.C. at 203, 293 S.E.2d at 111. The Supreme Court in Long
noted that the “fundamental right to just compensation” is “part of
the fundamental law of this State” and “imposes upon a governmen-
tal agency taking private property for public use a correlative duty to
make just compensation to the owner of the property taken.” Id. at
196, 293 S.E.2d at 107. The Court stated, “[i]f a ‘taking’ has occurred,
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it is compensable though it results from a function which is govern-
mental in nature. Governmental immunity is not a defense where
there is a ‘taking’ of private property for public use whether that use
be propriety or governmental in nature.” Id. at 203, 293 S.E.2d at 111-
12.

Thus, if a governmental authority negligently prevented the
receipt of just compensation for a taking, that negligence would be
actionable and would not be subject to the defense of governmental
immunity. This is true even if the taking occurred as part of a gov-
ernmental function, such as annexation.

Because we conclude that governmental immunity is not an
available defense in this case, we find that this appeal does not affect
a substantial right and that the trial court’s order is interlocutory and
unappealable.

Appeal dismissed.

Chief Judge ARNOLD and Judge COZORT concur.

BRANDON J. ADAMS v. KIM ELAINE ADAMS

No. 939DC908

(Filed 7 June 1994)

Divorce and Separation § 119 (NCI4th)— equitable distribu-
tion—reduction of separate debt with marital property—
distributional factor

A reduction in the separate debt of a party to a marriage,
caused by the expenditure of marital funds, is, in the absence of
an agreement to repay the marital estate, neither an asset nor a
debt of the marital estate; rather, such reduction is properly con-
sidered as a distributional factor within the context of N.C.G.S.
§ 50-20(c)(12).

Am Jur 2d, Divorce and Separation §§ 879, 880,

Divorce: equitable distribution doctrine. 41 ALR4th
481.
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Appeal by plaintiff from order filed 29 July 1993 in Person Coun-
ty District Court by Judge J. Larry Senter. Heard in the Court of
Appeals 10 May 1994.

Ronnie P. King, PA., by Ronnie P. King, for plaintiff-appellant.

Farmer & Wallington, by R. Lee Farmer and W. Richard
Anderson, for defendant-appellee.

GREENE, Judge.

Appeal by Brandon J. Adams (plaintiff) from an equitable distri-
bution “order” filed 29 July 1993 by the District Court of Person
County.

Plaintiff and Kim Elaine Adams (defendant) were married on 23
February 1991 and separated on 28 October 1991. At the time of the
marriage, plaintiff owed numerous personal debts, including: $683.05
to J.C. Penney Company, $920.00 on a First Bank Master Card,
$560.00 to Lowe’s, $600.00 to Sears, $282.00 to Person County Memo-
rial Hospital, two debts totalling $17,502.00 to American National
Bank, $1,642.00 to the Internal Revenue Service, and $174.00 to the
North Carolina Department of Revenue. These debts totalled
$22 914.92. On the date of separation, plaintiff’s separate debts had
been reduced in the amount of $12,484.00 by the expenditure of mar-
ital funds as follows: the debts to J.C. Penney Company, Lowe’s,
Sears, the Internal Revenue Service, and the North Carolina Depart-
ment of Revenue were paid in full; the debt on the First Bank Master
Card had been reduced to $195.00; the debt to Person County Memo-
rial Hospital had been reduced to $82.69; and the debts to American
National Bank had been reduced to $9,671.31.

At the equitable distribution trial, the trial court classified the
$12,484.00 reduction in plaintiff’s separate debt as marital property.

The issue presented is whether the value of a reduction in a
party’s separate debt through the expenditure of marital funds may
be classified as marital property.

Defendant argues that the value of the reduction in the plaintiff’s
separate debt is properly classified as marital because the net value
of the marital estate would have been larger “[i]f these debts had not
been paid.” While it is true that the martial estate may very well have
been larger had marital funds not been used to reduce plaintiff’s sep-
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arate debts, it does not, however, follow that the value of the reduc-
tion is properly classified as marital property.

Under our equitable distribution statute, only assets and debts
are subject to classification as marital property. See Huguelet v.
Huguelet, 113 N.C. App. 533, 536, 439 S.E.2d 208, 210 (1994); N.C.G.S.
§ 50-20(b)(1) (Supp. 1993). A reduction in the separate debt of a party
to a marriage, caused by the expenditure of marital funds, is, in the
absence of an agreement to repay the marital estate, neither an asset
nor a debt of the marital estate. Such a reduction is properly consid-
ered as a distributional factor within the context of N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 50-20(c)(12) (Supp. 1993).

In this case, there is no evidence of any agreement that plaintiff
would repay the marital estate for the marital funds used to reduce
his separate debts. Therefore, the trial court erred in classifying the
value of the reduction of plaintiff’s separate debt as marital property.
Accordingly, the judgment of the trial court must be reversed and the
case remanded for entry of a new judgment based upon the evidence
presented at the 1 June 1993 hearing. In entering the new judgment,
the trial court is not bound by the findings and conclusions made in
its 29 July 1993 “order.”

Reversed and remanded.

Chief Judge ARNOLD and Judge McCRODDEN concur.
e ——

JOHN 8. MORRISON, ADMINISTRATOR C.T.A. OF THE ESTATE OF BYRAN O. GRANDY, PLAIN-
TIFF v. MELVIN GRANDY, ARLENE GRANDY, FRANKLIN GRANDY, BETTY
GRANDY LYNN, CHARLES GRANDY, PAUL GRANDY, MARGARET NICHOLSON,
CLINTON GRANDY, CAROLINE JO WALLACE, PATRICIA DAVIS axp MARY
GRANDY SCHWARGA, DEFENDANTS

No. 9315C433
(Filed 7 June 1994)

Wills § 165 (NCI4th)— executory agreement to sell real
estate—devise of property not adeemed
A devise of property in testator’s will did not adeem because

of an agreement by the testator to sell the property since, at the
time of testator’s death, he retained legal title to the real estate;
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following his death that legal title passed to the devisees, two of
his children, subject to the executory agreement; and when the
purchaser withdrew from the agreement, the devisees acquired
complete title to the real estate. N.C.G.S. § 31-41.

Am Jur 2d, Wills §§ 1701 et seq.

Appeal by defendant, Melvin Grandy, from judgment entered 25
January 1993 by Judge Thomas S. Watts in Currituck County Superi-
or Court. Heard in the Court of Appeals 8 February 1994.

Bryan O. Grandy (testator) died testate on 18 September 1989.
Itera VII of testator’s will devised all real property to his son, Melvin
Grandy, for life, then to his daughter, Arlene, in fee simple absolute
at the expiration of Melvin’'s life estate. At the time of his death, tes-
tator owned real property in Currituck County.

After he executed the will, testator entered into a valid purchase
and sale agreement (agreement) to sell the Currituck County proper-
ty for $160,000.00. Closing was scheduled for 1 December 1989.
Following testator’s death, several months before closing, the Admin-
istrator determined, in light of the agreement, that the devise in Item
VII had adeemed and proceeds of the sale would pass under Item VI,
not Item VII, of the will. Item VI called for a distribution of all per-
sonal property between six of testator’s eleven children.

Prior to closing, however, the purchaser validly withdrew his
offer and the devise remained in the estate. The Administrator then
determined that the devise was no longer adeemed and would now
pass under Item VII. Melvin and Arlene Grandy, beneficiaries under
Item VII, agreed. Testator’s other children, beneficiaries under Item
VI, disagreed. The Administrator filed this declaratory judgment
action for a determination of whether (1) the property had adeemed,
and (2) if so, the property should be sold and the proceeds distrib-
uted under Item VI.

The trial court concluded that (1) testator, and thus his estate,
was bound by a valid agreement to sell the real property at the time
of his death, (2) the existence of the contract converted the real
estate to personal property to the estate and real property to the
buyer, (3) at the time of his death, testator had placed the real prop-
erty out of his control so that it did not pass under Item VII, and (4)
the acts of others, occurring some time after testator’s death, cannot
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reverse the prior ademption. Thus, the trial court concluded that the
real property should be sold and divided per Item VI of the will.

John J. Flora, 111, for defendant appellant Melvin Grandy.

Aycock, Spence & Butler, by W. Mark Spence, for defendant
appellee Charles Grandy.

D. Keith Teague, PA., by D. Keith Teague (withdrew after filing
brief), for defendant appellee Franklin Grandy.

ARNOLD, Chief Judge.

The question here presented is whether the devise in Item VII
adeemed because of the agreement to sell. The answer is no, ademp-
tion simply does not apply. Legal fiction should not be considered
when there are relevant statutes, such as N.C. Gen. Stat. § 31-41
(1984), which apply. G.S. § 31-41 states “[e]very will shall be con-
strued . . . to speak and take effect as if it had been executed imme-
diately before the death of the testator, unless a contrary intention
shall appear by the will.”

At the time of the testator’s death, he retained legal title to the
real estate. Following his death, that legal title passed to the
devisees, Melvin and Arlene Grandy, per Item VII of the will, subject,
of course, to the executory agreement. When the purchaser withdrew
from the agreement, the devisees named in Item VII acquired com-
plete title to the real estate.

The order of the trial court concluding that the devise adeemed
is

Reversed.

Judges WYNN and MARTIN concur.
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NORTH CAROLINA INSURANCE GUARANTY ASSOCIATION, PLaNTIFF v. CENTURY
INDEMNITY COMPANY, DEFENDANT

No. 9310SC677
(Filed 21 June 1994)

1. Insurance § 43 (NCI4th)— automobile accident—primary
insurer insolvent—commercial umbrella policy not
required to drop down

The trial court properly granted summary judgment for
defendant where a suit was filed against Long Manufacturing as
a result of an automobile accident; Long was insured by AMLIC
under a comprehensive general liability policy and by Century
under a commercial umbrella liability policy; AMLIC was
declared insolvent; a dispute developed between the Insurance
Guaranty Association and Century as to whether Century’s com-
mercial umbrella policy was required to drop down and become
primary; a settlement was reached in the underlying case to
which both the Association and Century contributed; the Associ-
ation filed a complaint against Century seeking recovery of the
amounts it had expended; Century counterclaimed for the differ-
ence between the amount the Association had paid and its statu-
tory coverage limit, that sum being less than Century had
contributed to the settlement; and the trial court entered sum-
mary judgment for Century. Century’s commercial umbrella poli-
cy was clear and unambiguous. Interpreting the policy’s coverage
agreements as written and according to their plain meaning, the
phrase “amount recoverable” does not mean the amount actually
recoverable and collectible from the primary insurer; that inter-
pretation would render language on underlying limits meaning-
less, and it is assumed that the parties to insurance contracts do
not create meaningless provisions. The loss payable condition in
the contract serves to reinforce the coverage agreement by mak-
ing it clear that a loss arising from an occurrence is not payable
by Century unless the limit of the underlying insurance is
exhausted by payment. The fundamental purpose of excess
insurance is to protect the insured against excess liability claims,
not to insure against the underlying insurer’s insolvency.

Am Jur 2d, Insurance § 874.
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Insurance § 963 (NCI4th)— auto accident—insolvent pri-
mary insurer—Insurance Guaranty Association and
umbrella insurer—equitable subrogation

The trial court did not err by granting summmary judgment for
defendant Century on its counterclaim where Century was a
commercial umbrella insurer; the insured’s primary insurer
became insolvent; there was a claim as a result of an automobile
accident; there was a dispute between the Insurance Guaranty
Association and Century as to which would provide primary cov-
erage; the underlying action was settled, with both the Associa-
tion and Century contributing; the Association filed an action
against Century for the amounts it had expended; and Century
counterclaimed against the Association for the difference
between the Association’s contribution to the settlement and its
statutory limits. The determinative factor in assessing whether a
party presents a valid claim of equitable subrogation is whether
that party acted in good faith in seeking to protect its interests.
Century reasonably acted to protect its own interest and acted in
good faith; absent a statutory prohibition, Century is entitled to
recover from the Association the statutory limits of the Associa-
tion's coverage under the doctrine of equitable subrogation.

Am Jur 2d, Insurance §§ 2051 et seq.

Insurance § 42 (NCI4th)— auto accident—insolvent pri-
mary insurer—Insurance Guaranty Association and
umbrella insurer—equitable subrogation—*“claimant” and
“covered claim”

There was no statutory prohibition against recovery by a
commercial umbrella insurer against the Insurance Guaranty
Association on the grounds of equitable subrogation where Cen-
tury was the umbrella insurer; the primary insurer became insol-
vent; the Insurance Guaranty Association and Century could not
agree on which was to provide primary coverage; the underlying
action arising from an auto accident was settled; both the Asso-
ciation and Century contributed to the settlement; the Associa-
tion brought an action for the amounts it had paid; Century
counterclaimed for the difference between the Association’s con-
tribution to the settlement and its statutory limits; and summary
judgment was granted for Century. Although the Association
argued that Century’s claim was barred by statutory language
defining “covered claim” as excluding amounts due as subroga-
tion or otherwise, the General Assembly did not intend for the
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term “subrogation” to encompass equitable subrogation, particu-
larly in a context in which the Association failed to fulfill its
statutory obligation. Finally, the Association’s interpretation is
inconsistent with the goal of timely proper payments of legiti-
mate claims and could encourage arbitrary and capricious settle-
ment offers, leaving excess insurers with no remedy. N.C.G.S.
§ 58-48-5; N.C.G.S. § 58-48-20(4).

Am Jur 2d, Insurance § 874.

Appeal by plaintiff from judgment entered 22 April 1993 by Judge
Narley L. Cashwell in Wake County Superior Court. Heard in the
Court of Appeals 10 March 1994.

North Carolina Insurance Guaranty Association (hereinafter
“plaintiff-Association”) is an unincorporated legal entity established
pursuant to the North Carolina Insurance Guaranty Act (hereinafter
“the Act”), G.S. 58-48-1 et seq. Under the Act, the maximum amount
which may be paid by plaintiff-Association in the event of an insur-
er’s insolvency is $300,000.00 (hereinafter “statutory cap”). G.S.
58-48-35(a)(1). Defendant Century Indemnity Company (hereinafter
“defendant-Century”) is a Connecticut corporation licensed and
admitted to transact insurance business in North Carolina and writ-
ing policies of insurance in North Carolina.

As the result of an 8 June 1985 automobile accident, William
Brooks and Betty Brooks (hereinafter “the Brooks”) filed suit against
Long Manufacturing N.C., Inc. (hereinafter “Long”), American Mutual
Liability Insurance Company’s (hereinafter “AMLIC”) insured, in a
Texas court on 19 September 1985. During this time, two policies
issued to Long were in effect: (1) AMLIC insured Long under a com-
prehensive general liability insurance policy with limits of
$1,000,000.00, and (2) defendant-Century insured Long under a com-
mercial “umbrella liability policy” with limits of $5,000,000.00. AMLIC
was an insurer admitted and licensed to transact insurance business
in North Carolina and wrote policies of insurance in North Carolina
until 9 March 1989, when AMLIC was declared insolvent by a Massa-
chusetts court.

After plaintiff-Association was activated pursuant to the Act as a
result of AMLIC’s insolvency, a dispute developed between plaintiff-
Association and defendant-Century as to whether defendant-
Century’s commercial umbrella policy (issued to Long) was required
to “drop-down” and become primary liability insurance for Long as a
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result of AMLIC’s insolvency. By letter dated 10 April 1989, plaintiff-
Association demanded that defendant-Century provide Long with a
defense and indemnify Long for any judgment or settlement arising
from the Brooks’ lawsuit. By letter dated 20 April 1989, defendant-
Century denied plaintiff-Association’s demand. By letter dated 5 May
1989, plaintiff-Association, while reserving its rights, agreed to pay
Long’s defense costs through trial.

On 17 August 1989, a seftlement was reached in the underlying
action; the Brooks received a payment of $400,000.00 in full settle-
ment of all their claims against Long. Defendant-Century advanced
$200,000.00 to the Brooks, while plaintiff-Association paid the
remaining $200,000.00 to Long and its attorneys, subject to a reser-
vation of rights, for disbursement to the Brooks. Long then executed
a proof of claim assigning to plaintiff-Association all rights of action
that it (Long) had against AMLIC or defendant-Century to the extent
of any payment made to or on behalf of Long.

On 17 April 1991, plaintiff-Association filed a complaint against
defendant-Century, seeking recovery of the $200,000.00 paid in the
settlement plus $59,249.00 expended in plaintiff-Association’s
defense of Long in the underlying action. Defendant-Century filed an
answer and counterclaim, seeking $100,000.00, an amount which
represented the $300,000.00 statutory cap, G.S. 58-48-35(a)(1), of
plaintiff-Association’s obligation minus the $200,000.00 previously
advanced by plaintiff-Association to Long to settle the Brooks’
lawsuit.

In November 1992, plaintiff-Association and defendant-Century
each moved for summary judgment. After a hearing, the trial court
entered a 22 April 1993 order finding that “defendant[-Century] is
entitled to judgment as a matter of law declaring that its policy of
excess liability insurance is not required to ‘drop down’ and become
primary liability insurance with respect to the underlying action; that
defendant did not breach its contract with plaintiff and is not obli-
gated to indemnify plaintiff for damages, prejudgment interest,
defense or other costs or expenses in the underlying action; and that
defendant is entitled to recover from plaintiff the sum of $100,000.00
on defendant’s counterclaim.” Plaintiff-Association appeals.

Moore & Van Allen, by Joseph W. Eason, Christopher J. Blake,
& Louis S. Watson, Jr., for plaintiff-appellant.

Cranfill, Sumner & Hartzog, by Robert W. Sumner and Susan
K. Burkhart, for defendant-appellee.
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EAGLES, JUDGE.

Plaintiff-Association brings forth two assignments of error. After
careful review, we affirm.

L

[1] The first issue presented by plaintiff-Association is whether
defendant-Century’s commercial umbrella policy must “drop down”
and serve as primary insurance as a result of the insolvency of Long’s
primary liability carrier (AMLIC). See Annotation, “Primary Insurer’s
Solvency as Affecting Excess Insurer’s Liability,” 85 ALR 4th 729, 734
nd (1991) (“Drop down coverage occurs when an insurance carrier
of a higher level of coverage is obligated to provide the coverage that
the carrier of the immediately underlying level of coverage had
agreed to provide”). At stake is defendant-Century’s liability to
plaintiff-Association for the $200,000.00 that plaintiff-Association
paid in settlement of the Brooks’ lawsuit.

In urging the reversal of the trial court’s order, plaintiff-
Association argues that the trial court erred because the language of
defendant-Century’s commercial umbrella policy requires it to “drop
down” and provide primary coverage to Long. Plaintiff-Association
contends that: 1) defendant-Century is required to drop down
because the amount recoverable from the underlying insurance is
zero; 2) the loss payable condition further supports defendant-
Century’s obligation to drop down; 3) the occurrence requiring cov-
erage by defendant-Century is the accident in the underlying action,
and; 4) because defendant-Century was obligated to drop down,
defendant-Century must also pay the costs incurred by plaintiff-
Association in defending Long in the underlying action.

There are several well established principles governing the con-
struction of insurance policies. “In North Carolina, it is well settled
that when construing an insurance policy a court must enforce the
policy as written, ‘without rewriting the contract or disregarding the
express language used.’ ” Newton v. United States Fire Ins. Co., 98
N.C. App. 619, 623, 391 S.E.2d 837, 839, disc. review denied, 327 N.C.
637, 399 S.E.2d 329 (1990) (quoting Fidelity Bankers Life Ins. Co. v.
Dortch, 318 N.C. 378, 380, 348 S.E.2d 794, 796 (1986)); Industrial
Center v. Liability Co., 271 N.C. 158, 155 S.E.2d 501 (1967). “ ‘[R]eso-
lution of [an insurance policy’s scope] involves construing the lan-
guage of the coverage . . . and determining whether events as alleged
in the pleadings and papers before the court are covered by the poli-
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cies. As such, it is an appropriate subject for summary judgment.’”
C. D. Spangler Constr. Co. v. Indus. Crankshaft & Eng. Co., 326 N.C.
133, 141, 388 S.E.2d 557, 562 (1990) (alterations in original) (quoting
Waste Management of Carolinas, Inc. v. Peerless Insurance Co., 315
N.C. 688, 691, 340 S.E.2d 374, 377 (1986)). Regarding the construction
of policy language containing allegedly ambiguous terms, our
Supreme Court has stated:

Any ambiguity in the policy language must be resolved
against the insurance company and in favor of the insured. Woods,
295 N.C. at 506, 246 S.E.2d at 777. A difference of judicial opinion
regarding proper construction of policy language is some evi-
dence calling for application of this rule. See Maddox v. Insur-
ance Co., 303 N.C. 648, 654, 280 S.E.2d 907, 910 (1981); Electric
Co. v. Insurance Co., 229 N.C. 518, 521, 50 S.E.2d 295, 297 (1948);
Annot., “Insurance—Ambiguity—Split Court Opinions,” 4 A.L.R.
4th 1253, 12565 (1981). While “[t]he fact that a dispute has arisen
as to the parties’ interpretation of the contract is some indication
that the language of the contract is at best, ambiguous,” St. Paul
Fire & Marine Ins. Co. v. Freeman-White Assoc., Inc., 322 N.C.
77, 83, 366 S.E.2d 480, 484 (1988); accord Mazza v. Medical Mut.
Ins. Co., 311 N.C. 621, 630, 319 S.E.2d 217, 223 (1984), “ambigui-
ty . . . is not established by the mere fact that the plaintiff makes
a claim based upon a construction of its language which the com-
pany asserts is not its meaning.” Trust Co. v. Insurance Co., 276
N.C. 348, 354, 172 S.E.2d 518, 522 (1970).

“All parts of a contract are to be given effect if possible. It is
presumed that each part of the contract means something.”
Bolton Corp. v. TA. Loving Co., 317 N.C. 623, 628, 347 S.E.2d
369, 372 (1986). See also Williams v. Insurance Co., 269 N.C. 235,
240, 152 S.E.2d 102, 107 (1967) (“each clause and word must be
. . . given effect if possible by any reasonable construction”);
Robbins v. Trading Post, 253 N.C. 474, 477, 117 S.E.2d 438, 440-
41 (1960).

The terms of a contract must, if possible, be construed to
mean something, rather than nothing at all, and where it is
possible to do so by a construction in accordance with the
fair intendment of a contract, the tendency of the courts is to
give it life, virility, and effect, rather than to nullify or destroy
it.

17 Am. Jur. 2d Contracts § 254, at 648-49 (1964).
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Brown v. Lumbermans Mut. Casualty Co., 326 N.C. 387, 392-93, 390
S.E.2d 150, 153 (1990).

The pertinent provisions of the commercial umbrella policy at
issue here provide as follows:

COVERAGE AGREEMENTS

I. CoveEraGk. The Company hereby agrees, subject to the limita-
tions, terms and conditions hereinafter mentioned, to indemnify
the Insured for all sums which the Insured shall be obligated to
pay by reason of liability

(a) imposed upon the Insured by law, or

(b) assumed under contract or agreement by the Named
Insured and/or any officer, director, stockholder, partner or
employee of the Named Insured, while acting in his capacity
as such,

for damages, direct or consequential, and expenses, all as more
fully defined by the term “ultimate net loss” on account of

(1) personal injury, (2) property damage, (3) advertising
liability,

caused by or arising out of an occurrence occurring anywhere in
the world.

I1. LimrT oF LiaBiLITy. The company shall only be liable for the ulti-
mate net loss the excess of either

(a) the amount recoverable under the underlying insurances
as set out in Item 7 of the Declarations, or

(b) the amount of the retained limit stated in Item 4 of the
Declarations in respect of each occurrence not covered by
said underlying insurances,

(hereinafter called the “underlying limits”):

and then only up to a further limit as stated in Item 5 of the Dec-
larations in respect of each occurrence—subject to a limit as
stated in Item 6 of the Declarations in the aggregate for each
annual period during the currency of this policy, commencing
from the effective date and arising out of any hazard for which an
aggregate limit of liability applies in the underlying policies
scheduled or listed herein. In the event of reduction or exhaus-
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tion of the aggregate limits of liability under said underlying
insurances by reason of payment of claims in respect of occur-
rences occurring during the period of this policy, this policy, sub-
ject to all the terms, conditions and definitions hereof, shall

(1) in the event of reduction pay the excess of the reduced
underlying limit;

(2) in the event of exhaustion continue in force as underlying
insurance.

DEFINITIONS

Tais Poricy Is SUuBJECT To THE FOLLOWING DEFINITIONS:

5. OCCURENCE. The term “occurrence” means an accident or a
happening or event or a continuous or repeated exposure to con-
ditions which unexpectedly and unintentionally results in per-
sonal injury, property damage or advertising liability during the
policy period. All such exposure to substantially the same gener-
al conditions existing at or emanating from one location shall be
deemed one occurrence.

CONDITIONS

Tais Poricy Is SUBJECT To THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS:

J. Loss PavaBLE. Liability under this policy with respect to any
occurrence shall not attach unless and until the Insured, or the
Insured’s underlying insurer, shall have paid the amount of the
underlying limits on account of such occurrence. The Insured
shall make a definite claim for any loss for which the Company
may be liable under the policy within 12 months after the Insured
shall have paid an amount of ultimate net loss in excess of the
underlying limits or after the Insured’s liability shall have been
fixed and rendered certain either by final judgment against the
Insured after actual trial or by written agreement of the Insured,
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the claimant, and the Company. If any subsequent payments shall
be made by the Insured on account of the same occurrence, addi-
tional claims shall be made similarly from time to time. Such
losses shall be due and payable within 30 days after they are
respectively claimed and proven in conformity with this policy.

We find the policy clear and unambiguous and interpret the poli-
cy as written and according to its plain meaning. Barbee v. Hariford
Mutual Insurance Co., 330 N.C. 100, 408 S.E.2d 840 (1991); Fidelity
Bankers Life Ins. Co., 318 N.C. 378, 348 S.E.2d 794. The policy pro-
visions recited supra are identical to the provisions at issue in
Hoffman Construction Co. v. Fred S. James & Co., 313 Or. 464, 836
P.2d 703 (1992). Plaintiff argues that the phrase “amount recoverable”
appearing in the Coverage Agreements means “that amount actually
recoverable and collectible from the primary insurer. . . . Because
AMLIC is now insolvent, no amount is recoverable from the primary
insurer, and Century is required to drop down to provide primary
coverage.” (Emphasis in original.) Presented with a similar proposed
interpretation of the meaning of the phrase “amount recoverable,” in
Hoffman Construction Co. the Supreme Court of Oregon stated:

Plaintiffs argue that “amount recoverable” means the amount
“able to be recovered,” i.e., the amount that plaintiffs actually
were able to get from their primary insurance carriers.

The policy defines “underlying limits” as the “amount recover-
able under the underlying insurances.” (Emphasis added.) The
difficulty with plaintiffs’ theory (viz., that “amount recoverable”
means “the amount able to be recovered”) is that, under such an
interpretation, the portion of the “LIMIT OF LIABILITY” section that
specifically identifies the circumstances in which defendant will
provide “drop down” coverage would be rendered meaningless.
That portion reads:

“In the event of reduction or exhaustion of the aggregate lim-
its of liability under said underlying insurances by reason of
payment of claims in respect of occurrences occurring dur-
ing the period of this policy, this policy, subject to all the
terms, conditions and definitions hereof, shall

“(1) in the event of reduction pay the excess of the
reduced underlying limit[.]”
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(Emphasis added.) Substituting “the amount able to be recovered
from the underlying insurances” for “underlying limit,” the
phrase will read:

“In the event of reduction . . . of the aggregate limits of lia-
bility under said underlying insurances by reason of payment
of claims . . . this policy . . . shall

“(1) ... pay the excess of the reduced [amount able to be
recovered from the underlying insurances.]”

Under plaintiffs’ interpretation of “amount recoverable,” there
was no need for the parties to agree that, if the limit of an under-
lying policy were reduced, then the defendant would pay the
excess of that reduced limit. Defendant already would have an
obligation to pay the excess of that reduced limit, because that
reduced limit would be the amount that plaintiffs were “able to
recover” under the underlying policy.

In contrast to that reading of the “drop down” provision of
the “LIMIT OF LIABILITY” section, defendant’s suggested interpreta-
tion gives the provision meaning. Under defendant’s interpreta-
tion, the “amount recoverable” refers to the amount of the
underlying insurances as they are written. The “drop down” pro-
vision is an exception: the “drop down” provision extends
umbrella coverage to those situations in which there is reduced
primary insurance due to the fact that the primary is partially or
wholly exhausted on account of the payment of claims. That is
precisely what that provision says. Defendant’s interpretation
lets all provisions have meaning; plaintiffs’ would not. We
assume that parties to an insurance contract do not create mean-
ingless provisions.

Hoffman Construction Co., 313 Or. at 469, 471-72, 836 P.2d at 706-07
(alterations in original). See Bolton Corp., 317 N.C. 623, 347 S.E.2d
369 (presumption that each part of the contract means something);
Williams, 269 N.C. 235, 152 S.E.2d 102; Robbins, 253 N.C. 474, 117
S.E.2d 438. We agree with the Hoffman Construction Co. court’s rea-
soning and reject plaintiff-Association’s proposed definition of
“amount recoverable.” Similarly, we reject plaintiff-Association’s
argument regarding the policy’s “Loss Payable” condition. Plaintiff-
Association’s argument again is grounded largely in its interpretation
of the term “amount recoverable.” Plaintiff-Association argues:
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[T]he Loss Payable condition provides that Century’s obligation
ripens when the “amount of the underlying limits” shall have
been paid. Century ignores the fact that the phrase “underlying
limits” is defined in the Limit of Liability coverage clause of the
Century policy by referencing the “amount recoverable” lan-
guage. As discussed above, no amount was recoverable from
AMLIC as a result of its insolvency. Therefore, consistent with
the Loss Payable condition, Century’s obligation attached with
the first dollar of coverage.

(Emphasis in original.) (Citation omitted.) We disagree. As Hoffman
Construction Co. stated:

Under plaintiffs’ interpretation of “amount recoverable,” that
portion of the “Loss Payable” condition would read:

“Liability under this policy with respect to any occurrence
shall not attach unless and until the Insured, or the Insured’s
underlying insurer, shall have paid the amount [able to be
recovered on the underlying insurances, if any] on account of
such occurrence.”

It is clear that the effect of plaintiffs’ suggested interpreta-
tion of “amount recoverable” is to create a meaningless
redundancy under the “Loss PAYABLE” condition, because the
underlying insurer always will pay the amount that the insured
was “able to recover” from the underlying insurer—that is why
the insured was able to recover it. It is not reasonable to assume
that the parties intended that that portion of the “Loss PAYABLE”
condition be meaningless.

Hoffman Construction Co., 313 Or. at 472-73, 836 P.2d at 708 (empha-
sis in original) (citation omitted). We conclude that the Loss Payable
condition serves to reinforce the coverage agreement by making it
clear that a loss arising from an occurrence is not payable by
defendant-Century unless the limit of the underlying insurance is
exhausted by payment, coming either from the insured or from the
insured’s underlying carrier. See Radiator Specialty Co. v. First
State Ins. Co., 651 F.Supp. 439 (W.D.N.C. 1987), aff'd per curiam, 836
F.2d 193 (4th Cir. 1987); Morbark Industries, Inc. v. Western
Employees Ins. Co., 170 Mich. App. 603, 429 N.W.2d 213 (1988).

The straightforward language of the contract is buttressed by the
observation that the fundamental purpose of excess insurance is to
protect the insured against excess liability claims, not to insure
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against the underlying insurer’s insolvency, Playtex FF, Inc., v.
Columbia Cas. Co., 622 A.2d 1074, 1078 (Del. Super. 1992), Morbark
Industries, Inc., 170 Mich App. at 608, 429 N.W.2d at 216, unless of
course the policy expressly provides otherwise. Alaska Rural Elec.
Co-op v. INSCO Ltd., 785 P.2d 1193, 1195 (Alaska 1990). See also
Globe Indem. Co. v. Jordan, 634 A.2d 1279, 1283 (Me. 1993) (“The
purpose of an umbrella policy is to protect the insured in the event of
catastrophic circumstances when the insurer’s liability would exceed
the limits of its underlying policy. It is designed to expand the
amount, but not the scope of coverage”). See generally 8A J.
Appleman and J. Appleman, Insurance Law and Practice, § 4909.85,
p- 452 (1981 & Supp. 1993) (defining excess policies as “policies of
insurance sold at comparatively modest cost to pick up where pri-
mary coverages end, in order to provide extended protection”™); 16
G. Couch, R. Anderson, and M. Rhodes, Couch On Insurance, § 62:48
(2d ed. 1983 & Supp. 1993). Our Supreme Court has described the
general principles of construction applicable to disputed terms in an
insurance policy as follows:

Where a policy defines a term, that definition is to be used. If no
definition is given, non-technical words are to be given their
meaning in ordinary speech, unless the context clearly indicates
another meaning was intended. The various terms of the policy
are to be harmoniously construed, and if possible, every word
and every provision is to be given effect. If, however, the mean-
ing of words or the effect of provisions is uncertain or capable of
several reasonable interpretations, the doubts will be resolved
against the insurance company and in favor of the policyholder.
Whereas, if the meaning of the policy is clear and only one rea-
sonable interpretation exists, the courts must enforce the con-
tract as written; they may not, under the guise of construing an
ambiguous term, rewrite the contract or impose liabilities on
the parties not bargained for and found therein.

Woods, 295 N.C. at 505-06, 246 S.E.2d at 777 (emphasis added). Here,
we find no ambiguity as to the term “amount recoverable” or as to the
scope of coverage: the primary insurer’s insolvency does not consti-
tute an “occurrence” as that term is defined in the policy. We note
that the primary insurer was solvent on the date of the loss, here the
automobile accident which occurred on 8 June 1985. See G.S.
58-48-35(a)(“The Association shall: (1) Be obligated to the extent of
the covered claims existing prior to the determination of insolvency
... This obligation includes only the amount of each covered claim
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that is in excess of fifty dollars ($50.00) and is less than three hun-
dred thousand dollars ($300,000)™).

We find the reasoning of Hoffman Construction Co., 313 Or. 464,
836 P.2d 703, persuasive and we adopt its interpretation of the policy
language. Accordingly, we conclude that no ambiguity in the policy
exists. We note that our holding is in accord with numerous other
jurisdictions. “The financial vicissitudes of the insurance industry in
recent years have spawned numerous similar cases . . . . Though
there have been some differences in the language of the various
insurance contracts construed in such cases, the result in most juris-
dictions has been to reject the so-called ‘drop-down’ theory.”
Morbark Industries, Inc., 170 Mich. App. at 608-09, 429 N.W.2d at 216
(and cases cited therein). See also Playtex FF, Inc., 622 A.2d at 1082
(and cases cited therein); Alaska Rural Elec. Co-op, 785 P.2d at 1195.
See generally, Annotation, “Primary Insurer’s Solvency as Affecting
Excess Insurer’s Liability,” 85 ALR 4th 729 (1991).

Our review of defendant-Century’s policy leads us to the conclu-
sion that defendant-Century’s coverage does not “drop down” to
become primary coverage. We have reviewed plaintiff-Association’s
remaining arguments, including the argument regarding its payment
of defense costs on behalf of the insured in the underlying action,
and have found them to be without merit. Therefore, the trial court’s
entry of summary judgment in favor of defendant-Century on this
issue was proper. Accordingly, this assignment of error is overruled.

1L

[2] Plaintiff-Association next argues that the trial court erred in
granting summary judgment for defendant-Century on the counter-
claim because “[defendant-]Century cannot, as a matter of law, pos-
sess a ‘covered claim’ against [plaintiff-]Association under the Act.”
We disagree and affirm.

Plaintiff-Association argues that: 1) defendant-Century is not
entitled to any recovery because it does not possess a “covered
claim,” G.S. 58-48-20(4), under the Act, and 2) “no separate agree-
ment exists between [defendant-]Century and [plaintiff-]Association
under which [plaintiff-]JAssociation agreed to reimburse [defendant-]
Century if it were determined that [defendant-]Century’s policy does
not ‘drop down.” ” In its appellate brief, defendant-Century concedes
that it did not “obtain an assignment or other contract from the
insured, Long, transferring a right of subrogation against [plaintiff-]
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Association.” Instead, defendant-Century argues that its right to
recovery is based on the doctrine of equitable subrogation.

“Equitable subrogation is ‘a device adopted by equity to compel
the ultimate discharge of an obligation by him who in good con-
science ought to pay it’ and ‘arises when one person has been com-
pelled to pay a debt which ought to have been paid by another and
for which the other was primarily liable.” ” Harris-Teeter Super Mar-
kets v. Waits, 97 N.C. App. 101, 103, 387 S.E.2d 203, 205 (1990) (quot-
ing Beam v. Wright, 224 N.C. 677, 683, 32 S.E.2d 213, 218 (1944)). In
the insurance context, our Supreme Court has described the doctrine
as follows:

Generally, the doctrine of equitable subrogation may be
invoked if the obligation of another is paid by the plaintiff for the
purpose of protecting some real or supposed right or interest of
his own. Boney v. Central Mutual Ins. Co. of Chicago, 213 N.C.
563, 197 S.E. 122; Moring v. Privott, 146 N.C. 558, 60 S.E. 509;
Davison v. Gregory, 132 N.C. 389, 43 S.E. 916; 22 N.C. L. Rev. 167
(1944). In Boney, the Home Insurance Agency took an order for
an automobile liability policy from Thomas-Howard Company
and confirmed placement with the Central Mutual Insurance
Company of Chicago. Later, when Thomas-Howard Company had
a liability claim made against it, Central Mutual denied coverage
and Home Insurance Agency stepped in and provided a defense.
It later turned out that Central Mutual had coverage and on
appeal the Court asked this question: “Was claimant such a pure
volunteer as to be deprived of the right of subrogation?” In
answer, the Court said:

“‘Cases in our own reports illustrate the doctrine that
though the party who makes the payment may, in fact, have
no real or valid legal interest to protect, he may yet be sub-
rogated when he acts in good faith, in the belief that he had
such interest.” Publishing Co. v. Barber, supra [165 N.C. 478,
81 S.E. 694]. . ..

koK ok

“It is sufficient to invoke the doctrine of subrogation if
(1) the obligation of another is paid; (2) ‘for the purpose of
protecting some real or supposed right or interest of his
own.’ 60 C.J., Subrogation, Sec. 113.”

In the instant case Jamestown defended because Nationwide
refused to do so. Jamestown defended in good faith as
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Jamestown would have been liable had it been adjudged that
Nationwide’s policy did not provide coverage for William. Under
these circumstances, Jamestown was not such a pure volunteer
as to be deprived of the right of subrogation. Boney v. Central
Mutual Ins. Co. of Chicago, supra; Publishing Co. v. Barber,
165 N.C. 478, 81 S.E. 694.

Insurance Co. v. Insurance Co., 277 N.C. 216, 221-22, 176 S.E.2d 751,
755-56 (1970). As Publishing Co., Boney, and Insurance Co. illus-
trate, the determinative factor in assessing whether a party presents
a valid claim of equitable subrogation is whether that party (the
payor) has acted in good faith in seeking to protect its interests.
Here, defendant-Century (the payor) would have been obligated to
pay the $100,000.00 had it been contractually required to “drop
down,” as plaintiff-Association has consistently contended that
defendant-Century was required to do. Accordingly, defendant-
Century reasonably acted to protect its own interest. We conclude
that defendant-Century has acted in good faith: we note that there is
no allegation to the contrary. Accordingly, absent a statutory prohi-
bition defendant-Century is entitled to recover the $100,000.00 from
plaintiff-Association under the doctrine of equitable subrogation.

[3] Plaintiff-Association argues that defendant-Century is not enti-
tled to recovery from its counterclaim because it neither qualifies as
a “claimant” nor possesses a “covered claim” under the Act. Accord-
ing to the Act, its purposes are “to provide a mechanism for the pay-
ment of covered claims under certain insurance policies, to avoid
excessive delay in payment, and to avoid financial loss to claimants
or policyholders because of the insolvency of an insurer . . .” G.S.
58-48-5. The terms “claimant” and “covered claim” are defined under
the Act as follows:

(2a) “Claimant” means any insured making a first party claim
or any person instituting a liability claim; provided that no per-
son who is an affiliate of the insolvent insurer may be a claimant.

(4) “Covered claim” means an unpaid claim, including one of
unearned premiums, which is in excess of fifty dollars ($50.00)
and arises out of and is within the coverage and not in excess of
the applicable limits of an insurance policy to which this Article
applies . . . “Covered claim” shall not include any amount award-
ed as punitive or exemplary damages; sought as a return of pre-
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mium under any retrospective rating plan; or due any reinsurer,
insurer, insurance pool, or underwriting association, as subroga-
tion or contribution recoveries or otherwise.

G.S. 58-48-20. Plaintiff-Association points to the last sentence of
58-48-20(4) and argues that defendant-Century’s claim is barred, if
not by the term “subrogation” then by the catchall phrase “or other-
wise.” Defendant-Century contends that a claim based upon equi-
table subrogation is not barred by the statute:

An insurer asserting a subrogation claim rightfully paid damages
for its insured, in the first instance, under its policy, but contends
that another party is primarily liable for the damages. By
contrast, an insurer asserting an equitable subrogation claim did
not owe the claim, in the first instance; it was owed by another
insurer who wrongfully refused to pay the claim. For example, in
the conventional subrogation situation, A's automobile collides
with B’s automobile; A’s insurer pays a property damage claim for
A under its policy and then pursues recovery against B. If B’s
insurer were insolvent, A’'s insurer would have no right to recov-
er against the Association because it would be advancing a “sub-
rogation” claim of an “insurer.” That case, however, is not present
here. Century’s right to recover arises from principles of equity
because the Association refused to pay, in full, a first party claim
for an insured [of an insolvent insurer, AMLIC]. If the Century
policy was not required to drop down [supra], then Century had
no_contractual obligation to pay the first $300,000.00, while the
Association had a statutory obligation to do so.

(Emphasis in original.) (Alterations added.)

This Court has stated that while conventional subrogation “arises
from an express agreement of the parties,” equitable subrogation
“rests not on contract but on principles of equity.” NCNB v. Western
Surety Co., 88 N.C. App. 705, 708, 364 S.E.2d 675, 677 (1988) (citing
Journal Publishing Co. v. Barber, 165 N.C. 478, 81 S.E. 694 (1914);
Powell v. Wake Water Co., 171 N.C. 290, 88 S.E. 426 (1916)). Further-
more, this Court has held that equitable subrogation is a “remedy
[which] is highly favored and liberally applied.” Trustees of Garden
of Prayer Baptist Church v. Geraldco Builders, 78 N.C. App. 108,
114, 336 S.E.2d 694, 698 (1985) (emphasis added). We conclude that
our General Assembly did not intend for the term “subrogation” to
encompass equitable subrogation, particularly in a context in which
plaintiff-Association failed to fulfill its statutory obligation, G.S.
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58-48-35(a)(1), based upon its misreading of the insurance contract
at issue.

We now turn our attention to the phrase “or otherwise” appear-
ing at the end of 58-48-20(4). We interpret the general catchall phrase
“or otherwise” by reference to the doctrine of ejusdem generis, a
well established rule of statutory construction providing that
“ ‘where general words follow a designation of particular subjects or
things, the meaning of the general words will ordinarily be presumed
to be, and construed as, restricted by the particular designations and
as including only things of the same kind, character and nature as
those specifically enumerated.” ” State v. Lee, 277 N.C. 242, 244, 176
S.E.2d 772, 774 (1970) (citations omitted) (emphasis added). See also
State v. Cratg, 176 N.C. 740, 744, 97 S.E. 400, 401 (1918) (“when par-
ticular and specific words or acts, the subject of a statute, are fol-
lowed by general words, the latter must as a rule be confined to acts
and things of the same kind”). Here, the terms immediately preceding
the phrase “or otherwise” in G.S. 58-48-20(4) are “subrogation” and
“contribution.” These two items are contractual or tort based forms
of remedies. See Squires v. Sorahan, 252 N.C. 589, 591, 114 S.E.2d
277, 279 (1960) (“subrogation . . . arises by reason of contract, . . .
contribution . . . arises by reason of participation in the tort”); NCNB,
88 N.C. App. 705, 364 S.E.2d 675. On the other hand, equitable subro-
gation is a judicially imposed remedy grounded in equity. We con-
clude that in this context the phrase “or otherwise” does not encom-
pass the purely equitable remedy applicable here.

Finally, our interpretation of G.S. 58-48-20(4), supra, addresses a
potential inequity alluded to by defendant-Century in its brief:

In considering the purposes of the Guaranty Act, it is clear
that our Legislature intended that insureds, such as Long, would
have the full benefit of the statutory cap under the Guaranty Act,
$300,000.00, when their insurer becomes insolvent. It could not
have intended that the Association could use the statutory refer-
ence to “subrogation” as a shield against fulfillment of its statu-
tory obligations. Principles of equity require the Association to
reimburse Century for monies owed by the Association as the
insurer for Long. This result would effectuate the purposes of the
Act by encouraging the Association to promptly settle claims
within its statutory limit. It would also prevent the Association
from being rewarded for refusing to meet its statutory obliga-
tions.
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(Emphasis in original.)

We are left with the question: what rational basis led plaintiff-
Association to pay $200,000.00, an amount which was $100,000.00
less than its statutory cap under G.S. 58-48-35(a)(1)? Hypothetically,
if plaintiff-Association had decided, for whatever reason, to pay only
a small fraction of its statutory cap, for example $25,000.00, using
plaintiff-Association’s flawed interpretation of G.S. 58-48-20,
plaintiff-Association would have been under no obligation to pay
defendant the remaining $275,000.00. If plaintiff-Association’s logic
were to prevail, there would be no incentive for plaintiff-Association
to fulfill its statutory mandate. The less plaintiff-Association offered
to contribute to the settlement of a claim, the more plaintiff-Associa-
tion would stand to gain since under plaintiff-Association’s argument
the excess carrier would have no recourse. Plaintiff-Association’s
proposed interpretation of the statute is inconsistent with the goal of
timely proper payments of legitimate claims, G.S. 58-48-5, and could
encourage arbitrary and capricious settlement offers, leaving excess
insurers with no remedy. We conclude that our General Assembly did
not intend to encourage plaintiff-Association to use this type of hard
bargaining technique against innocent excess insurers through the
Act.

In sum, our decisions have been uniform in distinguishing
between conventional subrogation and equitable subrogation. The
dictates of ejusdem generis lead us to conclude that defendant-
Century’s recovery based upon equitable subrogation is not barred by
G.S. 58-48-20(4). “If and when the lawmaking body wishes to amend
the statute, a few words will suffice. This Court must forego the
opportunity to amend here.” Insurance Co. v. Bynum, 267 N.C. 289,
292, 148 S.E.2d 114, 117 (1966). Accordingly, this assignment of error
fails.

IIL.

We hold that defendant-Century’s commercial umbrella liability
policy is not required to “drop down” and become primary coverage
notwithstanding the insolvency of AMLIC. We further hold that
defendant-Century is entitled to be paid $100,000.00 in light of
plaintiff-Association’s $300,000.00 statutory cap, G.S. 58-48-35(a)(1).
For the reasons stated, the trial court’s 22 April 1993 judgment is
affirmed.
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Affirmed.

Judges MARTIN and McCRODDEN concur.

NATIONWIDE MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY, PraNTIFF v. BRENDA KAY MABE,
ET AL, DEFENDANTS

JESSE WILLARD SCOTT, JR., INDIVIDUALLY, AS THE PARENT OF LUCINDA SUE SCOTT, AND AS
THE ADMINISTRATOR OF THE ESTATE OF CAROLYN MABE ScoTT, aND LUCINDA SUE
SCOTT, BY HER GUARDIAN AD LITEM, ANNE CONNOLLY, THIRD-PARTY PLAINTIFFS v.
NORTH CAROLINA FARM BUREAU MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY, THIRD-
PARTY DEFENDANT

BRENDA KAY MABE, ROGER LEE MABE, KIMBERLY HOPE MABE, A MINOR B/H/G/A/L
S. MARK RABIL anp HEATHER DORA MABE, A MINOR B/H/G/A/L. GREGORY W.
SCHIRO, PLainTirrs v. ROBERT LEONARD GREGORY, anp MARY ELIZABETH
WILSON, DEFENDANTS

JESSE WILLARD SCOTT, JR., INDIVIDUALLY AS THE PARENT OF LUCINDA SUE SCOTT anD
AS THE ADMINISTRATOR OF THE ESTATE OF CAROLYN MABE ScoTT, AND LUCINDA SUE
SCOTT, B/#/G/a/L ANNE CONNOLLY, PLaINTIFFS v. ROBERT LEONARD GREGORY,
MARY ELIZABETH WILSON, anD JODY RAY BULLINS, DEFENDANTS

No. 93175C40
(Filed 21 June 1994)

1. Insurance § 690 (NCI4th)— automobile accident—limit of
liability—prejudgment interest
The trial court erred in an action arising from an automobile
accident by ordering that Nationwide pay prejudgment interest
where Nationwide had tendered its policy limits to the court,
mediation ensued, the parties consented to judgments, and
Nationwide agreed to pay its policy limits pro rata to the
claimants. There is no statutory duty which requires a liability
insurance carrier to pay prejudgment interest in addition to its
limit of liability under the policy and a liability carrier’s obliga-
tion to pay prejudgment interest in addition to its stated limits is
governed solely by the language in the policy. Although the
claimants assert that prejudgment interest was included in a pol-
icy provision governing payment of costs, the policy contains a
clause defining prejudgment interest as part of damages and that
clause is controlling. Moreover, prejudgment interest here would
require Nationwide to pay an additional $300,000 over and above
its policy limit of $300,000, an obviously absurd result which is
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clearly not what the parties intended. Nationwide was obligated
to pay prejudgment interest as part of damages up to its liability
limit of $300,000, but since the total judgments exceed the poli-
cy’s limit of liability, the individual claimants were not entitled to
any prejudgment interest.

Am Jur 2d, Automobile Insurance § 428.

2. Insurance § 532 (NCI4th)— automobile accident—UIM
coverage—owned vehicle exclusion—contrary to statutory
terms

The trial court in an automobile accident case correctly held
that an “owned vehicle” exclusion in the UIM section of a Farm
Bureau automobile insurance policy was not enforceable where,
but for the owned vehicle exclusion, the claimants would be first
class insured persons. An owned vehicle exclusion is contrary to
the terms of N.C.G.S. § 20-279.21(b)(4) whether it is judicially
imposed or contained in the UIM portion of the policy. As long as
an individual is a first classed insured person, he or she is
covered.

Am Jur 2d, Automobile Insurance § 322.

3. Insurance § 528 (NCI4th)— automobile accident—UIM
coverage—private passenger motor vehicle—low boy
trailer

The claimants were not entitled to intrapolicy stacking in an
action arising from an automobile accident where there was no
dispute that this was a nonfleet policy and the two vehicles
involved were a Mack truck and a low boy trailer. Under the ver-
sion of N.C.G.S. § 58-40-10(1) in effect at the time of the accident,
it is more than obvious that the low boy trailer is not a private
passenger motor vehicle. Although the claimants argue that
N.C.G.S. § 20-4.01(23) would include the trailer within the defini-
tion of motor vehicle, N.C.G.S. § 20-279.21(b)(4) explicitly pro-
vides that we look to the definitions in Chapter 58.

Am Jur 2d, Automobile Insurance § 322.

Appeal by plaintiff, Nationwide Mutual Insurance Company;
appeal by plaintiffs, Brenda Kay Mabe, Roger Lee Mabe, Kimberly
Hope Mabe, a minor b/h/g/a/l S. Mark Rabil, Heather Dora Mabe,
b/h/g/a/l Gregory W. Schiro; appeal by third-party plaintiffs, Jesse
Willard Scott, Jr., as the Administrator of the Estate of Carolyn Mabe
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Scott and Lucinda Sue Scott, by her guardian ad litem, Anne Connol-
ly; and appeal by third-party defendant, North Carolina Farm Bureau
Mutual Insurance Company from Order and Judgment filed 28 Sep-
tember 1992 by Judge James C. Davis in Stokes County Superior
Court. Heard in the Court of Appeals 18 November 1993.

Petree Stockton, by James H. Kelly, Jr. and Edwin W. Bowden,
for plaintiff-Nationwide.

Theodore M. Molitoris for defendants and third-party
plaintiffs-Jesse Willard Scott, Jr., Individually and as the Par-
ent of Lucinda Sue Scott and for Lucinda Sue Scotl.

John E. Gehring for defendant and third-party plaintiff-Jesse
Willard Scott, Jr., as the Administrator of the Estate of Carolyn
Mabe Scott.

Metcalf, Vrsecky & Beal, by Anthony J. Vrsecky, for defendants-
Brenda Kay Mabe, Roger Lee Mabe, Kimberly Hope Mabe and
Heather Dora Mabe.

Nichols, Caffrey, Hill, Evans & Murrelle, by Paul D. Coates and
David L. Brown, for defendant-North Carolina Farm Bureau
Mutual Insurance Company.

Lewis, Judge.

The facts of this case arise out of an automobile accident, but
due to the numerous parties and issues involved, its resolution has
become more than complex. On 16 February 1990, Lucinda Sue Scott,
Brenda Kay Mabe, Kimberly Hope Mabe, and Heather Dora Mabe
were all passengers in a vehicle operated by Carolyn Mabe Scott trav-
eling along North Carolina Highway 89 when it was struck head-on by
a 1989 Toyota truck. As a result of the accident, Carolyn Mabe Scott
was killed and the remaining passengers all suffered extensive
injuries. The occupants of the Toyota truck were Robert Leonard
Gregory (“Gregory”) and Jody Ray Bullins (“Bullins”). It was unclear
who was driving the Toyota truck, but the parties consented that
judgment would be entered against Gregory. At the time of the acci-
dent, the Toyota truck was titled in the name of Gregory’s mother,
Mary Elizabeth Wilson (“Wilson”), and it was alleged that Gregory
was driving the truck with his mother’'s permission. Nationwide
Mutual Insurance Company (“Nationwide”) had in effect a liability
policy on the Toyota truck providing coverage in the amount of
$100,000 per person and $300,000 per accident. In addition, North
Carolina Farm Bureau Mutual Insurance Company (“Farm Bureau”)
had in effect a business automobile policy issued to Jesse Willard
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Scott which provided underinsured motorist coverage (UIM) of
$100,000.

On 4 May 1990, a complaint was filed on behalf of Brenda Kay
Mabe, Roger Lee Mabe, Kimberly Hope Mabe and Heather Dora Mabe
(hereafter “the Mabes”) against Gregory and Wilson. The complaint
alleged that Gregory had driven the Toyota truck in a negligent man-
ner while intoxicated and that his use of the truck fell within the fam-
ily purpose doctrine. Thereafter, on 24 September 1990, Jesse Willard
Scott, Jr., and his daughter, Lucinda Sue Scott (hereafter “the
Scotts™), filed suit against Gregory and Wilson alleging the same
causes of action as in the Mabes’ complaint. The Mabes and the
Scotts will be referred to collectively as “the claimants.”

On 14 March 1991, Nationwide, in an attempt to settle the claims
arising out of the accident, offered to pay its policy limits to the
claimants. Believing that the potential claims exceeded the extent of
its liability coverage, Nationwide proposed a pro rata distribution in
the following amounts and conditioned settlement upon concurrent
acceptance by all of the claimants:

Estate of Carolyn Mabe Scott— $ 35,050.00
Lucinda Sue Scott— $ 42 600.00
Heather Dora Mabe— $ 18,380.00
Kimberly Hope Mabe— $100,000.00
Brenda Kay Mabe— $100,000.00.

The Scotts, however, were unable to give their unconditional accept-
ance, because if they were unable to obtain UIM coverage from other
sources, they felt they were entitled to a larger portion of Nation-
wide’s liability coverage. On 5 July 1991, after the claimants had
refused to unconditionally accept the offer, Nationwide filed an inter-
pleader action and named all of the claimants as defendants. Nation-
wide then tendered its $300,000 policy limits to the court and asked
for an order declaring that it had satisfied its policy obligations.

In lieu of trial, mediation followed and the parties consented that
judgments would be entered against Gregory in the following
amounts:
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Lucinda Sue Scott $125,000.00
Carolyn Mabe Scott Estate $400,000.00
Brenda Kay Mabe $500,000.00
Kimberly Hope Mabe $600,000.00
Heather Dora Mabe $ 40,000.00
Roger Lee Mabe $ 15,000.00.

Based on these judgments, Nationwide agreed to pay its $300,000.00
policy limits pro rata in the following amount:

Lucinda Sue Scott $ 29,280.00
Carolyn Mabe Scott Estate $ 55,040.00
Brenda Kay Mabe $100,000.00
Kimberly Hope Mabe $100,000.00
Heather Dora Mabe $ 11,000.00
Roger Lee Mabe $  3,900.00.

The entry of the consent judgment and the subsequent pro rata dis-
tribution of Nationwide’s coverage left only two issues to be deter-
mined by the trial court: (1) whether Nationwide owed prejudgment
interest, and (2) the extent of Farm Bureau’s UIM coverage. All par-
ties moved for summary judgment and a hearing was held on 8
September 1992. The trial court ordered that Nationwide owed pre-
judgment interest to each of the claimants based on their respective
pro rata shares of the $300,000 liability coverage. The trial court fur-
ther ordered that Farm Bureau's UIM liability to the Scott’s was
$200,000. All parties gave timely notice of appeal and this matter is
propetrly before this Court.

Prejudgment Interest

[1] The first issue we address is the extent, if any, to which Nation-
wide must pay prejudgment interest. There are three possible
outcomes to this issue. The first, argued by the claimants, is that
Nationwide must pay prejudgment interest on the total amount of the
consent judgments. The second option, urged by Nationwide, is that
$300,000 is the extent of its liability since the combined judgments
exceed this amount. The last option, and the one chosen by the trial
court, is that Nationwide is required to pay prejudgment interest on
the respective pro rata shares of the claimants. We find the second
option advanced by Nationwide to be the better reasoned position,
and reverse the ruling of the trial court.

Prejudgment interest is governed by N.C.G.S. § 24-5 which pro-
vides in pertinent part:
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In an action other than contract, the portion of money judg-
ment designated by the fact finder as compensatory damages
bears interest from the date the action is instituted until the judg-
ment is satisfied. Interest on an award in an action other than
contract shall be at the legal rate.

N.C.G.S. § 24-5(b) (1991). There is no statutory duty which requires a
liability insurance carrier to pay prejudgment interest in addition to
its limit of liability under the policy. Sproles v. Greene, 329 N.C. 603,
407 S.E.2d 497 (1991). Nor is N.C.G.S. § 24-5 a part of the Financial
Responsibility Act so as to require that it be written into every liabil-
ity policy. Baxley v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co., 334 N.C. 1, 430 S.E.2d
895 (1993). Accordingly, a liability carrier’s obligation to pay pre-
judgment interest in addition to its stated limits is governed solely by
the language of the policy.

In interpreting insurance policies, our appellate courts have
established several rules of construction. Of these, the most funda-
mental rule is that the language of the policy controls. See Smith v.
Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co., 328 N.C. 139, 400 S.E.2d 44 (1991). Other
rules include: if a policy is not ambiguous, then the court must
enforce the policy as written and may not reconstruct the policy
under the guise of interpreting an ambiguous provision. Wachovia
Bank & Trust Co. v. Westchester Fire Ins. Co., 276 N.C. 348, 172
S.E.2d 518 (1970). If a policy defines a term, then that definition is to
be applied. Id. It does not matter that a broader or narrower meaning
is normally given to the term. York Indus. Center, Inc. v. Michigan
Mut. Liab. Co., 271 N.C. 158, 155 S.E.2d 501 (1967). In addition, all
parts of an insurance policy are to be construed harmoniously so as
to give effect to each of the policy’s provisions. See Woods v. Nation-
wide Mut. Ins. Co., 295 N.C. 500, 246 S.E.2d 773 (1978).

As originally issued, the Nationwide policy contained the follow-
ing relevant provisions:

PArRT B
SUPPLEMENTARY PAYMENTS

In addition to our limit of liability, we will pay on behalf of a
covered person:

3. Interest accruing after a judgment is entered in any suit we
defend. Our duty to pay interest ends when we offer to pay
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that part of the judgment which does not exceed our limit of
liability for this coverage. (Emphasis added).

LIMIT OF LIABILITY

The limit of liability shown in the Declarations for “each per-
son” for Bodily Injury Liability is our maximum limit of lia-
bility for all damages for bodily injury sustained by any one
person in any one auto accident. Subject to this limit for
“each person”, the limit of liability shown in the Declarations
for “each accident” for Bodily Injury Liability is our maxi-
mum limit of liability for all damages for bodily injury result-

ing from any one auto accident. . . . This is the most we will
pay as a result of any one auto accident regardless of the
number of:

1. Covered persons;

2. Claims made;

3. Vehicles or premiums shown in the Declarations; or
4. Vehicles involved in the auto accident.

The Declarations page of the policy reveals that Nationwide’s limit of
liability is $300,000 per accident. In January 1984, the Nationwide
policy was amended by endorsement 1948 which provided:

II. LiaBILITY COVERAGE
Part B is amended as follows:
A. Supplementary Payments provision is amended to read:

In addition to our limit of liability, we will pay on behalf of a
covered person:

3. Interest accruing after any suit we defend is instituted. Our
duty to pay interest ends when we pay our part of the judg-
ment which does not exceed our limit of liability for this cov-
erage. (Emphasis added).

Thereafter, the Nationwide policy was again amended by endorse-
ment 2096. This amendment was presumably prompted by the
Supreme Court’s decision in Lowe v. Tarble, 313 N.C. 460, 329 S.E.2d
648 (1985), and embodies all of the changes which are relevant to this
appeal. Specifically, the wording of Part B of the L1aBILITY COVER-
AGE section was modified as follows:

A. The first paragraph of the Insuring Agreement is replaced by
the following:
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We will pay damages for bodily injury or property damage for
which any insured becomes legally responsible because of an
auto accident. Damages include prejudgment interest
awarded against the insured. We will settle or defend, as we
consider appropriate, any claim or suit asking for these dam-
ages. In addition to our limit of liability, we will pay all
defense costs we incur. Our duty to settle or defend ends
when our limit of liability for this coverage has been exhaust-
ed. We have no duty to defend any suit or settle any claim for
bodily injury or property damage not covered under this pol-
icy. (Emphasis added).

B. Section 3. of the Supplementary Payments provision is
replaced by the following:

In addition to our limit of liability, we will pay on behalf of an
insured:

3. all costs taxed against the insured and interest accruing
after a judgment is entered in any suit we defend. Our duty to

pay interest ends when we offer to pay that part of the judg-
ment which does not exceed our limit of liability for this cov-
erage. (Emphasis added).

The claimants assert that under the policy Nationwide owes pre-
Jjudgment interest on the entire amount. In support of this position,
the claimants rely almost exclusively on the language in Part B of
endorsement 2096 that Nationwide “[i|n addition to {its] limit of lia-
bility, . . . will pay on behalf of an insured . . . all costs taxed against
the insured.” (Emphasis added). The claimants argue that this lan-
guage is dispositive because in Lowe v. Tarble, 313 N.C. 460, 329
S.E.2d 648 (1985), the Supreme Court interpreted identical language
to mean that an insurance company was liable for prejudgment inter-
est. The specific terms of the policy at issue in Lowe provided that
the insurance company would “[play all expenses incurred by the
company, all costs taxed against the insured in any such suit and all
interest accruing after entry of judgment until the company has paid,
tendered or deposited in court such part of such judgment as does
not exceed the limit of the company’s liability thereon.” Id. at 463,
329 S.E.2d at 651 (emphasis added). The Supreme Court held that
under the above language, prejudgment interest was a cost which the
insurer was obligated to pay.

As stated previously, when interpreting any insurance policy it is
the language of the policy which controls. This is evidenced by the
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specific holding in Lowe where the Supreme Court stated “we hold
that prejudgment interest provided for by N.C.G.S. 24-5 is a cost with-
in the meaning of the contract which, under the contract in the pres-
ent case, the insurer is obligated to pay.” Id. at 464, 329 S.E.2d at 651
(emphasis added). The “present case” language demonstrates a clear
intent on the part of the Supreme Court to decide the issue based on
the specific policy before it and not to make a blanket statement that
prejudgment interest is always a cost. This fact is further evidenced
by the recent decision in Sproles v. Greene, 329 N.C. 603, 407 S.E.2d
497 (1991). There the Supreme Court addressed an almost identical
set of facts as those in Lowe, but reached an entirely different result.
Instead of using the language “all costs taxed against the insured,”
the policy in Sproles contained the language “all defense costs.” On
appeal the Supreme Court held Lowe was inapplicable because only
the relevant language of the policy in Lowe was at issue. Id. at 611,
407 S.E.2d at 502. The Supreme Court further held that the language
“all defense costs” was not as broad as “all costs taxed against the
insured,” because “all defense costs” included only such things as
attorney fees, deposition expenses, and court costs, but not prejudg-
ment interest. Id.

Therefore, Lowe and Sproles clearly establish that our courts will
look to the specific terms of a policy in deciding whether or not a lia-
bility carrier is required to pay prejudgment interest in addition to its
limit of liability. The Nationwide policy in the present case contains
an additional clause defining prejudgment interest as part of dam-
ages. We find that it is this clause which is controlling and not the
language in Lowe. Even without this clause defining prejudgment
interest as an element of damages, we would still reach the same con-
clusion because our Supreme Court has recently held that prejudg-
ment interest is an element of damages because it compensates an
individual for the loss of the use of his money. Baxley v. Nationwide
Mut. Ins. Co., 334 N.C. 1, 430 S.E.2d 895 (1993) (citing Hartford
Accident & Indem. Co. v. US. Fire Ins. Co., 710 F. Supp. 164
(E.D.N.C. 1989), aff’d, 918 F.2d 955 (4th Cir. 1990)). Prejudgment
interest on the total amount of the judgments here would obligate
Nationwide to pay an additional $300,000 over and above its policy
limit of $300,000 for a total of $600,000. This is an obviously absurd
result. This is clearly not what the parties intended, nor is it the type
of risk which Nationwide contemplated when it established the pre-
mium to be paid.
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The claimants have articulated several sound policy arguments in
their favor, but policy alone is not sufficient to overcome the plain
and unambiguous language of the policy. Therefore, we find that
Nationwide is obligated to pay prejudgment interest as part of the
total of any damages up to its liability limit of $300,000. In this case,
since the total judgments exceed the policy’s limit of liability,
$300,000 is the extent of Nationwide’s liability and the individual
claimants are not entitled to any prejudgment interest.

UIM Coverage

The second issue which we address is the extent of Farm
Bureau’s UIM coverage. At the time of the accident, Farm Bureau had
in effect a business policy issued to Jesse Willard Scott (“Scott™)
which provided UIM coverage of $100,000 per accident. Listed on the
policy as insured vehicles were a 1964 Mack truck and a 1978 low boy
trailer. The Mack truck and the low boy trailer were used together to
transport a tractor which Scott used in his farming operations.

When Nationwide filed its interpleader action, the Scotts filed a
third-party complaint against Farm Bureau seeking a declaratory
judgment as to Farm Bureau’s obligations under the policy. Farm
Bureau denied coverage arguing that the Scotts were not entitled to
any UIM coverage on a vehicle owned by the Scotts but not listed on
the policy. The trial court disagreed and held that Farm Bureau had a
limit of liability to the estate of Carolyn Mabe Scott and to Lucinda
Sue Scott of $200,000 less the amount of primary coverage less
Nationwide’s UIM coverage. Farm Bureau has appealed, but for the
reasons discussed below, we affirm the trial court’s judgment as
modified.

Farm Bureau’s argument in denying coverage is two-part. First,
Farm Bureau argues that it does not provide coverage on a vehicle
owned by the Scotts but not listed on the policy because the risk
involved in being in an accident while in an owned vehicle is greater
than being in an accident while in a nonowned vehicle. Farm Bureau
argues that it should have been allowed to charge a higher premium
for this additional risk and the fact that it did not shows that UIM
coverage for an owned vehicle not listed on the policy was not con-
templated by the parties. Secondly, Farm Bureau contends that nei-
ther the 1964 Mack truck nor the 1978 low boy trailer fits within the
definition of private passenger motor vehicles so as to allow stack-
ing. We address the owned vehicle exclusion first.
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A.
Owned Vehicle Exclusion

[2] An “owned vehicle,” or “household-owned” or “family-owned”
vehicle, exclusion in the UIM section of a policy is one which pur-
ports to deny UIM coverage to a family member injured while in a
family-owned vehicle not listed in the policy at issue. Farm Bureau’s
argument for an owned vehicle exclusion stems from the “covered
autos” portion of the policy. Under this section numerical symbols
are used to describe the type of vehicles that may be covered under
the policy. The symbol beside the UIM coverage in Scott’s policy is
“07” relating to SPECIFICALLY DESCRIBED “AuT0S.” Symbol 07 applies
only to those autos listed on the Declarations page for which a pre-
mium has been charged, and the Declarations page of Scott’s policy
lists only the Mack truck and the low boy trailer, but not the vehicle
Carolyn Mabe Scott was driving at the time of her death. Thus, Farm
Bureau argues that the plain language of the policy controls and that
the Scotts are not entitled to any UIM coverage.

Section 20-279.21(b)(4) of the Financial Responsibility Act gov-
erns UIM coverage, Smith v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co., 328 N.C. 139,
142, 400 S.E.2d 44, 47 (1991), and therefore, its provisions are terms
of the Farm Bureau policy to the same extent as if they had been
written into the policy. See Baxley v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co., 334
N.C. 1, 430 S.E.2d 895 (1993). If the terms of Farm Bureau’s policy
conflict with N.C.G.S. § 20-279.21(b)(4), then the statute controls. Id.
As stated in Sutton v. Aetna Casualty & Surety Co., 325 N.C. 259,
265, 382 S.E.2d 759, 763 (1989),

“[t]he cardinal principle of statutory construction is that the
intent of the legislature is controlling.” Legislative intent can be
ascertained not only from the phraseology of the statute but also
from the nature and purpose of the act and the consequences
which would follow its construction one way or the other. “The
Court will not adopt an interpretation which results in injustice
when the statute may reasonably be otherwise consistently con-
strued with the intent of the act. Obviously, the Court will, when-
ever possible, interpret a statute so as to avoid absurd
consequences.”

(Citations omitted). The purpose of the Financial Responsibility Act
is to compensate innocent victims of financially irresponsible
motorists. Id. The specific issue we address is whether Farm
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Bureau’s policy, which imposes an owned vehicle exclusion, is incon-
sistent with the terms of N.C.G.S. § 20-279.21(b)(4). This is a question
which our Supreme Court specifically left open in Smith, recognizing
that even the commentators disagree as to whether such an exclu-
sion is valid. Smith, 328 N.C. at 149, 400 S.E.2d at 51.

At the outset we note that Farm Bureau has cited several cases
supporting the owned vehicle exclusion. See N.C. Farm Bureau Mut.
Ins. Co. v. Walton, 107 N.C. App. 207, 418 S.E.2d 837 (1992); Kruger
v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 102 N.C. App. 788, 403 S.E.2d 571
(1991). We do not believe these cases are dispositive, because they
concern liability coverage and not UIM coverage. As our Supreme
Court has stated on several occasions, there is a difference between
liability coverage and UM/UIM coverage, because UM/UIM coverage
follows the person, not the vehicle. Smith, 328 N.C. at 149, 400 S.E.2d
at 50.

The beginning point of any discussion of UIM coverage is the
Supreme Court’s exhaustive opinion in Smith v. Nationwide Mutual
Insurance Co., 328 N.C. 139, 400 S.E.2d 44 (1991). In Smith, the issue
was whether a judicially created owned vehicle exclusion existed for
purposes of UM/UIM coverage. In making this determination the
Court looked to the definition of “persons insured” in N.C.G.S.
§ 20-279.21(b)}(3) and incorporated by reference into N.C.G.S.
§ 20-279.21(b)(4), which provided:

For purposes of this section “persons insured” means the
named insured and, while resident of the same household, the
spouse of any named insured and relatives of either, while in a
motor vehicle or otherwise, and any person who uses with the
consent, expressed or implied, of the named insured, the motor
vehicle to which the policy applies and a guest in such motor
vehicle to which the policy applies or the personal representative
of any of the above or any other person or persons in lawful pos-
session of such motor vehicle.

N.C.G.S. § 20-279.21(b)(3) (1989). This definition essentially estab-
lished two classes of insured persons: “ ‘(1) the named insured and,
while resident of the same household, the spouse of the named
insured and relatives of either and (2) any person who uses with the
consent, express or implied, of the named insured, the insured vehi-
cle, and a guest in such vehicle.” ” Smith, 328 N.C. at 143, 400 S.E.2d
at 47 (quoting Crowder v. N.C. Farm Bureau Mut. Ins. Co., 79 N.C.
App. 551, 554, 340 S.E.2d 127, 129, disc. review denied, 316 N.C. 731,
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345 S.E.2d 387 (1986)). In Smith, the Supreme Court held that there
was no judicially created owned vehicle exclusion and that members
of the first class are persons insured even if the insured vehicle is not
involved in the accident. Id. at 150, 400 S.E.2d at 51. Farm Bureau has
admitted in its brief that, but for the owned vehicle exclusion
imposed by the policy, Carolyn Mabe Scott and Lucinda Sue Scott
would be first class insured persons.

Based on Smith and other decisions by our Supreme Court we
find that an owned vehicle exclusion is contrary to the terms of
N.C.G.S. § 20-279.21(b)(4), whether it is judicially imposed or
whether it is contained in the UIM portion of the policy. To hold oth-
erwise would allow insurance companies to write into N.C.G.S.
§ 20-279.21(b)(4) and into their policies a restriction which we do not
believe the legislature intended. Since Smith, the Supreme Court has
made even broader statements about the extent of UIM coverage. In
Bass v. North Carolina Farm Bureau Mutual Insurance Co., 332
N.C. 109, 418 S.E.2d 221 (1992), the defendant argued that “Smith
[was] limited to its facts so that an insured injured while riding in an
owned vehicle not included in a policy insuring other vehicles, can
recover UIM benefits from that policy only if the owned vehicle is
covered by a policy which also contains UIM coverage.” Id. at 111,
418 S.E.2d at 222. The Supreme Court criticized the defendant as
reading Smith too narrowly and stated that its decision rested simply
on whether the plaintiff was a person insured. Id. Further, in Harris
v. Nationwide Mutual Insurance Co, 332 N.C. 184, 420 S.E.2d 124
(1992), when Nationwide attempted to argue that intrapolicy stack-
ing was available only to an owner of a vehicle or to a vehicle listed
on a policy, the Supreme Court disagreed, holding that

[wlhen one member of a household purchases first-party
UIM coverage, it may fairly be said that he or she intends to pro-
tect all members of the family unit within the household. The leg-
islature recognized this family unit for purposes of UIM coverage
when it defined “persons insured” of the first class as “the named
insured and, while resident of the same household, the spouse of
any named insured and relatives of either . . . .” These persons
insured of the first class are protected, based on their relation-
ship, whether they are injured while riding in one of the covered
vehicles or otherwise,

Harris, 332 N.C. at 193-94, 420 S.E.2d at 130 (citations omitted).
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We find that these statements evidence a clear intent on the part
of the Supreme Court that as long as an individual is a first class
insured person, he or she is covered. To hold otherwise would defeat
the intention of individuals who purchase UIM coverage to protect all
of their family members and would abrogate the distinctions
between liability coverage and UM/UIM coverage. Farm Bureau
argues that this result will encourage individuals to obtain a single
policy containing UIM coverage to protect the entire family unit. We
see nothing wrong with this outcome because the same individual
who takes out a single policy will also be limited in the extent to
which he can stack to fully recover if his injuries exceed the amount
of liability insurance. Finding that the owned vehicle exclusion is
unenforceable is also consistent with the remedial nature and the lib-
eral construction to be afforded the Financial Responsibility Act so
as to accomplish its purposes. Sutton v. Aetna Casualty & Sur. Co.,
325 N.C. 259, 382 S.E.2d 759 (1989). Although Farm Bureau has cited
Sproles v. Greene, 329 N.C. 603, 407 S.E.2d 497 (1991), in favor of the
owned vehicle exclusion, we find that Farm Bureau's reliance on
Sproles is misplaced because that case dealt with second class
insureds and not first class insureds as is the case here. Accordingly,
we hold that Farm Bureau’s owned vehicle exclusion is unenforce-
able and the Scotts are entitled to stack their UIM coverage if the
vehicles listed in the policy are private passenger motor vehicles.

B.
Private Passenger Vehicles

[3] Farm Bureau argues that the trial court erred in concluding that
the Scotts were entitled to $200,000 in UIM coverage. Instead, Farm
Bureau argues that the extent of its liability is $100,000 because nei-
ther the 1964 Mack truck nor the 1978 low boy trailer is a private pas-
senger vehicle. Farm Bureau asserts this point because intrapolicy
stacking is available only when the coverage is non-fleet and the
vehicle covered is a private passenger motor vehicle. Aetna Casualty
& Sur. Co. v. Fields, 105 N.C. App. 563, 414 S.E.2d 69, disc. review
denied, 331 N.C. 383, 417 S.E.2d 788 (1992). This requirement comes
directly from N.C.G.S. § 20-279.21(b)(4) (1989) which, at the time of
the accident in this case, provided in pertinent part:

In any event, the limit of underinsured motorist coverage
applicable to any claim is determined to be the difference
between the amount paid to the claimant pursuant to the
exhausted liability policy and the total limits of the owner’s
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underinsured motorist coverages provided in the owner’s poli-
cies of insurance; it being the intent of this paragraph to provide
to the owner, in instances where more than one policy may apply,
the benefit of all limits of liability of underinsured motorist cov-
erage under all such policies: Provided that this paragraph shall
apply only to nonfleet private passenger motor vehicle insur-
ance as defined in G.S. 58-40-15(9) and (10). (Emphasis
added).

Farm Bureau does not dispute that this is a nonfleet policy. Thus, the
only issue is whether or not the Mack truck and the low boy trailer
are private passenger motor vehicles.

While section 20-279.21(b)(4) references sections 58-40-15(9)
and (10), we note that the definition of private passenger motor vehi-
cle is found in section 58-40-10(1). Since Carolyn Mabe Scott’s death,
N.C.G.S. § 58-40-10(1) has been amended. However, we must deter-
mine whether the Scotts were entitled to intrapolicy stacking at the
time of the accident, not at the time of this appeal. At the time of the
accident, N.C.G.S. § 58-40-10(1) (1989) defined private passenger
motor vehicles as:

(a) A motor vehicle of the private passenger or station wagon
type that is owned or hired under a long-term contract by the
policy named insured and that is neither used as a public or
livery conveyance for passengers nor rented to others with-
out a driver; or

(b) A motor vehicle with a pick-up body, a delivery sedan or a
panel truck that is owned by an individual or by husband and
wife or individuals who are residents of the same household
and that is not customarily used in the occupation, profes-
sion, or business of the insured other than farming or ranch-
ing. Such vehicles owned by a family farm copartnership or
corporation shall be considered owned by an individual for
purposes of this Article.

From these definitions, it seems more than obvious that the low boy
trailer is not a private passenger motor vehicle. It has no motor and
it has no place for passengers. The low boy trailer resembles neither
a station wagon nor a pick-up truck. Thus, we find that the low boy
trailer is not a private passenger motor vehicle within the meaning of
N.C.G.S. § 20-279.21(b)(4).
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The Scotts argue that despite the language in N.C.G.S. § 58-40-10(1),
we should look to the definition of a motor vehicle in N.C.G.S.
§ 20-4.01(23) to find that the low boy trailer is a private passenger
motor vehicle. N.C.G.S. § 20-4.01(23) includes within the definition of
motor vehicles “[e]very vehicle which is self-propelled and every
vehicle designed to run upon the highways which is pulled by a self-
propelled vehicle.” The Scotts argue that since the low boy trailer is
designed to be pulled by a truck, it is a motor vehicle within the def-
inition of Chapter 20. Although we agree that the low boy trailer may
be a motor vehicle within the definition of Chapter 20, we see no rea-
son to even look to Chapter 20. N.C.G.S. § 20-279.21(b)(4) explicitly
provides that we look to the definitions in Chapter 58, and under
those definitions we find the low boy trailer is not a private passen-
ger motor vehicle. We hold the Scotts are not entitled to intrapolicy
stacking and the extent of Farm Bureau’s coverage is $100,000.

The last issue raised by Farm Bureau is that the trial court erred
in failing to grant its motion for a new trial or in the alternative to
reopen the evidence so that additional evidence could be introduced.
The essence of Farm Bureau’s motion was that it wanted to introduce
additional evidence as to the character of the Mack truck to prove
that it was not a private passenger motor vehicle. We have carefully
considered the issue and see no reason to address it further. Motions
for new trials are directed to the discretion of the trial court and we
find no abuse of discretion. See Worthington v. Bynum, 305 N.C. 478,
290 S.E.2d 599 (1982). On the issue of Farm Bureau’s UIM coverage,
the judgment of the trial court is modified and affirmed.

The complete disposition of this matter is as follows: On the
issue of prejudgment interest the judgment of the trial court is
reversed. On the issue of UIM coverage, the judgment of the trial
court is affirmed as modified.

Reversed in part; and affirmed in part as modified.

Judges JOHN and McCRODDEN concur.
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ROSALIND DUBLIN, HARRY EARP, JOSEPHINE WALL GODWIN, GUADALUPE
IBARRA, ALICE WARREN anp JULIA F. STOREY, ON BEHALF OF THEMSELVES AND
ALL OTHER PERSONS SIMILARLY SITUATED, PLAINTIFFS v. UCR, INC. AND U-CAN RENT,
INC., JAMES S. ARCHER, anp JANICE ARCHER, CHRYSLER FIRST COMMER-
CIAL CORPORATION aND U-CAN RENT, INC. (U-CaN II), DEFENDANTS v. VOY-
AGER PROPERTY AND CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY anD AMERICAN
BANKERS INSURANCE COMPANY OF FLORIDA, THIRD-PARTY DEFENDANTS

No. 9311SC958
(Filed 21 June 1994)

1. Parties § 70 (NCI4th); Courts § 87 (NCI4th)— class certi-
fication order—review by second judge—modification—
changed circumstances

A second judge was not authorized by N.C.G.S. § 1A-1, Rule
23 to review and modify another judge’s prior order for class cer-
tification. However, the class certification order was interlocu-
tory in the sense that it was made in the progress of the cause
and directed a further proceeding preliminary to the final decree,
and a subsequent judge could thus modify the order for circum-
stances which changed the legal foundation for the prior order.

Am Jur 2d, Courts §§ 87 et seq.; Parties §§ 43 et seq.

2. Parties § 70 (NCI4th)— class certification order—er-
roneous decertification by second judge

The trial court erred by vacating another judge’s order of
class certification as to the original defendants and by decertify-
ing the class against those defendants based on the addition of
new defendants and purported new claims against them where
the new defendants and purported new claims in no way affected
the nature of the claims asserted against the original defendants,
and there were thus no changed circumstances on the issue of
class certification as to the original defendants.

Am Jur 2d, Parties §§ 43 et seq.

3. Appeal and Error § 89 (NCI4th)— denial of class certifica-
tion—immediate appeal

An order denying a motion for class certification, although
interlocutory, is immediately appealable because it affects a sub-
stantial right.

Am Jur 2d, Appeal and Error § 62.
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Parties § 70 (NCI4th)— class certification—erroneous
denial as to third-party defendant

The trial court erred by denying class certification as to the
third-party defendant insurer where plaintiffs alleged that insur-
ance premiums provided by rent-to-own contracts with the
original defendants exceeded amounts permitted by law and con-
stituted unfair and deceptive practices; the original defendants
impleaded the third-party defendant insurer seeking indemnity
for any sums for which they may be found liable based on plain-
tiffs’ claim that they charged excessive insurance fees; plaintiffs
then asserted a crossclaim against the insurer alleging that it
charged excessive insurance premiums and that this conduct
constituted an unfair and deceptive practice; and the class of
plaintiffs was entitled as a matter of law to proceed against the
insurer because plaintiffs’ crossclaim related to the subject mat-
ter of the action between the original defendants and the insurer
and because the crossclaim merely realleged claims which anoth-
er judge had found to be appropriate for class action procedure.

Am Jur 2d, Parties §§ 43 et seq.

Parties § 70 (NCI4th); Corporations § 208 (NCI4th);
Fraudulent Conveyances § 39 (NCI4th)— class action cer-
tification—extension to successor corporation—equity—
bulk transfer law

The trial court erred by refusing to extend class action certi-
fication as to defendant U-Can Rent II in an action based upon
alleged excessive finance charges, insurance premiums and
default charges provided in rent-to-own contracts with the origi-
nal corporate defendants, UCR and U-Can Rent I, where UCR
defaulted on a debt to defendant Chrysler; all of the assets of
UCR and U-Can Rent I were transferred to Chrysler, which simul-
taneously transferred the assets to U-Can Rent 11, a newly formed
corporation; and U-Can Rent II, as transferee of those assets,
obtained the rights to the contracts which were the subject mat-
ter of plaintiffs’ original complaint and continued to operate the
U-Can Rent I store using the same offices, employees, equipment
and forms previously used by U-Can Rent I. Plaintiffs are entitled
to proceed as a class against U-Can Rent II on the claims assert-
ed in the original complaint because (1) it would be inequitable
to permit a transfer of all of the assets of a corporation defend-
ing a class action to a newly formed corporation so as to make
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the original corporation judgment proof and to allow the succes-
sor corporation to escape the class action claims; and (2) plain-
tiffs are creditors of UCR and U-Can Rent I since they held claims
against those corporations before the transfer of their assets to
U-Can Rent II, and the transfer was ineffective as to plaintiffs’
class action claims because UCR and U-Can Rent II failed to com-
ply with the notice to creditors requirements of the bulk transfer
provisions of the U.C.C. set forth in N.C.G.S. §§ 25-6-104 and
25-6-109.

Am Jur 2d, Corporations §§ 2862-2870; Fraudulent
Conveyances §§ 267-270; Parties §§ 43 et seq.

6. Parties § 70 (NCI4th)— additional defendants—refusal to
extend class action certification—no abuse of discretion

In this class action based on alleged excessive finance
charges, insurance premiums and default charges in rent-to-own
contracts, the trial court could properly exercise its discre-
tionary authority by refusing to extend class action certification
to a lender who transferred the original corporate defendants’
assets to a newly formed corporation and to the individual de-
fendants who were officers and the sole shareholder of the orig-
inal corporate defendants, since there was no basis which would
entitle plaintiffs as a matter of right to proceed against these
defendants on the claims contained in the original complaint.

Am Jur 2d, Parties §§ 43 et seq.

7. Appeal and Error § 118 (NCI4th)— denial of summary
judgment—no right of appeal
An interlocutory order denying a motion for summary judg-
ment did not affect a substantial right and thus was not immedi-
ately appealable.

Am Jur 2d, Appeal and Error § 104.

Reviewability of order denying motion for summary
judgment. 15 ALR3d 899.

Appeal by plaintiffs from order signed 3 June 1993 in Johnston
County Superior Court by Judge William C. Gore, Jr., and cross-
appeal by third-party defendant Voyager Property and Casualty Insur-
ance Company from order entered 26 February 1992 in Johnston
County Superior Court by Judge Robert L. Farmer. Heard in the Court
of Appeals 11 May 1994.
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On 22 February 1990, plaintiffs filed a class action complaint
against UCR, Incorporated (UCR) and U-Can Rent, Incorporated (U-
Can Rent I). UCR and U-Can Rent I were corporations organized
under the laws of Georgia and were authorized to do business in
North Carolina. The named plaintiffs and the members of the class
they purported to represent were customers of U-Can Rent I, a rent-
to-own store located in Selma, North Carolina. The named plaintiffs
and the class they sought to represent entered into contracts for the
rental of consumer goods at U-Can Rent I. The rental contracts con-
tained options to purchase the property during or at the end of the
lease period. Plaintiffs alleged in the class action complaint that: (1)
the contracts violated the North Carolina Retail Installment Sales Act
{RISA) and the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act
(RICO); (2) defendants engaged in unfair and deceptive trade prac-
tices; and (3) the insurance premiums provided by the rent-to-own
contracts exceeded amounts permitted by law. UCR and U-Can Rent
I answered by denying the material allegations of the complaint and
asserting affirmative defenses.

On 19 October 1990, plaintiffs filed a motion seeking to certify
the case as a class action. On 29 November 1990, UCR and U-Can
Rent I moved to add Voyager Property and Casualty Insurance Com-
pany (Voyager) and American Bankers Insurance Company of Flori-
da (American) as third-party defendants. Voyager and American
insured the property which was the subject of the lease-purchase
contracts entered into by plaintiffs.

On 3 December 1990, Judge Wiley F. Bowen entered an order
granting plaintiffs’ motion for class certification. Defendants James
and Janice Archer were officers of UCR and U-Can Rent I, and James
Archer was the sole shareholder of UCR and U-Can Rent I. The
Archers, who resided outside of North Carolina, had not been served
with process at the time Judge Bowen certified the case as a class
action; therefore, Judge Bowen reserved decision on the question of
class certification with respect to James and Janice Archer.

On 31 December 1990, Judge Bowen granted the original defend-
ants’ (UCR and U-Can Rent I) motion to add Voyager and American
as third-party defendants, and third-party complaints were served on
Voyager and American. Plaintiffs filed a crossclaim against Voyager,
and Voyager asserted a counterclaim against the original defendants.
On 9 September 1991, all parties to the action consented to the entry
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of an order which fixed 31 December 1990 as the date for the closing
of the class of plaintiffs.

On 4 October 1991, Voyager moved pursuant to Rule 56 of the
North Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure for summary judgment as to
the third-party complaint and plaintiffs’ crossclaim. This motion was
denied by Judge Farmer on 26 February 1992. On 17 February 1992,
Judge Farmer approved a settlement between the plaintiffs and
American. By the terms of the settlement agreement, all claims
against American were dismissed with prejudice.

On 31 July 1991, plaintiffs moved to amend their complaint to
add Chrysler First Commercial Corporation (Chrysler) and U-Can
Rent, Incorporated (U-Can Rent II) as defendants. Chrysler provided
financing to the original defendants. In May of 1991, Chrysler,
because of a default by UCR, foreclosed on the debt instruments
issued by UCR and transferred UCR’s assets to U-Can Rent II, a newly
formed corporation organized under the laws of Georgia, which con-
tinued to operate the Selma store. In consideration for his consulting
services, a covenant not to compete, and a guarantee to cooperate in
the operation of U-Can Rent II, U-Can Rent II paid James Archer
$645,000. On 9 September 1991, Judge Anthony M. Brannon granted
plaintiffs’ motion to add Chrysler and U-Can Rent II as defendants.
Plaintiffs’ amended complaint asserted claims against Chrysler and
U-Can Rent II under RISA based on the same contracts described in
the complaint filed against the original defendants. In addition, plain-
tiffs alleged that the transfer of assets from UCR through Chrysler to
U-Can Rent II was a transfer in fraud of creditors. Plaintiffs also
alleged that Chrysler and U-Can Rent II, as successors in interest to
UCR, were subject to all the claims previously asserted against the
original defendants. On 24 August 1992, plaintiffs filed a motion in
which they sought to add James and Janice Archer as defendants. On
12 October 1992, Judge Jenkins granted the motion, and plaintiffs
filed a supplementary complaint against the Archers which alleged a
claim for transfer in fraud of creditors. On 14 January 1993, defend-
ants James and Janice Archer moved, pursuant to Rule 12(b)(2) of
the North Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, to dismiss the claim. On
8 February 1993, Judge Gore denied the Archers’ motion.

On 23 February 1993, plaintiffs filed a motion to extend the pre-
viously granted class certification order entered by Judge Bowen on
3 December 1990 to Voyager, Chrysler, U-Can Rent II, and James and
Janice Archer. Judge Gore denied plaintiffs’ motion to extend class
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certification to the new defendants. Judge Gore vacated the 3 Decem-
ber 1990 order entered by Judge Bowen, decertified the class previ-
ously certified by Judge Bowen, and denied plaintiffs’ motion for
class certification as to the original defendants. Plaintiffs appeal
from the 3 June 1993 order entered by Judge Gore, and Voyager
cross-appeals from the 26 February 1992 order entered by Judge
Farmer.

East Central Community Legal Services, by Leonard G. Green;
and Gulley and Calhoun, by Michael D. Calhoun; for plaintiffs-
appellants.

Wishart, Norris, Henninger & Pittman, PA., by June K. Allison
and Brian P. Gavigan, for defendants-appellees UCR, Inc., U-
Can Rent I, James S. Archer, and Janice Archer.

Smith Helms Mullis & Moore, L.L.P,, by James L. Gale and Paul
K. Sun, Jr., for defendant-appellee Chrysler First Commercial
Corporation.

Mast, Morris, Schultz & Mast, PA., by George B. Mast and T.
Michael Lassiter, Jr., for defendant-appellee U-Can Rent II.

Hatch, Little & Bunn, by David H. Permar and Walter N. Rak,
Jor third-party defendant Voyager Property and Casualty
Insurance Company.

WELLS, Judge.

Based on the following findings contained in the 3 December
1990 order, Judge Bowen concluded that the case should be certified
as a class action as to UCR and U-Can Rent I:

BASED UPON the record herein and the arguments of counsel for
the parties, the plaintiffs have established and the court finds
that:

(1) There exists a class of named and unnamed plaintiffs who
have an interest in the same issues of law and fact, which issues
include, but are not limited to:

(a) Whether their contracts with defendants included finance
charges in excess of those permitted under North Carolina’s
Retail Installment Sales Act (RISA).

(b) Whether their contracts with defendants included
charges for insurance premiums in excess of those permitted
by RISA, or in violation of N.C. Gen. Stats., Chapter 75, N.C.
Gen. Stat. § 58-57-90, other applicable laws or public policy.
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(¢) Whether their contracts with defendants included default
charges in excess of those permitted under RISA, or in viola-
tion of Chapter 75, other applicable laws, or public policy.

(d) Whether the defendants violated the Racketeer Influ-
enced and Corrupt Organizations Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1961, et
seq. (RICO), by charging and collecting from plaintiffs more
than twice the applicable interest rate allowed.

(e) Whether the defendants’ actions in charging excessive
finance charges, insurance premiums and default charges
constitute unfair or deceptive trade practices in violation of
Chapter 75.

(f) The plaintiffs’ measure of damages for the violations of
the aforesaid laws.

2. The aforesaid common issues predominate over any issues
affecting only individual class members.

3. The plaintiff class is composed of:

All natural persons who are current or future residents of North
Carolina and who entered or do enter into a lease-purchase con-
tract, as defined in the plaintiffs’ complaint, in Johnston County,
North Carolina, or had an existing contract, as defined in the
plaintiffs’ complaint, with any defendant, which contract:

(a) was entered into on a date within four (4) years before
February 22, 1990 (the date on which the plaintiffs’ Com-
plaint was filed); or

(b) upon which a payment has been made within four (4)
years before February 22, 1990; or

(c) was entered into after February 22, 1990.

4. The number of class members is so large as to make joinder of
all class members impracticable. The defendants have delivered
to the plaintiffs approximately 4,413 contracts. According to the
defendants, these include all of the existing contracts in effect
when the defendants purchased the business in October, 1987,
and those contracts entered into through May 29, 1990.

5. The plaintiffs have reviewed each of these contracts, and have
completed a contract data sheet for each contract. These data
sheets show pertinent information taken from each contract.
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6. The defendants have delivered to the plaintiffs computer print-
out records of approximately 3,076 customers who are plaintiff
class members.

7. As used herein, the term “named plaintiffs” includes Rosalind
Dublin, Harry Earp, Josephine Wall Godwin, Guadalupe Ibarra,
Alice Warren and Julia Storey.

8. The named plaintiffs understand their obligation to fairly rep-
resent the interests of the class members, and have willingly and
voluntarily assumed said obligation.

9. The named plaintiffs will fairly and adequately insure the rep-
resentation of the interests of all class merbers.

10. There is no conflict of interest between the named plaintiffs
and the class members.

11. The named plaintiffs have a genuine personal interest in the
outcome of this action.

12. The named plaintiffs are members of the class which they
seek to represent, and properly represent the class. For example,
all of the named plaintiffs have paid the defendants lease-pur-
chase payments and insurance premiums. All of the named plain-
tiffs except Mr. Earp have paid the defendants default charges.

13. The defendants have acted or failed to act on grounds gener-
ally applicable to the class members, thereby making final
declaratory, injunctive and monetary relief appropriate with
respect to the class as a whole.

14. A class action will prevent multiple lawsuits based upon these
same legal and factual issues, and is superior to any other avail-
able method for the fair and efficient adjudication of the class
members’ claims.

15. The prosecution of separate actions by individual class mem-
bers would create a risk of inconsistent or conflicting
adjudications.

16. Counsel for the plaintiffs possess the requisite experience
and skills with which to competently represent the plaintiff class.

The 3 June 1993 order entered by Judge Gore denied plaintiffs’

motion for class certification as to the Archers, Voyager, Chrysler,
and U-Can Rent II. The order also vacated Judge Bowen’'s order,
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decertified the class, and “denied” plaintiffs’ motion for class certifi-
cation as to UCR and U-Can Rent I. This order provides in pertinent
part:

Because the addition of new defendants and new claims has
materially changed this lawsuit, the Court must reexamine de
novo, on the present record, the question of class certification.
The Court has evaluated the impact of the new defendants and
new claims on the balance of individual and common gquestions
and on the propriety of the class action procedure in this case.
The Court makes these findings of fact and conclusions of law
and holds that this case may not proceed as a class action.

The Prior Order Is Not Binding

2. The December 1990 order certifying the class against UCR and
U-Can Rent I is not binding on James Archer, Janice Archer, Voy-
ager, Chrysler First, and U-Can Rent II. Estridge v. Denson, 270
N.C. 556, 155 S.E.2d 190 (1967); Kayler v. Gallimore, 269 N.C.
405, 152 S.E.2d 518 (1967).

The Prior Order Is Not Controlling

3. The December 1990 order certifying the class against UCR and
U-Can Rent I was an interlocutory order. Faulkenbury v. Teach-
ers’ and State Employees’ Retirement System, 108 N.C. App. 357,
424 S.E.2d 420 (1993).

4. This Court has authority to review and modify or change the
December 1990 interlocutory order on class certification as to
UCR and U-Can Rent I upon a finding of changed circumstances.
Calloway v. Ford Motor Co., 281 N.C. 496, 189 S.E.2d 484 (1972);
Tridyn Industries, Inc. v. American Mutual Liability Insurance
Co., 46 N.C. App. 91, 264 S.E.2d 357 (1980).

5. The addition of new parties and new claims since entry of the
December 1990 interlocutory order on class certification as to
UCR and U-Can Rent I constitutes a material change in the cir-
cumstances of this case.

6. Plaintiffs’ addition of new parties and new claims to this action
necessarily modifies the balance of common and individual ques-
tions. The prior ruling on class certification balancing those
issues as to claims against only UCR and U-Can Rent I should not
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and cannot control the inquiry that must be applied to this case
in its current posture.

7. Plaintiffs’ addition of new parties and new claims to this action
therefore undermined the vitality of the prior ruling on class cer-
tification. Zenith Laboratories, Inc. v. Carter-Wallace, Inc., 64
F.R.D. 159 (D.N.J. 1974), aff’d, 530 F-2d 508 (3d Cir.), cert. denied,
429 U.S. 828 (1976).

8. This Court must make a de novo determination, on the present
record, whether this case should proceed as a class action. The
additional discovery undertaken by the parties has added sub-
stantial, material information to the record that was unavailable
in December 1990, and that is properly considered by this Court
in ruling on plaintiffs’ motion. Abercrombie v. Lum’s, Inc., 345 F.
Supp. 387 (S.D. Fla. 1972).

9. The December 1990 class certification order effectively con-
solidated for trial the claims of all members of the proposed
class, and such a pre-trial order cannot be binding. Oxendine v.
Catawba County Department of Social Services, 303 N.C. 699, 281
S.E.2d 370 (1981).

10. The Court concludes that it would be inefficient and unman-
ageable to try plaintiffs’ claims as a class action against some
defendants and as an individual action against other defendants.

11. On separate and independent grounds, the Court rules that it
has the inherent discretionary authority under Rule 23 and Crow
v. Citicorp Acceptance Co. to review and change, modify, or over-
rule a prior order on class certification. Cf. Nobles v. First Car-
olina Communications, Inc., 108 N.C. App. 127, 423 S.E.2d 312
(1992), rev. denied, 333 N.C. 463, 427 S.E.2d 623 (1993).

We conclude that Judge Gore erred in vacating Judge Bowen’s
order and decertifying the class previously certified by Judge Bowen.
We reverse that portion of Judge Gore’s order which vacated the 3
December 1990 order entered by Judge Bowen and which decertified
the class certified by the 3 December 1990 order. Further, we hold
that Judge Gore erred in refusing to allow the named plaintiffs to rep-
resent the previously certified class on their claims against Voyager
and U-Can Rent II, and we reverse Judge Gore’s order as to U-Can
Rent IT and Voyager. As to the remaining defendants, the Archers and
Chrysler, we affirm Judge Gore’s order.
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UCR and U-Can Rent I

Rule 23 of the North Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, in perti-
nent part, provides:

(a) Representation.—If persons constituting a class are so
numerous as to make it impracticable to bring them all before the
court, such of them, one or more, as will fairly insure the ade-
quate representation of all may, on behalf of all, sue or be sued.

(c) Dismissal or a Compromise.—A class action shall not be dis-
missed or compromised without the approval of the judge. In an
action under this rule, notice of a proposed dismissal or compro-
mise shall be given to all members of the class in such manner as
the judge directs.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1A-1, Rule 23.

[1] Substantial differences exist between the foregoing rule and its
federal counterpart. G. Gray Wilson, North Carolina Civil Procedure,
§ 23-1 (1989). In particular, section (c)(1) of the federal rule provides:
“As soon as practicable after the commencement of an action
brought as a class action, the court shall determine by order whether
it is to be so maintained. An order under this subdivision may be con-
ditional, and may be altered or amended before the decision on the
merits.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 23. Clearly, the federal rule contemplates con-
tinuing review of the class certification status of an action. See 3B
Moore's Federal Practice § 23.50 at 23-410. Rule 23 of the North Car-
olina Rules of Civil Procedure contains no such provision, Nobles v.
First Carolina Communications, 108 N.C. App. 127, 423 S.E.2d 312
(1992), rev. denied, 333 N.C. 463, 427 S.E.2d 623 (1993), and we will
not judicially legislate one. Accordingly, we hold that the trial court
was not authorized by our version of Rule 23 to review and modify
Judge Bowen’s order.

The settled rule in North Carolina is that “no appeal lies from one
Superior Court judge to another; that one Superior Court judge may
not correct another’s errors of law; and that ordinarily one judge may
not modify, overrule, or change the judgment of another Superior
Court judge previously made in the same action.” Calloway v. Motor
Co., 281 N.C. 496, 189 S.E.2d 484 (1972). However, in an appropriate
context a superior court judge has the power to modify an interlocu-
tory order entered by another superior court judge. Id. “Interlocuto-
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ry orders are subject to change ‘at any time to meet the justice and
equity of the case, upon sufficient grounds shown for the same.’ ” Id.
(Quoting Miller v. Justice, 86 N.C. 26 (1882)). Consequently, inter-
locutory orders are modifiable for changed circumstances. State v.
Duwall, 304 N.C. 557, 284 S.E.2d 495 (1981); Carr v. Carbon Corp., 49
N.C. App. 631, 272 S.E.2d 374 (1980), rev. denied, 302 N.C. 217, 276
S.E.2d 914 (1981).

[2] The order entered by Judge Bowen was interlocutory in the
sense that it was made in the progress of the cause and directed a fur-
ther proceeding preliminary to the final decree. Thus, a subsequent
judge could modify the order for circumstances which changed the
legal foundation for the prior order. The changed circumstances
relied upon by Judge Gore as a basis for modifying Judge Bowen’s
order were the introduction of new defendants and purported new
claims against them. After plaintiffs named UCR and U-Can Rent I as
defendants, Chrysler foreclosed on the debt instruments held by UCR
and transferred all of the assets previously held by UCR to U-Can
Rent II. In the amended complaint, plaintiffs asserted that Chrysler
and U-Can Rent II, as assignees or holders of the contracts entered
into by plaintiffs, were subject to the claims originally asserted
against UCR and U-Can Rent I. As a further ground for subjecting
Chrysler and U-Can Rent II to the claims asserted against UCR and
U-Can Rent I, plaintiffs brought a successor in interest claim against
Chrysler and U-Can Rent II. Plaintiffs also asserted a claim for trans-
fer in fraud of creditors against UCR, Chrysler, and U-Can Rent II. By
a supplement to the original complaint, plaintiffs alleged against the
Archers a claim for transfer in fraud of creditors.

We are not persuaded that the addition of the new defendants
and purported new claims in any way affected the nature of the
claims asserted against the original defendants. The intervening fact
and legal issues created by the addition of new defendants and pur-
ported new claims did not bear on the issues which were previously
ruled on by Judge Bowen. Cf. Calloway, supra. (Events intervening
after denial of motion for change of venue might be grounds for mod-
ification of prior order). On the issue of class certification as to the
original defendants, there were no changed circumstances, and
Judge Gore was bound by Judge Bowen'’s order. Judge Bowen’s order
definitively certified the class of plaintiffs. Accordingly, we reverse
Judge Gore’s order as to UCR and U-Can Rent I. In light of the addi-
tion of new defendants and new theories of recovery, the question
presented to Judge Gore was whether this class of plaintiffs was enti-
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tled to proceed on the additional claims against the additional
defendants.

Voyager, Chrysler, U-Can Rent II, and the Archers

[3] An order denying a motion for class certification, although inter-
locutory, is immediately appealable because it affects a substantial
right. Faulkenbury v. Teachers’ & State Employees’ Retirement Sys-
tem, 108 N.C. App. 357, 424 S.E.2d 420 (1993), aff’d, 335 N.C. 158, 436
S.E.2d 821 (1993) (per curiam). The question as to the propriety of
that portion of Judge Gore’s order which “denied” plaintiffs’ motion
for class certification as to Voyager, Chrysler, U-Can Rent II, and
James and Janice Archer is properly before us.

The decision to grant or deny class certification rests within the
sound discretion of the trial court. Crow v. Citicorp Acceptance Co.,
319 N.C. 274, 354 S.E.2d 459 (1987). Although the trial court has
broad discretion in this regard, the trial court is limited by the con-
text of the privileges provided by Rule 23. English v. Realty Corp., 41
N.C. App. 1, 254 S.E.2d 223, rev. denied, 297 N.C. 609, 257 S.E.2d 217
(1979). Although the order entered by Judge Gore speaks in terms of
denying plaintiffs’ motion for class certification as to Voyager,
Chrysler, U-Can Rent II, and James and Janice Archer, we do not
believe that Judge Gore made a discretionary ruling as to Voyager
and U-Can Rent II. Based on the reasoning enunciated below, we hold
that, as a matter of law, the class of plaintiffs as certified by Judge
Bowen was entitled to pursue against Voyager and U-Can Rent II the
claims originally asserted against UCR and U-Can Rent I, and we
reverse Judge Gore’s order as to Voyager and U-Can Rent II. We
affirm, finding no abuse of discretion, as to the Archers and Chrysler.

Voyager

[4] UCR and U-Can Rent I impleaded Voyager seeking indemnity for
any sums for which they might be found liable based on plaintiffs’
claim that they charged excessive insurance fees. Plaintiffs then
asserted a crossclaim against Voyager alleging that Voyager charged
excessive insurance premiums and that this conduct constituted an
unfair and deceptive trade practice. Plaintiffs asserted these same
claims against UCR and U-Can Rent 1. The crossclaim asserted by
plaintiffs is based on the same contracts which plaintiffs alleged in
their original complaint were in violation of the law. The nexus
between plaintiffs’ crossclaim and the third-party claim against Voy-
ager satisfied the prerequisite of Rule 13(g) which mandates that
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crossclaims “aris[e] out of the transaction or occurrence that is the
subject matter either of the original action or of a counterclaim
therein or relat[e] to any property that is the subject matter of the
original action.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1A-1, Rule 13. The class of plaintiffs
was entitled as a matter of law to proceed against Voyager because
plaintiffs’ crossclaim related to the subject matter of the action
between UCR and U-Can Rent I and Voyager and because the cross-
claim merely realleged claims which Judge Bowen found to be appro-
priate for class action procedure.

U-Can Rent IT

[5] In May of 1991, Chrysler, finding that UCR was in default, entered
into an agreement with UCR and the Archers entitled “Transfer in
Lieu of Foreclosure of Assets of UCR, Inc. . . . To Chrysler First Com-
mercial Corporation.” By the terms of this agreement, Chrysler took
possession of all of UCR’s assets and was entitled to operate UCR’s
business. Chrysler simultaneously transferred all of UCR’s assets to
U-Can Rent II which continued to operate the Selma store using the
same offices, employees, equipment, and forms previously used by
U-Can Rent I. The terms of the transfer agreement expressly ex-
cluded any assumption of the liability of UCR or the Archers for con-
duct alleged in the complaint filed against UCR and U-Can Rent 1.

The general rule is that a corporation which purchases all or sub-
stantially all of the assets of another corporation is not liable for the
transferor’s liabilities. Budd Tire Corp. v. Pierce Tire Co., 90 N.C.
App. 684, 370 S.E.2d 267 (1988). However, when a corporation pur-
chases all or substantially all of the assets of another corporation
under circumstances indicating a purpose to avoid the claims of
creditors, the transferee is liable for the claims asserted by creditors
against the transferor. Id.

[A] corporation holds its property subject to the payment of the
corporate debts, and when a corporation sells or transfers its
entire property to a purchaser, knowing the fact, the latter is
chargeable with knowledge that the property is subject to the
corporate debts and that equity will, in proper cases, allow the
corporate creditors to follow the property into the hands of the
purchaser, for satisfaction of their claims.

Id. (Quoting Ewverett v. Mortgage Co., 214 N.C. 778, 1 S.E.2d 109
(1939)). “Our case law has treated the question of a successor cor-
poration’s liability for the debts or liabilities of its predecessor as a
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matter of equity, endeavoring to protect the predecessor’s creditors
while respecting the separateness of the corporate entities.” Id. See
also N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 35-15- 17.

We find that under the circumstances of this case plaintiffs are
entitled to proceed as a class against U-Can Rent II on the claims con-
tained in the original complaint. The transfer from UCR to U-Can
Rent II occurred after Judge Bowen certified the action as a class
action. Chrysler had knowledge of the claims being asserted against
UCR and U-Can Rent I at the time the transfer was made. U-Can Rent
II, as transferee of all the assets of UCR, purchased the contracts
which were the subject matter of the plaintiffs’ original complaint
and operated the Selma store as a “mere continuation” of U-Can Rent
I. We conclude, under these circumstances, that it would be
inequitable to prohibit the class of plaintiffs as certified by Judge
Bowen from proceeding against U-Can Rent II on the claims asserted
against UCR and U-Can Rent 1. To hold otherwise would sanction the
transfer of assets from a corporation defending against a class action
to a newly formed corporation, making the original corporation judg-
ment proof, and allow the new corporation to escape from the claims
of the class.

We find further grounds in Article 6 of Chapter 25 of the North
Carolina General Statutes, the provisions of the Uniform Commercial
Code regulating bulk transfers, which entitle plaintiffs, as a matter of
law, to proceed against U-Can Rent II on the claims originally alleged
against UCR and U-Can Rent I. A bulk transfer is ineffective against
the creditors of the transferor unless, pursuant to G.S. § 25-6-104, a
schedule of the property transferred and a list of creditors is fur-
nished by the transferor and, pursuant to G.S. § 25-6-105, unless the
transferee provides creditors with notice of the transfer. These pro-
visions were designed to avoid manipulative transactions which deny
payment to the transferor’s creditors. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 25-6-101 (Offi-
cial Comment). Creditors entitled to the protection of the bulk trans-
fer article “are those holding claims based on transactions or events
occurring before the bulk transfer.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 25-6-109. The
list of creditors required by G.S. § 25-6-104(1)(a) includes “all per-
sons who are known to the transferor to assert claims against him
even though such claims are disputed.” N.C. Gen. Stat. § 25-6-104(2).

We find the provisions of the Uniform Commercial Code govern-
ing bulk transfers applicable to the transfer of assets from UCR to
U-Can Rent II. N.C. Gen. Stat. § 25-6-102. We also find that plaintiffs
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are creditors because they held claims against UCR and U-Can Rent
I before the bulk transfer. See Chemical Bank v. Society Brand
Inds., Inc., 624 F.Supp. 979 (S.D.N.Y. 1985) (holding that plaintiff,
who commenced an action against transferee, was a creditor and
transfer after initiation of the action was ineffective). Plaintiffs
asserted those claims in this action, and UCR knew of them at the
time of the bulk transfer. The transfer was ineffective as to the claims
asserted by the class of plaintiffs because UCR and U-Can Rent II
failed to comply with the requirements of the bulk transfers article.
Thus, plaintiffs were entitled, as a matter of law, to proceed against
U-Can Rent II.

Chrysler and the Archers

[6] We conclude that Judge Gore could properly exercise his discre-
tionary authority by refusing to permit the plaintiffs to proceed
against Chrysler and the Archers. We can find no basis which would
entitle plaintiffs as a matter of right to proceed on the claims con-
tained in the original complaint. Chrysler is not in possession of the
contracts of which plaintiffs complain. The transfer in fraud of cred-
itors claim did not alter the nature of the action. Plaintiffs did not
assert this claim as an independent action. They asserted it as a
means to reach the assets which had been transferred from UCR to
U-Can Rent II. Based on our holding that the class of plaintiffs, as
certified by Judge Bowen, is entitled to proceed against U-Can Rent
II on the claims contained in their original complaint, we affirm
Judge Gore’s order as to Chrysler and the Archers.

[7] Voyager cross-appeals from the order denying its motion for sum-
mary judgment entered by Judge Farmer on 26 February 1992. Orders
denying motions for summary judgment are interlocutory and are not
appealable unless they affect a substantial right. Hill v. Smith, 38
N.C. App. 625, 248 S.E.2d 455 (1978). We must dismiss Voyager’'s
cross-appeal because it is an appeal from an interlocutory order
which does not affect a substantial right. Stonestreet v. Compton
Motors, Inc., 18 N.C. App. 527, 197 S.E.2d 579 (1973).

Reversed in part and affirmed in part.
Dismissed as to Voyager’s cross-appeal.

Judges JOHNSON and JOHN concur.
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REGINA ANNETTE PEAL, INCOMPETENT, By HER GENERAL GUARDIAN, JAMES WALTER
PEAL, JR., PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE v. HOWARD THOMAS SMITH, DEFENDANT, AND
CIANBRO CORPORATION anp WILLIAMS BROTHERS CONSTRUCTION COM-
PANY, INC., A JoiNT VENTURE D/B/A CIANBRO-WILLIAMS BROS., DEFENDANTS-
APPELLANTS

No. 9225C272

(Filed 21 June 1994)

1. Labor and Employment § 236 (NCI4th)— automobile acci-
dent—drinking after work on premises—violation of com-
pany policy—liability of employer

The trial court did not err by denying defendants’ motions for
a directed verdict, judgment notwithstanding the verdict, and a
new trial where plaintiff was injured as a passenger in a vehicle
involved in a collision on the Albemarle Sound Bridge; the other
vehicle was driven by defendant Smith, who was an employee of
defendant Cianbro; defendant Cianbro’s handbook included the
statement that no person under the influence of alcohol would be
allowed on the work site; Cianbro employees had gathered in the
parking lot after work on the day of the collision to drink beer;
supervisory personnel were aware of the activity and project
managers came to the parking lot after work; the beer was paid
for by “passing the hat”; defendant Smith had some alcohol and
witnesses at the accident scene testified that he appeared obvi-
ously alcohol impaired; and the jury returned verdicts against
both the individual and corporate defendants. Although defend-
ants argue that this is a social host case and that they did not pro-
vide or furnish the alcohol, plaintiff instituted a claim based in
common law negligence. While the corporate defendants’ estab-
lishment and memorialization of an alcohol policy standing alone
did not subject them to liability, the common law duty of a mas-
ter to control his servant under circumstances as outlined in the
Restatement, Second, of Torts § 317, taken together with the
defendants’ own written policies, established a standard of con-
duct that if breached could result in actionable negligence. The
active violation of the policy in allowing and participating in the
alcohol consumption on company premises provided evidence of
the breach and the evidence presented at trial was sufficient for
the jury to conclude that the plaintiff’s injuries were foreseeable.

Am Jur 2d, Master and Servant § 459.
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2. Negligence § 168 (NCI4th)— automobile accident—drink-
ing on employer’s premises—violation of company policy—
liability of employer

The trial court correctly instructed the jury on the appropri-
ate principles of common law negligence in an action arising
from an automobile collision where the corporate defendants’
had allowed workers to drink beer on the job site after work in
violation of a provision in an employee policy manual and one of
the workers had subsequently collided with plaintiff’s car.

Am Jur 2d, Negligence §§ 149, 150.

Appeal by defendants from judgment entered 9 August 1991 by
Judge Richard B. Allsbrook in Washington County Superior Court.
Heard in the Court of Appeals 9 February 1993.

The corporate defendants appeal from denials of motions for
directed verdict, judgment notwithstanding the verdict, and a new
trial. The action arises out of an automobile accident that occurred
on 17 October 1986. On that date, the plaintiff, Regina Annette Peal,
was a passenger in a vehicle crossing the Albemarle Sound Bridge.
Her father, sister, and niece were also travelling in the automobile. At
approximately 6:40 p.m., an automobile driven by the defendant
Howard T. Smith collided with the Peal vehicle. Plaintiff’s father died
as a result of the collision. The plaintiff is permanently neurological-
ly damaged and will require institutional care for the remainder of
her life. She was twenty-one years old at the time of the accident. She
now has the mental capacity of a six-year-old. Her condition will
worsen as she ages.

The corporate defendant, Cianbro, was engaged in the construc-
tion of the new Albemarle Sound bridge. The individual defendant,
Howard Smith, was employed by the corporate defendant. At the
time of the accident, the Cianbro Employee Information Handbook
contained the following policy: “No person under the influence of
alcohol, marijuana, or non-prescription drugs shall be allowed on the
project work site.”

After work on the day of the collision (about 4:30 p.m.), ten or
twelve employees met in the parking lot to drink beer before going
home. Supervisory personnel were aware of the after work activity.
Other project managers also came to the parking lot after work. The
beer was paid for by “passing the hat.” Testimony indicated that
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defendant Smith had some alcohol (although evidence did not reveal
that he was impaired in the parking lot) and left the gathering. As he
was proceeding across the bridge about two miles from the company
site, the automobile that he was driving crossed the center line and
ran head on into the vehicle driven by the plaintiff’s sister. Testimony
by eyewitnesses at the accident scene indicated that Smith appeared
obviously alcohol-impaired. He was not seriously injured in the
accident.

The plaintiff filed suit against Smith on 24 April 1987, alleging
that:

(a) He operated his vehicle while under the influence of alcohol
or other impairing substance, in violation of G.S. 20-138.1(a)(1);

(b) He operated his vehicle after having consumed sufficient
alcohol that at the time of the accident in suit he had an alcohol
concentration greater that 0.10, in violation of G.S.
20-138.1(a)(2);

(c) He drove his vehicle carelessly and heedlessly in willful or
wanton disregard of the rights and safety of others, in violation
of G.S. 20-140(a).

(d) He drove his vehicle without due caution and circumspection
and at a speed and in a manner so as to endanger Regina or her
family, in violation of G.S. 20-140(b);

(e) He drove at a speed greater that was reasonable and prudent,
in violation of G.S. 20-141(a);

(f) He drove at a speed in excess of the lawful limit of 55 m.p.h.
in violation of G.S. 20-141(b);

(g) He failed to reduce speed to avoid an accident, in violation of
G.S. 20-141(m);

(h) He drove his vehicle on the wrong side of the road in viola-
tion of G.S. 20-146 and G.S. 20-148;

(i) He failed to have his vehicle equipped with proper brakes, in
violation of G.S. 20-124, or if so equipped, he failed to apply the
same seasonably; and

(j) He failed to keep a proper look out, to keep his vehicle under
proper control or to pay proper attention to his driving.
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On 23 November 1987, the plaintiff amended her complaint, join-
ing Smith’s employer Cianbro/Williams, and alleged, inter alia, that
the corporation “failed to enforce or carry out their own regulations,
which, on information and belief, would have prevented the defend-
ant Smith from becoming intoxicated on their business premises and
then departing to operate an automobile on the highway in that con-
dition . . ..”

A jury trial commenced on 22 July 1991 in Washington County
Superior Court. Defendants Cianbro/Williams moved for directed
verdict at the close of plaintiff’s evidence and at the close of all the
evidence. Those motions were denied. The jury returned with ver-
dicts against both the individual and corporate defendants, and
awarded the plaintiff damages of $2,250,000.00. Cianbro/Williams
filed motions for judgment notwithstanding the verdict and new trial.
Both motions were denied on 29 August 1991. The corporate defend-
ants appeal from these denials, as well as the denials of the directed
verdict during trial. The individual defendant Smith did not appeal.

Hornthal, Riley, Ellis & Maland, by L. P. Hornthal, Jr. and
M. H. Hood Ellis, for plaintiff-appellee.

Maupin Taylor Ellis & Adams, PA., by James A. Roberts, III,
M. Keith Kapp and Richard N. Cook, for defendant-appellants.

ORR, Judge.

The defendants first argue that the trial court committed
reversible error in denying their motions for directed verdict, judg-
ment notwithstanding the verdict, and new trial. The basis for this
argument and the authority cited therein in the defendants’ brief
rests exclusively on the Court of Appeals opinion in Hart v. Tvey, 102
N.C. App. 583, 403 S.E.2d 914 (1991), modified and affirmed, 332
N.C. 299, 420 S.E.2d 174 (1992), and the cases cited therein as well as
Chastain v. Litton Systems, 694 F. 2d 957 (4th Cir.), cert. denied, 462
U.S. 1106, 77 L. Ed. 2d 1334 (1983). All of the applicable law cited or
argument presented rests upon the theory that this is a social host
case. We conclude that this is not a social host liability case but one
proceeding under basic standards of common law negligence, and
accordingly we affirm the trial court’s denial of defendants’ motions
for directed verdict, judgment notwithstanding the verdict and new
trial.
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[1] Pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1A-1, Rule 50, a party is entitled to
a directed verdict where the evidence, when viewed in the light most
favorable to the plaintiff, is insufficient as a matter of law to support
a verdict in his favor. A directed verdict is not properly allowed
unless it appears that a recovery cannot be had by plaintiff upon any
view of the facts which the evidence tends to establish. Willis v.
Russell, 68 N.C. App. 424, 315 S.E.2d 91, disc. review denied, 311
N.C. 770, 321 S.E.2d 159 (1984). In a negligence case, a defendant is
not entitled to a directed verdict unless the plaintiff has failed to
establish the elements of negligence as a matter of law. Felts v. Lib-
erty Emergency Services, 97 N.C. App. 381, 388 S.E.2d 619 (1990).
“Directed verdicts in a negligence action should be granted with cau-
tion because, ordinarily, it is for the jury to determine whether the
applicable standard of care has been breached.” Goodman v. Wenco
Foods, Inc., 333 N.C. 1, 17, 423 S.E.2d 444, 452 (1992). A motion for
judgment notwithstanding the verdict is essentially the renewal of a
prior motion for a directed verdict; therefore, the rules regarding the
sufficiency of the evidence to carry the case to the jury is equally
applicable. Henderson v. Traditional Log Homes, Inc., 70 N.C. App.
303, 319 S.E.2d 290, disc. review denied, 312 N.C. 622, 323 S.E.2d 923
(1984).

The plaintiff in the instant case instituted a claim based in com-
mon law negligence against Defendant Smith and against his employ-
er, Cianbro. In order to survive the defendants’ motions,

plaintiff was required to present some evidence that [the defend-
ant] failed to exercise proper care in the performance of some
legal duty owed [her] and that the breach of this duty was the
proximate cause of [her] injury. . . . The cause producing the inju-
rious result must be in a continuous sequence, without which the
injury would not have occurred, and one from which any person
of ordinary prudence would have foreseen the likelihood of the
result under the circumstances as they existed. . . .

Goodman, 333 N.C. at 18, 423 S.E.2d at 452 (citations omitted).

As previously noted, the defendants argue that this is a social
host case, and since there was no evidence that Cianbro provided or
furnished the alcohol to the individual defendant they are therefore
entitled to have their motions granted. See Hart v. Ivey, 332 N.C. 299,
420 S.E.2d 174 (1992); Calamier v. Jeffries, 113 N.C. App. 303, 438
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S.E.2d 427 (1994); see also Chastain v. Litton Systems, Inc., 694 F.2d
957 (4th Cir. 1982), cert. denied, 462 U.S. 1106, 77 L. Ed. 2d 1334
(1983). In the case at bar, we agree that there is no evidence of the
employer furnishing the alcohol to its employees, and that the
employee gathering took place after hours. Consequently, while it is
true that this case is distinguishable from Hart, Calamier and other
alcohol consumption cases cited in the defendants’ brief, as defend-
ant provided no alcohol at the gathering, that fact does not insulate
them from a determination that they were negligent under tradition-
al negligence principles. As our Supreme Court responded to a simi-
lar argument in Hart, “[The defendants] argue that there are many
implications from establishing such a claim and we should not do so.
Our answer to this is that we are not recognizing a new claim. We are
applying established negligence principles and under those princi-
ples the plaintiffs have stated claims.” Hart at 305-06, 420 S.E.2d at
178.

A. The Duty and its Breach

It is a matter of hornbook law that “[a] duty, in negligence cases,
may be defined as an obligation, to which the law will give recogni-
tion and effect, to conform to a particular standard of conduct
toward another.” W. Page Keeton et al., The Law of Torts, § 53 (5th
ed. 1984). The existence of a duty is “entirely a question of law . . .
and it must be determined only by the court.” Id. at § 37.

Therefore, we must determine as a matter of law, whether under
the facts of this case, defendants had a duty to the plaintiff to “con-
form to a particular standard of care.” The plaintiff advances two
theories upon which a duty can be found - 1) the adoption of a spe-
cific safety rule applicable to the facts of this case and 2) the duty of
a master to control the conduct of his servant while on the master’s
premises. This State recognizes that “ ‘[t]he law imposes upon every
person who enters upon an active course of conduct the positive
duty to exercise ordinary care to protect others from harm, and
calls a violation of that duty negligence.”” Hart at 305, 420 S.E.2d at
178 (citation omitted) (emphasis added).

We first address the adoption of the safety rule adopted by the
defendants. The Cianbro employee handbook contained a drug and
alcohol policy which provided that “No person under the influence of
alcohol, marijuana, or non-prescription drugs shall be allowed on the
project work site.” Defendants argue that the safety rule standing
alone does not create a duty to the plaintiff. However, it is well estab-
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lished in North Carolina that the breach of a voluntarily adopted safe-
ty rule is some evidence of defendant’s negligence. In Robinson v.
Seaboard System R.R. Inc., 87 N.C. App. 512, 361 S.E.2d 909 (1987),
this Court found that evidence presented that the employee knew of
the employer’s safety rule and did not enforce it, causing injury to the
plaintiff, permitted a reasonable inference that the actions of the
employees in ignoring safety rules “manifested ‘a reckless indiffer-
ence to injurious consequences probable to result’ from their breach
of a duty recognized by law and by Southern’s own rules as neces-
sary to the safety of others.” Id. at 522, 361 S.E.2d at 915 (emphasis
added).

Likewise, in Klassette v. Mecklenburg County Area Mental
Health Center, 88 N.C. App. 495, 500, 364 S.E.2d 179, 183 (1988), the
“defendant’s own written policies and procedures” were found to be
evidence of a standard of care. The Klassette Court held, “We recog-
nize voluntary written policies and procedures do not themselves
establish a per se standard of due care appropriate to these circum-
stances; however, they represent some evidence of a reasonably pru-
dent standard of care.” Id. at 501, 364 S.E.2d at 183. However, the
Court noted that “such evidence [of written policies and procedures]
would be extremely helpful in determining what duty of care [the
defendant] voluntarily assumed which in turn is relevant to the stand-
ard of reasonable care at issue.” Id. at 505, 364 S.E.2d at 185.

Additionally, in a challenge from a patient who received negligent
treatment by a physician at Moses Cone Hospital, Blanton v. Moses
H. Cone Memorial Hospital, 319 N.C. 372, 354 S.E.2d 455 (1987), the
North Carolina Supreme Court found the defendant hospital’s failure
to follow the standards of the Joint Commission on the Accreditation
of Hospitals to be evidence of negligence on the part of the corporate
defendant. The Blanton Court referenced Wilson v. Lowe’s Asheboro
Hardware, Inc., 259 N.C. 660, 131 S.E.2d 501 (1963), in which the evi-
dence showed that a ladder that injured plaintiff was not construct-
ed in accordance with the American Standard Safety Code for
Portable Wooden Ladders. The Court stated:

If it is some evidence of negligence for the manufacturer of lad-
ders to violate an industry safety standard which safety standard
the manufacturer had purported to follow we believe it is some
evidence of negligence for a hospital to violate a safety standard
which the hospital had purported to follow. The duty of a hospi-
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tal to its patients should be at least as great as a ladder manufac-
turer to users of its ladders.

Blanton at 376, 354 S.E.2d at 458. In accord, we conclude that on the
facts of this case the safety rule adopted in the employee handbook
by the corporate defendants was some evidence of a standard of
care.

Having determined that a safety regulation or policy may provide
some evidence of a standard of care and its breach, we also find that
the Restatement, Second, of Torts is helpful in answering the ques-
tion of what duty, if any, was owed to plaintiff. Section 317 states
that:

A master is under a duty to exercise reasonable care so as to
control his servant while acting outside the scope of his employ-
ment as to prevent him from intentionally harming others or from
conducting himself as to create an unreasonable risk of bodily
harm to them, if

(a) the servant

(i) is upon the premises in possession of the master or upon
which the servant is privileged to enter only as his servant, or

(ii) is using a chattel of the master and
(b) the master

(i) knows or has reason to know that he has the ability to
control his servant, and

(ii) knows or should know of the necessity and opportunity
for exercising such control.

The defendant in the case sub judice argues that the North Car-
olina Supreme Court has specifically rejected this section of the
Restatement in Braswell v. Braswell, 330 N.C. 363, 410 S.E.2d 897
(1991), and that this rejection was reaffirmed by this Court in King v.
Durham County, 113 N.C. App. 341, 439 S.E.2d 771 (1994). However,
both Braswell and King are factually distinguishable from the instant
case. In Braswell, plaintiff’s decedent sued the sheriff of Pitt County,
alleging that he and his department had failed to protect the decedent
from her murder by her estranged husband, a deputy sheriff, after a
domestic dispute. The Supreme Court found that the “public duty
doctrine” insulated the sheriff from liability to the plaintiff under
those facts. The Court further stated, quoting the Restatement, Sec-
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ond, of Torts § 317, “[w]e find no case in which liability [for negligent
supervision)] has been imputed to an employer solely on the basis of
an employee ‘using a chattel of the master.” ” Id. at 375, 410 S.E.2d
at 904 (emphasis added).

Clearly, the use of the master’s chattel is inapplicable under the
facts of this case, nor is the cause of action grounded in negligent
supervision. In our situation, we have an employer who could con-
trol the employee so as to prevent harm to third persons; the em-
ployee was on premises in possession of the employer; the employer
knew or had reason to know that he could control the employee, and
knew or should have known that there was the necessity and the
opportunity to exercise that control over the employee. Thus, the ele-
ments of a common law duty in a master/servant relationship as
described by the above section of the Restatement have been met.

In the case sub judice, evidence was presented which tended to
show that Cianbro’s supervisory personnel were aware of the policy
and its purposes. They were also aware of its regular violation. Even
without a written personnel policy governing alcohol consumption,
the corporation’s knowing acquiescence in allowing the afterhours
beer party in the parking lot might provide some evidence of a duty
and a breach of that duty.

Frank Susi and Kevin Philbrook, both supervisors, testified that
they were aware that the employees commonly met immediately
after work for beer in the company’s leased parking area. Further,
Susi and Philbrook (who joined the gathering the afternoon of the
accident) both testified that the policy was intended not only to pro-
tect the employees on site, but also to prevent accidents involving
Cianbro employees and the public.

We agree that the corporate defendants’ establishment and
memorialization of a alcohol policy standing alone did not subject
them to liability. However, the common law duty of a master to con-
trol his servant under certain circumstances as outlined in Restate-
ment § 317, taken together with the defendants’ own written policies
established a standard of conduct that if breached could result in
actionable negligence. In the instant case, we find that the active vio-
lation of the policy in allowing and participating in the alcohol con-
sumption on company premises provided evidence of the breach of
the standard of care imposed on the corporate defendant. As we have
stated, the affirmative course of conduct here was not merely the
establishment of the policy. The conduct by the corporation, in vio-
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lating its own policy, provided evidence that the corporation failed to
exercise ordinary care to protect the plaintiff and her family from the
very results that the policy intended to prevent. We therefore con-
clude that there was a duty and evidence of a breach of that duty.

B. Causation and Damages

Once we have determined that evidence of a duty and a breach of
a duty was presented at trial, our next inquiry is whether there was
evidence from which the jury could conclude that the defendants’
actions were the proximate cause—“a cause which in natural and
continuous sequence produces a plaintiff’s injuries and one from
which a person of ordinary prudence could have reasonably foreseen
that such a result or some similar injurious result was probable.”
Murphey v. Georgia Pacific Corp., 331 N.C. 702, 706, 417 S.E.2d 460,
463 (1992).

As this Court noted in Hart v. Ivey, 102 N.C. App. 583, 403 S.E.2d
914 (1991), with respect to proximate cause analysis,

[a]n actor may be liable if his negligence is a substantial factor in
causing an injury, and he is not relieved of liability because of the
intervening act of a third person if such act was reasonably fore-
seeable at the time of his negligent conduct. . . .

... Moreover, “If the likelihood that a third person may act in a
particular manner is the hazard or one of the hazards which
makes the actor negligent, such an act . . . does not prevent the
actor from being liable for harm caused thereby.” . . .

Id. at 592, 403 S.E.2d at 920. Furthermore, questions of foreseeabili-
ty are typically left for the jury. “In any case where there might be
reasonable difference of opinion as to the foreseeability of a particu-
lar risk, the reasonableness of the defendant’s conduct with respect
to it, or the normal character of an intervening cause, the question is
for the jury.” Prosser, supra, § 45. Our review of the record indicates
that the evidence presented at trial was sufficient for the jury to con-
clude that the plaintiff and her resulting injuries were foreseeable.
Therefore, we disagree with defendants’ contentions that the trial
court erred in denying their motions for directed verdict, JNOV, and
new trial.

11

[2] The second basis for defendants’ appeal is that the trial court’s
instructions were in error. This argument is based essentially on
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defendants’ initial argument that there was no duty. Having already
determined that as a matter of law, the defendant had a duty to the
plaintiff, we find no error in the trial court’s instruction. At the close
of all the evidence, the jury was instructed that:

As to plaintiff’s first contention, there is evidence tending to
show that Cianbro/Williams voluntarily adopted a safety policy,
rule or regulation concerning the use of alcohol by employees. I
instruct you that the voluntary adopting of a safety policy, rule or
regulation as a guide to be followed for the protection of the
employees and the public is at least some evidence that a rea-
sonably prudent person would follow the requirement of such
policy, rule, or regulation.

This means that a violation of a voluntarily adopted safety
policy, rule, or regulation may be considered by you together
with all of the other facts and circumstances existing on the
occasion in determining whether or not Defendants
Cianbro/Williams were negligent. . . .

The trial court then instructed the jury on the evidence required
for them to find liability, including 1) that Cianbro had a safety poli-
cy regarding alcohol consumption on company property on the day
of the collision, 2) that the policy was adopted to protect employees
and the public, 3) that the policy applied to the parking area where
employees drank after work, 4) that the defendant Smith consumed
alcohol in the parking lot on the day of the accident, 5) that Cianbro
should have known through the exercise of due care that Smith was
drinking beer with other employees that day, 6) that the consumption
of alcohol was a substantial factor in the negligent driving of the
defendant, 7) and that Cianbro knew or should have known that their
failure to enforce the alcohol policy would probably result in injury
to some member of the public. The court then continued:

As to Plaintiff’'s second contention regarding Defendant
Cianbro’s alleged negligence, I instruct you that an employer is
under a duty to exercise reasonable care to control its employee
while acting outside of the scope of his employment so as to pre-
vent him from so conducting himself as to create an unreason-
able risk of bodily harm to others if the employee then is upon
the premises, in the possession or control of the employer and
the employer knows or has reason to know that it has the ability
to control its employee and knows or has reason to know of the
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necessity and opportunity for exercising such control. Where this
duty is found to exist, a violation of that duty is negligence. . . .

Judge Allsbrook then instructed the jury that it would have to
find that 1) the defendant Smith consumed alcohol while on the
premises in the possession or under the control of Cianbro, 2) that
Smith’s impairment was a substantial factor in the driving which
caused the collision, 3) that Cianbro knew or through the exercise of
reasonable care should have known that Smith had become impaired
on the premises within their control or in their possession, 4) that
Cianbro knew or should have known that they had the ability to con-
trol Smith while on those premises so as to prevent his impairment,
5) that Cianbro knew or should have known of the potential danger
to the public from their actions in allowing employees to consume
alcohol and then drive on the highway and that their failure to con-
trol Smith created an unreasonable risk of harm to the public, 6) and
that Cianbro failed to exercise reasonable care to control Smith’s
conduct by preventing his consumption of alcohol and then driving
on the highway.

With respect to causation, the court then instructed the jury:

Furthermore, when one ordinarily has no duty to anticipate
negligence on the part of others, a party seeking damages as a
result of negligence has the burden of proving not only negli-
gence, but also that such negligence was a proximate cause of
the injury or damage. As I previously have instructed you, proxi-
mate cause is a real cause, a cause without which the claimed
injury or damage would not have occurred and one which a rea-
sonably careful and prudent person could foresee would proba-
bly produce injury or some similar injurious result.

There may be more than one proximate cause of an injury,
therefore the party seeking damages need not prove that the
other party’s negligence was the sole or only proximate cause of
the injury or even the last act of negligence in sequence of time.
She must prove by the greater weight of the evidence only that
the other party’s negligence was one of the proximate causes of
her injury.

We find that in light of our discussion of the applicable law in
Part I of this opinion, the trial court correctly instructed the jury on
the appropriate principles of common law negligence. We therefore
affirm the court’s decision and the jury’s verdict in all respects.
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Affirmed.
Judge WELLS concurs in the result.

Judge MARTIN concurs.

ACE CHEMICAL CORPORATION, PLAINTIFF v. DSI TRANSPORTS, INC., DEFENDANT

No. 93265C557
(Filed 21 June 1994)

1. Negligence § 132 (NCI4th)— delivery of contaminated
tanker—contributory negligence

The trial court erred by granting plaintiff’s motion for judg-
ment notwithstanding the verdict and awarding plaintiff damages
where plaintiff’s president had ordered from defendant trucking
company a stainless steel tanker truck to transport a corrosive
cleaning compound; defendant’s dispatcher called back and
asked if the compound had to be in an insulated trailer; plaintift’s
president responded that any kind of trailer that was clean would
suffice; defendant sent an uninsulated aluminum tanker; plain-
tiff’s employees checked the tanker to see if it was clean and
loaded the compound without ascertaining that it was the prop-
er type of tanker; the customer’s employees discovered that the
chemical was tainted and rejected the shipment; defendant’s
employees tried to filter the compound; and defendant’s employ-
ees discovered during the filtering process that the compound
had dissolved a gasket on a valve and spilled onto the ground.
There is more than a scintilla of evidence supporting the jury’s
verdict that plaintiff was contributorily negligent.

Am Jur 2d, Negligence §§ 1096 et segq.

2. Contracts § 148 (NCI4th)— provision of tanker truck for
shipping chemicals—contamination—existence of con-
tract—breach of contract—directed verdict

The trial court erred by granting plaintiff’s motion for a
directed verdict on a breach of contract claim where plaintiff
ordered a tanker truck from defendant for shipment of a cleaning
compound and plaintiff’s customer rejected the shipment
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because the compound was contaminated. Defendant’s pleadings
and defendant’s own order form establish that plaintiff contract-
ed with defendant and defendant agreed to provide plaintiff a
stainless steel tanker truck to deliver the cleaning compound,
but, viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to plaintiff,
an issue of fact exists as to whether defendant breached that
contract in that plaintiff’s own chemical expert testified that
there was no problem in storing the compound in aluminum con-
tainers for two or three days and the compound was in defend-
ant’s tanker for less than 24 hours, and the employee of plaintiff
who loaded the compound testified that the tanker looked clean
to him when he visually inspected the tanker prior to loading.

Am Jur 2d, Contracts §§ 626 et seq.

Election of Remedies § 3 (NCI4th)— contaminated tanker
truck—tort and contract claims—motion for election of
remedies—improperly granted before verdict

The trial court erred by requiring plaintiff to choose its rem-
edy before submitting the case to the jury in an action involving
a contaminated tanker truck in which plaintiff brought both con-
tract and negligence claims. When a complaint alleges a cause in
contract and a cause in tort and both causes arise out of the same
transaction or occurrence, a defendant’s motion to require an
election is properly refused. The more recent trend has been to
allow an election of remedies after return of the jury verdict.

Am Jur 2d, Election of Remedies § 35.

Unfair Competition or Trade Practices § 39 (NCI4th)—
contaminated tanker truck—unfair trade practice—sum-
mary judgment for defendant

The trial court properly granted summary judgment for
defendant on an unfair practices claim which arose from contam-
ination of plaintiff’s cleaning compound in defendant’s tanker
truck. A plaintiff must show substantial aggravating circum-
stances attending a breach of contract to recover under N.C.G.S.
§ 75-1.1, but plaintiff did not allege or present evidence of any
substantial aggravating circumstances surrounding defendant’s
breach of contract. Although plaintiff argued in its brief that
defendant owed plaintiff the highest duty of care as a common
carrier, plaintiff did not allege that defendant was a common car-
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rier in its complaint or present any evidence at the hearing that
defendant was a common carrier.

Am Jur 2d, Monopolies, Restraints of Trade, and Unfair
Trade Practices § 735.

Appeal by defendant from judgment entered 15 December 1992
by Judge Marcus L. Johnson in Mecklenburg County Superior Court.
Heard in the Court of Appeals 3 March 1994.

On 18 August 1990, plaintiff filed suit alleging negligence, breach
of contract and unfair and deceptive practices in violation of
G.S. 75-1.1. Plaintiff alleged that defendant furnished plaintiff a “con-
taminated” tanker that was unsuitable for delivering plaintiff’s chem-
ical product and that plaintiff suffered damages when defendant’s
tanker leaked plaintiff’s product onto the ground at plaintiff’s facili-
ty. Defendant counterclaimed for damages to its tanker and alleged
that plaintiff’s chemical destroyed the valves on its tanker. On 20
August 1992, the trial court granted defendant’s motion for summary
judgment and dismissed plaintiff’s unfair and deceptive practices
claim.

The case was tried before a jury on plaintiff’s breach of contract
and negligence claims. The evidence at trial tended to show the fol-
lowing: On 7 June 1990, plaintiff’s president, Robert J. Clein, placed
an order by telephone with defendant trucking company for a stain-
less steel tanker truck to transport a corrosive cleaning compound
called Hampene 100 from plaintiff’s facility in Charlotte, North Car-
olina, to plaintiff’s customer, Kay Chemical Company (hereinafter
Kay Chemical) in Greensboro, North Carolina. The shipment of Ham-
pene 100 was to be loaded at plaintiff’s facility on 12 June 1990 and
delivered to Kay Chemical on 13 June 1990. In the year preceding 12
June 1990, defendant’s tankers had been used to deliver plaintiff’s
Harmpene 100 to Kay Chemical approximately fourteen times.

On 12 June 1990 at 9:56 a.m., defendant’s dispatcher, Scott
Willman, called Clein and asked him if the “Hampene 100 [had] to be
on an insulated trailer.” Clein responded that “any kind of trailer
. . . that was clean” would suffice. Pursuant to that conversation,
Willman sent an uninsulated aluminum tanker to plaintiff’s facility
instead of the insulated stainless steel tanker that plaintiff originally
ordered. Material Safety Data Sheets (MSDS) for Hampene 100 pro-
vide that only stainless steel, polyethylene or plastic-lined containers
should be used for the handling and storage of Hampene 100.
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At 2:15 p.m. on 12 June 1990, defendant’s uninsulated aluminum
tanker truck arrived at plaintiff’s facility in Charlotte. Plaintiff’s
employees checked the inside of the tanker to see if it was clean and
then loaded the Hampene 100. The loaded tanker was driven to
defendant’s terminal in Rock Hill, South Carolina, and stored
overnight. At approximately 8:00 a.m. on Wednesday 13 June,
defendant’s driver, Delmar Blake, drove the loaded tanker to Kay
Chemical’s facility in Greensboro and arrived at approximately 10:00
a.m. After inspecting the Hampene 100, Kay Chemical’s employees
discovered that the chemical was tainted and rejected the shipment.
Blake then drove the loaded tanker back to plaintiff’s facility in
Charlotte.

On Thursday 14 June, Blake returned to plaintiff’s facility with
another tanker and tried to filter the Hampene 100 while transferring
it from the original tanker to the new tanker. Blake continued to try
to filter the product for several hours on Friday, 15 June and on Sat-
urday, 16 June but was unable to do so. On Tuesday 19 June, another
of defendant’s drivers, Billy Hinson, came to plaintiff’s facility to con-
tinue the filtering operation. Hinson discovered that the Hampene
100 had dissolved a gasket on a valve near the rear of the vehicle and
had spilled onto the ground. Hinson told plaintiff’s employees that
the chemical had leaked and returned to defendant’s terminal in
South Carolina.

At the close of all the evidence, the trial court required plaintiff
to elect which theory it would submit to the jury, negligence or
breach of contract. Plaintiff chose the negligence theory. Both plain-
tiff and defendant also moved for directed verdict as to plaintiff’s
negligence claim and defendant’s counterclaim. The trial court
denied defendant’s motion for directed verdict but took plaintiff’s
motion for directed verdict under advisement.

The trial court submitted the issues of defendant’s negligence
and plaintiff’s contributory negligence to the jury. On 18 September
1992, the jury returned a verdict finding defendant negligent and
plaintiff contributorily negligent. On 25 September 1992, plaintiff
moved for judgment notwithstanding the verdict on the issue of
plaintiff’s contributory negligence and for directed verdict on plain-
tiff’s breach of contract claim. Plaintiff also filed a motion for a new
trial in the alternative. On 15 December 1992, the trial court granted
plaintiff’s motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict and
directed verdict. From judgment entered for plaintiff in the amount
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of $16,480.60, defendant appeals. Plaintiff cross appeals the trial
court’s order granting defendant’s motion for summary judgment on
plaintiff’s unfair and deceptive practices claim.

Waggoner, Hamrick, Hasty, Monteith and Kratt, by S. Dean
Hamrick, for plaintiff-appellee.

Golding, Meekins, Holden, Cosper & Stiles, by Lawrence W.
Jones, for defendant-appellant.

EAGLES, Judge.

Defendant appeals from the trial court’s judgment granting plain-
tiff’s motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict and directed
verdict. Plaintiff cross appeals the trial court’s order granting defend-
ant’s motion for summary judgment on plaintiff’s unfair and decep-
tive practices claim. After careful review of the record and briefs, we
reverse the trial court’s judgment granting plaintiff’s motion for judg-
ment notwithstanding the verdict on the issue of plaintiff’s contribu-
tory negligence and remand to the trial court to enter judgment in
accordance with the jury’s verdict. We also reverse the trial court’s
judgment granting plaintiff’s motion for directed verdict on plaintiff’s
breach of contract claim and remand to the trial court for a hew trial
on that issue. Finally, we affirm the trial court’s order granting
defendant’s motion for summary judgment on plaintiff’s unfair and
deceptive practices claim.

1. DEFENDANT’S APPEAL
A.

[1] Defendant contends that the trial court erred in granting plain-
tiff’s motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict on the issue of
plaintiff’s contributory negligence. We agree.

A motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict is essentially
arenewal of an earlier motion for directed verdict. Bryant v. Nation-
wide Mut. Fire Ins. Co., 313 N.C. 362, 368-69, 329 S.E.2d 333, 337
(1985). Like a motion for directed verdict, a motion for judgment
notwithstanding the verdict tests the legal sufficiency of the evidence
to take the case to the jury. Taylor v. Walker, 84 N.C. App. 507, 509,
353 S.E.2d 239, rev’d on other grounds, 320 N.C. 729, 360 S.E.2d 796
(1987). The motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict “shall
be granted if it appears that the motion for directed verdict could
properly have been granted.” G.S. 1A-1, Rule 50(b). Accordingly, the
test for determining the sufficiency of the evidence is the same under
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both motions. Dickinson v. Pake, 284 N.C. 576, 584, 201 S.E.2d 897,
903 (1974).

In considering a motion for judgment notwithstanding the ver-
dict, all the evidence must be considered in the light most favorable
to the nonmoving party. Smith v. Price, 315 N.C. 523, 527, 340 S.E.2d
408, 411 (1986). The nonmovant is given the benefit of every reason-
able inference that may legitimately be drawn from the evidence and
all contradictions are resolved in the nonmovant’s favor. Id. If there
is more than a scintilla of evidence supporting each element of the
nonmovant’s case, the motion for directed verdict and any subse-
quent motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict should be
denied. Broyhill v. Coppage, 79 N.C. App. 221, 226, 339 S.E.2d 32, 36
(1986); Abels v. Renfro Corp., 335 N.C. 209, 215, 436 S.E.2d 822, 825
(1993).

Defendant contends that there was sufficient evidence of plain-
tiff’s contributory negligence to support the jury’s verdict. We agree.
First, defendant’s dispatcher, Scott Willman, testified that he tele-
phoned plaintiff’s president, Mr. Clein, on the day defendant’s tanker
was to be delivered to plaintiff’s facility in Charlotte and asked him if
the “Hampene 100 [had] to be on an insulated trailer.” Willman testi-
fied that Clein answered, “[N]o, just any kind of trailer that [defend-
ant] had available . . . that was clean was fine with him.” Clein testi-
fied, however, that he knew that Hampene 100 could not be
transported in “just any kind of trailer . . . that was clean.” Clein tes-
tified that he knew that the MSDS sheets for Hampene 100 provided
that only stainless steel, polyethylene, or plastic-lined containers
should be used for the handling and storage of Hampene 100. A rea-
sonable juror could conclude that Clein was negligent in not clearly
specifying to Willman the type of trailer that would be suitable to
transport the Hampene 100. Similarly, a reasonable juror could con-
clude that Clein was negligent in responding to Willman that “just any
kind of trailer . . . that was clean was fine” and that Clein should have
clearly specified to Willman the type of trailer that would be suitable
to transport the Hampene 100.

Second, plaintiff’s employee, Matthew L. Doggett, loaded the
Hampene 100 into defendant’s tanker without ascertaining whether it
was the proper type of tanker for shipping Hampene 100. Doggett tes-
tified that he loaded the Hampene 100 into defendant’s tanker on 12
June 1990 and that he checked defendant’s tanker to make sure that
it was clean. Doggett also testified, however, that as far as he was
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concerned on 12 June 1990, his only duty was to make sure defend-
ant’s tanker was clean and that it was not his responsibility to deter-
mine whether defendant’s tanker was an aluminum or stainless steel
tanker. Doggett testified that he had no knowledge prior to 12 June
1990 that Hampene 100 could not be shipped in an aluminum tanker
and that neither his supervisor, nor Mr. Clein, nor any other employ-
ee at plaintiff’s facility told him to check and make sure that each
shipment of Hampene 100 was loaded into a stainless steel tanker.

Finally, plaintiff’s bill of lading, (Plaintiff’s Exhibit 3) prepared by
plaintiff and given to defendant’s driver, states that “This certifies the
above named materials and products, . . . are properly classified,
described, packaged, marked and labeled and in proper condition for
transportation according to the applicable regulations of the Depart-
ment of Transportation.” The signature line below this statement was
not signed by any of plaintiff’s employees. A reasonable juror could
infer from this evidence that none of plaintiff’s employees checked to
see if defendant’s tanker was a proper tanker for shipping Hampene
100. In fact, defendant’s attorney attempted to make this inference in
his cross-examination of plaintiff’s president, Mr. Clein.

Q. [I]s not this form prepared by [plaintiff]?

A. Yes.

Q. There is a signature line for an [] employee [of plaintiff]?
A. That’s correct.

Q. And it certifies that it has been properly contained for
shipment, is that correct?

. Right.
. And no one signed it, isn’t that right?

A
Q
A. That’s correct.
Q. So presumably no one bothered to check, is that right?
A

I don’t say that. I just say that it wasn’t signed. I'm not
going to go into details as to why it wasn’t signed.

We conclude that there is more than a scintilla of evidence here
supporting the jury’s verdict that plaintiff was contributorily negli-
gent. Accordingly, we reverse the judgment of the trial court granting
plaintiff’s motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict and
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awarding plaintiff damages in the amount of $16,480.60 and remand
to the trial court to enter judgment on the jury’s verdict.

B.

[2] Defendant also contends that the trial court erred in granting
plaintiff’s motion for directed verdict on plaintiff’s breach of contract
claim. We agree.

A directed verdict should never be granted when there is con-
flicting evidence on contested issues of fact. Northern Nat’l Life Ins.
Co. v. Lacy J. Miller Mach. Co., 311 N.C. 62, 69, 316 S.E.2d 256, 261
(1984). Defendant first contends that the evidence at trial did not
establish the existence of a contractual agreement in which plaintiff
specified the type of tanker needed to transport the Hampene 100.
Defendant argues that there was no written contract between plain-
tiff and defendant detailing how the Hampene 100 should be shipped
and that defendant was under no contractual obligation to provide
plaintiff with a stainless steel tanker to deliver plaintiff’s Hampene
100. We disagree.

Defendant admitted in its answer that on or about 12 June 1990,
“plaintiff requested from defendant a tanker truck for the purpose of
transporting a chemical or related products from plaintiff’s place of
business in Charlotte, North Carolina, to Kay Chemical Company in
Greensboro, N.C.” Plaintiff’s Exhibit 2 is the order form on which
defendant’s employee reduced plaintiff’s telephone order to writing.
Defendant’s order form reads in pertinent part as follows:

Ship from Ace Chemical Company, Charlotte, North Carolina.
Ship to Kay Chemical, Greensboro, North Carolina. Product
40,000 pounds Hampene 100 cleaning compound. . . . Loading
time and date June 12, 1990, 2:00 p.m. Delivery time and date
June 13, 1990, 10:00 a.m. . . . [T]ype of equipment, 23.

Clein testified that he learned from the deposition of defendant’s dis-
patcher, Scott Willman, that the number 23 designation beside type of
equipment meant stainless steel insulated tanker. Defendant does not
deny the authenticity or correctness of its order form. “Where the
[movant’s] controlling evidence is documentary and [the] non-
movant does not deny the authenticity or correctness of the docu-
ments,” the credibility of the evidence is manifest as a matter of law.
North Carolina Nat’l Bank v. Burnette, 297 N.C. 524, 537, 256 S.E.2d
388, 396 (1979). Accordingly, defendant’s pleadings and defendant’s
own order form (Plaintiff’s Exhibit 2) establish that plaintiff con-
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tracted with defendant and defendant agreed to provide plaintiff a
stainless steel tanker truck at plaintiff’s facility in Charlotte on 12
June 1990 to deliver a load of Hampene 100 to Greensboro, North
Carolina.

Plaintiff is not entitled to a directed verdict, however, because
we conclude that an issue of fact exists as to whether defendant
breached its contract with plaintiff. We reemphasize that in passing
upon a motion for directed verdict, we must resolve all conflicts in
the evidence in the nonmovant’s favor and give the nonmovant the
benefit of every reasonable inference. Broyhill v. Coppage, 79 N.C.
App. 221, 226, 339 S.E.2d 32, 36 (1986).

Plaintiff alleges that defendant breached its contract with plain-
tiff by furnishing plaintiff a “contaminated and improper type” of
tanker. Plaintiff contends that defendant’s tanker had rust in it which
contaminated plaintiff’s chemical and that plaintiff’s chemical leaked
from defendant’s tanker because defendant sent an aluminum tanker
instead of a stainless steal tanker. The uncontroverted evidence
shows that defendant sent plaintiff an aluminum tanker instead of
the stainless steal tanker originally ordered and that the MSDS sheets
for Hampene 100 indicate that Hampene 100 should only be stored in
stainless steal, polyethylene or plastic-lined containers. Plaintiff
contends that this evidence proves that defendant breached the con-
tract as a matter of law. We disagree. We conclude that the following
evidence raises a question of fact as to whether defendant breached
the contract.

First, although the MSDS sheets for Hampene 100 state that only
stainless steel containers should be used to store Hampene 100,
plaintiff’s own chemical expert, Mr. John Ravel, testified that there
was no problem in storing Hampene 100 in aluminum containers for
“periods of short duration, meaning two to three days.” By the time
Kay Chemical rejected the delivery, the Hampene 100 had been
stored in defendant’s tanker for less than 24 hours. The Hampene 100
was loaded into defendant’s tanker at 2:00 p.m. on 12 June and deliv-
ered to Kay Chemical at 10:00 a.m. on 13 June. Viewing this evidence
in the light most favorable to defendant, a reasonable juror could
conclude that plaintiff’s chemical was not contaminated by the alu-
minum in defendant’s tanker from the time it was stored in defend-
ant’s tanker until delivery.

Second, although plaintiff contends that defendant’s tanker was
dirty and contaminated with rust when it arrived at plaintiff’s facility,
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plaintiff’s employee who loaded the Hampene 100 into defendant'’s
tanker, Mr. Matthew Doggett, testified that the inside of defendant’s
tanker looked clean to him when he visually inspected the tanker
prior to loading the Hampene 100. Viewing this evidence in the light
most favorable to defendant, a reasonable juror could conclude that
plaintiff’s chemical was contaminated before it was loaded into
defendant’s tanker. “If there is conflicting testimony that permits dif-
ferent inferences, one of which is favorable to the nonmoving party,
a directed verdict in favor of the party with the burden of proof is
improper.” United Laboratories, Inc. v. Kuykendall, 322 N.C. 643,
662, 370 S.E.2d 375, 387 (1988). Accordingly, the trial court erred in
granting plaintiff’s motion for directed verdict on plaintiff’s breach of
contract claim.

[38] Plaintiff cross assigns error and contends that the trial court
erred in requiring plaintiff to elect between its negligence and breach
of contract claims prior to submitting the case to the jury. We agree
and remand for a new trial on plaintiff’s breach of contract claim.

At the close of all the evidence, the trial court required plaintiff
to elect which theory it would submit to the jury, negligence or
breach of contract. Plaintiff chose to submit the issue of negligence.
Accordingly, the jury was not instructed on breach of contract and
did not decide that issue.

Defendant cites Smith v. Gulf Oil Corp., 239 N.C. 360, 79 S.E.2d
880 (1954), as precedent for the trial court’s action in requiring plain-
tiff to elect between its tort and contract remedies prior to submis-
sion before the jury. In Smith, supra, the trial court, at the close of
the plaintiff’s evidence, required the plaintiff to elect what cause of
action he relied upon in seeking damages, breach of contract or neg-
ligence. The plaintiff selected negligence. In holding that plaintiff’s
evidence for negligence was not sufficient to go the jury, the Court
stated that “Where he has two remedies, he may choose between
them and select that one which he deems the best for him; but he
must abide the [sic] result of his choice.” Id. at 369, 79 S.E.2d at 885.
We conclude that Smith does not control here because the question
of whether the trial court properly required the plaintiff to make an
election between his two remedies was not squarely before the
Smith Court and was not directly addressed. The Smith Court
assumed the propriety of the trial court requiring an election and
held that once a party makes its election of remedies, the electing
party is bound.
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When a complaint alleges a cause in contract and a cause in tort
and both causes arise out of the same transaction or occurrence, a
defendant’s motion to require an election is properly refused. Craven
County v. Investment Co., 201 N.C. 523, 160 S.E. 7563 (1931). In
Craven County v. Investment Co., supra, our Supreme Court held
that the trial court properly refused defendants’ motion to require
plaintiff to make an election between his remedies when his com-
plaint set out causes of action in both contract and tort. The Court
stated that the elements of contract and tort in the plaintiff’s com-
plaint were so closely related that the defendants’ right to require an
election was precluded. Id. at 530, 160 S.E. at 756. We also note that
the more recent trend has been to allow an election of remedies after
return of the jury verdict. Cf. Mapp v. Toyota World, Inc., 81 N.C.
App. 421, 344 S.E.2d 297, disc. rev. denied, 318 N.C. 283, 347 S.E.2d
464 (1986) (plaintiff should be allowed to elect remedy between puni-
tive damages or treble damages under G.S. 75-1.1 after the jury’s ver-
dict). Accordingly, we conclude that the trial court erred in requiring
plaintiff to elect between its choice of remedies prior to submitting
the case before the jury. We remand the case to the trial court for a
new trial on plaintiff’s breach of contract claim.

II. PLAINTIFF'S APPEAL

[4] Plaintiff contends in its appeal that the trial court erred in grant-
ing summary judgment in favor of defendant on plaintiff’s unfair and
deceptive practices claim. We disagree.

Under G.S. 75-1.1, an act or practice is unfair if it “is immoral,
unethical, oppressive, unscrupulous, or substantially injurious to
consumers.” Marshall v. Miller, 302 N.C. 539, 548, 276 S.E.2d 397, 403
(1981); Barbee v. Atlantic Marine Sales and Serv., 113 N.C. App. 80,
84, 437 S.E.2d 682, 685 (1993). An act or practice is deceptive if it “has
the capacity or tendency to deceive.” Marshall, supra, at 548, 276
S.E.2d at 403. A mere breach of contract, even if intentional, is not an
unfair or deceptive act under G.S. 75-1.1. Bartolomeo v. S.B. Thomas,
Inc., 889 F.2d 530, 535 (4th Cir. 1989); Mosley & Mosley Builders, Inc.
v. Landin Litd., 97 N.C. App. 511, 518, 389 S.E.2d 576, 580 (1990). “[A]
plaintiff must show substantial aggravating circumstances attending
the breach to recover under the Act.” Bartolomeo at 535.

Summary judgment is properly granted when all the evidence
before the court at the time the motion is ruled on shows that there
is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that a party is entitled
to judgment as a matter of law. Dumouchelle v. Duke Univ., 69 N.C.
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App. 471, 473, 317 S.E.2d 100, 102 (1984). Here, plaintiff does not
allege or present evidence of any substantial aggravating circum-
stances surrounding defendant’s breach of contract. Plaintiff’s com-
plaint does not allege any aggravating circumstances. When plaintiff
was asked in an interrogatory to “state, with particularity, all facts
upon which Plaintiff bases its claim against Defendant for unfair and
deceptive trade practices,” plaintiff answered:

Plaintiff contends that evidence discloses that Defendant had on
numerous previous occasions supplied Plaintiff with stainless
steel tanker trucks to transport the Hampene 100 such as was
required for the shipment referred to in the Complaint. Defend-
ant’s supplied Plaintiff an aluminum tanker which was unfit to
transport the Hampene 100 and which obviously had rust in it
which in turn made Plaintiff’s product worthless and caused it to
be rejected by Plaintiff’s customer. Despite the obvious liability
of Defendant for the damages sustained by Plaintiff, Defendant
has failed to pay the damages and has chosen to defend this
claim. Plaintiff contends under these circumstances Defendant is
engaging in unfair and deceptive business practices. . . .

We conclude that these facts do not present aggravating circum-
stances surrounding defendant’s breach of contract and are insuffi-
cient as a matter of law to raise a claim of unfair and deceptive
practices pursuant to G.S. 75-1.1.

Plaintiff argues extensively in its brief that defendant is a com-
mon carrier and that as a common carrier defendant owed plaintiff
the highest duty of care. However, plaintiff did not allege that defend-
ant was a common carrier in its complaint, nor did plaintiff present
any evidence at the hearing that defendant was a common carrier.
Accordingly, we conclude that the trial court did not err in granting
defendant’s motion for summary judgment on plaintiff’'s unfair and
deceptive practices claim.

III.

In sum, we conclude that the trial court erred in granting plain-
tiff’s motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict and remand to
the trial court to enter judgment on the jury’s verdict on the issue of
plaintiff’s contributory negligence. We also conclude that the trial
court erred in granting plaintiff’s motion for directed verdict on
plaintiff’s breach of contract claim and in requiring plaintiff to elect
between its negligence and breach of contract claims prior to sub-
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mitting the case to the jury. Accordingly, we remand to the trial court
for a new trial on plaintiff’s breach of contract claim. Finally, we
affirm the trial court’s order granting defendant’s motion for summa-
ry judgment on plaintiff’s unfair and deceptive practices claim. This
case is remanded for a new trial on the breach of contract claim and
for further proceedings not inconsistent with this opinion.

Affirmed in part, reversed in part and remanded.

Judges MARTIN and McCRODDEN concur.

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA v. JERRY WAYNE ROBERTSON

No. 93185C743
(Filed 21 June 1994)

1. Evidence and Witnesses § 293 (NCI4th)— attempted statu-
tory rape and sexual offense—prior offense—acquittal—
admissible

The trial court did not err in a prosecution for attempted
first-degree statutory rape and attempted first-degree sexual
offense in allowing the victim to testify that defendant threat-
ened her by saying that if she told anyone what he was going to
do, he was going to hurt her like he hurt Koda. Defendant was
under indictment and on pretrial release for the murder of Koda
Smith at the time of these offenses and was acquitted before this
trial. The trial court had previously granted a motion in limine
to prohibit mention of defendant’s arrest, indictment, and trial
for the murder, but had denied defendant’s motion to prohibit
reference to the name Koda Smith. The probative value of
defendant’s statement was to show that the victim was scared of
defendant as well as why she did not scream or make any noise
and does not depend on the proposition that defendant in fact
hurt Koda. The statement formed an integral and natural part of
the victim’s account of the crime and was necessary to complete
the story of the crime for the jury. N.C.G.S. § 8C-1, Rule 403.

Am Jur 2d, Evidence § 410.

Admissibility of evidence as to other offense as af-
fected by defendant’s acquittal of that offense. 25 ALR4th
934.
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Evidence and Witnesses § 886 (NCI4th)— attempted
statutory rape and attempted sexual offense—victim’s
statements to doctor—admitted as corroboration

The trial court did not err in a prosecution for attempted
first-degree statutory rape and attempted first-degree sexual
offense by allowing the State’s medical expert to testify about
statements the victim made to her during a physical examination.
Whether the testimony fell within the medical diagnosis excep-
tion to the hearsay rule was not addressed because the
statements corroborated the earlier testimony of the victim,
defendant objected to the testimony “except for purposes of
corroboration,” and the trial court properly instructed the jury
that the testimony was received only for the purpose of
corroboration.

Am Jur 2d, Evidence §§ 661 et seq.

Evidence and Witnesses § 3020 (NCI4th)— attempted
statutory rape and attempted sexual offense—defendant’s
curfew—not improper impeachment

The trial court did not err in a prosecution for attempted
first-degree statutory rape and attempted first-degree sexual
offense by allowing the State to ask defendant whether he had a
midnight curfew where defendant initially denied having a cur-
few, was shown his pretrial release papers for another offense
out of the presence of the jury, and testified that he had not
remembered having a curfew but remembered now. No extrinsic
evidence of defendant’s pretrial release was admitted before the
Jury and there was no indication that the jury was aware of
defendant’s prior arrest, so that the jury could not have reason-
ably inferred that defendant, age 17, was under anything other
than a traditional parental curfew during the night in question.
N.C.G.S. § 8C-1, Rule 608(b).

Am Jur 2d, Witnesses §§ 587-590.

Evidence and Witnesses § 2337 (NCI4th)— attempted
statutory rape and first-degree sexual offense—expert
testimony—suggestibility of child witnesses—not
admissible

The trial court did not err in a prosecution for attempted
first-degree statutory rape and attempted first-degree sexual
offense by excluding the testimony of defendant’s expert psy-
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chologist on the suggestibility of child witnesses where the wit-
ness had never examined or evaluated the victim or anyone else
connected with this case. On these facts, the trial court could
properly conclude that the probative value of the testimony was
outweighed by its potential to prejudice or confuse the jury.
N.C.G.S. § 8C-1, Rule 702.

Am Jur 2d, Expert and Opinion Evidence § 191.

Necessity and admissibility of expert testimony as to
credibility of witness. 20 ALR3d 684.

Criminal Law § 1234 (NCI4th)— attempted statutory rape
and attempted sexual offense—sentencing—immaturity
not found as mitigating factor—no error

The trial court did not err when sentencing the seventeen-
year-old defendant for attempted first-degree statutory rape and
attempted first-degree sexual offense by not finding defendant’s
immaturity as a mitigating factor. Age alone is not sufficient to
support this factor and defendant presented no evidence on the
effect of his immaturity upon his culpability for the offense.
Although defendant contended that the court erred by evaluating
defendant’s immaturity at the time of trial rather than the time of
the offense, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in not find-
ing this factor. N.C.G.S. § 15A-1340.4(a)(2)e.

Am Jur 2d, Criminal Law §§ 598, 599.

Criminal Law § 1169 (NCI4th)— attempted statutory rape
and attempted sexual offense—sentencing—aggravating
factor—pretrial release

The trial court did not err when sentencing defendant for
attempted first-degree statutory rape and attempted first-degree
sexual offense by finding in aggravation that defendant commit-
ted the offenses while on pretrial release for a felony charge
where he was ultimately acquitted of the prior charge. The under-
lying rationale for the factor involves disdain for the law; the fact
that defendant was subsequently acquitted of the prior charge
does not undermine that rationale. N.C.G.S. § 156A-1340.4(a)(1)k.

Am Jur 2d, Criminal Law §§ 598, 599.
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7. Criminal Law § 1079 (NCI4th)— attempted statutory rape
and attempted sexual offense—sentence greater than pre-
sumptive—no abuse of discretion

The trial court did not abuse its discretion when sentencing
defendant for attempted first-degree statutory rape and attempt-
ed first-degree sexual offense by imposing a sentence greater
than the statutory norm. The task of weighing aggravating and
mitigating factors is discretionary and is not simply a matter of
mathematics.

Am Jur 2d, Criminal Law §§ 598, 599.

Appeal by defendant from judgment entered 12 February 1993 by
Judge W. Douglas Albright in Guilford County Superior Court. Heard
in the Court of Appeals 8 March 1994.

On 12 February 1993, defendant, age seventeen, was convicted of
attempted first degree statutory rape in violation of G.S. 14-27.6 and
attempted first degree sexual offense in violation of G.S. 14-27.6. The
trial court sentenced defendant to two consecutive ten year terms of
imprisonment.

At trial, the State’s evidence tended to show the following: On 6
June 1992, the victim, a twelve year old girl, was spending the night
at the home of her fifteen year old friend, Danielle Johnson. At
approximately 11:00 p.m. that night, James Christopher Creed, age
nineteen, came over to visit the victim and Johnson. Creed went to
the back of Johnson’s house and spoke with Johnson and victim
through a screened window in Johnson’s bedroom. After talking with
Johnson for about an hour, Creed and Johnson went to get something
to eat at Burger King and left the victim in Johnson’s bedroom. On
their way home from Burger King, Creed and Johnson saw defendant
walking down the street toward defendant’s house. Johnson talked
with defendant for about 5 minutes before returning home with
Creed.

When Creed and Johnson returned to her house, Johnson
crawled back into her bedroom through the screened window and
continued talking to Creed. Defendant walked into the yard and
introduced himself to Creed. Both Creed and defendant began talk-
ing to Johnson through the screened window. Eventually, Johnson
and Creed left to go visit a friend of Johnson’s. Creed suggested that
defendant “stay and talk to [the victim].”
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When Johnson and Creed returned about a half hour later,
Johnson saw defendant in her bedroom with the victim. Johnson tes-
tified that when she looked in the window, she saw defendant “jump-
ing up off of [victim] with his pants—pulling his pants up.” Johnson
asked defendant what he was doing in her bedroom and told him to
leave. Creed testified that when defendant came out the window,
defendant’s shirt was unbuttoned and defendant was trying to put on
his shoes as he climbed out the window.

Once defendant came outside, defendant, Johnson and Creed
talked in the backyard for approximately 30 to 45 minutes, while the
victim remained inside. Defendant told Creed and Johnson that he
and the victim had been talking and that somehow their clothes had
come off. Defendant told them that he began touching the victim’s leg
and inner thigh and then put his finger inside her vagina, but stopped
because it had a very unpleasant smell. They discussed the incident
very casually and laughed about it.

The victim testified that when Johnson and Creed left to visit
friends, defendant crawled through the window, put his hand over
her mouth and said that “[I]f [she] told anybody what he {defendant)
was going to do, he was going to hurt [her] like he hurt Koda.” The
victim testified that defendant put his penis inside her vagina two
times and inserted his finger into her vagina three times. The victim
could not push defendant off of her and she did not scream or make
any noise because she was afraid defendant would hurt her.

Defendant testified that on 6 June 1992, he had been walking to
his grandmother’s house when a car pulled up beside him. Johnson
got out of the car and invited him to her house. Defendant knew
Johnson but did not know Creed who was driving the car. Defendant
walked to Johnson’s house and began talking to Johnson and Creed.
Defendant testified that Johnson and Creed later left to go visit
friends but told him to stay and talk with the victim. Defendant stood
on a bicycle under the bedroom window and talked with the victim.
Defendant testified that he began to tire and asked the victim ten to
twelve times if he could climb in the window. Eventually, the victim
said that she did not care and defendant crawled through the window
into the bedroom. Defendant testified that he did not intend to have
sex with the victim when he climbed in the window and merely sat at
the foot of the bed. The victim, however, “laid back on the bed and
spread her legs.” After talking briefly with the victim, defendant
began rubbing the victim’s knees and the inside of her legs. Defend-
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ant pulled on the victim’s shorts and asked the victim to help him
take them off. The victim lifted her hips and removed her shorts and
panties without resisting or saying no. Defendant testified that when
the victim removed her panties, he noticed she had “an awful odor
coming from her.” Defendant testified that after he noticed the vic-
tim’s vaginal odor, he did not want to have sex with her anymore and
began looking for a way “to get out of the situation.” Defendant tes-
tified that he did not touch the victim or insert his finger or his penis
into her vagina. Defendant also testified that at no time had he
removed his underwear.

When defendant heard Johnson and Creed talking outside, he
began dressing and climbed out the window. Defendant testified that
he told Johnson and Creed that he had inserted his finger into the vic-
tim’s vagina because he thought that Creed and Johnson would
“think a little less of me if I didn’t tell them we did something.”
Defendant also testified that during the next week, the victim called
defendant ten to twelve times and asked him to be her boyfriend.
Defendant also told the investigating officer that he did not have sex
with the victim and did not penetrate her in any fashion and that vic-
tim’s vagina had a “strong personal odor.”

After having testified for the State, Creed also testified as a
defense witness. Creed expressed an opinion about the victim’s char-
acter for truthfulness. Creed testified that “she tends to get carried
away with things that she says at times.” Creed also testified that he
talked to Johnson and the victim on the night of the alleged incident
before he went over to their house. Creed testified that the victim
told him that she would give him oral sex if he would come and visit
them.

From judgment entered and sentences imposed, defendant
appeals.

Attorney General Michael F. Easley, by Special Deputy Attorney
General George W. Boylan, for the State.

Netill A. Jennings, Jr. for defendant-appellant.

EAGLES, Judge.

Defendant brings forward several assignments of error. After
carefully reviewing the record and briefs, we conclude that the trial
court committed no error.
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L.

[1] Defendant first contends that the trial court erred in allowing the
victim to testify that defendant threatened her by saying, “[I]f [she]
told anybody what he [defendant] was going to do, he was going to
hurt [her] like he hurt Koda.” The trial court allowed this testimony
despite its previous ruling allowing defendant’s motion in limine to
prohibit reference to defendant’s prior arrest, indictment, trial and
acquittal of the murder of Koda Smith.

At the time of the events alleged here, defendant was under
indictment and on pre-trial release for the murder of Aileen Koda
Smith. Defendant was subsequently acquitted of that charge. Prior to
trial here, defendant filed a motion in limine to exclude any reference
to Koda Smith or her death or defendant’s arrest, indictment and trial
for her murder. The trial court granted defendant’s motion to prohib-
it mention of defendant’s arrest, indictment and trial for the alleged
murder of Koda Smith, but denied defendant’s motion to prohibit ref-
erence to the name Koda Smith. The victim testified at trial that
defendant threatened her by saying, “[I]f [she] told anybody what he
[defendant] was going to do, he was going to hurt [her] like he hurt
Koda.” Defendant contends that the trial court should have excluded
the reference to “Koda” in the victim’s testimony under Rule 403 of
the North Carolina Rules of Evidence. We disagree.

Rule 403 provides:

Rule 403. Exclusion of relevant evidence on grounds
of prejudice, confusion, or waste of time.

Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its proba-
tive value is substantially outweighed by the danger of
unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the
jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or
needless presentation of cumulative evidence.

Whether evidence should be excluded under Rule 403 is ordinarily a
decision within the trial court’s discretion. State v. Meekins, 326 N.C.
689, 700, 329 S.E.2d 346, 352 (1990). Defendant relies on State wv.
Scott, 331 N.C. 39, 413 S.E.2d 787 (1992), in which the Supreme Court
held that:

[E]vidence that defendant committed a prior alleged offense for
which he has been tried and acquitted may not be admitted in a
subsequent trial for a different offense when its probative value
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depends, as it did here, upon the proposition that defendant in
fact committed the prior crime. To admit such evidence violates,
as a matter of law, Evidence Rule 403.

Id. at 42, 413 S.E.2d at 788. We find Scott distinguishable.

In Scott, supra, the defendant was indicted on charges of second
degree kidnapping, crime against nature, and three counts of second
degree rape. The State’s evidence at trial tended to show that defend-
ant approached the victim at a convenience store and asked her for a
ride home. The victim was already acquainted with the defendant and
agreed to take him home. When they left the parking lot, the defend-
ant threatened the victim with a knife and raped her.

At issue in Scott was the testimony of Wanda Freeman, a past
acquaintance of defendant, who testified that defendant had raped
her two years earlier under similar circumstances. Defendant object-
ed on the grounds that he had been tried and acquitted of Freeman'’s
rape by a jury. In holding that Freeman’s testimony violated Rule 403
as a matter of law, the Supreme Court stated:

When the probative value of evidence of this other conduct
depends upon the proposition that defendant committed the
prior crime, his earlier acquittal of that crime so erodes the pro-
bative value of the evidence that its potential for prejudice,
which is great, must perforce outweigh its probative value under
Rule 403.

Scott, 331 N.C. at 44, 413 S.E.2d at 790. The Scott court concluded
that the probative value of Freeman’s testimony depended upon the
proposition that defendant had actually raped Freeman two years
earlier. Defendant’s acquittal of Freeman’s rape so eroded its proba-
tive value that it was “substantially outweighed by the danger of
unfair prejudice” as a matter of law.

Here, the probative value of defendant’s statement does not
depend on the proposition that defendant in fact hurt Koda. The vic-
tim testified that she did not scream or make any loud noises because
defendant had threatened to hurt her. The probative value of defend-
ant’s statement was to show that the victim was scared of defendant
as well as why she did not scream or make any noise. Accordingly,
we conclude that Scott does not control here.

The State contends that defendant’s statement is admissible
under State v. Agee, 326 N.C. 542, 391 S.E.2d 171 (1990), as part of the
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“chain of circumstances” establishing the context of the crime
charged. We agree. “[A]dmission of evidence of a criminal defend-
ant’s prior bad acts, received to establish the circumstances of the
crime on trial by describing its immediate context, . . . . is admissible
if it ‘forms part of the history of the event or serves to enhance the
natural development of the facts.”” Id. at 547, 391 S.E.2d at 174
(citations omitted). In Agee, defendant was on trial for felonious pos-
session of LSD. The arresting officer testified that he stopped defend-
ant’s vehicle for weaving on the road. When the officer approached
the car, defendant made a threatening remark. The officer called for
backup and when backup arrived, the officer searched defendant’s
person for weapons. During the search, the officer found a bag of
marijuana in defendant’s pocket. After finding the marijuana, the
officer searched the vehicle and found the LSD. Defendant objected
to the officer’s testimony about finding the marijuana in defendant’s
pocket because defendant had previously been acquitted of possess-
ing that marijuana in another trial. In holding that the officer’s testi-
mony was admissible, the Supreme Court stated:

Evidence, not part of the crime charged but pertaining to the
chain of events explaining the context, motive and set-up of the
crime, is properly admitted if linked in time and circumstances
with the charged crime, or [if it] forms an integral and natural
part of an account of the crime, or is necessary to complete the
story of the crime for the jury.

Agee, 326 N.C. 542, 548, 391 S.E.2d 171, 174 (1990) (quoting United
States v. Williford, 764 F.2d 1493, 1499 (11th Cir. 1985).

Here, the victim testified to defendant’s statement during her
account of the crime. In describing how she was sexually assaulted,
the victim testified that defendant put his hand over her mouth and
told her that “[I]f [she] told anybody what he [defendant] was going
to do, he was going to hurt [her] like he hurt Koda.” We conclude that
defendant’s statement here formed an “integral and natural part” of
the victim’s account of the crime and was “necessary to complete the
story of the crime for the jury.” Cf. Agee, supra. Accordingly, the trial
court did not err in allowing defendant’s statement.

II.

[2] Defendant next contends that the trial court erred in allowing the
State’s medical expert, Dr. Martha K. Sharpless, to testify to state-
ments the victim made to her about the incident during a physical
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examination of the victim. Defendant contends that Dr. Sharpless’
testimony was inadmissible hearsay because the victim’s statements
to Dr. Sharpless were not made for the purposes of medical diagno-
sis or treatment as required by G.S. 8C-1, Rule 803(4).

We need not address whether the victim’s statements to Dr.
Sharpless fall within the “Statements for Purposes of Medical Diag-
nosis” exception to the hearsay rule because the trial court admitted
Dr. Sharpless’ testimony only for the limited purpose of corroborat-
ing the in-court testimony of the victim. “Evidence which is inadmis-
sible for substantive or illustrative purposes may nevertheless be
admitted as corroborative evidence in appropriate cases when it
tends to enhance the credibility of a witness.” State v. Burns, 307
N.C. 224, 229, 297 S.E.2d 384, 387 (1982). Dr. Sharpless’ testimony
essentially corroborated the earlier testimony of the victim, including
the defendant’s threat to the victim. We also note that defendant
objected “except for purposes of corroboration.” The trial court then
properly instructed the jury that Dr. Sharpless’ testimony was only to
be received “for the limited and narrow purpose of corroborating the
in-court testimony” of the victim. Accordingly, this assignment of
error is overruled.

II1.

[3] Defendant next contends that the trial court erred in permitting
the State to impeach defendant by asking defendant whether he had
a midnight curfew. The following exchange took place between the
assistant district attorney and defendant during defendant’s cross-
examination:

Q. At some point Chris [Creed] and Danielle [Johnson] left; is
that right?

A. Yes, sir. I don’t know where they were going.
Q. What time was it by then?

A. I couldn’t tell you what time it was. They was getting ready
to go somewhere and Chris just said stay here and talk to
Donna till we get back.

Q. It was after midnight by then, wasn’t it?
A. I don't know what time it was. I'm not sure.

Q. Could it have been after midnight?
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MR JENNINGS: Object. Asked and answered, Your Honor.
THE CourT: Overruled.
A. It might have been. It might not have been. I do not know.
Q. You weren't concerned at all about what time it was?
A. No, sir. I don’t see what reason there was to be.
Q. Well, didn’t you have a midnight curfew?
A. Huh?
MR. JENNINGS: Object.
Q. Didn’t you have a midnight curfew?
THE COURT: Overruled.

A. Not that  remember. [ don't remember having no midnight
curfew.

At the time of the incident, defendant was subject to a midnight
curfew as a condition of his pre-trial release. Since defendant testi-
fied that he did not remember having a midnight curfew, the State
threatened, out of the presence of the jury, to impeach defendant
with his pre-trial release papers which indicated that defendant was
under a “12:00 midnight curfew Friday and Saturday.” The trial court
conducted a voir dire out of the presence of the jury and allowed the
State to show defendant the pre-trial release papers and refresh
defendant’s memory that he was indeed under a midnight curfew at
the time of the incident. Defendant contends this constituted improp-
er impeachment under Rule 608(b) of the North Carolina Rules of
Evidence. We disagree.

Rule 608(b) provides:

(b) Specific instances of conduct.—Specific instances of the
conduct of a witness, for the purpose of attacking or sup-
porting his credibility, other than conviction of crime as pro-
vided in Rule 609, may not be proved by extrinsic evidence.

Here, extrinsic evidence was not used to impeach defendant before
the jury. Defendant was shown his pre-trial release papers outside of
the presence of the jury. Defendant’s cross-examination in the pres-
ence of the jury resumed as follows:
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Q. (By Mr. Neumann) [Defendant], I'll ask you again if you've
had some time to reflect on it whether you were under a mid-
night curfew on this particular night?

A. Yes, sir. My memory is refreshed.

Q. I believe you earlier said you weren’t concerned with what
time it was?

A. No, sir. I had no business —
MR. JENNINGS: Object.

A. — no reason to.
THE CoURT: Overruled.

Q. So, you didn’t care if you missed your midnight curfew or
not, did you?

A. [ didn’t remember having one.
Q. You remember now, don’t you?
A. Yes, sir.

No extrinsic evidence of defendant’s pre-trial release was admitted
before the jury. Accordingly, we conclude that defendant was not
improperly impeached under Rule 608(b). Defendant also contends
that the question “Didn’t you have a midnight curfew,” violated the
court’s ruling on defendant’s motion in limine to exclude references
to defendant’s prior arrest, indictment, trial and acquittal of the mur-
der of Koda Smith. However, since there is no indication that the jury
was aware of defendant’s prior arrest, we conclude that the jury
could not have reasonably inferred that defendant, at age 17, was
under anything other than a traditional parental curfew during the
night in question.

Iv.

[4] Defendant next contends that the trial court erred in excluding
the testimony of defendant’s expert psychologist, Dr. John F. Warren,
on the suggestibility of child witnesses. We disagree.

Dr. Warren was certified by the trial court as an expert in clinical
psychology and human behavior. Defendant offered Dr. Warren’s tes-
timony on the phenomenon of suggestibility. On voir dire, Dr. Warren
testified that suggestibility is the “altering or the creation of memo-
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ries through questions, gestures, other stimuli that happen around
the person who is doing the remembering.” Dr. Warren would have
also testified that suggestibility is significant in young children or
intellectually impaired persons. Defendant offered Dr. Warren'’s testi-
mony to show that the victim’s memory may have been created or
altered through suggestion.

Under Rule 702 of the North Carolina Rules of Evidence, expert
testimony is admissible if it will appreciably help the jury. State v.
Knox, 78 N.C. App. 493, 495, 337 S.E.2d 154, 156 (1985). In applying
this test, the trial court must balance the probative value of the testi-
mony against its potential for prejudice, confusion, or delay. Id.; G.S.
8C-1, Rule 403. The trial court has wide discretion in determining
whether expert testimony is admissible. Knox, 78 N.C. App. at 495,
337 S.E.2d at 156.

Here, Dr. Warren testified that he did not ever examine or evalu-
ate the victim or anyone else connected with this case. On these
facts, the trial court could properly conclude that the probative value
of Dr. Warren’s testimony was outweighed by its potential to preju-
dice or confuse the jury. Similarly, we are not persuaded that Dr.
Warren's testimony would have “appreciably aided” the jury since he
had never examined or evaluated the victim. Accordingly, we con-
clude that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding Dr.
Warren's testimony.

V.

[5] Defendant’s next three contentions concern the sentencing phase
of the trial. Defendant first contends that the trial court erred in
failing to find defendant’s immaturity as a mitigating factor.
G.S. 15A-1340.4(a)(2)e allows a defendant’s immaturity to be consid-
ered as a mitigating factor if the defendant’s immaturity “at the time
of commission of the offense significantly reduced his culpability for
the offense.” At the time of the offense, defendant was seventeen
years old and a high school drop out. In refusing to find defendant’s
immaturity as a mitigating factor, the trial court stated, “This is a man
that just went out and got married and took on the responsibilities
for a wife and two children. . . . That doesn’t smack of immaturity.”
Defendant contends that the trial court erred in evaluating defend-
ant’s immaturity at the time of trial instead of at the time of the com-
mission of the offense. We disagree.
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A trial court has wide discretion in determining the existence of
mitigating factors because it “observes the demeanor of the witness
and hears the testimony.” State v. Heatwole, 333 N.C. 156, 163, 423
S.E.2d 735, 739 (1992). Immaturity as a statutory mitigating factor
requires two inquiries: One as to immaturity and one as to the effect
of that immaturity upon culpability. State v. Moore, 317 N.C. 275, 280,
345 S.E.2d 217, 221 (1986). Age alone is insufficient to support this
factor. Id. The fact that defendant is seventeen years old, without
more, does not classify defendant as immature under the statute. Id.
As to the second inquiry, defendant presented no evidence on the
effect of his immaturity upon his culpability for the offense. It is
within the trial court’s discretion to assess whether a defendant’s
immaturity significantly reduced his culpability for the offense. Id. at
281, 345 S.E.2d at 221. Accordingly, we conclude that the trial court
did not abuse its discretion in failing to find defendant’s immaturity
as a mitigating factor.

[6] Second, defendant contends the trial court erred in finding as an
aggravating factor that defendant committed the offenses while on
pre-trial release for a felony charge. G.S. 15A-1340.4(a)(1)k. Defend-
ant contends that since he has been acquitted of the prior charge, the
fact that he was on pre-trial release during the commission of these
offenses cannot be used to aggravate his sentence. Based on State v.
Webb, 309 N.C. 549, 308 S.E.2d 252 (1983), we disagree.

The rationale underlying G.S. 15A-1340.4(a)(1)k is that, “[o]ne
demonstrates disdain for the law by committing an offense while on
release pending trial of an earlier charge.” Webb, 309 N.C. at 559, 308
S.E.2d at 258.

Whether or not one [on pre-trial release] is in fact guilty, it is to
be expected that he would, while the question of his guilt is pend-
ing, be particularly cautious to avoid commission of another
criminal offense. If he is not and is convicted of another offense,
his status as a pretrial releasee in a pending case is a legitimate
circumstance to be considered in imposing sentence.

Id. The fact that defendant was subsequently acquitted of the prior
charge does not undermine the rationale for finding as an aggravat-
ing factor that defendant committed this offense while on pre-trial
release. Accordingly, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in
this regard.
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[7] Finally, defendant contends that the trial court erred in imposing
a sentence greater than the presumptive term. Defendant contends
that the trial court erred in finding that the one aggravating factor of
committing the offenses while on pre-trial release outweighed the
one mitigating factor that defendant had no prior record of convic-
tions. Defendant’s contention is without merit. The task of weighing
aggravating and mitigating factors is discretionary and is not simply
a matter of mathematics. State v. Melton, 307 N.C. 370, 380, 298
S.E.2d 673, 680 (1983). The trial court may properly emphasize one
factor over another in weighing these factors. Id. We conclude that
the trial court did not abuse its discretion in sentencing defendant.

VI

For the reasons stated, we conclude that defendant received a
fair trial free from prejudicial error.

No error.

Judges MARTIN and McCRODDEN concur.

IN THE MATTER OF: DYLAN AUTRY

No. 935DC920
(Filed 21 June 1994)

Infants or Minors § 31 (NCI4th)— Willie M. child—treatment
plan ordered by court—jurisdiction

The district court exceeded its authority in vesting legal and
physical custody of Dylan Autry, a Willie M. class member, with
the Division of Mental Health, Developmental Disabilities and
Substance Abuse Services within the Department of Human
Resources, and by directing the Division to provide a plan and
implementation for Dylan, because the federal district court has
continuing jurisdiction over the question of appropriate treat-
ment of Willie M. children and because of the role of the Review
Panel in evaluating the compliance of the State with the consent
order.

Am Jur 2d, Infants §§ 33-41.
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Judge JOHN dissenting.

Appeal by the State from order entered 18 March 1993 by Judge
Elton G. Tucker in New Hanover County District Court. Heard in the
Court of Appeals 9 May 1994.

Attorney General Michael F Easley, by Special Deputy Attorney
General Michelle B. McPherson, for the State-appellant.

William Norton Mason, attorney for the guardian ad litem-
appellee.

JOHNSON;, Judge.

Dylan Autry, born 25 September 1977, was adjudicated a depend-
ent juvenile by the New Hanover District Court and legal custody of
Dylan was granted to the New Hanover County Department of Social
Services on 5 August 1986. Dylan suffers from serious behavioral and
emotional problems and from developmental disabilities. Because of
these problems, Dylan requires specialized services; Dylan was certi-
fied a Willie M. class member on or about 4 March 1987.

The Willie M. Services Section of the Division of Mental Health,
Developmental Disabilities and Substance Abuse Services is within
the North Carolina Department of Human Resources. The Division is
responsible for creating, overseeing and funding all services for
Willie M. class members, except educational services provided
through the North Carolina Department of Public Instruction.

Judge Napoleon B. Barefoot, Jr. reviewed Dylan Autry’s case dur-
ing the 18 February 1993 session of New Hanover County District
Court upon the motion of the guardian ad litem. The guardian ad
litem was seeking an order from the court directing the North Car-
olina Department of Human Resources, through the Division, to
develop a treatment/placement plan for Dylan and a specific time
frame for implementing the plan. Those present at the hearing includ-
ed Dylan’s social worker, counsel for the New Hanover County
Department of Social Services, the guardian ad litem represented by
counsel, and Dylan’s Willie M. case manager, Tommy Puckett. (Mr.
Puckett is not an employee of the Division; he is employed by South-
eastern Mental Health Center. The Center is operated by the South-
eastern Area Mental Health, Developmental Disabilities and
Substance Abuse Services Area Program. This Program is responsi-
ble for providing for the mental health, developmental disabilities
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and substance abuse services needs of clients in its area. Dylan is one
of its clients.)

The evidence at the hearing revealed that Dylan was a patient at
the Children’s Unit of Cherry Hospital in Goldsboro, North Carolina,
and had been a patient there since January 1992. Cherry Hospital is a
psychiatric facility operated by the North Carolina Department of
Human Resources. Dylan was admitted to the hospital for assess-
ment of his need for medication to address his behavioral problems.
During his stay at Cherry Hospital, Dylan was provided treatment for
behavioral problems caused by his developmental and emotional
deficits. At the time of the hearing, Dylan was no longer in need of
acute care and was ready for discharge to an appropriate long-term
placement.

The social worker for the Cherry Hospital Children’s Unit testi-
fied that she had been working closely with Mr. Puckett, who was try-
ing to find an appropriate placement for Dylan so that he could be
discharged from the hospital. Mr. Puckett testified that he was work-
ing with all of the agencies involved in Dylan’s case to create a plan
and submit it to the Division for consideration by the Division's Willie
M. Services Section from whom the funding for the plan was being
sought. However, because of Dylan’s special needs, the plans he had
submitted had not been accepted by the Division. One reason for the
rejections was that the type of services proposed in the plans did not
exist and would have to be developed. Mr. Puckett testified that two
other plans that would have suited Dylan’s needs called for individ-
ual residential treatment. These involved providing Dylan with a
small house or an apartment with a 24-hour staff to supervise him.
The cost associated with each of these plans was about $140,000 per
year. Those plans were rejected by the Division but Mr. Puckett did
not testify as to the reason for the rejection.

Because the Division wanted to ensure that Dylan did not con-
tinue to languish in the hospital, Mr. Puckett was instructed to devel-
op a plan and coordinate the activities necessary to place Dylan in a
“professional parenting home” as an interim placement. This would
involve locating and training a couple with whom Dylan would live.
The couple would be provided certain supports to ensure that
Dylan’s needs were met.

At the conclusion of the evidence, the trial court found that offi-
cials recommended that a plan be established for Dylan including the
following criteria:
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(1) That he be placed in an individual therapeutic residential cen-
ter outside Cherry Hospital.

(2) That he needs to be taught in this facility life skills.
(3) That he needs an individualized education plan.

(4) That he needs speech therapy for his speech impediment
which is stuttering when he is under stress.

(5) That he needs continued monitoring of the drugs he is being
administered for his behavior.

Judge Barefoot then ordered the Willie M. program to provide to the
court within thirty days a plan for placement that would meet Dylan’s
needs and ordered that an appropriate placement be implemented
within sixty days. The matter was to come before the court for
review within thirty days. Subsequently, on 5 March 1993, a written
order was entered nunc pro tunc for 18 February 1993.

On 18 March 1993, Judge Elton G. Tucker presided over the
review, finding “[t]hat Tommy Puckett, Willie M case manager, testi-
fied before this Court that there are plans for placement as ordered
but that no firm plan or date for implementation of a plan can be
given, although it is hoped that the plan will be implemented within
the next several weeks.” Judge Tucker concluded “[t]hat no firm plan
has been presented to the Court with an implementation date as
previously ordered” and “[t]hat it is in the present best interest of the
Jjuvenile that his legal and physical custody be granted to the
Willie M. Program, a Division of the North Carolina Department of
Human Resources.” The order required two employees of the Divi-
sion, Marci White, Director of the Section, and Pat Ray, Regional
Service Manager, to appear before the court on 22 April 1993, and to
show the court that Dylan had been placed in accordance with Judge
Barefoot’s findings of fact regarding Dylan’s needs, or to show cause
why they should not be held in contempt for failure to abide by the
court’s order.

On 31 March 1993, the Division asked that Judge Tucker modify
or vacate his order or, in the alternative, stay his order pending
appeal. Judge Tucker denied these requests. On 13 April 1993, the
Division petitioned our Court to issue writs of prohibition and super-
sedeas and moved for a temporary stay of the order. These writs (the
petition for a writ of prohibition was treated as a petition for writ of



IN THE COURT OF APPEALS 267

IN RE AUTRY
{115 N.C. App. 263 (1994)]

certiorari) were granted by our Court on 4 May 1993. We turn now to
the merits of this appeal.

The State first argues the district court lacked jurisdiction to
order the Division to implement a specific treatment program for
Dylan Autry. Specifically, the State argues that because the Division
was not a party to this juvenile proceeding, the district court was
without authority to direct the Division to take any particular action
with respect to the juvenile.

The State cites In the Matter of Baxley, 74 N.C. App. 527, 328
S.E.2d 831, disc. review denied, 314 N.C. 330, 333 S.E.2d 483 (1985),
where our Court stated:

We agree that, as a certified Willie M. child, respondent has cer-
tain special constitutional rights to appropriate treatment by the
State of North Carolina. These were established in the consent
order in Willie M. v. James B. Hunt, No. CC79-0294 slip op.
(W.D.N.C. 20 February 1981). Yet, the stipulations by the parties
in that case, as adopted by the federal district court in its order,
indicate that a Review Panel was established by the court and
“shall be responsible to the Court and is created for the purpose
of reviewing defendants’ compliance with the decree entered in
this action.” This Review Panel has the duty of reviewing the
services actually being provided for each Willie M. child and of
determining whether they assure the child the rights he is
accorded under the court’s decree.

Given the federal district court’s continuing jurisdiction over
the question of appropriate treatment of Willie M. children, and
the role of the Review Panel in evaluating the compliance of the
State of North Carolina with the consent order, which was agreed
to by the parties, we believe it would be inappropriate for this
tribunal to inquire into whether the respondent in the present
case was denied his Willie M. rights when the juvenile judge
revoked his conditional release.

In the Matter of Baxley, 74 N.C. App. at 531, 328 S.E.2d at 833.

Further, the State cites In re Swindell, 326 N.C. 473, 390 S.E.2d
134 (1990), where our Supreme Court held that the trial court
“exceeded the scope of its authority in ordering the State of North
Carolina to develop and implement a specified adolescent sex
offender treatment program.” The Court stated that “[t]he North Car-
olina Juvenile Code, N.C.G.S. § TA-516 to § 7TA-744, does not grant the
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district courts the authority to order the state, through the Division
of Youth Services, to develop and implement specific treatment pro-
grams and facilities for juveniles.” Swindell, 326 N.C. at 475, 390
S.E.2d at 136.

We also note that there is no authorization in our statutes to
grant legal and physical custody of a juvenile to the Willie M. Services
Section of the Division, although the guardian ad litem argues that
the Division of Youth Services, also a Division of the Department of
Human Resources, is a “person” within the purview of North Caroli-
na General Statutes § 7A-647 (Cum. Supp. 1993), as held in In re Doe,
329 N.C. 743, 407 S.E.2d 798 (1991). Doe distinguishes Swindell at 329
N.C. 750-561, 390 S.E.2d 802-03.

Based on the aforementioned holdings and reasoning, we agree
with the State in the case sub judice. Like the Court in Baxley,
because the federal district court has continuing jurisdiction over the
question of appropriate treatment of Willie M. children, and because
of the role of the Review Panel in evaluating the compliance of the
State of North Carolina with the consent order which was agreed to
by the parties, we believe that the district court judge exceeded his
scope of authority in vesting legal and physical custody of Dylan with
the Division, and by directing the Division to take any particular
action with respect to Dylan, who had been certified a Willie M. class
member. Therefore, we reverse the decision of the trial court.

Reversed.
Judge WELLS concurs.
Judge JOHN dissents.

Judge JOHN dissenting.

I believe Judge Tucker had authority both (1) to place legal and
physical custody of Dylan Autry (Dylan) with the Willie M. Services
Section, a Division of Mental Health, Developmental Disabilities and
Substance Abuse Services within the North Carolina Department of
Human Resources (the Section); and (2) to order the Section to
arrange placement of Dylan in a living environment consistent with
the criteria set forth in Judge Barefoot’s earlier 18 February 1993
order.
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The record reflects Dylan was adjudicated a dependent juvenile
and custody was granted to the New Hanover County Department of
Social Services on 5 August 1986. He was subsequently certified a
Willie M. class member on or about 4 March 1987. The necessity for
placement of Dylan at the conclusion of his stay in Cherry Hospital,
a psychiatric facility operated by the Department of Human
Resources, was known upon his hospital admission in early January,
1992. In July and October of 1992, two separate placement plans for
Dylan were submitted to the Section, but were rejected.

The matter came on for review before Judge Barefoot in Febru-
ary of 1993. Cherry Hospital officials indicated Dylan had received
and attained the maximum benefit from hospitalization and his con-
dition was deteriorating as his discharge continued to be delayed.
Judge Barefoot’s order (entered 5 March 1993, nunc pro tunc to the
hearing date of 18 February 1993) directed the Section to provide the
court with a placement plan, incorporating certain criteria, within
thirty (30) days.

Judge Tucker, when the matter came on for review 18 March 1993
(six years after Dylan’s classification as a Willie M. juvenile, fourteen
months after his placement at Cherry Hospital, and one full month
after Judge Barefoot’s directive), was confronted with lame excuses
and vague reassurances that there were “plans for placement as
[Judge Barefoot had] ordered but that no firm plan or date for imple-
mentation of a plan can be given, although it is hoped that the plan
will be implemented within the next several weeks.” In light of the
foregoing history, Judge Tucker’s apparent frustration with bureau-
cratic foot-dragging was quite understandable.

The appeal herein only presents questions as to whether Judge
Tucker had authority: (1) to set custody of Dylan in the Section, and
(2) to direct the custodian to effect treatment of Dylan consistent
with Dylan’s best interests. The State points to two decisions—In re
Swindell, 326 N.C. 473, 390 S.E.2d 134 (1990) and In the Matter of
Baxley, 74 N.C. App. 527, 328 S.E.2d 831, disc. review denied, 314
N.C. 330, 333 S.E.2d 483 (1985)—and argues that any cure for Dylan’s
predicament must be sought in federal court. I disagree and vote to
affirm Judge Tucker’s order.

I

In my opinion, our Juvenile Code, N.C.G.S. §§ 7A-516 to -749
(1989), authorizes Judge Tucker’s action.
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First, under G.S. § 7A-523, the juvenile court has “exclusive, orig-
inal jurisdiction” over a juvenile alleged to be dependent. Moreover,
the Code provides this jurisdiction “shall continue until terminated
by order of the court or until he reaches his eighteenth birthday.” G.S.
§ 7A-624 (emphasis added). See also In re Doe, 329 N.C. 743, 748, 407
S.E.2d 798, 801 (1991). Nowhere within the statutory scheme is the
court divested of its responsibility should a dependent juvenile sub-
sequently be certified a Willie M. class member. Accordingly, Judge
Tucker had jurisdiction over Dylan’s case.

Second, the State’s assertion the court’s order was unauthorized
because the Section was not a party is unavailing. Many alternative
dispositions under the Juvenile Code involve implementation
through third parties, usually state or local agencies, and the Section
had full notice of Dylan’s situation and of the district court’s concern.
No “fundamental fairness” or “due process” principles were violated
by Judge Tucker’s order. See In re Jackson, 84 N.C. App. 167, 171-72,
362 S.E.2d 449, 452-53 (1987).

Third, the Code provides that the court may set custody of a
dependent juvenile with “a parent, relative, private agency offering
placement services, or some other suitable person.” G.S.
§ 7A-647(2)(b). Our Supreme Court has recently found that, as a mat-
ter of “common-sense,” the Division of Youth Services (like the Sec-
tion, a division of the Department of Human Resources) is a “person”
within the purview of a different sub-section of this same statute. In
re Doe, 329 N.C. at 750, 407 S.E.2d at 802 (construing G.S.
§ 7TA-647(3)). I find no distinction between the Section and the Divi-
sion of Youth Services for purposes of consideration as a “person”
under the statute. Furthermore, I would hold the Section, as consist-
ing of individuals well versed in the special needs of Willie M. chil-
dren, to be a “suitable” person in which to place custody of Dylan.

Fourth, G.5. § 7A-647(3) specifically authorizes the juvenile
court, if a dependent juvenile is in need of “psychiatric, psychologi-
cal or other treatment,” to “order the needed treatment.” See also
Doe, 329 N.C. at 750, 407 S.E.2d at 802.

Lastly, G.S. § 7TA-657 mandates periodic review by the juvenile
court of custody and treatment arrangements for dependent juve-
niles and authorizes “different placement as is deemed to be in the
best interest of the juvenile.” G.S. § 7A-657(d). This Code section per-
mits the reviewing judge to order any treatment alternative autho-
rized by G.S. § 7TA-647. Within the limitations imposed by Swindell



IN THE COURT OF APPEALS 271

IN RE AUTRY
[115 N.C. App. 263 (1994)]

discussed below, I believe these sections enabled Judge Tucker to
order treatment compatible with the criteria set forth in Judge
Barefoot’s earlier order.

Despite the foregoing statutory provisions, the majority relies
upon Baxley (and to a lesser extent, Swindell) to hold that because
Dylan is a Willie M. child, Judge Tucker exceeded his authority. I
disagree.

“The legislature is presumed to have intended a purpose for each
sentence and word in a particular statute, and a statute is not to be
construed in a way which makes any portion of it ineffective or
redundant.” State v. White, 101 N.C. App. 593, 605, 401 S.E.2d 106,
113, disc. review denied and appeal dismissed, 329 N.C. 275, 407
S.E.2d 852 (1991). My analysis of the Juvenile Code, summarized
above, indicates the juvenile court is responsible for both the proper
custody and the proper treatment of dependent juveniles such as
Dylan—regardless of whether they are subsequently determined to
be Willie M. children. The Juvenile Code makes no mention of Willie
M. children. In the absence of a legislative exclusion for Willie M.
children, I would hold that once a child is found to be dependent, the
juvenile court’s “exclusive, original jurisdiction” over custody and
treatment matters continues until such time as jurisdiction is “termi-
nated by order of the [juvenile] court” or such time as the child
reaches age eighteen (18). In other words, I do not feel a dependent
juvenile, who is subsequently determined to be a Willie M. child,
should be allowed “to slip through the cracks” of our Juvenile Code.

IL

I would further hold that neither Baxley nor Swindell operate to
bar the trial court’s action.

As previously noted, the Juvenile Code provides that the district
court has “exclusive, original jurisdiction” over any case concerning
a dependent child. G.S. § 7TA-523. While the majority reads Baxley as
imposing a limitation upon that jurisdiction, I find the holding there-
in inapposite. In Baxley, we were confronted with the question of
whether the trial court denied a Willie M. juvenile his federally man-
dated right to treatment by revoking the juvenile’s conditional
release from DYS custody. Baxley, 74 N.C. App. at 531, 328 S.E.2d at
833. Pursuant to the consent order in Willie M. v. James B. Hunt, No.
CC79-0294 (W.D.N.C. 20 February 1981), Willie M. children have
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“certain special constitutional rights to appropriate treatment . . ..”
Bauxley, 74 N.C. App. at 531, 328 S.E.2d at 833.

Although Baxley indicates it is “inappropriate for this tribunal”
to inquire into whether the State has denied a Willie M. child those
rights guaranteed in the federal consent order, Baxley, 74 N.C. App.
at 531, 328 S.E.2d at 833, the issue herein does not concern a Willie
M. class member seeking redress for a violation of those rights
secured under the federal court decree. On the contrary, this case
involves the authority and responsibility of the district court to fulfill
its continuing statutory obligation concerning “dependent” juveniles.
See G.S. § TA-657. It involves the juvenile court’s repeated attempts to
find Dylan, who is a “dependent” child (and who also happens to be
a Willie M. child), a suitable custodian and living environment—mat-
ters within the court’s jurisdiction which will repeatedly resurface
until effectively resolved. Contrary to the majority’s implicit holding,
therefore, 1 do not believe the district court’s “exclusive, original
jurisdiction” suddenly evaporates when a dependent youth acquires
a Willie M. classification.

Neither do I consider In Re Swindell, 326 N.C. 473, 390 S.E.2d
134 (1990) to have application. Under Swindell, the juvenile court
has no authority “to order the state . . . to develop and implement spe-
cific treatment programs and facilities for juveniles.” Swindell, 326
N.C. at 475, 390 S.E.2d at 136. However, the court may order an
agency to provide specific treatment when such treatment is cur-
rently available. Doe, 329 N.C. at 752, 407 S.E.24d at 803. In summary,
the courts simply cannot order the creation of treatment programs
and facilities which do not exist. Such is not the situation in the case
sub judice.

There exists a strong presumption favoring correctness of deci-
sions of the trial court, with the burden on the appellant to show
error. L. Harvey & Son Co. v. Jarman, 76 N.C. App. 191, 195-96, 333
S.E.2d 47, 50 (1985). Here the State, as appellant, has failed to file a
transcript of the proceedings below. Consequently, our consideration
of the State’s argument is limited to the printed record on appeal. See
Loeb v. Loeb, 72 N.C. App. 205, 218, 324 S.E.2d 33, 42 (an appellate
court’s decision must rest on the record on appeal), disc. review
denied, 313 N.C. 508, 329 S.E.2d 393 (1985).

The limited appellate record prohibits any conclusion that the
five placement criteria, as established by Judge Barefoot and
directed by Judge Tucker, were non-existent on the date ordered. The
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court’s unchallenged, and therefore binding, findings, see Hagan v.
Peden Steel Co., 57 N.C. App. 363, 365, 291 S.E.2d 308, 309 (1982), on
the contrary indicate that plans for Dylan’s placement were indeed
available, but would require several additional weeks for implemen-
tation. Hence the State (as appellant) has failed to show the place-
ment and treatment ordered were unavailable, and therefore the trial
court’s order is not barred by application of Swindell.

For the foregoing reasons, I respectfully dissent.

JONATHAN GARRITY, n/s/a CAMBRIDGE HANOVER AVIATION PARKWAY ASSOCI-
ATES, BROWNING-FERRIS INDUSTRIES, INC., A CORPORATION, AND BOBBY L.
MURRAY, . PETiTiONERS V. MORRISVILLE ZONING BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT,
SOUTHPORT BUSINESS PARK, LIMITED PARTNERSHIP, anp MORRISVILLE
ASSOCIATES, A NORTH CAROLINA GENERAL PARTNERSHIP, RESPONDENTS

No. 9310SC544
(Filed 21 June 1994)

1. Zoning § 109 (NCI4th)— site plan approval by town com-
missioners—N.C.G.S. § 160A-388(b)—no appellate juris-
diction by board of adjustment

The provision of N.C.G.S. § 160A-388(b) giving a board of
adjustment the authority to hear and decide appeals from an
order or decision made by “an administrative official” charged
with the enforcement of a zoning ordinance did not give a zoning
board of adjustment the authority to decide an appeal from a
decision by the town board of commissioners approving a site
plan since the board of commissioners is not a “person” and is
thus not an “official” within the meaning of the statute.

Am Jur 2d, Zoning and Planning §§ 745 et seq.

2. Zoning § 109 (NCI4th)— site plan approval by town com-
missioners—N.C.G.S. § 160A-388(c)—no appellate juris-
diction by board of adjustment

The provision of N.C.G.S. § 160A-388(c) stating that a board
of adjustment “shall hear and decide all matters referred to it or
upon which it is required to pass under any zoning ordinance,”
when considered with town zoning regulations which allow the
board of adjustment to hear appeals from an order or decision
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made by “other administrative officials” in the carrying out or
enforcement of any provisions of the ordinance, did not give a
zoning board of adjustment the authority to decide an appeal
from the town board of commissioners approving a site plan
since the commissioners are not administrative officials.

Am Jur 2d, Zoning and Planning §§ 745 et seq.

Zoning § 109 (NCI4th)— site plan approved by town com-
missioners—N.C.G.S. § 160A-388(c)—no appellate juris-
diction by board of adjustment

Language in N.C.G.S. § 160A-388(c) stating that a zoning
ordinance “may also authorize the board to interpret zoning
maps and pass upon disputed questions of lot lines or district
boundary lines and similar questions as they arise in the admin-
istration of the ordinance” did not authorize a zoning board of
adjustment to decide an appeal from a decision of the town
board of commissioners approving a site plan since this language
merely lists specific powers which a town’s zoning ordinance
may confer on the board of adjustment and does not include
hearing appeals.

Am Jur 2d, Zoning and Planning §§ 745 et seq.

Zoning § 114 (NCI4th)— board of adjustment decision—
judicial review by certiorari—sufficiency of petition

A petition for a writ of certiorari seeking judicial review of
the decision of a town zoning board of adjustment was required
to comply only with the provisions of N.C.G.S. § 160A-388(e) and
was not subject to dismissal because it was not verified, did not
contain an undertaking for costs, was not returnable to the supe-
rior court, and did not give respondents ten days written notice
prior to the date of its return as required by Rule 19 of the Gen-
eral Rules of Practice for Superior and District Courts.

Am Jur 2d, Zoning and Planning § 1020.

Appeal by respondents from order entered 18 December 1992 by

Judge Henry V. Barnette, Jr. in Wake County Superior Court. Heard in

the

Court of Appeals 2 March 1994.

This action arises out of the decision of the Morrisville Board of

Commissioners to approve petitioners’ proposed building of a region-
al facility for solid waste and collection on property located in the
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Town of Morrisville. Respondents, who own land in the vicinity of the
property at issue, petitioned the Town Board of Commissioners to
reconsider its approval of the facility. At the same time, respondents
also filed a petition for “interpretation and administrative review” of
the decision of the Board of Commissioners with the Morrisville
Board of Adjustment asking the Board of Adjustment to reverse the
decision of the Board of Commissioners and to interpret the Zoning
Regulations.

On 23 March 1992, the Town Board of Commissioners reconsid-
ered its approval of the site plan, and on 13 April 1992, the Board of
Commissioners approved the site plan again by a vote of three to
two. On 20 April 1992, petitioners filed a motion to dismiss respond-
ents’ petition for interpretation and administrative review of the
decision of the Board of Commissioners with the Board of Adjust-
ment on the basis that the Board of Adjustment did not have the
authority to review the Board of Commissioners’ decision. The Board
of Adjustment denied petitioners’ motion, and on 21 April 1992, the
Morrisville Board of Adjustment began its hearing based on respond-
ents’ petition. Subsequently, on 12 August 1992 the Board of
Adjustment entered a decision and order reversing the Board of
Commissioners’ approval of the site plan.

In September 1992, petitioners filed a petition for writ of certio-
rari in Wake County Superior Court, which petition the superior
court granted. Respondents filed a motion to dismiss and set aside
petitioners’ writ of certiorari “for failure of the petition to meet the
requirements of N.C.G.S. § 160A-388(e) and Rule 19 of the North Car-
olina General Rules of Practice.” On 29 September 1992, petitioners
filed a motion pursuant to N.C.R. Civ. P. 15 and Rule 1 of the General
Rules of Practice to amend their writ of certiorari to include a verifi-
cation. Subsequently, the trial court denied respondents’ motion to
dismiss and set aside the writ of certiorari and granted petitioners’
motion to amend the writ.

On 18 December 1992, Judge Henry V. Barnette, Jr. entered an
order concluding that the Board of Adjustment did not have jurisdic-
tion to reverse the decision of the Board of Commissioners and
vacated the 12 August 1992 decision of the Board of Adjustment.
From this decision, respondents appeal.
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Poyner & Spruill, by Lacy H. Reaves and John L. Shaw, for
petitioner-appellees Browning-Ferris Industries, Inc. and
Bobby L. Murray;, John E. Bugg for petitioner-appellee
Jonathan Garrity.

Maupin Taylor Ellis & Adams, PA., by John C. Cooke and
William J. Brian, Jr., for respondent-appellants Southport
Business Park, Limited Partnership and Morrisville
Associates.

ORR, Judge.

Petitioner Bobby L. Murray owns a 17.46 acre tract of undevel-
oped land in Wake County within the town limits of the Town of Mor-
risville. In this action, petitioners sought a building permit or zoning
certificate to build a Regional Facility for solid waste and collection
on a portion of this property. Petitioner Jonathan Garrity is the
vendee under a contract for sale of the subject property, and he
would be the developer and owner of the Proposed Regional Facility.
Petitioner Browning-Ferris Industries, Inc. (BFI) is a solid waste col-
lection and disposal firm that wants to lease the facility. Respondent
Southport Business Park Limited Partnership owns a business park
complex located immediately west and across Aviation Parkway
from the subject property. Respondent Morrisville Associates is a
general partnership that owns an undeveloped tract of land south of
and adjacent to the subject property.

In obtaining approval from the Board of Commissioners to build
the regional facility within the town limits of Morrisville, petitioners
followed the procedure outlined in the Zoning Regulations for the
Town of Morrisville (the “Zoning Regulations™). Article 11, § 18.2 of
the Morrisville Zoning Regulations states, “No building permit or cer-
tificate of zoning compliance shall be issued until the required site
plan of the proposed use or development has been approved by the
town board with a recommendation from the planning board.” Arti-
cle XVII of the Zoning Regulations defines “town board” as the Town
Board of Commissioners.

Under Article I, § 18.7, “[t]he owner or developer shall submit
for consideration by the site plan/subdivision review committee a
site plan prepared and certified by a registered engineer, architect,
landscape architect, or land surveyor.” Further, Article II, § 18.8
states:
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The planning board, after receiving a recommendation from the
site plan/subdivision review committee, shall review the site plan
with respect to the procedures and requirements of this ordi-
nance and any changes or additions which may be necessary to
comply with this ordinance and any other applicable local or
state law. . . . The planning board shall submit their recommen-
dation on the site plan to the town board [of commissioners] for
their review.

Thereafter, Article I1, § 18.9 provides, “[t]he town board [of commis-
sioners] will review and approve the site plan as proposed, or subject
to modification, or disapprove the plan.”

In the present case, the property at issue is zoned as an Industri-
al Management District under the Zoning Regulations. On 20 Decem-
ber 1991, pursuant to the Zoning Regulations, petitioners submitted a
proposed site plan for the regional facility to the Morrisville site plan
review committee. The review committee reviewed the plan and
returned it to petitioners with comments on 3 January 1992.

On 15 January 1992, petitioners revised the plan and re-submitted
it to the review committee for further review, and on 23 January 1992
the review committee presented the revised site plan to the planning
board recommending that the site plan be approved as revised with
the condition that a legal access to the Wake County sewer line be
obtained and adequate capacity be available in the sewer line to
serve the site. The planning board reviewed the revised site plan and
voted unanimously to recommend the plan for approval to the Mor-
risville Town Board of Commissioners on the condition that the plan
be revised as recommended by the review committee and that branch
valves be installed for fire hydrants. On 10 February 1992, the Town
Board of Commissioners unanimously approved the site plan subject
to certain conditions. Thereafter, respondents asked the Board of
Commissioners to reconsider its decision and petitioned the Board of
Adjustment for a reversal of the decision of the Board of Commis-
sioners. The Board of Commissioners again approved the site plan,
and the Board of Adjustment reversed this decision.

L

[1] The fundamental substantive issue presented by this appeal is
whether the Town Board of Adjustment has jurisdiction to review
and reverse the decision of the Town Board of Commissioners. At the
outset, we note that the Board of Adjustment is not a part of the pro-
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cedure outlined for obtaining approval of a site plan prior to the
issuance of a building permit or zoning compliance certificate out-
lined in Article II of the Zoning Regulations. Respondents contend,
however, that the Morrisville Town Board of Adjustmment had the
power to review and reverse the Morrisville Town Board of Commmis-
sioners’ decision to approve petitioners’ site plan under N.C. Gen.
Stat. § 160A-388(b). We disagree.

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 160A-388(b) (1987 & Supp.) states:

(b) The board of adjustment shall hear and decide appeals
from and review any order, requirement, decision, or determina-
tion made by an administrative official charged with the
enforcement of any ordinance adopted pursuant to [Part 3 of
Article 19 of Chapter 160A]. An appeal may be taken by any per-
son aggrieved or by an officer, department, board, or bureau of
the city. . . . The board of adjustment may reverse or affirm, whol-
ly or partly, or may modify the order, requirement, decision, or
determination appealed from, and shall make any order, require-
ment, decision, or determination that in its opinion ought to be
made in the premises. To this end the board shall have all the
powers of the officer from whom the appeal is taken.

(Emphasis added.)

On the issue of statutory construction, our Supreme Court stated
in Fowler v. Valencourt, 334 N.C. 345, 348, 435 S.E.2d 530, 532 (1993):

In construing a statute, the Court must first ascertain the legisla-
tive intent to assure that the purpose and intent of the legislation
are carried out. . . . To make this determination, we look first to
the language of the statute itself. . . . If the language used is clear
and unambiguous, the Court does not engage in judicial con-
struction but must apply the statute to give effect to the plain and
definite meaning of the language.

(Citation omitted.)

The statutory language at issue in the case sub judice is that the
Board of Adjustment has the ability to hear and decide appeals from an
order, requirement, decision, or determination “made by an adminis-
trative official charged with the enforcement of any ordinance adopt-
ed pursuant to” Part 3 of Article 19 of Chapter 160A. (Emphasis
added.) Thus, the issue presented is whether the Board of Commis-
sioners falls under the definition of an “administrative official.”
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N.C. Gen. Stat. § 160A-1(3) (1987) defines “board of commission-
ers” as “the governing board of a city.” (Emphasis added.) Black’s
Law Dictionary defines “official” as “a person invested with the
authority of an office.” (Emphasis added.) Under N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 160A-388(b), although an appeal to the Board of Adjustment can
only be taken from an order, requirement, decision, or determination
“made by an administrative official”, the appeal may be taken by “any
person aggrieved or by an officer, department, board, or bureau of
the city.” By including “board” in the list with “any person aggrieved
or ... an officer,” the Legislature in effect recognized the difference
between a board and a person or officer. Thus, the Board of Com-
missioners does not fall under the definition of a “person.”

Further, case law in this State refers to individuals, not boards,
when referring to “administrative officials” in the context of N.C.
Gen. Stat. § 160A-388(b). See, e.g., In re Pine Hill Cemeteries, Inc.,
219 N.C. 735, 738, 15 S.E.2d 1, 3 (1941) (The board of adjustment “is
authorized to hear and decide appeals from and review any order,
requirement, decision or determination made by the building inspec-
tor or other administrative official charged with the enforcement of
zoning ordinances.”) (eraphasis added); Midgette v. Pate, 94 N.C.
App. 498, 502, 380 S.E.2d 572, 575 (1989) (“The board of adjustment
is an administrative body with quasi-judicial power whose function is
to review and decide appeals which arise from the decisions, orders,
requirements or determinations of administrative officials, such as
building inspectors and zoning administrators.”) (emphasis
added); Grandfather Village v. Worsley, 111 N.C. App. 686, 688, 433
S.E.2d 13, 14, disc. review denied, 335 N.C. 237, 439 S.E.2d 146
(1993) (“N.C.G.S. § 160A-388(b) governs an appeal from a decision of
a city’s zoning administrator . . . .”) (emphasis added).

Thus, we conclude that the Legislature did not intend to include
Board of Commissioners under the term “administrative official,”
and N.C. Gen. Stat. § 160A-388(b), by its plain and unambiguous lan-
guage, does not, therefore, confer the right on the Board of Adjust-
ment to hear appeals from the Board of Commissioners. Our conclu-
sion that the Board of Adjustment does not have the power to review
the decision of the Board of Commissioners based on the language
found in N.C.G.S. § 160A-388(b) is further bolstered by the decision
of the United States District Court for the Eastern District of North
Carolina in Mays-Ott Co., Inc. v. Town of Nags Head, 751 F. Supp. 82
(E.D.N.C. 1990). Mays-Ott involved a zoning dispute between plain-
tiff and the Town of Nags Head. Plaintiff brought an action against
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the Town of Nags Head pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983. Subsequently,
the Town of Nags Head moved for summary judgment on the basis
that plaintiff had failed to exhaust his administrative remedies by fol-
lowing the appeals procedure outlined by the Town’s zoning
ordinance.

The zoning ordinance for the Town of Nags Head allowed appeals
to the Board of Adjustment “from any orders or decisions made by
administrative officials.” Mays-Ott, 751 F. Supp. at 86 (emphasis
added). On appeal, the United States District Court for the Eastern
District of North Carolina noted that plaintiff was not appealing from
a decision made by the building inspector, but that plaintiff’s com-
plaint was with a decision of the Town’s Board of Commissioners to
refuse to extend plaintiff’s site plan. The Court then stated that
“defendant has not pointed out any administrative procedure by
which plaintiff could have appealed the Board of Commissioners’
refusal to extend the site plan approval . . ..” Id. at 87.

Thus, the Mays-Ott Court effectively read the language that
plaintiff had the right to appeal to the Board of Adjustment “from any
orders or decisions made by administrative officials” as arguably
including decisions from a building inspector but definitely not
including a decision from the Board of Commissioners. This inter-
pretation is consistent with our conclusion that the language in
N.C.G.S. § 160A-388(b) does not confer the right on the Board of
Adjustment to hear appeals from orders or decisions of the Board of
Commissioners.

Respondents contend, however, that the Legislature intended for
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 160A-388(b) to confer on the Board of Adjustment
the power to hear appeals from any administrative decision, not just
decisions made by administrative “officials.” In support of this con-
tention, respondents cite authority from other States. Based on our
review of the law in this State and the distinction North Carolina
Courts have drawn between an official and a board, we find respond-
ents’ argument without merit.

II.

[2] Next, respondents argue that N.C. Gen. Stat. § 160A-388(¢c) and
the Morrisville Zoning Regulations broaden the jurisdiction of the
Morrisville Board of Adjustment to hear the present action. We
disagree.
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N.C. Gen. Stat. § 160A-388(c) (1987 & Supp.) states:

(¢) The zoning ordinance may provide that the board of
adjustment may permit special exceptions to the zoning regula-
tions in classes of cases or situations and in accordance with the
principles, conditions, safeguards, and procedures specified in
the ordinance. The ordinance may also authorize the board to
interpret zoning maps and pass upon disputed questions of lot
lines or district boundary lines and similar questions as they arise
in the administration of the ordinance. The board shall hear and
decide all matters referred to it or upon which it is required to
pass under any zoning ordinance.

First respondents contend that the language in N.C. Gen. Stat.
§ 160A-388(c) which states that the “board shall hear and decide all
matters referred to it or upon which it is required to pass under
any zoning ordinance” in conjunction with Article XIII, § 2.1 of the
Morrisville Zoning Regulations gives the Board of Adjustment juris-
diction over this action. Article XIII, § 2.1 of the Zoning Regulations
states:

The board of adjustment shall have the following powers and
duties:

2.1 Administrative review. To hear and decide appeals
where it is alleged by the appellant that there is error in any
order, requirement, permit, decision, determination, or refusal
made by the building official or other administrative officials in
the carrying out or enforcement of any provisions of the
ordinance.

In Tate v. Board of Adjustment of the City of Asheville, 83 N.C.
App. 512, 515, 350 S.E.2d 873, 875 (1986), this Court held that the lan-
guage of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 160A-